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Shire trademarks
The following are trademarks either owned or licensed by Shire plc 
or companies within the Shire Group which are the subject of trademark
registrations in certain territories, or which are owned by third-parties 
as indicated and referred to in this Annual Report.

ADDERALL XR® (mixed salts of a single entity amphetamine)

ADDERALL® (mixed salts of a single entity amphetamine)

AGRYLIN® (anagrelide hydrochloride)

CALCICHEW® range (calcium carbonate with or without vitamin D3)

CARBATROL® (carbamazepine extended-release capsules)

DAYTRANA® (methylphenidate transdermal system)

ELAPRASE® (idursulfase)

FIRAZYR® (icatibant)

FOSRENOL® (lanthanum carbonate)

INTUNIV™ (guanfacine extended release)

LIALDA® (mesalamine) 

METAZYM™ (arylsulfatase-A)

MEZAVANT® (mesalazine) 

REMINYL® (galantamine hydrobromide) (United Kingdom (‘UK’) and Republic of Ireland) 

REMINYL XL™ (galantamine hydrobromide) (UK and Republic of Ireland) 

REPLAGAL® (agalsidase alfa)

VYVANSE® (lisdexamfetamine dimesylate)

XAGRID™ (anagrelide hydrochloride)

Third-party trademarks
The following are trademarks of third-parties referred to in this Annual Report.

3TC (trademark of GlaxoSmithKline (‘GSK’))

AMIGAL (trademark of Amicus Therapeutics (‘Amicus’))

COMBIVIR (trademark of GSK)

DYNEPO (trademark of Sanofi-Aventis)

EPIVIR (trademark of GSK)

EPIVIR-HBV (trademark of GSK)

EPZICOM/KIVEXA (EPZICOM) (trademark of GSK)

EQUASYM® IR (trademark of UCB S.A. (‘UCB’))

EQUASYM® XL (trademark of UCB)

EQUETRO (trademark of Validus Pharmaceuticals)

JUVISTA (trademark of Renovo)

PENTASA (trademark of Ferring)

PLICERA (trademark of Amicus)

RAZADYNE (trademark of Johnson & Johnson)

RAZADYNE ER (trademark of Johnson & Johnson)

REMINYL (trademark of Johnson & Johnson, excluding UK and Republic of Ireland)

REMINYL XL (trademark of Johnson & Johnson, excluding UK and Republic of Ireland)

SOLARAZE (trademark of Laboratorios Almirall (‘Almirall’))

VANIQA (trademark of Almirall)

ZEFFIX (trademark of GSK)
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We enable people with life-altering conditions 
to lead better lives.

That’s a brave claim, but it’s one that inspires
everyone at Shire. By harnessing that energy
and dedication, we can make a real difference 
to patients and their families, and generate 
profitable long-term growth for the people 
who invest in us. 

The more successful we are at generating returns 
for our shareholders, the more cash we will be 
able to invest in new therapies that will change 
more peoples’ lives.
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Chairman’s review

Shire remains in the hunt for new technologies—fully
focused on unmet patient needs and thoroughly committed
to making the right difference.

The future of healthcare, many say, lies
in personalized medicine—in helping
physicians optimize outcomes for
patients through individualized treatments
that make a measurable difference 
to their lives. The industry will continue
to experience enormous pressures—
on prices, through regulations, by virtue
of new leaders and legislators, by the
hard reality that there is a worldwide
shortage of cash. But the future is bright
for biopharmaceutical companies with
financial resources and with product
portfolios that can deliver tangible
benefits to patients and their caregivers,
and Shire is one of those companies.

In 2008, Shire once again demonstrated
the value of its specialty-focused
business model and unique culture.
Since succeeding me as Chief Executive
Officer (‘CEO’) in June, Angus Russell
has exercised consistently good
judgment. He has brought new focus,
enthusiasm, and creativity to the Shire
business while leading a team that 
has overseen the continued flawless
execution of its strategy. He has
revisited Shire’s mission and values,
developed a corporate brand that
asserts the importance of being brave,
and looked ahead to the coming seven
years with the conviction that Shire 
will continue to develop into one 
of the world’s most valuable specialty
biopharmaceutical companies.

At the same time, Angus and his 
team have paid careful attention to the 
Shire pipeline, bolstering a diverse 
and innovative product development
program. Priority has also been given
to fully globalizing Shire, a strategy that
Shire—which can enter new markets
through Human Genetic Therapies
(‘HGT’) products that require relatively
little infrastructure—undertakes with
extreme efficiency. An increasing
emphasis has also been placed, over 
the course of the year, on Shire’s role
as a global corporate citizen intent 
on acting responsibly and protecting 
the precious resources of our planet.

At the end of 2008, Shire remains 
a cash generative company capable 
of pursuing new technologies and
products that boast good supportive
data and can be acquired for the right
price. These factors, combined with
Shire’s robust balance sheet, leave 
the company unusually well positioned
for our current economic environment. 
It remains a Company that can not 
only measurably improve lives, but
sometimes contribute to saving them.

I am grateful to Angus Russell, his
management team, and all the people 
of Shire who come to work each day
determined to make the most of the
opportunities that present themselves,
and the opportunities that Shire people
create. Shire is leading the way to 
a brighter future. I look forward to the 
year ahead.

Matthew Emmens
Chairman
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Chairman’s review

“The future is bright; 
we have the financial
resources and a
products portfolio that
can deliver tangible
results…” 
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Over the course of the past two years at Shire, we’ve 
broadened our pipeline/portfolio with eight new products, 
while successfully bolstering our existing franchises.

we have taken to further leverage both.
Consider this: over the course of the 
last two years alone, we’ve successfully
completed six deals that have yielded
eight new products in our pipeline/
portfolio. Consider, also, this: the
combined sales of new products
launched in the past four years achieved
$1 billion of sales in 2008. 

We’re committed to going the distance
with every product at Shire—asking
hard questions, exploring new
indications, looking for ways to extend
proven technologies into new
treatments; always with the patients’
needs most at heart. The acquisition 
of New River, for example, didn’t just
provide Shire with VYVANSE, a next-
generation treatment for attention deficit
and hyperactivity disorder (‘ADHD’); 
it opened the door to new possibilities
associated with ‘CarrierWave’ technology,
which enhances drug metabolism and
may well have applications for other
medicines. At the same time we’re
expanding our patient populations with
plans to expand our presence in
markets outside the US and the
proposed launch in the US of INTUNIV,
our first non-stimulant ADHD drug.

In the gastrointestinal business unit, 
we are taking similar strides—
leveraging our success with LIALDA,
our expertise in ulcerative colitis, and

Risks—wisely measured and
judiciously taken—are part and parcel
of every successful company, and
certainly we’ve taken our fair share at
Shire. In our brightest moments we
have stood at a critical juncture, made
defining, not-always-obvious decisions,
and redefined the future not just for
ourselves, but for the physicians and
patients we serve.

Since succeeding Matt Emmens as CEO
in June, I have been particularly keen 
on staying true to those aspects of our
culture that brought us to our present
state as one of the most effective
biopharmaceutical companies in the
world: the willingness to take measured
risks; the courage to challenge one
another; and the unyielding commitment
to the patients, physicians, and
communities we serve. We spent the
time, in 2008, to look around and to
project forward—to set the targets that
will enable us to emerge, by 2015, as
one of the most valuable specialty
biopharmaceutical companies in the
world. We committed to the underlying
thesis that now forms the core of our
corporate brand—that we strive to be
as brave as the people we help.

Of course, achieving our mission
demands quite a lot of Shire’s pipeline
as well as its marketed portfolio, and 
I am very pleased with the steps that 
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

“We’re asking hard
questions, exploring new
indications, looking for
ways to extend proven
technologies into new
treatments.” 
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

We’ve come together with one overriding purpose:
to be as brave as the people we help.

Moreover, HGT products are helping
Shire meet its goal of global
diversification, with REPLAGAL and
ELAPRASE together now approved 
and in use in more than 40 countries,
and 70% of HGT sales now generated
outside the United States. Our world
really is expanding rapidly at Shire, 
and we are taking aggressive steps 
to capitalize on—and to create—
opportunities for patients around the
world who do not yet have access
to the life-altering medicines that we
manufacture and sell.

Pressures abound in the current
economy, but at Shire we’re not just
merely biding our time. We are moving
forward—bolstering our pipeline through
business-enhancing acquisitions,
anticipating breakthroughs for patients
with unmet needs, capitalizing on new
patient populations, and looking for
commonalities between our Specialty
and HGT businesses. It’s been an
exciting time and the future promises
even more. I thank my colleagues 
for continuing to help Shire live up to 
its own promise.

Angus Russell
Chief Executive Officer

our relationships with gastro-
enterologists to explore new options for
patients suffering from an entire range
of inflammatory bowel diseases. We’re
currently in the midst of Phase 2 trials
for SPD550, a compound we licensed
in from Alba Therapeutics Corporation
(‘Alba’) because we believe that it can
have important implications for patients
suffering from Celiac disease.

Three and a half years ago, when 
Shire acquired what has since become 
known as Shire Human Genetic
Therapies, there were only four projects
in the pipeline and there were many
questions about this relatively small
company’s future. Three deals later—
with Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(‘Amicus’), Zymenex A/S (‘Zymenex’)
and Jerini AG (‘Jerini’)—HGT is 1,000
people strong, with three marketed
drugs in its portfolio (REPLAGAL,
ELAPRASE and FIRAZYR) and a
number of very exciting Phase 2 
and 3 products designed to treat 
such debilitating conditions as 
Gaucher disease, Fabry disease, and
Metachromatic Leukodystrophy. HGT
now occupies an entire campus in
Lexington, Massachusetts—a campus
that we opened to investors in
November during our first-ever HGT
Business Day.
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Financial review

The following review should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes on pages 68 to 135 of this
Annual Report.

Overview
Shire plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as either ‘Shire’ or the ‘Group’) has the strategic goal to become the leading
specialty biopharmaceutical company that focuses on meeting the needs of the specialist physician. Shire focuses its business on ADHD, HGT and
gastrointestinal (‘GI’) diseases as well as opportunities in other therapeutic areas to the extent they arise through acquisitions. Shire’s in-licensing,
merger and acquisition efforts are focused on products in specialist markets with strong intellectual property protection and global rights. Shire believes
that a carefully selected and balanced portfolio of products with strategically aligned and relatively small-scale sales forces will deliver strong results.

Substantially all of Shire’s revenues, expenditures and net assets are attributable to the research and development (‘R&D’), manufacture, sale and
distribution of pharmaceutical products within two operating segments: Specialty Pharmaceuticals and HGT. The Group also earns royalties (where
Shire has out-licensed products to third-parties) which are recorded as revenues within ‘All Other’ in the segmental analysis. 

Revenues are derived primarily from two sources—sales of Shire’s own products and royalties:
— 91% (2007: 89%) of total revenues are derived from product sales, of which 75% (2007: 76%) are within the Specialty Pharmaceuticals operating

segment and 16% (2007: 13%) are within the HGT operating segment;
— 8% of total revenues are derived from royalties (2007: 10%). 

Shire’s strategic objectives are set using a Balanced Scorecard approach. Objectives are also set at the business, functional and therapeutic area 
levels and are aligned with the Group-wide strategic and operational objectives. The Group therefore takes a fully integrated approach to strategic
management. Key performance indicators are used to measure achievement of the objectives. Strategic objectives are categorized into fields—
‘financial’, ‘customers’, ‘people & capabilities’ and ‘operational excellence’. For 2008, Shire’s corporate objectives included: target net revenue and
defined levels of revenue growth; target sales and contributions for core products; development of a strategy to improve customer care and
customer service levels; drug application filing and launch targets for new products; development of a strategy to achieve the optimum Shire product
portfolio; development of optimal manufacturing and supply chain strategy; development and communication of career development tools for
employees; development and commencement of roll-out of Corporate brand positioning; and maintenance of robust risk management practices
including internal controls.

The markets in which the Group conducts its business are highly competitive and highly regulated. The healthcare industry is experiencing:
— pressure from governments and healthcare providers to keep prices low while increasing access to drugs;
— increased R&D costs as development programs are typically larger and take longer to get approval from regulators; 
— challenges to existing patents from generic manufacturers;
— low cost generic drugs entering the market on expiration of patent protection; and
— higher marketing costs due to the use of direct to consumer campaigns in the US and competition for market share.

Shire’s strategy to become the leading specialty biopharmaceutical company has been developed to address these industry-wide competitive
pressures. This strategy has resulted in a series of initiatives in the following areas:

Markets
Historically, Shire’s portfolio of approved products has been heavily weighted towards the North American market. With the acquisition of Transkaryotic
Therapies Inc. (‘TKT’) in 2005 and the establishment of our HGT business, Shire has substantially increased its presence in Europe and thereby
diversified the risk associated with being reliant on one geographic market. Through the TKT acquisition, Shire acquired ELAPRASE (global rights) and
REPLAGAL (which is presently sold only outside the US) and through the Jerini acquisition, FIRAZYR (global rights). In addition, 2008 saw the European
launch of FIRAZYR and the continued roll-out of MEZAVANT and FOSRENOL in Europe. 

For 2008, sales outside North America represented approximately 24% of product sales (2007: 24%). Shire’s late stage development pipeline contains
a number of products with rights outside of the US, including VYVANSE, DAYTRANA, velaglucerase alfa (GA-GCB), SPD550, PLICERA, AMIGAL,
AT2220 and METAZYM. 

Shire’s continued expansion beyond North America will be driven by the development of products with patent protection in both the North and Latin
American and European markets wherever possible. In 2009 and 2010, subject to obtaining the relevant regulatory/governmental approvals, regions
outside the US should see:
— the continued roll-out of MEZAVANT in certain European Union (‘EU’) countries;
— the launch of DAYTRANA (EU and Canada);
— the continued roll-out of FIRAZYR in certain European and Latin American countries;
— the launch of VYVANSE in Canada; and
— the launch of Velaglucerase alfa in the EU.

This program of new product launches will require significant investment in advertising, promotional spend and in some cases, additional sales
representatives.

The orphan disease nature of HGT products means that relatively low associated Selling, general and administrative (‘SG&A’) and sales infrastructure
investment is required, making them ideal products for Shire to launch into new markets. In markets outside North America and Europe where
products require significant SG&A and infrastructure investment, Shire will assess opportunities for internal investment versus distribution and/or out-
license partners on a country-by-country basis.
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Patents and market exclusivity
The loss or expiration of patent protection or market exclusivity with respect to any of the Group’s major products could have a material adverse effect
on future revenues and net income as generic manufacturers may produce similar drugs and be able to sell the Group’s drugs at a lower price as their
costs of development are significantly lower than Shire’s.

The Group anticipates that there will be one or more generic competitors to ADDERALL XR in the ADHD market beginning April 2009. ADDERALL XR is,
in revenue terms, Shire’s most significant product representing 36% of total revenues in 2008 (2007: 42%). The Group expects that sales of VYVANSE
will partially offset any decline in sales of ADDERALL XR and that VYVANSE prescriptions will come from a number of sources, including patients who are
new to ADHD treatment, patients who previously were taking ADDERALL XR, and patients who were taking another ADHD medication.

Shire is engaged in various legal proceedings with generic manufacturers with respect to its ADDERALL XR and CARBATROL patents, as well as the
patents for certain other products. These legal proceedings are discussed in more detail in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

R&D
Over the last five years Shire has focused its R&D efforts on products in its core therapeutic areas, which meet the needs of the specialist physician.
The Group has also concentrated its resources on obtaining regulatory approval for later-stage pipeline products within its core therapeutic areas.

Evidence of the successful execution of this strategy can be seen from the progression of the Group’s development pipeline over the last five years.
Since January 2004, nine products have received regulatory approval; six in the US (FOSRENOL and EQUETRO in 2004, DAYTRANA and ELAPRASE
in 2006, LIALDA and VYVANSE in 2007) and three in Europe (FOSRENOL in 2005, ELAPRASE and MEZAVANT in 2007). The Group has one product
in registration in the US (INTUNIV) and one in registration in the EU (DAYTRANA). 

Shire’s strategy is focused on the development of product candidates that have a lower risk profile. R&D costs in 2009 will include expenditure on
several pre-clinical to Phase 3 studies and Phase 3(b) and Phase 4 studies to support recently launched products in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals 
and HGT businesses, and the development of new projects in both the Specialty Pharmaceuticals and HGT businesses.

Products under development

SPECIALTY PHARMACEUTICALS

Treatments for ADHD
VYVANSE for ADHD in EU and Canada 
In March 2008 the Canadian new drug submission was accepted for filing for the treatment of ADHD in children. Review is ongoing.

VYVANSE for the treatment of ADHD in children aged 6 to 17 in the EU is in Phase 3 development and Shire expects to submit the regulatory filing 
for VYVANSE in Europe in 2010.

DAYTRANA for ADHD in EU and Canada
Regulatory submissions were filed for approval of the product with Health Canada in November 2007 and in the EU via the decentralized procedure,
with the Netherlands as the reference member state in December 2007. Reviews are ongoing.

INTUNIV for ADHD in US
In June 2007 Shire received an approvable letter from the US Food and Drug Administration (‘FDA’) for INTUNIV. Shire is conducting additional clinical
work which is designed to enhance the label. The New Drug Application (‘NDA’) was re-submitted in January 2009 and it is anticipated that launch
for use in the treatment of ADHD in children and adolescents in the US will occur in the second half of 2009.

SPD487 (Amphetamine transdermal system)
In November 2008 Shire terminated the agreement with Noven Pharmaceuticals Inc.(‘Noven’) for the development of the amphetamine transdermal
system.

8
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Financial review
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Treatments for GI diseases
LIALDA/MEZAVANT for the maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis in the US
Phase 3 trials investigating the use of the product to maintain remission in patients who have ulcerative colitis were initiated in 2006 for the US market
and are continuing. The product was given this indication on approval in the EU.

LIALDA/MEZAVANT for the treatment of diverticulitis
Phase 3 worldwide clinical trials investigating the use of the product for the treatment of diverticulitis were initiated in 2007 and are continuing.

Diverticulosis is among the most common diseases in developed countries and manifests as weaknesses or out-pouches of the bowel wall primarily 
in elderly populations. Approximately 15–20% of people with diverticulosis go on to develop diverticulitis which is an acute inflammation, infection and
micro or macro-perforation of these out-pouches. The current standard of care requires treatment with antibiotics and depending on the frequency 
or severity of attacks frequently may require surgery. LIALDA is being investigated as a treatment to prevent recurrent attacks of diverticulitis.

SPD550 (Larazotide Acetate; also known as AT-1001) for the treatment of Celiac disease
SPD550 is being developed for the treatment of Celiac disease. Celiac disease is a T-cell mediated auto-immune disease that occurs in genetically
susceptible individuals and is characterized by small intestinal inflammation triggered by gluten. SPD550 is a novel peptide that inhibits intestinal
paracellular permeability by inhibiting stimulus-induced cytoskeletal rearrangement in epithelial cells that leads to the disassembly of tight junctions.
There are currently no approved pharmaceutical treatments to reduce the risk of recurrent attacks.

In December 2007 Shire acquired the worldwide rights to SPD550 (Larazotide Acetate; also known as AT-1001) in markets outside of the US and
Japan from Alba. The two parties have established Joint Committees which will guide the development, manufacture and commercialization of the
product. Alba has initiated and is responsible for executing the ongoing Phase 2 program and certain non-clinical studies. Additional development
studies may be conducted jointly or by the individual companies prior to or after initiation of Phase 3.

Treatments for diseases in other therapeutic areas
FOSRENOL for the treatment of pre-dialysis chronic kidney disease (‘CKD’)
Following the FDA Cardiovascular and Renal Drugs Advisory Committee recommendation in October of 2007 on the use of phosphate binders,
including FOSRENOL, to treat hyperphosphatemia in pre-dialysis CKD patients, Shire continues to work with the FDA to determine whether
FOSRENOL can launch in the pre-dialysis CKD market in the US without conducting additional clinical outcomes trials. 

JUVISTA
Renovo Limited (‘Renovo’) initiated its first pivotal European Phase 3 trial in scar revision in the fourth quarter of 2008 to support the filing of a European
regulatory dossier. If the outcome from Renovo’s multi-center, EU Phase 3 study is suitably positive, the data will be used to inform the strategy and
design of Shire’s US development plan and to strengthen the chances of regulatory and commercial success in the US. 

SEASONIQUE an extended cycle oral contraceptive
In August 2006 Shire entered into a license agreement in respect of Duramed Pharmaceuticals, Inc’s (‘Duramed’) oral contraceptive, SEASONIQUE.
Duramed markets SEASONIQUE in the US. Shire has the rights to market this product in a number of territories outside of North America, including 
the larger European markets.

On February 24, 2009, Shire and Duramed amended this agreement and it will terminate on December 31, 2009. Pursuant to this amendment, Shire
agreed to return to Duramed its rights under the agreement effective February 24, 2009. For further details on this amendment see the Liquidity and
capital resources section of this Financial review.

Projects in pre-clinical development
A number of projects are underway in the early stages of pre-clinical development for the Specialty Pharmaceuticals area.

HUMAN GENETIC THERAPIES

Treatments for Angioedema
FIRAZYR for hereditary angioedema (‘HAE’) in the US
FIRAZYR is a treatment for acute HAE which Shire added to the portfolio through its acquisition of a majority voting interest in Jerini during 2008.
FIRAZYR is a first-in-class peptide-based therapeutic developed for the symptomatic treatment of acute attacks of HAE. HAE is a debilitating and
potentially life-threatening genetic disease characterized by unpredictable recurring swelling attacks in the hands, feet, face, larynx, or abdomen. 

Jerini received a not approvable letter for FIRAZYR for use in the US from the FDA in April 2008, and met with FDA in December 2008 to discuss the
development of FIRAZYR. It was agreed that an additional clinical study would be required before approval could be considered and that a complete
response to the not approvable letter would be filed after completion of this study. This additional study will be initiated during the third quarter of 2009.
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ERT
Velaglucerase alfa (GA-GCB)—for the treatment of Gaucher disease
Velaglucerase alfa is an enzyme replacement therapy being developed for the treatment of Gaucher disease. Gaucher disease is the most common 
of the inherited lysosomal storage diseases and is caused by a deficiency of the enzyme glucocerebrosidase. As a result of this deficiency, certain lipids
accumulate in specific cells of the liver, spleen and bone marrow causing significant clinical symptoms in the patient, including enlargement of the liver
and spleen, hematological abnormalities and bone disease.

Shire has completed enrolment in a worldwide Phase 3 clinical program for velaglucerase alfa. This comprehensive development program includes 
the evaluation of velaglucerase in naïve patients and patients previously treated with imiglucerase across three clinical studies. It is anticipated that this
development program will support global filings in the second half of 2009.

HGT-1111/METAZYM—for the treatment of MLD
Shire has an ongoing enzyme replacement therapy program for the treatment of MLD, which is a lysosomal storage disorder that results from a
deficiency in the enzyme arylsulfatase-A (‘ASA’). In June 2008 Shire completed its acquisition from Zymenex of the global rights to a clinical candidate
ASA, known as METAZYM. METAZYM has completed a Phase 1b clinical trial in twelve MLD patients in Europe and an extension to this study is
ongoing. The product has been granted orphan drug designation in the US and in the EU. The current plan is to initiate a Phase 2/3 clinical trial in the
first half of 2009. This product is now referred to as HGT-1111.

HGT-1110 was in development at Shire for the treatment of MLD following successful pre-clinical proof of concept studies. The HGT-1110 program was
replaced with the HGT-1111 development program upon completion of the acquisition from Zymenex.

HGT-2310—Hunter syndrome with central nervous system symptoms, idursulfase-IT 
Following the acceptance by the FDA in January 2008 of Shire’s Investigational New Drug Application for idursulfase-IT (HGT-2310—formerly referred 
to as ELAPRASE for Hunter syndrome patients with significant central nervous system symptoms—‘Hunter CNS’) the Group plans to initiate a Phase 1
clinical trial in the first quarter of 2009.

HGT-1410 for Sanfilippo Syndrome (Mucopolysaccharidosis IIIA)
HGT-1410 is in development as an enzyme replacement therapy for the treatment of Sanfilippo Syndrome (Mucopolysaccharidosis IIIA), a lysosomal
storage disorder. Sanfilippo is an autosomal recessive genetic disease caused by a deficiency of heparan-N-sulfatase, an enzyme that degrades heparan
sulfate. The accumulation of heparan sulfate in tissues causes a neuro-degenerative disorder in children in which the central nervous system is primarily
affected. The product has been granted orphan drug designation in the US and in the EU. Pre-clinical development for this product is continuing.

HGT-2610 for the treatment of Krabbe disease (Globoid Cell Leukodystrophy, (‘GLD’))
In November 2008 Shire announced that an enzyme replacement therapy was being developed for the treatment of Krabbe disease, a lysosomal
storage disorder. Krabbe is a rare, inherited lysosomal disorder resulting from a deficiency in the enzyme galactosylcerebrosidase. This neuro-
degenerative disease primarily affects infants, but can occur in adolescents and adults. GLD is caused by degradation of the myelin sheath that
normally covers nerve fibers, which leads to rapid degeneration of mental and motor function in these patients. This program is in early development
and pre-clinical studies.

Pharmacological Chaperone Technology
In November 2007 Shire entered into a license agreement with Amicus under which it received the rights to three compounds, PLICERA, AMIGAL 
and AT2220, in markets outside the US. 

PLICERA (HGT-3410 for the treatment of Gaucher disease)
PLICERA is an orally-administered, small molecule pharmacological chaperone that is being developed for the treatment of Gaucher disease. PLICERA
has received orphan drug designation by the European Medicines Agency (‘EMEA’),which may provide it with up to ten years market exclusivity in the EU.

In March 2008 Amicus announced positive data from its Phase 2 clinical trial. Results from the Phase 2 trial support the previously reported interim
findings that PLICERA was generally safe and well-tolerated at all doses and increased target enzyme activity levels in a majority of patients. Shire has
rights to PLICERA in markets outside the US.

AMIGAL (HGT-3310 for the treatment of Fabry disease)
AMIGAL is an orally-administered, small molecule pharmacological chaperone being developed for the treatment of Fabry disease. AMIGAL has
received orphan drug designation by the EMEA, which may provide it with up to ten years market exclusivity in the EU.

Amicus met with the FDA to discuss the AMIGAL development program in June 2008, and discussions are ongoing. Discussions are also ongoing 
with the EMEA. A final decision on the global development strategy will follow the conclusion of the discussions with both agencies. Shire has rights 
to AMIGAL in markets outside the US.
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HGT-3510 for the treatment of Pompe disease 
HGT-3510 is an orally-administered, small molecule pharmacological chaperone being developed for the treatment of Pompe disease. Pompe
disease, also known as glycogen storage disease type II or acid maltase deficiency, is a relatively rare neuro-muscular and lysosomal storage disorder
caused by inherited genetic mutations in a key enzyme called acid α-glucosidase (GAA) which result in deficient activity of the enzyme GAA. The
deficient activity of the GAA enzyme, which normally breaks down glycogen, results in lysosomal glycogen accumulation in skeletal, cardiac and
smooth muscle tissue. 

In June 2008 Amicus initiated Phase 2 clinical trials of HGT-3510, an orally administered, small molecule pharmacological chaperone being jointly
developed for the treatment of Pompe disease by Shire and Amicus. This trial was placed on clinical hold in February 2009 in response to reports 
of two serious adverse events probably related to treatment with HGT-3510. Shire has rights to HGT-3510 in markets outside the US.

Early research products
A number of additional projects are underway in the early stages of development for the HGT business area.

Business development
As a result of the issues associated with the loss or expiry of patent protection or market exclusivity, Shire seeks to focus its business development
activity on the acquisition and in-licensing of products and projects which have the benefit of long-term patent protection and market exclusivity.

The Group remains active in seeking out opportunities to acquire new products or companies that fit its business strategy, its existing therapeutic 
areas or are in complementary therapeutic areas. During 2008 Shire:
— acquired more than 98% of Jerini, adding Jerini’s HAE product, FIRAZYR, to the portfolio; and 
— acquired the global rights to METAZYM, a clinical candidate arylsulfatase-A, from Zymenex.

In 2007, the Group acquired New River Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (‘New River’), allowing Shire to capture the full economic value of VYVANSE and gain
control of the development and commercialization of this product. In 2007 Shire also in-licensed the rights to AMIGAL, PLICERA and AT-2220, three
pharmacological chaperone compounds for lysosomal storage disorders in markets outside the US; SPD550 for Celiac disease in markets outside 
of the US and Japan; and worldwide rights (excluding EU member states) to JUVISTA.

As part of its strategy of focusing on drugs with long-term patent protection in its core therapeutic areas, the Group will continue to evaluate
opportunities to dispose of non-core assets. In 2007 the Group divested a portfolio of non-core products, including SOLARAZE and VANIQA, 
to Almirall and sold EQUETRO and transferred post-approval study commitments to Validus Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Organization and structure 
During 2008, the Group undertook a court sanctioned Scheme of Arrangement, establishing Shire plc as the new Shire holding company. For further
details on the Scheme of Arrangement see Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements.

In 2008, Shire acquired more than 98% of Jerini and is in the process of integrating Jerini into the Group: integration and acquisition related costs
expensed during the year to December 31, 2008 totaled $10.3 million.

Key performance indicators (KPIs)
Shire monitors its performance against its strategic objectives using the following financial measures:

Total revenues New product sales(i)

2008 $3.0BN

2007 $2.4BN

2006 $1.8BN

Non-GAAP diluted earnings per ADS(ii)

2008 386¢

2007 284¢

2006 195¢

2007 $0.5BN

2006 $0.1BN

2008 $1.0BN

(i) New product sales comprise DAYTRANA, ELAPRASE, FIRAZYR, FOSRENOL, LIALDA/MEZAVANT and VYVANSE.

(ii) American Depositary Share
Shire monitors its financial performance on a Non-GAAP basis. Non-GAAP financial measures are not prepared in accordance with US GAAP. 
These Non-GAAP measures exclude the effect of certain cash and non-cash items, both recurring and non-recurring, that Shire’s management
believes are not related to the core performance of Shire’s business.

See page 135 of the consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation between US GAAP net income and diluted earnings per ADS and 
Non-GAAP net income and Non-GAAP diluted earnings per ADS. 
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Results of operations for the years to December 31, 2008 and 2007
For the year to December 31, 2008 the Group’s total revenues increased by 24% to $3,022.2 million, compared to $2,436.3 million in 2007. Net
income for the year to December 31, 2008 was $156.0 million compared to a net loss of $1,451.8 million in 2007. 

Total revenues
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s total revenues by source:

2008 2007 Change
Year to December 31, $’M $’M %

Product sales 2,754.2 2,170.2 27
Royalties 245.5 247.2 –1
Other revenues 22.5 18.9 19

Total 3,022.2 2,436.3 24

Product sales
Product US 

sales prescription
2008 2007 growth growth

Year to December 31, $’M $’M % %

SPECIALTY PHARMACEUTICALS

ADHD
ADDERALL XR 1,101.7 1,030.9 7 –5
VYVANSE 318.9 76.5 317 388
DAYTRANA 78.7 64.2 23 –11

GI
PENTASA 185.5 176.4 5 –1
LIALDA/MEZAVANT 140.4 50.5 178 204

General products
FOSRENOL 155.4 102.2 52 –4
CALCICHEW 52.8 54.2 –3 n/a
CARBATROL 75.9 72.3 5 –4
REMINYL/REMINYL XL 34.4 31.2 10 n/a
XAGRID 78.7 66.8 18 n/a

Other product sales 50.1 119.3 –58 n/a

2,272.5 1,844.5 23

HUMAN GENETIC THERAPIES
ELAPRASE 305.1 181.8 68 n/a
REPLAGAL 176.1 143.9 22 n/a
FIRAZYR 0.5 — n/a n/a

481.7 325.7 48

Total 2,754.2 2,170.2 27

The following discussion includes references to US prescription and US market share data for key products. The source of this data is IMS Health
(‘IMS’), December 2008.

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 12



13
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008

Financial review

SPECIALTY PHARMACEUTICALS 

US ADHD market share
The continued growth in market share of VYVANSE helped Shire grow its average annual share of the US ADHD market to 32.6% for the year 
to December 31, 2008 compared to 29.4% in 2007. Shire has the leading portfolio of products in the US ADHD market. 

ADDERALL XR—ADHD
ADDERALL XR’s average share of the US ADHD market for 2008 fell to 22.6% (2007: 25.5%). US prescriptions for ADDERALL XR for the year to
December 31, 2008 decreased by 5% compared to 2007 due to an 11% fall in average market share offset by a 7% growth in the US ADHD market.

Sales of ADDERALL XR for the year to December 31, 2008 were $1,101.7 million, an increase of 7% compared to the same period in 2007 (2007:
$1,030.9 million), with the decline in prescriptions being more than offset by price increases.

As previously disclosed, the United States Federal Trade Commission (‘FTC’) informed Shire on October 3, 2006 that it was reviewing the ADDERALL
XR patent litigation settlement agreement between Shire and Barr. On June 22, 2007 the Group received a civil investigative demand requesting that
it provide information to the FTC relating to its settlement with Barr and its earlier settlement with Impax Laboratories, Inc. The Group is co-operating
fully with this investigation and believes that the settlements are in compliance with all applicable laws. 

Litigation proceedings concerning Shire’s ADDERALL XR patents are ongoing. Further information on this litigation can be found in Note 24 of the
consolidated financial statements.

VYVANSE—ADHD
VYVANSE was launched in the US in July 2007 as the first and only once-daily pro-drug stimulant to treat ADHD. 

In April 2008 VYVANSE was approved by the FDA for use in adults and Shire launched VYVANSE for adult ADHD in June 2008.

In July 2008 Shire launched VYVANSE in 20mg, 40mg and 60mg dosage strengths, which are designed to increase the dosing flexibility of VYVANSE. 

Product sales for the year to December 31, 2008 were $318.9 million (2007: $76.5 million). Product sales growth was driven by the increase in average
share of the US ADHD market (8.2% for the year to December 31, 2008 compared to 1.8% in 2007) and a price increase in April 2008.

DAYTRANA—ADHD
Product sales for the year to December 31, 2008 were $78.7 million (2007: $64.2 million). DAYTRANA’s average annual share of the US ADHD market
decreased to 1.8% in 2008 compared to 2.1% in 2007.

Despite the 11% decrease in prescriptions compared to 2007, sales of DAYTRANA grew 23% compared to the same period last year due to growth 
in the US ADHD market of 7% and lower sales deductions in 2008 over 2007, primarily due to reduced coupon expense.

During 2008 Shire announced two voluntary market recalls of a limited portion of DAYTRANA patches because certain patches did not meet their
release liner removal specifications which may have resulted in some patients and caregivers having difficulties removing the liners. The voluntary recalls
were not due to safety issues. Shire and Noven (the manufacturer of DAYTRANA) continue to pursue enhancements to the product and to work closely
with the FDA to implement changes that may improve the usability of DAYTRANA. There has been no interruption in the production of DAYTRANA.

US oral mesalamine market share
Shire’s average annual market share of the US oral mesalamine market rose to 28.4% for the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: 21.1%), driven 
by the growth of LIALDA since its launch in March 2007.

LIALDA/MEZAVANT—Ulcerative colitis
US prescriptions of LIALDA for the year to December 31, 2008 were up 204% compared to the prior year and LIALDA’s average market share for 2008
increased to 11.7% (2007: 3.9%). LIALDA’s US product sales for the year to December 31, 2008 were $134.8 million compared to $50.3 million in 2007.

In April 2008, TAP Pharmaceutical Products Inc. (‘TAP’) commenced co-promotion of LIALDA in the US in accordance with the co-promotion
agreement entered into in March 2008. This agreement adds more than 500 additional sales representatives from TAP which will increase the reach
and frequency of sales calls covering an additional 22,000 doctors.

Sales of MEZAVANT outside the US for the year to December 31, 2008 were $5.6 million (2007: $0.2 million). By December 31, 2008 MEZAVANT
was available in five EU countries. Launches are planned in other countries during 2009, subject to the successful conclusion of pricing and 
re-imbursement negotiations.
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PENTASA—Ulcerative colitis
US prescriptions of PENTASA for the year to December 31, 2008 were down 1% compared to 2007 primarily due to a small decrease in PENTASA’s
average annual market share from 17.2% in 2007 to 16.7% in 2008, offset by a 2% increase in the US oral mesalamine prescription market.

Sales of PENTASA for the year to December 31, 2008 were $185.5 million, an increase of 5% compared to 2007 (2007: $176.4 million). Sales growth 
is higher than prescription growth primarily due to the impact of price increases.

FOSRENOL—Hyperphosphatemia
At December 31, 2008 FOSRENOL was available in 30 countries and global sales grew by 52% to $155.4 million for the year to December 31, 2008
(2007: $102.2 million). Sales of FOSRENOL outside the US for the year to December 31, 2008 were $69.5 million (2007: $40.1 million).

US sales of FOSRENOL for the year to December 31, 2008 were up 38% to $85.9 million compared to 2007 (2007: $62.1 million). FOSRENOL’s
average prescription share of the US phosphate binder retail market decreased to 8.1% for the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: 8.6%). Product
sales increased despite the decrease in prescriptions due to price increases and a 34% increase in FOSRENOL’s share of the non-retail market
resulting from Shire’s continued focus on specialist physicians, clinics and dialysis centers.

In April 2008 Shire and Abbott Laboratories Inc. mutually agreed to terminate their Co-Promotion Agreement for FOSRENOL in the US. Shire will
continue to promote FOSRENOL on its own in the US and throughout Europe.

In February 2009, Shire received three Paragraph IV Notice letters, from Barr, Mylan and NATCO Pharma Limited (‘NATCO’) advising the filing 
of Abbreviated New Drug applications (‘ANDA’) for generic versions of 500mg, 750mg and 1,000mg FOSRENOL. Shire is currently reviewing the 
details of these notice letters and, under the Hatch-Waxman regulations, has 45 days from the date of each notice letter to determine if it will file a
patent infringement suit. If Shire brings suit pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman regulations a 30-month stay of approval, commencing on October 26,
2009, will be imposed on the FDA on each ANDA which is the subject of such a lawsuit.

XAGRID—Thrombocythemia
Sales for the year to December 31, 2008 were $78.7 million, an increase of 18% compared to the same period in 2007 (2007: $66.8 million). 
Expressed in transaction currencies (XAGRID is primarily sold in Euros and Pounds sterling) sales increased by 16%, with exchange rate movements
against the US dollar accounting for the remaining 2% increase.

DYNEPO—Anemia associated with chronic kidney disease
In July 2008 Shire announced that it had made the decision to cease the commercialization of DYNEPO, effective at the end of 2008, and recorded
charges of $149.9 million to cover intangible asset impairment, inventory write-downs and other exit costs. Sales for the year to December 31, 2008
were $20.9 million (2007: $14.2 million).

HUMAN GENETIC THERAPIES

ELAPRASE—Hunter syndrome
Sales for the year to December 31, 2008 were $305.1 million, an increase of 68% compared to the same period in 2007 (2007: $181.8 million). The
sales growth was driven by increased unit sales across all regions where ELAPRASE is sold: Europe, North America, Latin America and Asia Pacific.
Expressed in transaction currencies (ELAPRASE is primarily sold in US dollars and Euros) sales increased by 64%, with exchange rate movements
against the US dollar accounting for the remaining 4% increase.

REPLAGAL—Fabry disease
Sales for the year to December 31, 2008 were $176.1 million, an increase of 22% compared to the same period in 2007 (2007: $143.9 million). 
The sales growth was primarily driven by increased unit sales in Europe and Asia Pacific. Expressed in transaction currencies (REPLAGAL is
primarily sold in Euros and Pounds sterling) sales increased by 18%, with exchange rate movements against the US dollar accounting for the
remaining 4% increase.

FIRAZYR—HAE
During the second half of 2008 FIRAZYR was launched in some countries in Europe, and sales of $0.5 million were recognized (2007: $nil).
Launches will continue across Europe through 2009 as re-imbursement negotiations successfully conclude. FIRAZYR has orphan exclusivity in the
EU until 2018.

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 14



15
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008

Financial review

Foreign exchange effect 
Revenues reported in US dollars include the impact of translating sales made in local currency (primarily Euros and Pounds sterling) into US dollars. 
The table below shows the effect of foreign exchange translations on the revenue growth of the key affected products (for the principal currencies for
each product) as well as the underlying performance of those products in their local currency:

2008 sales
growth 2008 sales Impact of

2008 sales in local growth in translation to
in US dollars currency US dollars US dollars

$’M % % %

XAGRID
— sales in Euros 53.0 +18 +26 +8
— sales in Pounds sterling 25.4 +11 +3 –8

REPLAGAL
— sales in Euros 100.9 +15 +23 +8
— sales in Pounds sterling 24.5 +5 –3 –8

ELAPRASE
— sales in Euros 137.3 +41 +51 +10
— sales in Pounds sterling 28.0 +43 +31 –12

CALCICHEW sales in Pounds sterling 47.8 +6 –2 –8

REMINYL and REMINYL XL sales in Pounds sterling 32.2 +21 +11 –10

Royalties
Royalty revenue decreased by 1% to $245.5 million for the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: $247.2 million).

2008 2007 Change
Year to December 31, $’M $’M %

3TC 140.2 145.3 –4
ZEFFIX 40.3 41.0 –2
Other 65.0 60.9 7

Total 245.5 247.2 –1

3TC—HIV infection and AIDS
Royalties from sales of 3TC for the year to December 31, 2008 were $140.2 million, a decrease of 4% compared to the same period in 2007 
(2007: $145.3 million). Excluding favorable foreign exchange movements of 2%, there has been a decline of 6% compared to the same period in 2007.

Shire receives royalties from GSK on worldwide 3TC sales. GSK’s worldwide sales of 3TC for the year to December 31, 2008 were $1,060 million, 
a decrease of 5% compared to the same period in 2007 (2007: $1,110 million), but a decrease of approximately 7% on a constant exchange 
rate basis. While the nucleoside analogue market for HIV has continued to grow, competitive pressures within the market have increased, leading 
to a decline in 3TC sales.

In 2007 generic drug companies filed ANDAs seeking approval for EPIVIR, COMBIVIR, ZEFFIX and EPZICOM in the US. Pursuant to the GSK/
Shire license for lamivudine products, GSK has the right to enforce the licensed patents. In November 2007 GSK filed a patent infringement lawsuit 
against Teva in the US District Court for the District of Delaware for infringement of one of the patents relating to COMBIVIR. The patent, which
covers the combination of AZT and lamivudine to treat HIV, expires in May 2012. Teva had filed an ANDA with the FDA with a certification of invalidity,
unenforceability and non-infringement of that combination patent. Teva did not challenge two other patents relating to COMBIVIR that expire in 2010
and 2016. The case is in its early stages.
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ZEFFIX—Chronic hepatitis B infection
Royalties from sales of ZEFFIX for the year to December 31, 2008 were $40.3 million, a decrease of 2% compared to the same period in 2007 
(2007: $41.0 million). The impact of foreign exchange movements has contributed 6% growth; excluding favorable foreign exchange movements there
has been a decrease of 8% compared to the same period in 2007.

Other
Other royalties are primarily in respect of REMINYL and REMINYL XL (known as RAZADYNE and RAZADYNE ER in the US). REMINYL and REMINYL
XL are indicated for the symptomatic treatment of mild to moderately severe dementia of the Alzheimer type and are marketed by the Group in the UK
and Republic of Ireland. In the rest of the world, they are marketed by Janssen, an affiliate of Johnson & Johnson (under the name RAZADYNE and
RAZADYNE ER in the US). Shire receives royalties on Janssen’s sales. 

Certain companies filed ANDAs with the FDA for generic versions of RAZADYNE. Janssen and Synaptech filed lawsuits against some of those ANDA
filers. A trial was held during the week of May 21, 2007. Following a decision on August 28, 2008 which rendered the relevant patent invalid, generic
versions of RAZADYNE were permitted to enter the US market.

REMINYL XL is a once-daily prolonged release formulation of REMINYL, which was launched by Janssen in the US in May 2005 as RAZADYNE ER.
Patent litigation proceedings relating to RAZADYNE ER are in progress in the US. Certain companies filed ANDAs with the FDA for generic versions of
RAZADYNE ER. Janssen and Synaptech filed lawsuits against some of those ANDA filers for infringement of their patent rights relating to RAZADYNE
ER as a result of the ANDA filing.

Sales of the REMINYL/RAZADYNE range continue to grow in most countries, however, the entry of generic versions of RAZADYNE and RAZADYNE
ER into the US market has significantly decreased sales in that region.

Cost of product sales
The Cost of product sales increased by 27% to $408.0 million for the year to December 31, 2008 (15% of product sales), up from $320.3 million 
in the corresponding period in 2007 (2007: 15% of product sales). For the year to December 31, 2008 Cost of product sales included charges 
of $48.8 million (2% of product sales) (2007: $nil) relating to the write-down of inventory and other exit costs in respect of DYNEPO which the 
Group has decided to stop commercializing, depreciation of $16.2 million (2007: $11.8 million) and amortization of $1.7 million (2007: $1.2 million).
Cost of product sales as a percentage of product sales benefited from the impact of price increases on the Group’s product sales and favorable
changes in product mix in 2008 over 2007. 

R&D
R&D expenditure decreased to $526.6 million for the year to December 31, 2008 (19% of product sales), from $576.4 million in the year to December
31, 2007 (27% of product sales). For the year to December 31, 2007 R&D included upfront and milestone payments totaling $155.9 million (Renovo
$75.0 million, Amicus $50.0 million, Alba $25.0 million and Noven $5.9 million) for the in-licensing of pipeline products (7% of product sales). For the
year to December 31, 2008 R&D included $6.5 million (2007: $nil) relating to the cost of exiting post-approval marketing commitments for DYNEPO,
which the Group has decided to stop commercializing. R&D also includes depreciation of $12.5 million (2007: $11.3 million).

R&D in 2008 over 2007 includes higher expenditure on projects in-licensed and acquired since the second half of 2007 including SPD550, PLICERA,
AMIGAL, FIRAZYR and METAZYM together with Phase 3(b) and Phase 4 studies to support new product launches.

Selling, general and administrative (‘SG&A’) expenses
SG&A expenses increased 21% to $1,422.9 million in the year to December 31, 2008 from $1,178.8 million in the year to December 31, 2007. 
This increase in SG&A expenses was less than the product sales increase of 27%, and as a percentage of product sales SG&A expenses in 2008
compared to the same period in 2007 fell by two percentage points to 52% (2007: 54%).

SG&A for the year to December 31, 2008 includes intangible asset impairment charges of $97.1 million (4% of product sales) (2007: $0.4 million) 
of which $94.6 million relates to DYNEPO which the Group has decided to stop commercializing. Amortization of intangible assets in 2008 increased
by $31.6 million to $126.2 million (2007: $94.6 million): this increase resulted from a full year’s amortization in 2008 of the Group’s VYVANSE
intangible asset, of $55.8 million (2007: $28.9 million), and amortization in the second half of 2008 of the FIRAZYR intangible asset acquired through
the Jerini business combination. SG&A expenses also include depreciation charges of $48.5 million (2007: $42.1 million).

The year to December 31, 2008 also included costs associated with the introduction of a new holding company in 2008 totaling $14.8 million 
(2007: $nil). Other increases in SG&A expenses in 2008 over 2007 principally relate to the increase in advertising, promotional and marketing spend 
to support commercialization of the Group’s new products.

SG&A for the year to December 31, 2007 included a net charge of $17.0 million in respect of legal settlements, being a charge of $27.0 million for
settlement of the TKT purported securities fraud class action shareholder suit partially offset by a $10.0 million release of existing legal provisions. SG&A
expenses in the year to December 31, 2007 further included a share-based compensation catch-up charge of $22.5 million for the 2005 awards.
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In-Process R&D (‘IPR&D’)
For the year to December 31, 2008 the Group recorded an IPR&D charge of $263.1 million: this charge related to FIRAZYR in markets outside of the
EU acquired through the Jerini business combination ($128.1 million) and the acquisition from Zymenex of the global rights to the clinical candidate
arylsultatase-A currently known as METAZYM (HGT-1111), being investigated for the treatment of MLD ($135.0 million). 

The IPR&D charge in respect of FIRAZYR of $128.1 million relates to the US ($64.1 million) and the Rest of the World (‘ROW’) ($64.0 million) markets. 
In the US FIRAZYR received a not approvable letter from the FDA in April 2008, and in ROW it has not been approved by the regulatory authorities. 
At December 31, 2008, Shire’s management estimated that future R&D costs until regulatory approval would be approximately $30 million. This
estimate can be affected by various factors, both internal and external, and is part based upon management estimates and assumptions. For this
reason, amongst others, the actual cash flows may vary from future estimated cash flows.

METAZYM (HGT-1111) has completed a Phase 1b clinical trial in twelve MLD patients in Europe and an extension to this study is ongoing. The product
has been granted orphan drug designation in the US and in the EU. At December 31, 2008, Shire’s management estimated that future R&D costs 
until regulatory approval for METAZYM for the treatment of MLD in the US and the EU will be approximately $80 to $90 million. This estimate can be
affected by various factors both internal and external and is, in part, based on management’s estimate and assumptions. For this reason, among
others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecast future cash flows. 

During the year to December 31, 2007 Shire expensed the portion of the New River purchase price allocated to IPR&D totaling $1,866.4 million. 
This amount represented the value of those acquired development projects which, at the acquisition date, had not been approved by the FDA or other
regulatory authorities, including the adult indication of VYVANSE. On April 23, 2008 Shire announced that the FDA had approved the adult indication 
of VYVANSE and Shire launched VYVANSE for adult ADHD in the US in June 2008. In March 2008 the Canadian new drug submission was accepted
for filing for the treatment of ADHD in children, and Shire expects to submit the regulatory filing for VYVANSE in Europe for the treatment of ADHD 
in children aged 6 to 17 in 2010. At December 31, 2008 management estimated that future R&D costs until regulatory approval for VYVANSE for 
ADHD in markets outside the US are approximately $60 to $80 million. These estimates can be affected by various factors and are, in part, based 
on management’s estimate and assumptions. For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecast future cash flows.

Gain on sale of product rights
For the year to December 31, 2008 Shire recognized gains of $20.7 million on the sale of non-core products (2007: $127.8 million). For the year 
to December 31, 2008 these gains primarily relate to the sale of non-core products, including the dermatology products SOLARAZE and VANIQA, 
to Almirall in 2007, which were deferred at December 31, 2007 pending the transfer of relevant consents.

The gains of $127.8 million recognized in the year to December 31, 2007 comprise $114.8 million arising from the sale of non-core products to Almirall
and $13.0 million of gains on the sale of other non-core products during 2007.

Integration costs
For the year to December 31, 2008 Shire incurred $10.3 million of costs associated with the integration of Jerini into the Group and acquisition related
advisory fees incurred by Jerini (2007: $1.3 million relating to the New River acquisition).

Interest income
For the year to December 31, 2008 Shire received interest income of $25.5 million (2007: $50.6 million). Interest income primarily relates to interest
received on cash and cash equivalents. Interest income for the year to December 31, 2008 is lower than the same period in 2007 due to lower average
cash balances and lower average US dollar interest rates.

Interest expense
For the year to December 31, 2008 Shire incurred interest expense of $139.0 million (2007: $70.8 million).

Interest expense for the year to December 31, 2008 includes $87.3 million (2007: $28.0 million) in respect to the TKT appraisal rights litigation. 
On November 5, 2008 Shire announced that it had successfully settled all aspects of this litigation with all parties. Shire paid the same price 
of $37 per share originally offered to all TKT shareholders at the time of the July 2005 merger, plus interest. The Delaware Chancery Court has
approved dismissal of the case and Shire made payment to the dissenting shareholders on November 7, 2008. The settlement represents a total
payment of $567.5 million, representing consideration at $37 per share of $419.9 million and an interest cost of $147.6 million. 

Prior to reaching this settlement, the Group accrued interest based on a reasonable estimate of the amount that may be awarded by the Court 
to those former TKT shareholders who requested appraisal. This estimate of interest was based on Shire’s cost of borrowing. Between the close 
of the merger and November 5, 2008 the Group applied this interest rate on a quarterly compounding basis to the $419.9 million of consideration 
to calculate its provision for interest.

Upon reaching agreement in principle with all the dissenting shareholders, the Group determined that settlement had become the probable manner
through which the appraisal rights litigation would be resolved. Under current law, (although not applicable in this case because the merger was
entered into before the relevant amendment to the law became effective) the court presumptively awards interest in appraisal rights cases at a
statutory rate that is 5 percentage points above the Federal Reserve discount rate (as it varies over the duration of the case). In connection with the
settlement, the Group agreed to an interest rate that approximates to this statutory rate. Based on the settlement, the Group amended the method 
of determining its interest provision to reflect this revised manner of resolution and upon reaching settlement with the dissenting shareholders
recorded an additional interest expense of $73.0 million in its consolidated financial statements for the year to December 31, 2008. For further details
on the settlement of this litigation, see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Other (expense)/income, net
2008 2007

Year to December 31, $’M $’M

Impairment of long-term investments (58.0) (3.0)
GeneChem Funds management fee 1.9 3.6
Gain on sale of available-for-sale security 9.4 0.1
Foreign exchange(i) 14.1 (0.8)
Other (0.3) 1.3

(32.9) 1.2

(i) Includes gains and losses arising on translation of foreign currency transactions and balances and gains and losses on swap and forward foreign
exchange contracts

Other (expense)/income, net for the year to December 31, 2008 includes impairment charges in respect of available-for-sale securities totaling $58.0
million (2007: $3.0 million), including $44.3 million relating to the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc. The impairment of the investment in Renovo
Group plc was recognized at the end of the third quarter of 2008. These amounts reflect unrealized holding losses that have been re-classified out of
other comprehensive income into earnings in the period, as management have concluded that the impairment is other-than-temporary.

The decline in the market value of the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc initially arose from the results of clinical trials for JUVISTA announced
over 2007 and 2008. During the third quarter of 2008, in considering whether the decline in value was temporary or ‘other-than-temporary’ under 
US GAAP the Group considered the following factors: the severity of the decline from historical cost (87%) and its duration (eleven months); market
analysts’ targets of Renovo Group plc’s share price for the next 18–24 months; and the revised expected filing date for JUVISTA due to the adoption 
of a sequential rather than parallel Phase 3 development plan. 

These factors, together with the significant decline in global equity markets during the third quarter of 2008 meant that the Group was unable 
to reasonably estimate the period over which a full recovery in the value of its investment in Renovo Group plc could occur. As such, the Group
concluded that for US GAAP purposes the decline in value was ‘other-than-temporary’.

In such circumstances US GAAP requires the full difference between the book value of the investment and the fair (market) value be recognized as 
an other-than-temporary impairment. Accordingly the Group recognized an impairment charge of $44.3 million for its investment in Renovo Group plc
through the consolidated statement of operations in the third quarter of 2008. For purposes of computing the impairment charge fair value was
assumed to be £0.26 per share, representing the closing price of Renovo Group plc securities on the London Stock Exchange on September 30,
2008. If in the future JUVISTA’s Phase 3 trials report positively and Renovo Group plc’s other products progress through development, Renovo Group
plc’s share price could react favorably and the Group may recover some or all of this impairment loss. Any future potential increases in the value of
Renovo Group plc will be recognized through other comprehensive income. The closing price of Renovo Group plc securities on the London Stock
Exchange on December 31, 2008 was £0.20, and the carrying value of the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc was $3.6 million. 

Other (expense)/income, net also includes a gain of $9.4 million arising from the sale of Shire’s minority equity investment in Questcor Pharmaceutical
Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on providing prescription drugs for central nervous system (‘CNS’) disorders. Shire received cash
consideration of $10.3 million in respect of the sale.

Income taxes
The effective tax rate for the year to December 31, 2008 was 36.9% (2007: –4.0%). Excluding IPR&D charges of $263.1 million (2007: $1,866.4 million)
which are either not tax deductible or for which no tax benefit is currently recognized, the effective tax rate for the year to December 31, 2008 has
increased by 6.6% to 18.5% (2007: 11.9%). This increase in 2008 over 2007 is primarily due to the combined effects of (a) in 2008, significant
unfavorable rate impacts related to other than temporary impairment charges on available-for-sale securities and an increase in the valuation allowance
and, (b) in 2007, favorable impacts recognized related to non-taxable gains on the sale of non-core products rights which were partially offset by 
an increase in the FIN 48 provision. The 2008 effective tax rate was also unfavorably impacted by exchange losses recorded in continuing operations.

Equity in earnings of equity method investees
Net earnings of equity method investees of $2.4 million were recorded for the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: $1.8 million). This comprised
earnings of $5.8 million from the 50% share of the anti-viral commercialization partnership with GSK in Canada (2007: $6.5 million), offset by 
losses of $3.4 million being the Group’s share of losses in the GeneChem, AgeChem and EGS Healthcare Funds (2007: losses of $4.7 million).

Discontinued operations
Losses from discontinued operations in the year to December 31, 2008 totaled $17.6 million, (2007: $nil), relating to those businesses acquired
through the Jerini business combination that have been deemed by Shire and Jerini to be non-strategic to the combined business. The loss from
discontinued operations in the year to December 31, 2008 includes a charge of $12.9 million arising on the re-measurement of assets held for 
sale to their fair value less costs to sell at December 31, 2008. At December 31, 2008 these assets held-for-sale had a carrying value of $14.9 million.

Results of operations for the years to December 31, 2007 and 2006
For the year to December 31, 2007 the Group’s total revenues increased by 36% to $2,436.3 million, compared to $1,796.5 million in 2006. Net
loss for the year to December 31, 2007 was $1,451.8 million compared to a net income of $278.2 million in 2006. The Group’s net loss for 2007
was primarily attributable to the IPR&D write-off of $1,866.4 million following the acquisition of New River.
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Total revenues
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s total revenues by source:

2007 2006 Change
Year to December 31, $’M $’M %

Product sales 2,170.2 1,535.8 41
Royalties 247.2 242.9 2
Other revenues 18.9 17.8 6

Total 2,436.3 1,796.5 36

Product sales
Product US

sales prescription
2007 2006 growth growth

Year to December 31, $’M $’M % %

SPECIALTY PHARMACEUTICALS

ADHD
ADDERALL XR 1,030.9 863.6 19 3
VYVANSE 76.5 — n/a n/a
DAYTRANA 64.2 25.1 156 166
ADDERALL — 23.6 n/a n/a

GI
PENTASA 176.4 137.8 28 3
LIALDA 50.5 — n/a n/a

General Products
FOSRENOL 102.2 44.8 128 5
DYNEPO 14.2 — n/a n/a
CALCICHEW 54.2 45.5 19 n/a
CARBATROL 72.3 68.3 6 –5
XAGRID 66.8 53.3 25 n/a
REMINYL/REMINYL XL 31.2 21.5 45 n/a
Other 105.1 111.0 –5

1,844.5 1,394.5 32

HUMAN GENETIC THERAPIES
REPLAGAL 143.9 117.7 22 n/a
ELAPRASE 181.8 23.6 670 n/a

325.7 141.3 131

Total 2,170.2 1,535.8 41

The following discussion includes references to US prescription and US market share data for key products. The source of this data is IMS,
December 2007.

SPECIALTY PHARMACEUTICALS 

ADDERALL XR 
As a result of the launch of VYVANSE in July 2007 ADDERALL XR’s average share of the US ADHD market for 2007 fell to 25.5% (2006: 26.1%). 
US prescriptions for ADDERALL XR for the year to December 31, 2007 increased by 3% compared to the same period in 2006 due to a 6% growth
in the US ADHD market offset by the 0.6% fall in average market share.

Sales of ADDERALL XR for the year to December 31, 2007 were $1,030.9 million, an increase of 19% compared to the same period in 2006 
(2006: $863.6 million). Product sales growth was higher than prescription growth due primarily to price increases in January and October 2007.

As previously disclosed, the FTC informed Shire on October 3, 2006 that it was reviewing the ADDERALL XR patent litigation settlement agreement
between Shire and Barr. On June 22, 2007 the Group received a civil investigative demand requesting that it provides information to the FTC relating 
to its settlement with Barr and its earlier settlement with Impax. The Group is co-operating fully with this investigation and believes that the settlements
are in compliance with all applicable laws. 

Patent litigation proceedings relating to ADDERALL XR are in-progress. For further information see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

VYVANSE
VYVANSE was launched in the US market in July 2007 and at December 31, 2007 its market share had reached 5.2% (average annual market share
2%). Product sales of $76.5 million for the year to December 31, 2007 were net of $42 million sales deductions, primarily coupons, wholesaler
discounts and rebates.

All initial launch stocks of VYVANSE totaling $57.8 million were recognized into revenue during the year to December 31, 2007.
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DAYTRANA
Product sales for the year to December 31, 2007 were $64.2 million (2006: $25.1 million). DAYTRANA’s average share of the US ADHD market
increased to 2.1% in 2007 compared to 0.8% in 2006 (DAYTRANA was launched in June 2006). US prescriptions of DAYTRANA for the year to
December 31, 2007 over 2006 benefited from a full year of demand, 6% growth in the US ADHD market and higher market share. For the six month
period to December 31, 2007 prescriptions of DAYTRANA were up 31% compared to the same period in 2006. During September 2007 Shire
announced a voluntary market withdrawal of a limited quantity of DAYTRANA patches following feedback from patients and caregivers who had
experienced difficulty in removing the release liner. Patches are now being manufactured using an enhanced process, which Shire believes offers
improved ease of use when peeling off the release liner.

The addition of VYVANSE combined with ADDERALL XR and DAYTRANA’s market share helped Shire grow its total share of the US ADHD market 
to 31.1% at December 31, 2007 compared to 28.0% at December 31, 2006. Shire has the leading portfolio of products in the US ADHD market. 

PENTASA 
US prescriptions of PENTASA for the year to December 31, 2007 were up 3% compared to the same period in 2006 primarily due to a 4% increase 
in the US oral mesalamine prescription market, offset by a 0.1% decrease in PENTASA’s average market share from 17.3% in 2006 to 17.2% in 2007.

Sales of PENTASA for the year to December 31, 2007 were $176.4 million, an increase of 28% compared to the same period in 2006 
(2006: $137.8 million). Sales growth is higher than prescription growth primarily due to re-stocking to normal levels in 2007 and the impact of price
increases in November 2006 and August 2007.

LIALDA
Shire launched LIALDA in the US oral mesalamine market in March 2007, and by December 31, 2007 LIALDA had reached a market share of 8.0%
(average annual market share 3.9%). LIALDA’s product sales for the year to December 31, 2007 were $50.5 million. All initial launch stocks of LIALDA
totaling $34.3 million were recognized into revenue during the year to December 31, 2007. 

The product was launched in the UK in November 2007, Canada in January 2008 and further launches are planned in the EU during 2008, subject 
to the successful conclusion of pricing and re-imbursement negotiations. In the UK and Ireland the product will be called MEZAVANT XL and Shire
plans to market the product in most other EU countries as MEZAVANT. 

Since the launch of LIALDA in March 2007, PENTASA and LIALDA’s combined share of the US oral mesalamine prescription market had grown 
to 24.9% as at December 31, 2007, up from 17.6% as at December 31, 2006.

FOSRENOL
Global sales totaled $102.2 million for the year to December 31, 2007 (2006: $44.8 million). Sales of FOSRENOL outside the US for the year ended
December 31, 2007 were $40.1 million compared to the same period in 2006 (2006: $4.6 million).

US sales of FOSRENOL for the year to December 31, 2007 were up 54% to $62.1 million compared to the same period in 2006 (2006: $40.2 million).
FOSRENOL’s average market share of the US phosphate binder market increased from 8.5% in 2006 to 8.6% in 2007. The increase in product sales 
is due to a small wholesaler stocking increase in 2007 compared to significant wholesaler de-stocking of initial launch stocks in 2006, the continued 
shift to the 1 gram strength tablet launched in 2006, partially offset by higher sales deductions in 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 (relating 
to a one-off provision made in 2007 for returns of the 750mg dose).

DYNEPO
DYNEPO was launched in March 2007 in Germany and later in the year in the UK, France, Italy, and Ireland with sales for 2007 reaching $14.2 million.

CARBATROL 
US prescriptions for CARBATROL for the year to December 31, 2007 were down 5% compared to the same period in 2006. This was primarily due 
to a comparable decline in the US extended release carbamazepine prescription market; CARBATROL’s average market share remained constant.

Sales of CARBATROL for the year to December 31, 2007 were $72.3 million, an increase of 6% compared to the same period in 2006 
(2006: $68.3 million). Product sales increased despite the decrease in prescriptions, due to a sales price increase in April 2007 and re-stocking 
to normal levels, partially offset by higher sales deductions.

Patent litigation proceedings relating to CARBATROL are in-progress. For further information see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

XAGRID 
Sales for the year to December 31, 2007 were $66.8 million, an increase of 25% compared to the same period in 2006 (2006: $53.3 million).
Expressed in transaction currencies (XAGRID is primarily sold in Euros and Pounds sterling), sales increased by 15% due to growth in many of Shire’s
existing markets, with exchange rate movements against the US dollar accounting for the remaining 10% increase.

HUMAN GENETIC THERAPIES

REPLAGAL
Sales for the year to December 31, 2007 were $143.9 million, an increase of 22% compared to the same period in 2006 (2006: $117.7 million).
Expressed in transaction currencies (REPLAGAL is primarily sold in Euros and Pounds sterling) sales increased by 13% due to higher unit sales 
in Europe and Canada and the continued roll-out of REPLAGAL to new countries, including those in Latin America. Exchange rate movements
against the US dollar accounted for the remaining 9% increase in sales.

ELAPRASE
Sales for the year to December 31, 2007 were $181.8 million (2006: $23.6 million). Sales growth in 2007 was driven primarily by a full year of sales 
in the US (ELAPRASE was launched in the US in August 2006), sales in Europe (ELAPRASE was launched in several European markets in the first
half of 2007), and pre-approval sales in several Latin American markets. ELAPRASE was approved for sale and marketing in Japan in October 2007. 
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Foreign exchange effect 
Revenues reported in US dollars include the impact of translating sales made in local currency (primarily Euros and Pounds sterling) into US dollars. 
The table below shows the effect of foreign exchange translations on the revenue growth of the key affected products as well as the underlying
performance of those products in their local currency:

2007 sales
growth 2007 sales Impact of 

2007 sales in local growth in translation to
in US dollars currency US dollars US dollars

$’M % % %

XAGRID
— sales in Euros 42.2 +19 +29 +10
— sales in Pounds sterling 24.6 +9 +18 +9
REPLAGAL
— sales in Euros 82.5 +7 +17 +10
— sales in Pounds sterling 25.2 +14 +24 +10
CALCICHEW sales in Pounds sterling 48.8 +10 +19 +9
REMINYL and REMINYL XL sales in Pounds sterling 28.8 +35 +46 +11

Royalties
Royalty revenue increased by 2% to $247.2 million for the year to December 31, 2007 (2006: $242.9 million).

2007 2006 Change
Year to December 31, $’M $’M %

3TC 145.3 150.9 –4
ZEFFIX 41.0 34.8 +18
Other 60.9 57.2 +6

Total 247.2 242.9 +2

3TC
Royalties from sales of 3TC for the year to December 31, 2007 were $145.3 million, a decrease of 4% compared to the same period in 2006 
(2006: $150.9 million). Excluding favorable foreign exchange movements of 4%, there has been a decline of 8% compared to the same period in 2006.

Shire receives royalties from GSK on worldwide 3TC sales. GSK’s worldwide sales of 3TC for the year to December 31, 2007 were $1,110 million, a
decrease of 2% compared to the same period in 2006 (2006: $1,138 million), but a decrease of approximately 7% on a constant exchange rate basis.
While the nucleoside analogue market for HIV has continued to grow, competitive pressures, such as new entrants to the market and products in
competing markets, have increased leading to a decline in 3TC sales.

In 2007 generic drug companies filed ANDAs seeking approval for EPIVIR, COMBIVIR, ZEFFIX and EPZICOM in the US. Pursuant to the GSK/
Shire license for lamivudine products, GSK has the right to enforce the licensed patents. In November 2007 GSK filed a patent infringement lawsuit
against Teva in the US District Court for the District of Delaware for infringement of one of the patents relating to COMBIVIR. The patent, which 
covers the combination of AZT and lamivudine to treat HIV, expires in May 2012. Teva had filed an ANDA with the FDA with a certification of invalidity,
unenforceability and non-infringement of that combination patent. Teva did not challenge two other patents relating to COMBIVIR that expire in 2010
and 2016. The case is in its early stages.

ZEFFIX 
Royalties from sales of ZEFFIX for the year to December 31, 2007 were $41.0 million, an increase of 18% compared to the same period in 2006 
(2006: $34.8 million). The impact of foreign exchange movements has contributed 8% to the reported growth; excluding favorable foreign exchange
movements there has been an increase of 10% compared to the same period in 2006.

Shire receives royalties from GSK on worldwide ZEFFIX sales. GSK’s worldwide sales of ZEFFIX for the year to December 31, 2007 were $341 million,
an increase of 13% compared to the same period in 2006 (2006: $301 million). This increase was mainly due to strong growth in the Chinese market
and favorable foreign exchange rate movements.

Other
Other royalties are primarily in respect of REMINYL and REMINYL XL (known as RAZADYNE and RAZADYNE ER in the US), a product marketed
worldwide (excluding the UK and the Republic of Ireland) by Janssen, an affiliate of Johnson & Johnson. Shire has the exclusive marketing rights 
in the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

Barr and other companies have filed ANDAs with the FDA for generic versions of RAZADYNE. Janssen and Synaptech have filed lawsuits against
some of those ANDA filers. A trial was held during the week of May 21, 2007. Following a decision on August 28, 2008 which rendered the relevant
patent invalid, generic versions of RAZADYNE were permitted to enter the US market.

Janssen and Synaptech filed lawsuits against Barr and Sandoz Inc. (‘Sandoz’) for infringement of their patent rights relating to RAZADYNE ER 
as a result of Barr and Sandoz filing ANDAs with the FDA for generic versions of RAZADYNE ER. No court dates have been set. 
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Cost of product sales
For the year to December 31, 2007 the Cost of product sales was 15% of product sales (2006: 17%). The Cost of product sales for REPLAGAL in 2006
included a $47.0 million (3% of product sales) adjustment in respect of inventories acquired through the acquisition of TKT. Excluding the impact of this
fair value adjustment, Cost of product sales as a percentage of product sales in 2006 was 14%. The increase in Cost of product sales as a percentage
of products sales in 2007 over 2006 was primarily due to a shift in product mix resulting from increased sales of launched products, which had lower
margins than existing products, and the write-off of inventory following the voluntary market withdrawal of a limited quantity of DAYTRANA patches.

For the year to December 31, 2007 Cost of product sales included a charge of $5.5 million for share-based compensation (2006: $3.2 million) which
included a $2.1 million cumulative catch-up charge (2006: $nil) in respect of the 2005 awards, for further information see SG&A below.

R&D
R&D expenditure increased to $576.4 million for the year to December 31, 2007 (27% of product sales), up from $385.4 million in the year to December
31, 2006 (25% of product sales). For the year to December 31, 2007 R&D included upfront and milestone payments totaling $155.9 million (Renovo
$75.0 million, Amicus $50.0 million, Alba $25.0 million and Noven $5.9 million) for the in-licensing of pipeline products (7% of product sales). For the
year to December 31, 2006 R&D included $80.5 million (New River $50.0 million, Duramed $25.0 million and Warren Pharmaceuticals Inc (‘Warren’)
$5.5 million) of upfront and milestone payments (5% of product sales).

Excluding these upfront and milestone payments, the increase in R&D expenditure in 2007 was due to Phase 3(b) and Phase 4 studies to support 
new product launches; the continuation of Phase 3 trials on velaglucerase alfa; the development of the Women’s Health franchise and JUVISTA; and
the pre-clinical development of three HGT projects and the Amicus products in-licensed in 2007.

For the year to December 31, 2007 R&D included a charge of $17.0 million for share-based compensation (2006: $5.4 million) which included a
$4.6 million cumulative catch-up charge in respect of 2005 awards, for further information see SG&A below.

SG&A expenses
Total SG&A costs increased 27% to $1,178.8 million in the year to December 31, 2007 from $926.6 million in the year to December 31, 2006, which
was substantially less than the product sales increase of 41%. As a percentage of product sales, total SG&A costs were 54% (2006: 60%).

The increase in SG&A expenses in 2007 over 2006 included the impact of the following: an increase in the ADHD sales force to promote VYVANSE;
the cost of the new GI sales force in the US; the increase in advertising, promotional and marketing spend to support VYVANSE, LIALDA/MEZAVANT
and ELAPRASE; and a net charge of $17.0 million in respect of legal settlements, being a charge of $27.0 million for settlement of the TKT securities
class action shareholder suit partially offset by a $10.0 million release of existing legal provisions (1% of product sales).

For the year to December 31, 2007 SG&A included a charge of $52.7 million for share-based compensation (2006: $34.4 million), which included
a $22.5 million cumulative catch-up charge (2006: $nil) in respect of 2005 awards.

The depreciation charge for the year to December 31, 2007 was $42.1 million (2006: $43.3 million), inclusive of impairment charges of $1.8 million
(2006: $0.5 million). The increase in depreciation follows investment in Shire’s infrastructure to support the continuing growth of the Group.

The amortization charge for the year to December 31, 2007 was $95.0 million (2006: $57.4 million), inclusive of impairment charges of $0.4 million
(2006: $1.1 million). The increased charge is primarily due to the amortization of DAYTRANA, DYNEPO and VYVANSE intangible assets following the
product launches in June 2006, March 2007 and July 2007 respectively.

The cumulative share-based compensation catch-up charge related to options issued by Shire in 2005 under the 2000 Executive Scheme. These
options were exercisable subject to certain performance criteria, including growth in Option EPS (being reported diluted earnings per share as adjusted
for one-off items agreed by the Company’s Remuneration Committee between 2004 and 2007).

At the start of 2007 forecast Option EPS for the year was such that the Group thought it improbable that these 2005 awards would vest in 2008;
rather it was thought that the awards would vest, based upon service conditions, in 2015. Since then, business performance has improved over the
course of the year particularly in the fourth quarter in which the business generated $144 million of additional net income over the same period in
2006, equivalent to 209% growth for the fourth quarter. This strong performance in 2007 enabled the Remuneration Committee to conclude that the
2005 awards vested in 2008. Accordingly the compensation charge for these awards based on the revised grant date fair value, was accrued over
the three-year vesting period to 2008 rather than the ten-year period to 2015. The catch-up charge has been recognized in the fourth quarter of
2007 split $2.1 million to Cost of product sales, $4.6 million to R&D and $22.5 million to SG&A. 
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IPR&D
On April 19, 2007 Shire completed its acquisition of New River by way of a short-form merger, in an all-cash transaction. The acquisition of New River
allows Shire to capture the full economic value of VYVANSE, and gain control of the future development and commercialization of this product. 

During the year to December 31, 2007 Shire expensed the portion of the New River purchase price allocated to IPR&D of $1,866.4 million. 
This amount represents the value of those acquired development projects which, at the acquisition date, had not been approved by the FDA 
or other regulatory authorities, specifically VYVANSE indicated for ADHD in non-pediatric patients in the US ($1,786.8 million) and VYVANSE 
in ROW ($79.6 million). During the fourth quarter of 2007 the Group reduced the values ascribed to intangible assets by $17.4 million and IPR&D 
by $29.7 million from amounts previously assigned in the preliminary purchase price allocation as a result of changes to preliminary estimates 
of deferred taxes in the purchase price allocation exercise.

On the acquisition date, VYVANSE had only achieved regulatory approval for use in pediatric patients in the US. On June 29, 2007 Shire submitted 
a Supplement New Drug Application (‘sNDA’) to the FDA for VYVANSE for the treatment of ADHD in adults in the US. On April 23, 2008 Shire
announced that the FDA had approved the adult indication for VYVANSE, and Shire launched VYVANSE for adult ADHD in the US in June 2008. 
At December 31, 2007, management estimated that future R&D costs until regulatory approval for VYVANSE for ADHD in non-pediatric patients 
in the US are approximately $35 to $45 million. This estimate can be affected by various factors and is, in part, based on management’s estimate 
and assumptions. For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecast future cash flows.

On the acquisition date VYVANSE in ROW had not received regulatory approval. Planning is underway for submission of VYVANSE for the ROW. 
In March 2008 the Canadian new drug submission was accepted for filing for the treatment of ADHD in children, and Shire expects to submit the
regulatory filing for VYVANSE in Europe for the treatment of ADHD in children aged 6 to 17 in 2010. Management estimates that material net cash
inflows would be anticipated one to two years after the approval and at December 31, 2007 management estimated that future R&D costs until
regulatory approval for VYVANSE for ADHD in ROW are approximately $35 to $45 million. These estimates can be affected by various factors and
are, in part, based on management’s estimate and assumptions. For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecast
future cash flows.

The Group considers that these IPR&D assets have no alternative future use outside their current development projects and these assets have
therefore been charged to expense in the consolidated statement of operations as of the acquisition date in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (‘FASB’) Interpretation (‘FIN’) No. 4 ‘Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the
Purchase method’ (‘FIN 4’).

Gain on sale of product rights
For the year to December 31, 2007 Shire recognized gains of $127.8 million on the sale of non-core products. 

Shire received $209.6 million (net of $2.2 million of costs associated with the transfer of product rights) from Almirall for a portfolio of non-core
products comprising the dermatology products SOLARAZE and VANIQA and six non-promoted products across a range of indications, which were
sold by Shire primarily in the UK, France, Germany, Italy, Spain and Ireland. This sale realized a total gain of $139.2 million, of which $114.8 million 
was recognized during Q4 2007. The remaining deferred gain of $24.4 million will be recognized after the transfer of the relevant consents.

Shire received $24.8 million on the sale of other non-core products, realizing a total gain of $17.2 million, of which $13.0 million was recognized during
2007. The remaining deferred gain of $4.2 million relating to these disposals will be recognized on the transfer of marketing authorizations.

During the year to December 31, 2006 Shire recognized a gain of $63.0 million on the disposal of ADDERALL to Duramed. 

Integration costs
For the year to December 31, 2007 Shire incurred $1.3 million of costs associated with the integration of the New River business (2006: $5.6 million
relating to the TKT acquisition). New River is now fully integrated and no further integration costs are anticipated.

Interest income
For the year to December 31, 2007 Shire received interest income of $50.6 million (2006: $50.5 million). Interest income primarily relates to interest
received on cash balances. Included in 2006 was interest of $6.5 million received from IDB Biomedical Inc. (‘IDB’) on repayment of injectable flu
development drawings arising on the disposal of the vaccines business in 2004. Excluding this one-off item, interest income in 2007 is higher than 
in 2006 due to slightly higher average cash balances and higher average US dollar interest rates.

Interest expense
For the year to December 31, 2007 Shire incurred interest expense of $70.8 million (2006: $26.4 million). The increase in interest expense follows the
acquisition of New River in April 2007 which was partly funded by $1.3 billion of term loans, utilized under the $2.3 billion Multi-currency Term and
Revolving Facilities Agreement. These term loans were subsequently partially repaid using the proceeds from Shire’s $1.1 billion 2.75% Convertible
Bond issued in May 2007. The remaining $200 million of the term loans was also repaid during June 2007. Interest expense for the year to December
31, 2007 includes a $7.9 million write-off of deferred financing costs following the repayment of these term loans. 

In the years to December 31, 2007 and 2006 interest expense included a provision for interest (2007: $28.0 million; 2006: $24.6 million) which 
had been accrued based on a reasonable estimate that may be awarded by the Court to those former TKT shareholders who requested appraisal. 
On November 5, 2008 Shire announced that it had successfully settled all aspects of this litigation with all parties. For further details on the settlement
of this litigation, see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Other income, net
2007 2006

Year to December 31, $’M $’M

Impairment of long-term investments (3.0) (2.1)
GeneChem Funds management fee 3.6 4.6
Gain on sale of available-for-sale security 0.1 —
Foreign exchange(i) (0.8) 3.2
Other 1.3 3.8

1.2 9.5

(i) Includes gains and losses arising on translation of foreign currency transactions and balances and gains and losses on swap and forward foreign
exchange contracts

The impairment of long-term investments in 2007 and 2006 resulted from events and circumstances that indicated there was an other-than-temporary
impairment of the relevant investment and, accordingly, management recorded an impairment based on its assessment of fair value.

For further details see Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Income taxes
The effective tax rate for the year to December 31, 2007 was –4.0% (2006: 26.8%). Excluding the IPR&D charge of $1,866.4 million which is not tax
deductible, the effective tax rate for the year to December 31, 2007 has reduced by 14.9% to 11.9% compared to the year to December 31, 2006 as
a result of an increase in favorable permanent differences of $32.8 million compared to the same period in 2006 (including the tax effect of Shire plc’s
2.75% Convertible Bonds, an increase in R&D tax credits, and the tax effect of the gain on disposal of product rights) and a net reduction in valuation
allowances of $4.7 million (2006: $125.5 million), partially offset by an increase in the provision for uncertain tax benefits and associated interest and
penalties of $38.1 million (2006: an increase in tax contingencies of $187 million).

Equity in earnings/(losses) of equity method investees
Net earnings of equity method investees of $1.8 million were recorded for the year to December 31, 2007 (2006: $5.7 million). This comprised
earnings of $6.5 million from the 50% share of the anti-viral commercialization partnership with GSK in Canada (2006: $6.2 million), offset 
by losses of $4.7 million being the Group’s share of losses in the GeneChem, AgeChem and EGS Healthcare Funds (2006: losses of $0.5 million).

Liquidity and capital resources
General 
The Group’s funding requirements depend on a number of factors, including the timing and number of its development programs; corporate, business
and product acquisitions; the level of resources required for the expansion of manufacturing and marketing capabilities as the product base expands;
increases in accounts receivable and inventory which may arise with any increase in product sales; competitive and technological developments; the
timing and cost of obtaining required regulatory approvals for new products; the timing and quantum of milestone payments on collaborative projects;
the timing and quantum of tax and dividend payments; the timing and quantum of purchases by the Employee Share Ownership Trust, (‘ESOT’) 
of Shire shares in the market to satisfy option exercises and the continuing cash generated from sales of Shire’s key products.

An important part of Shire’s business strategy is to protect its products and technologies through the use of patents, proprietary technologies and
trademarks, to the extent available. Shire intends to defend its intellectual property and as a result may need cash for funding the cost of litigation.

The Group finances its activities through cash generated from operating activities; credit facilities; private and public offerings of equity and debt
securities; and the proceeds of asset or investment disposals.

Shire’s robust balance sheet includes $218.2 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008. We generated $800.1 million of cash from
operating activities during the year. Shire has no debt maturing in the next three years and substantially all of Shire’s debt relates to its $1.1 billion
2.75% Convertible Bonds which mature in 2014, although these include a put option which could require repayment in 2012. In addition, Shire has 
a committed facility until 2012 of $1.2 billion, which is currently undrawn. However, the current financial situation which is affecting the banking system
and financial markets, together with the current uncertainty in global economic conditions, have resulted in a tightening in the credit markets and a
low level of liquidity in many financial markets. As a result, the Group may not be able to access new equity or debt finance at the same level or cost
as it has done previously.

Shire 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 
On May 9, 2007 Shire plc issued $1,100 million in principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 and convertible into fully paid Ordinary
Shares of Shire plc of par value £0.05 each. The net proceeds of issuing the Bonds, after deducting the commissions and other direct costs of issue,
totaled $1,081.7 million. 

The Bonds were issued at 100% of their principal amount, and unless previously purchased and canceled, redeemed or converted, will be redeemed
on May 9, 2014 (the ‘Final Maturity Date’) at their principal amount. The Bonds bear interest at 2.75% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on
November 9 and May 9. The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Group, and rank pari passu and
rateably, without any preference amongst themselves, and equally with all other existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Group.
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The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Company (the ‘Call Option’) at their principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest if:
(i) at any time after May 23, 2012 if on no less than 20 dealing days in any period of 30 consecutive dealing days the value of Shire plc’s Ordinary
Shares underlying each Bond in the principal amount of $100,000 would exceed $130,000; or (ii) at any time conversion rights shall have been
exercised, and/or purchases and corresponding cancelations, and/or redemptions effected in respect of 85% or more in principal amount of Bonds
originally issued. The Bonds may also be redeemed at the option of the Bond-holder at their principal amount including accrued but unpaid interest
on May 9, 2012 (the ‘Put Option’), or following the occurrence of change of control. The Bonds are repayable in US dollars, but also contain
provisions entitling the Company to settle redemption amounts in Pounds sterling, or in the case of the Final Maturity Date and following exercise 
of the Put Option, by delivery of the underlying Shire plc Ordinary Shares and a cash top-up amount.

The Bonds are convertible into Shire plc Ordinary Shares during the conversion period, being the period from June 18, 2007 until the earlier of: (i) the
close of business on the date falling 14 days prior to the Final Maturity Date; (ii) if the Bonds have been called for redemption by the Company, the close 
of business 14 days before the date fixed for redemption; (iii) the close of business on the day prior to a Bond-holder giving notice of redemption in
accordance with the conditions; and (iv) the giving of notice by the trustee that the Bonds are accelerated by reason of the occurrence of an event of default.

Upon conversion, the Bond-holder is entitled to receive Shire plc Ordinary Shares at the initial conversion price of $33.5879 per Shire plc Ordinary
Share, (subject to adjustment as outlined below), being 2,977.26265 shares per $100,000 denomination. The initial conversion price is subject to
adjustment in respect of (i) any dividend or distribution by the Company, (ii) a change of control and (iii) customary anti-dilution adjustments for, inter alia,
share consolidations, share splits, spin-off events, rights issues, bonus issues and re-organizations. The shares issued on conversion will be delivered
credited as fully paid, and will rank pari passu in all respects with all fully paid shares in issue on the relevant conversion date.

Direct costs of issue of the Bonds paid in the year to December 31, 2007 totaled $18.3 million. These costs are being amortized to interest expense
using the effective interest method over the five-year period to the Put Option date. At December 31, 2008 $12.6 million of these costs remained
deferred ($3.8 million within other current assets and $8.8 million within other non-current assets).

In May 2008, pursuant to a court sanctioned Scheme of Arrangement, Shire Limited (now known as Shire plc) replaced Shire plc (the former holding
company of the Shire Group, ‘Old Shire’) as the holding company of Shire and its subsidiaries. Immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement
becoming effective, Shire Limited was substituted for Old Shire as the principal obligor under the Bonds, and the terms and conditions of the Bonds
accordingly amended. In connection with the Scheme of Arrangement the following documents were entered into:

(i) a supplemental trust deed dated April 15, 2008 between Old Shire, Shire plc and BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee (the
‘Supplemental Trust Deed’) relating to a trust deed dated May 9, 2007 (the ‘Trust Deed’) constituting the US $1,100,000,000 2.75% Convertible
Bonds due 2014 (the ‘Convertible Bonds’) originally issued by Shire; and

(ii) an accession and amendment agreement dated April 15, 2008 between Shire plc, Old Shire, BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee
and The Bank of New York as Paying and Conversion Agent (the ‘Accession and Amendment Agreement’) relating to a paying and conversion
agency agreement dated May 9, 2007 (the ‘Agency Agreement’) between Old Shire, BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee and 
The Bank of New York as Paying and Conversion Agent.

As a result of amendments to the Trust Deed, effected pursuant to the Supplemental Trust Deed, and to the Agency Agreement, effected pursuant 
to the Accession and Amendment Agreement, in connection with the Scheme, Shire plc was substituted in place of Old Shire as principal obligor
under, and issuer of, the Convertible Bonds, and Shire plc acceded to, and assumed all Old Shire obligations under, the Trust Deed and the Agency
Agreement. Old Shire ceased to be a party to the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement. The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the terms and
conditions of the Convertible Bonds were amended and re-stated in order to, among other things, provide that the Convertible Bonds will, following
the substitution, be convertible into Ordinary Shares of Shire plc.

Multi-currency Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement
In connection with the acquisition of New River, Shire plc entered into a Multi-currency Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement (the ‘Facilities
Agreement’) with ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Barclays Capital, Citigroup Global Markets Limited and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (the ‘Arrangers’) on
February 20, 2007. The Facilities Agreement comprised three credit facilities: (i) a committed multi-currency five-year term loan facility in an aggregate
amount of $1,000 million (‘Term Loan A’), (ii) a committed multi-currency 364 day term (with a further 364 day extension option) loan facility in an
aggregate amount of $300 million (‘Term Loan B’) and (iii) a committed five-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount of $1,000 million 
(the ‘RCF’ and, together with Term Loan A and Term Loan B, the ‘Facilities’). Shire plc has agreed to act as guarantor for any of its subsidiaries that
borrow under the Facilities Agreement.

On April 18, 2007 the Group fully utilized Term Loan A of $1,000 million and Term Loan B of $300 million to partially fund the acquisition of New River. 
In May 2007 Shire issued $1,100 million principal amount of the Bonds. The proceeds of the issue were used to repay and cancel $800 million of Term
Loan A and all of Term Loan B in accordance with the terms of the Facilities Agreement. The remaining $200 million drawn down under Term Loan A
was repaid on June 29, 2007. 
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On July 19, 2007, the Group entered into a syndication and amendment agreement in relation to the Facilities Agreement (the ‘Amended Facilities
Agreement’), which increased the RCF to an aggregate amount of $1,200 million, amended the covenant relating to the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA
and syndicated the RCF between the banks with the following commitments: ABN Amro Bank N.V., ($200 million); Barclays Capital, ($200 million);
Citigroup Global Markets Limited, ($200 million); The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, ($200 million); Lloyds TSB Bank plc, ($200 million); Bank of America
N.A., ($100 million); and Morgan Stanley Bank ($100 million).

The RCF, which includes a $250 million swingline facility, may be used for general corporate purposes and matures on February 20, 2012. The
availability of loans under the RCF is subject to customary conditions, including the absence of any defaults thereunder and the accuracy (in all material
respects) of Shire’s representations and warranties contained therein.

The interest rate on each loan drawn under the RCF for each interest period, as determined by the Group, is the percentage rate per annum which 
is the aggregate of the applicable margin (ranging from 0.40 to 0.80% per annum, depending on the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA for the preceding
period) and LIBOR for the applicable currency and interest period. Shire also pays a commitment fee on undrawn amounts at 35% per annum of the
applicable margin.

The Amended Facilities Agreement includes requirements that (i) Shire’s ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Amended Facilities Agreement)
does not exceed 3.5 to 1 for either the twelve-month period ending December 31 or June 30 unless Shire has exercised its option (which is subject
to certain conditions) to increase it to 4.0 to 1 for two consecutive testing dates; and (ii) that the ratio of EBITDA to Net Interest (as defined in the
Facilities Agreement) must not be less than 4.0 to 1, for either the twelve month period ending December 31 or June 30, and (iii) additional limitations
on the creation of liens, disposal of assets, incurrence of indebtedness, making of loans, giving of guarantees and granting security over assets.

Upon a change of control of Shire or upon the occurrence of an event of default and the expiration of any applicable cure period, the total
commitments under the Facilities may be canceled and/or all or part of the loans, (together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued 
or outstanding) may become immediately due and payable. Events of default under the Amended Facilities Agreement include: (i) non-payment 
of any amounts due under the Facilities; (ii) failure to satisfy any financial covenants; (iii) material misrepresentation in any of the finance documents; 
(iv) failure to pay, or certain other defaults under other financial indebtedness; (v) certain insolvency events or proceedings; (vi) material adverse
changes in the business, operations, assets or financial condition of the group; (vii) certain US Employee Retirement Income Security Act breaches
which would have a material adverse effect; (viii) if it becomes illegal for Shire or any of its subsidiaries that are parties to the Amended Facility
Agreement to perform their obligations or (ix) if Shire or any subsidiary of Shire which is party to the Amended Facility Agreement repudiates the
Amended Facility Agreement or any Finance Document (as defined in the Amended Facility Agreement).

In connection with the Scheme of Arrangement, with effect from May 23, 2008, Old Shire entered into an accession and amendment deed dated
April 15, 2008 between Shire plc (formerly Shire Limited), Old Shire, certain subsidiaries of Shire plc and Barclays Bank plc as Facility Agent (the
‘Accession and Amendment Deed’) relating to the Amended Facilities Agreement. The following is a description of the material amendments to the
Amended Facilities Agreement, affected pursuant to the Accession and Amendment Deed, which took effect on May 23, 2008, immediately prior 
to the Scheme of Arrangement becoming effective.

Shire plc acceded to the Facility Agreement as a borrower and guarantor, and Shire Holdings UK Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Old Shire,
acceded to the Facility Agreement as a borrower. Old Shire ceased to be a party to the Facility Agreement as a guarantor (although it remains 
a party to the Facility Agreement as a borrower). The Amended Facilities Agreement was amended and re-stated in order to take account of the fact
that Shire plc is incorporated in Jersey and tax resident in the Republic of Ireland, to exclude the Scheme of Arrangement between Shire plc and 
its shareholders from the mandatory prepayment provisions contained in the Amended Facilities Agreement, and amend the financial covenants
contained in the Amended Facilities Agreement in order to ensure that if any amount of interest awarded in the TKT appraisal rights litigation differs
from that provided for in Shire’s accounts, any excess or shortfall would be treated as if it had been provided for on a pro-rata basis in accounting
periods up to the time of judgment. This amendment was made to avoid a technical breach of the Amended Facilities Agreement in the accounting
period in which the any judgment occurs.

During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Group paid $14.5 million for the arrangement of the Facilities of which $1.2 million has been amortized
in the year to December 31, 2008 ($9.4 million amortized in the year to December 31, 2007). Arrangement costs of $3.9 million, which relate to the
RCF, remain deferred at December 31, 2008 and are being amortized over the estimated term of the facility ($1.2 million within other current assets
and $2.7 million within other non-current assets). 

On November 7, 2008 Shire utilized $190.0 million of the facility to part fund the TKT appraisal rights litigation settlement. The loan was repaid in full
prior to December 31, 2008. 
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Sources and uses of cash 
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s gross and net debt (excluding restricted cash) at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
December 31, $’M $’M

Cash and cash equivalents 218.2 762.5

Shire 2.75% Convertible Bonds 1,100.0 1,100.0
Building financing obligation 45.6 32.9

Total debt 1,145.6 1,132.9

Net (debt)/cash funds (927.4) (370.4)

Cash flow activity 
Net cash provided by operating activities for the year to December 31, 2008 was $800.1 million resulting from a net profit of $156.0 million, non-cash
items not affecting 2008 operating cash flows of $616.6 million a decrease in working capital of $32.2 million and cash flows used in discontinued
operations of $4.7 million. Cash flow from operating activities increased by $325.4 million to $800.1 million (2007: $474.7 million). The increased cash
flow from operating activities resulted from higher revenues and cash collection in 2008 over 2007, together with cash inflows from forward foreign
exchange contracts in 2008. These cash inflows were partially offset by interest payments to the TKT dissenting shareholders ($147.6 million), cash
paid to Zymenex for METAZYM ($135.0 million) and higher cash tax payments in 2008 over 2007.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year to December 31, 2007 was $474.7 million resulting from a net loss of $1,451.8 million, non-cash
items not affecting 2007 operating cash flows of $1,962.8 million (predominately the IPR&D charge of $1,866.4 million) and an increase in working
capital of $36.3 million. 

Net cash used in investing activities was $1,154.5 million in the year to December 31, 2008 and includes the cash outflows associated with
purchasing over a 98% interest in Jerini ($499.4 million, net of cash acquired), the payment of $419.9 million at $37 per share on settlement of the
TKT appraisal rights litigation, expenditure on purchases of property, plant and equipment of $236.0 million, the final sales milestone payment of
$25.0 million for DAYTRANA to Noven and purchases of long-term investments of $2.2 million. These investing outflows which were partially offset
by receipts of $10.3 million from the sale of long-term assets and $5.0 million received from the sale of product rights. 

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment included $136.0 million on construction work at Shire’s office and manufacturing facilities 
in Lexington, Massachusetts and $4.7 million on construction work at the Basingstoke, UK Office. This capital expenditure was funded from the
Company’s existing cash resources and operating cash flows, and the Company expects to fund 2009 capital expenditure which is committed 
at December 31, 2008 from operational cash flows generated in 2009.

Net cash used in investing activities was $2,468.1 million in the year to December 31, 2007 and includes expenditure on the acquisition of New River 
of $2,519.6 million, net of cash acquired; purchases of long-term investments of $63.2 million (which includes expenditure of $50.0 million on an equity
investment in Renovo Group plc); purchases of property, plant and equipment of $110.4 million and purchases of intangible assets of $59.0 million
were partially offset by $234.4 million received as proceeds/deposits for the sale of certain product rights and $55.8 million received on maturity 
of New River’s short-term investments. Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment included $36.1 million on IT projects at the Wayne,
Pennsylvania US headquarters; $12.4 million on IT at the Basingstoke, UK headquarters; $8.2 million on construction work at Shire’s manufacturing
facility at Owings Mills, Maryland; and $35.1 million and $8.2 million on leasehold improvements and IT equipment, respectively at Shire’s site 
in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Capital expenditure on intangible assets included $50.0 million of sales milestones paid to Noven for DAYTRANA. 

Net cash used in financing activities was $178.1 million for the year to December 31, 2008 of which $146.6 million related to payments to acquire
shares by the ESOT and $46.8 million to the dividend payment. During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group additionally drew down
$190.0 million of its revolving credit facility to part fund the TKT appraisal rights settlement this amount was subsequently repaid during the period.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $1,623.0 million for the year to December 31, 2007. On April 18, 2007 the Group fully utilized Term Loan A 
of $1,000 million and Term Loan B of $300 million to partially fund the acquisition of New River, which, as described above, have subsequently been
repaid in 2007. Shire incurred $14.5 million of arrangement costs in respect of these facilities in the year to December 31, 2007. In May 2007 Shire
issued $1.1 billion principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014. The net proceeds of the issue of the Bonds were $1.1 billion with
associated issue costs of $18.3 million. On February 20, 2007 Shire plc raised $877.3 million, net of associated costs, through the private placement 
of 42.9 million new Ordinary Shares to certain institutional investors at a price of 1075 pence per share. In addition, Shire plc received $13.0 million
from the exercise of warrants and $30.4 million from the exercise of stock options, made payments to acquire treasury stock of $186.0 million and
paid a dividend of $41.3 million. Shire also paid $279.4 million to holders of New River’s 3.5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2013 and received
$141.8 million from Merrill Lynch in settlement of a purchased call option entered into by New River prior to the acquisition in April 2007.
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Outstanding letters of credit
At December 31, 2008, the Group had irrevocable standby letters of credit in the amount of $10.5 million, including letters of credit with Barclays Bank
plc in the amount of $4.0 million providing security on the recoverability of insurance claims, and with Citigroup in the amount of $4.2 million, providing
security on the payment of lease obligations. 

Cash requirements 
At December 31, 2008, the Group’s cash requirements for contractual obligations and long-term liabilities reflected on the Balance Sheet were as follows:

Payments due by period

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1–3 years 3–5 years 5 years
$’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

Long-term debt obligations(i) 1,266.4 30.3 60.5 60.5 1,115.1
Building financing obligation(ii) 34.3 2.5 4.6 4.4 22.8
Operating leases obligation(iii) 172.4 34.2 49.9 30.7 57.6
Purchase obligations(iv) 310.2 251.2 45.5 13.5 — 
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the Balance Sheet(v) 233.2 11.6 221.6 — — 

Total 2,016.5 329.8 382.1 109.1 1,195.5

(i) Shire’s $1,100 million principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 issued in May 2007 and the interest on the Convertible Bonds has
been included based on the contractual payment dates. The principal amount of $1,100 million has been included within payments due in more
than five years based on the Final Maturity Date of the Convertible Bonds. The Bond-holders have the option to redeem the Convertible Bonds 
at the principal amount in May 2012 and the Company has the option to call the bonds subject to certain conditions after May 2012. Further
details are included within Liquidity and capital resources: Shire 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 above.

(ii) The Group has entered into a building financing arrangement for certain laboratory and office space for its HGT business unit in Massachusetts
expiring in 2023. For further information see Note 21, ‘Other long-term debt’ of the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) The Group leases certain land, facilities, motor vehicles and certain equipment under operating leases expiring through 2025.

(iv)Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods, investments or services (including clinical trials, contract manufacturing and capital
equipment) that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including open purchase orders. Shire expects to fund
these commitments with cash flows from operations.

(v) Unrecognized tax benefits and associated interest and penalties of $11.6 million and $221.5 million are included within payments due in less than
one year and payments due in one to three years, respectively.

The contractual obligations table above does not include payments yet to fall due upon the occurrence of certain milestones and other contractual
commitments. The most significant payments are as follows:

(i) Alba Therapeutics Corporation (‘Alba’)
On December 14, 2007 Shire acquired worldwide rights to SPD550 (also known as AT-1001), in markets outside of the US and Japan, from Alba.
SPD550 is Alba’s lead inhibitor of barrier dysfunction in various gastrointestinal disorders that is currently in Phase 2 development for the treatment 
of Celiac disease. Shire paid an upfront payment of $25 million (expensed as R&D in 2007) and will pay further development and sales milestones 
up to a maximum of $300 million. Shire will also pay tiered royalties on net sales of the product. Tiered royalty rates will be single or double digit
dependent on annual net sales.

Alba and Shire have formed a joint development committee to monitor R&D activities of SPD550. Alba will fund all development until SPD550 has
completed Proof of Concept, which is expected to be in the first half of 2009, after which Shire and Alba will share equally development costs under 
a joint development plan.

(ii) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (‘Amicus’)
On November 7, 2007 Shire licensed from Amicus the rights to three pharmacological chaperone compounds in markets outside of the US: AMIGAL
for Fabry disease (Phase 2), PLICERA for Gaucher disease (Phase 2) and AT2220 for Pompe disease (Phase 2). Shire paid Amicus an upfront license
fee of $50 million (expensed as R&D in 2007), and will pay further development and sales-based milestones to a maximum of $390 million. Shire will
also pay tiered, double digit, royalties on net sales of the products. Shire and Amicus will pursue a joint development program toward market approval
in the US and Europe; expenses for this program will be shared equally.

(iii) JUVISTA
On June 19, 2007 Shire signed an agreement with Renovo to develop and commercialize JUVISTA, Renovo’s novel drug candidate being investigated
for the reduction of scarring in connection with surgery. Under the terms of the agreement Shire has the exclusive right to commercialize JUVISTA
worldwide, with the exception of EU member states.

Shire has remaining obligations to pay Renovo $25 million on the filing of JUVISTA with the FDA; up to $150 million on FDA approval; royalties 
on net sales of JUVISTA; and up to $525 million on the achievement of very significant sales targets. Shire will bear the cost of clinical trials designed
specifically for obtaining US regulatory approval. Renovo will bear the costs of clinical trials designed specifically for obtaining EU regulatory approval.
Shire and Renovo will share equally the costs of conducting global clinical trials that are designed for obtaining both US and EU regulatory approvals.
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(iv) Women’s Health Products
In August 2006, Shire and Duramed (an affiliate of Barr) entered into an agreement related to SEASONIQUE, a number of products using Duramed’s
transvaginal ring technology and other oral products (the ‘Collaboration Products’). Under this agreement, Shire was required to re-imburse Duramed
for US development expenses incurred in respect of the Collaboration Products up to a maximum of $140 million over eight years from September
2006, and Shire had the right to commercialize these products in a number of markets outside of North America, including the larger European
markets. 

US development expenses re-imbursed in the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled $30.0 million, and at December 31, 2008 the maximum future
re-imbursement for Duramed incurred US development expenditures was $95.6 million.

On February 24, 2009, Shire and Duramed amended this agreement and it will terminate on December 31, 2009. Pursuant to this amendment, 
Shire agreed to return to Duramed its rights under the agreement effective February 24, 2009. Shire also agreed to re-imburse Duramed for 
incurred US development expenditures in 2009 up to a maximum of $30.0 million. In addition, Shire agreed to a one-time payment to Duramed 
of $10.0 million and to forego royalties receivable from Barr and cost of goods otherwise payable by Barr to Shire in 2009 under the License
Agreement between the parties for the supply of the authorized generic of ADDERALL XR up to a maximum of $25.0 million.

(v) EQUASYM IR and XL
On February 20, 2009, Shire announced that it has signed an agreement with UCB to acquire the worldwide rights (excluding the USA, Canada 
and Barbados) to EQUASYM IR and XL (methylphenidate hydrochloride) used for the treatment of ADHD. Shire will make a cash payment to UCB 
of 155 million for the acquisition of these rights on completion of the transaction which is subject to standard closing conditions. In addition, small
milestone payments may become payable in 2009 and 2010 if certain net sales targets are met.

(vi) Other R&D and sales milestones
In addition to the commitments set out in (i) to (iv), at December 31, 2008 the Group had commitments payable on achievement of specified
milestones and fees payable for products under development in-licensed from third-parties of $1.0 million (2007: $5.3 million).

(vii) Capital commitments
At December 31, 2008, the Group has committed to spend $95.4 million in respect of capital projects, including commitments for the expansion 
and improvements to office space at the Basingstoke UK headquarters and improvements to laboratory and office space leased by the HGT
business at Lexington, Massachusetts which is expected to be all payable in 2009.

Business risk management
The Group has adopted a risk management strategy designed to identify, assess and manage the significant risks that it faces. While the Group aims
to identify and manage such risks, no risk management strategy can provide absolute assurance against loss.

Set out below are the key risk factors, associated with the business, that have been identified through the Group’s approach to risk management. Some
of these risk factors are specific to the Group, and others are more generally applicable to the pharmaceutical industry in which the Group operates.
The Group considers that these risk factors apply equally and therefore all should be carefully considered before any investment is made in Shire.

Risk factors related to the Group’s business
The Group’s new products may not be a commercial success
Shire has launched a number of new products in the last four years, including key new products ELAPRASE, VYVANSE, LIALDA, FIRAZYR and
FOSRENOL (ROW). The commercial success of these new products, as well as other new products that the Group may launch in the future, will
depend on their approval and acceptance by physicians, patients and other key decision-makers, as well as the timing of the receipt of marketing
approvals, the scope of marketing approvals as reflected in the product’s label, the countries in which such approvals are obtained, the authorization
of price and re-imbursement in those countries where price and re-imbursement is negotiated, and safety, efficacy, convenience and cost-
effectiveness of the product as compared to competitive products.

The Group may not be able to grow revenues in its new products as quickly as anticipated if any or all of the following occur: 
— if competitive products are genericized and the impact on the market negatively affects the prescribing of branded treatments for the indications

that the Group’s new products treat; 
— if there are unanticipated adverse events experienced with the Group’s new products not seen in clinical trials that impact the physician’s willingness

to prescribe the Group’s new products; 
— if issues arise from clinical trials being conducted for post-marketing purposes or for registration in another country or regulatory agencies in one

country act in a way that causes concern for prescribers or patients in another country;
— if patients, payors or physicians favor older treatments over newer treatments;
— if government regulation is stricter for the Group’s new products than for existing treatments; 
— if the new products suffer a loss of patent protection or competitors successfully challenge or circumvent the Group’s patents or regulatory

exclusivity (See Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements for details of current patent litigation); 
— if planned geographical expansion into emerging markets is not successful; or
— if the size of the patient population for the new product is less than expected or the Group fails to identify new patients for the new products.

If the Group is unable to commercialize ELAPRASE, VYVANSE, LIALDA, FIRAZYR, FOSRENOL (ROW) or any of its new products successfully, there
may be a material adverse effect on the Group’s revenues, financial condition and results of operations.
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Any decrease in the combined sales of VYVANSE and ADDERALL XR will significantly reduce revenues and earnings
In 2008, the combined sales of VYVANSE and ADDERALL XR were $1,420.6 million, representing approximately 47% of the Group’s total revenues.
Sales of ADDERALL XR are expected to decrease significantly due to generic competition that is anticipated to commence on April 1, 2009. Any
factors that decrease the sales of ADDERALL XR more significantly than expected could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations. In addition, the entrance of generic competitors for ADDERALL XR or other leading ADHD medications could
impact the sales of VYVANSE. Other factors that could impact the sales of VYVANSE or ADDERALL XR include, but are not limited to:
— faster than anticipated erosion of ADDERALL XR sales by generic competitors;
— the development and marketing of competitive pharmaceuticals to VYVANSE and ADDERALL XR;
— issues impacting the production of VYVANSE or ADDERALL XR or the supply of amphetamine salts including but not limited to the ability to get

sufficient quota from the US Drug Enforcement Agency (‘DEA’);
— technological advances (including the approval of new competing products for ADHD treatments);
— changes in re-imbursement policies of third-party payers;
— government action/intervention;
— marketing or pricing actions by competitors;
— public opinion towards ADHD treatments;
— any change in the label or other such regulatory intervention;
— product liability claims; and
— changes in prescription-writing practices. 

Any decrease in the sales of 3TC could significantly reduce earnings
The Group receives royalties from GSK on the worldwide sales of 3TC. In 2008, the Group’s royalty income relating to 3TC sales was $140.2 million
(2007: $145.3 million; 2006: $150.9 million). This royalty income stream generates a larger proportion of net income relative to the Group’s own product
sales as there are minimal costs associated with its generation.

Any factors that decrease sales of 3TC by GSK could significantly reduce the Group’s earnings. These include:
— development and marketing of competitive pharmaceuticals, including generic versions; 
— loss of patent protection or ability of competitors to challenge or circumvent patents (see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements for details

of current patent litigation); 
— reduction in the production of 3TC;
— technological advances; 
— government action/intervention;
— marketing or pricing actions by GSK’s competitors;
— any change in the label or other such regulatory intervention;
— public opinion towards AIDS treatments; and
— product liability claims.

The failure to obtain and maintain re-imbursement, or an adequate level of re-imbursement, by third-party payers in a timely manner 
for certain of the Group’s products and parallel importation may impact future revenues and earnings
The Group’s revenues are partly dependent on the level of re-imbursement provided to the Group by governmental re-imbursement schemes 
for pharmaceutical products. Changes to governmental policy or practices could adversely affect the Group’s sales, financial condition and results 
of operations. In addition, the cost of treatment established by healthcare providers, private health insurers and other organizations, such as health
maintenance organizations and managed care organizations are under downward pressure and this, in turn, could impact on the prices at which 
the Group can sell its products.

The market for pharmaceutical products could be significantly influenced by the following, which could result in lower prices for the Group’s products
and/or a reduced demand for the Group’s products:
— the ongoing trend toward managed healthcare, particularly in the US;
— legislative proposals to reform healthcare and government insurance programs in many of the Group’s markets; and
— price controls and non-re-imbursement of new and highly-priced medicines for which the economic and therapeutic rationales are not established.

The prices for certain of the Group’s products when commercialized, in particular products for the treatment of rare genetic diseases such as
REPLAGAL and ELAPRASE, may be high compared to other pharmaceutical products. The Group may encounter particular difficulty in obtaining
satisfactory pricing and re-imbursement for its products, including those that are likely to have a high annual cost of therapy. The failure to obtain and
maintain pricing and re-imbursement at satisfactory levels for such products may adversely affect revenues and earnings.

Parallel importation occurs when an importer finds a cheaper price for a product or equivalent product on the world market and imports that product
from the lower price jurisdiction to the higher price jurisdiction. If the parallel importation of lower priced drugs is permitted in the US, it could have 
the effect of reducing sales of equivalent drugs in the US. To the extent that parallel importation increases, the Group may receive less revenue and
earnings from its commercialized products. The parallel importation of prescription drugs is relatively common within the EU.

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 30



31
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008

Financial review

A disruption to the product supply chain may result in the Group being unable to continue marketing or developing a product
or may result in the Group being unable to do so on a commercially viable basis 
The Group sources its products from third-party contract manufacturers, and for certain products has its own manufacturing capability. In the event
of either the Group’s failure or the failure of any third-party contract manufacturer to comply with mandatory manufacturing standards (often referred
to as ‘Current Good Manufacturing Standards’ or cGMP) in the countries in which the Group intends to sell or have its products sold, the Group may
experience a delay in supply or be unable to market or develop its products.

The Group dual-sources certain key products and/or active ingredients. However, the Group currently relies on a single source for production of the
final drug product for each of DAYTRANA, FIRAZYR, LIALDA, PENTASA, REMINYL and XAGRID and relies on a single active ingredient source for
each of ELAPRASE, FIRAZYR, FOSRENOL, REMINYL, REPLAGAL and XAGRID.

In the event of financial failure of a third-party contract manufacturer, the Group may experience a delay in supply or be unable to market or develop
its products. This could have a material adverse affect on the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.

There is no assurance that suppliers will continue to supply on commercially viable terms, or be able to supply components 
that meet regulatory requirements. The Group is also subject to the risk that suppliers will not be able to meet the quantities needed 
to meet market requirements
The development and approval of the Group’s products depends on the ability to procure active ingredients and special packaging materials from
sources approved by regulatory authorities. As the marketing approval process requires manufacturers to specify their own proposed suppliers 
of active ingredients and special packaging materials in their applications, regulatory approval of a new supplier would be required if active ingredients 
or such packaging materials were no longer available from the supplier specified in the marketing approval. The need to qualify a new supplier could
delay the Group’s development and commercialization efforts.

The Group uses bovine-derived serum sourced from New Zealand and North America in the manufacturing processes for REPLAGAL and
ELAPRASE. The discovery of additional cattle in North America or the discovery of cattle in New Zealand with bovine spongiform encephalopathy, 
or mad cow disease, could cause the regulatory agencies in some countries to impose restrictions on these products, or prohibit the Group from
using these products at all in such countries.

The actions of certain customers can affect the Group’s ability to sell or market products profitably, as well as impact net sales 
and growth comparisons
A small number of large wholesale distributors control a significant share of the US and European markets. In 2008, for example, approximately 
56% of the Group’s product sales were attributable to two customers; McKesson Corp. and Cardinal Health, Inc. In the event of financial failure 
of any of these customers, the Group may suffer financial loss and a decline in revenues and earnings. In addition, the number of independent drug
stores and small chains has decreased as retail pharmacy consolidation has occurred. Consolidation or financial difficulties could cause customers 
to reduce their inventory levels, or otherwise reduce purchases of the Group’s products. Such actions could have an adverse effect on the Group’s
revenues, financial condition and results of operations. A significant portion of the Group’s Specialty Pharmaceuticals product sales are made 
to major pharmaceutical wholesale distributors as well as to large pharmacies in both the US and Europe. Consequently, product sales and growth
comparisons may be affected by fluctuations in the buying patterns of major distributors and other trade buyers. These fluctuations may result 
from seasonality, pricing, wholesaler buying decisions, or other factors. In addition, a significant portion of the Group’s revenues for certain products 
for treatment of rare genetic diseases are concentrated with a small number of customers. Changes in the buying patterns of those customers 
may have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition and results of operations. 

The outsourcing of services can create a significant dependency on third-parties, the failure of whom can affect the ability 
to operate the Group’s business and to develop and market products
The Group has entered into many agreements with third-parties for the provision of services to enable it to operate its business. If the third-party 
can no longer provide the service on the agreed basis, the Group may not be able to continue the development or commercialization of its products
as planned or on a commercial basis. Additionally, it may not be able to establish or maintain good relationships with the suppliers.

The Group has also entered into licensing and co-development agreements with a number of parties. There is a risk that, upon expiration or termination
of a third-party agreement, the Group may not be able to renew or extend the agreement with the third-party as commercial interests may no longer
coincide. In such circumstances, the Group may be unable to continue to develop or market its products as planned and could be required to abandon
or divest a product line.

In the event of breakdown, failure or breach of security on any of the Group’s IT systems, the Group may be unable to maintain 
its business operations
The Group operates several complex information systems upon which it is dependent. The Group has back-up procedures and disaster recovery plans
in place to enable the business to continue its normal operations and to mitigate any loss in the event of a failure. However, in the event of breakdown,
failure or breach of security of any of these systems or the associated suppliers, the Group may be unable to maintain its business operations.

This could lead to loss of revenue and delay in product development. In addition, the Group is in the process of installing enterprise-wide
information systems in its operations throughout the world. Any failure in the operation of these systems could have an adverse effect on the
Group’s business operations.
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The Group may incur unexpected expenditure in order to comply with US environmental laws
The Group’s manufacturing sites are situated in the US and are subject to national, state and local environmental laws. Compliance with
environmental laws requires ongoing expenditure and any spillage or contamination found to be caused by the Group may result in clean up costs
and financial penalties for the Group which could adversely affect the Group’s revenues, financial condition and results of operations. 

Contracts are used in all areas of operation of the business. They may contain provisions that do not protect the Group’s position 
or with which it cannot comply
Contracts form the basis of agreement in many key activities such as mergers and acquisitions, arrangements with suppliers, outsourcing, product
licensing and marketing. These contracts may contain provisions that impose duties on the parties involved or may fail to contain adequate conditions
to protect the Group’s position. The Group may be unable to meet its obligations under a contract or may be unable to require other parties to comply
with their obligations and, therefore, may suffer financial loss or penalty.

Risk factors related to the pharmaceutical industry in general
The actions of governments, industry regulators and the economic environments in which the Group operates may adversely affect 
its ability to develop and market its products profitably 
Changes to laws or regulations impacting the pharmaceutical industry, in any country in which the Group conducts its business, may adversely impact
the Group’s sales, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, changes to the regulations relating to orphan drug status may affect the
exclusivity granted to products with such designation. Changes in the general economic conditions in any of the Group’s major markets may also affect
the Group’s sales, financial condition and results of operations.

The introduction of new products by competitors may impact future revenues
The manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals is highly competitive. Many of the Group’s competitors are large, well-known pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, chemical and healthcare companies with considerable resources. Companies with more resources and larger R&D expenditures have
a greater ability to fund clinical trials and other development work necessary for regulatory applications. They may also be more successful than the
Group in acquiring or licensing new products for development and commercialization. If any product that competes with one of the Group’s principal
drugs is approved, the Group’s sales of that drug could fall.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are also characterized by continuous product development and technological change. The Group’s
products could, therefore, be rendered obsolete or uneconomic, through the development of new products, technological advances in manufacturing
or production by its competitors.

If the Group’s projects or clinical trials for the development of products are unsuccessful, its products will not receive authorization
for manufacture and sale
Due to the complexity of the formulation and development of pharmaceuticals, the Group cannot be certain that it or its collaborative partners will
successfully complete the development of new products, or, if successful, that such products will be commercially viable.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of each product under development, the Group or its collaborative partners must
demonstrate through clinical and other studies that the product is of appropriate quality and is safe and effective for the claimed use. Clinical trials 
of any product under development may not demonstrate the quality, safety and efficacy required to result in an approvable or a marketable product.
Failure to demonstrate adequately the quality, safety and efficacy of a therapeutic drug under development would delay or prevent regulatory approval
of the product. In addition, regulatory authorities in Europe, the US, Canada and other countries may require additional studies, which could result 
in (a) increased costs and significant development delays, or (b) termination of a project if it would no longer be economically viable. The completion rate
of clinical trials is dependent upon, among other factors, obtaining adequate clinical supplies and recruiting patients. Delays in patient enrolment in
clinical trials may also result in increased costs and program delays. Additional delays can occur in instances in which the Group shares control over the
planning and execution of product development with collaborative partners. The Group cannot be certain that, if clinical trials are completed, either the
Group or its collaborative partners will file for, or receive, required authorizations to manufacture and/or market potential products (including a marketing
authorization application or ANDA) or that such application will be reviewed and approved by the regulatory authorities in a timely manner, if at all.

If the Group is unable to meet the requirements of regulators in relation to a particular product, it may be unable to develop the product 
or obtain or retain the necessary marketing approvals
Drug companies are required to obtain regulatory approval before manufacturing and marketing most drug products. Regulatory approval is generally
based on the results of:
— quality testing (chemistry, manufacturing and controls);
— non-clinical testing; and
— clinical testing.

The clinical development, manufacture, marketing and sale of pharmaceutical products is subject to extensive regulation, including separate
regulation by each member state of the EU, the EMEA itself and federal, state and local regulation in the US. Unanticipated legislative and other
regulatory actions and developments concerning various aspects of the Group’s operations and products may restrict its ability to sell one 
or more of its products or to sell those products at a profit. The generation of data is regulated and any generated data is susceptible to varying
interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Required regulatory approvals may not be obtained in a timely manner, if at all.
In addition, other regulatory requirements for any such proposed products may not be met.
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Even if the Group obtains regulatory approvals, the terms of any product approval, including labeling, may be more restrictive than desired and
could affect the marketability of its products. Regulatory authorities also have the power amongst other things, to:
— revoke or suspend approvals of previously approved products;
— require the recall of products that fail to meet regulatory requirements; and
— close manufacturing plants that do not operate in conformity with cGMP and/or other regulatory requirements or approvals.

Such delays or actions could affect the Group’s ability to manufacture and sell its products.

The failure of a strategic partner to develop and commercialize products could result in delays in approval or loss of revenue
The Group enters into strategic partnerships with other companies in areas such as product development and sales and marketing. In these
partnerships, the Group is dependent on its partner to deliver results. While these partnerships are supported by contracts, the Group does not
exercise direct control. If a partner fails to perform or experiences financial difficulties, the Group may suffer a delay in the development, a delay 
in the approval or a reduction in sales or royalties of a product.

The failure to secure new products or compounds for development, either through in-licensing, acquisition or internal research 
and development efforts, may have an adverse impact on the Group’s future results
The Group’s future results will depend, to a significant extent, upon its ability to in-license, acquire or develop new products or compounds. The Group
also expends significant resources on research and development. The failure to in-license or acquire new products or compounds, on a commercially
viable basis, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. The failure of these efforts to result in the development of products
appropriate for testing in human clinical trials could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s revenues, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may fail to obtain, maintain, enforce or defend the intellectual property rights required to conduct its business
The Group’s success depends upon its ability and the ability of its partners and licensors to protect their intellectual property rights. Where possible,
the Group’s strategy is to register intellectual property rights, such as patents and trademarks. The Group also relies variously on trade secrets, 
un-patented know-how and technological innovations and contractual arrangements with third-parties to maintain its competitive position.

Patents and patent applications covering a number of the technologies and processes owned or licensed to the Group have been granted, or are
pending in various countries, including the US, Canada, major European countries and Japan. The Group intends to enforce vigorously its patent rights
and believes that its partners intend to enforce vigorously patent rights they have licensed to the Group. However, patent rights may not prevent other
entities from developing, using or commercializing products that are similar or functionally equivalent to the Group’s products or technologies or
processes for formulating or manufacturing similar or functionally equivalent products. The Group’s patent rights may be successfully challenged in the
future or laws providing such rights may be changed or withdrawn. The Group cannot assure investors that its patents and patent applications or those
of its third-party manufacturers will provide valid patent protection sufficiently broad to protect the Group’s products and technology or that such patents
will not be challenged, revoked, invalidated, infringed or circumvented by third-parties. In the regular course of business, the Group is party to litigation 
or other proceedings relating to intellectual property rights. (See Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements for details of current patent litigation).

Additionally, the Group’s products, or the technologies or processes used to formulate or manufacture those products may now, or in the future,
infringe the patent rights of third-parties. It is also possible that third-parties will obtain patent or other proprietary rights that might be necessary 
or useful for the development, manufacture or sale of the Group’s products. If third-parties are the first to invent a particular product or technology, 
it is possible that those parties will obtain patent rights that will be sufficiently broad to prevent the Group or its strategic partners from developing,
manufacturing or selling its products. The Group may need to obtain licenses for intellectual property rights from others to develop, manufacture 
and market commercially viable products and may not be able to obtain these licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addition, any
licensed patents or proprietary rights may not be valid and enforceable.

The Group also relies on trade secrets and other un-patented proprietary information, which it generally seeks to protect by confidentiality and 
non-disclosure agreements with its employees, consultants, advisors and partners. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure 
of confidential information and may not provide the Group with an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of such information. 
If the Group’s employees, scientific consultants or partners develop inventions or processes that may be applicable to the Group’s products under
development, such inventions and processes will not necessarily become the Group’s property, but may remain the property of those persons 
or their employers. Protracted and costly litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of the Group’s proprietary rights. 
The failure to obtain or maintain patent and trade secret protection, for any reason, could allow other companies to make competing products 
and reduce the Group’s product sales.

The Group has filed applications to register various trademarks for use in connection with its products in various countries including the US and
countries in Europe and Latin America and intends to trademark new product names as new products are developed. In addition, with respect 
to certain products, the Group relies on the trademarks of third-parties. These trademarks may not afford adequate protection or the Group 
or the third-parties may not have the financial resources to enforce any rights under any of these trademarks. The Group’s inability or the inability 
of these third-parties to protect their trademarks because of successful third-party claims to those trademarks could allow others to use the
Group’s trademarks and dilute their value.
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If a marketed product fails to work effectively or causes adverse side-effects, this could result in damage to the Group’s reputation, 
the withdrawal of the product and legal action against the Group
Unanticipated side-effects or unfavorable publicity concerning any of the Group’s products, or those of its competitors, could have an adverse effect
on the Group’s ability to obtain or maintain regulatory approvals or successfully market its products. The testing, manufacturing, marketing and sales
of pharmaceutical products entails a risk of product liability claims, product recalls, litigation and associated adverse publicity. The cost of defending
against such claims is expensive even when the claims are not merited. A successful product liability claim against the Group could require the 
Group to pay a substantial monetary award. If, in the absence of adequate insurance coverage, the Group does not have sufficient financial
resources to satisfy a liability resulting from such a claim or to fund the legal defense of such a claim, it could become insolvent. Product liability
insurance coverage is expensive, difficult to obtain and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms. Although the Group carries product
liability insurance, this coverage may not be adequate. In addition, it cannot be certain that insurance coverage for present or future products will 
be available. Moreover, an adverse judgment in a product liability suit, even if insured or eventually overturned on appeal, could generate substantial
negative publicity about the Group’s products and business and inhibit or prevent commercialization of other products.

Investigations or enforcement action by regulatory authorities or law enforcement agencies relating to the Group’s activities 
in the highly-regulated markets in which it operates may result in the distraction of senior management, significant legal costs 
and the payment of substantial compensation or fines
The Group engages in various marketing, promotional and educational activities pertaining to, as well as the sale of, pharmaceutical products 
in a number of jurisdictions around the world. The promotion, marketing and sale of pharmaceutical products is highly-regulated and the operations
of market participants, such as the Group, are closely supervised by regulatory authorities and law enforcement agencies, including the FDA, 
the US Department of Justice and the DEA in the US. Any inquiries or investigations into the operations of, or enforcement or other regulatory
action against, the Group by such regulatory authorities could result in the distraction of senior management for prolonged periods of time,
significant defense costs and substantial monetary penalties.

Loss of highly-qualified management and scientific personnel could cause the Group subsequent financial loss
The Group faces intense competition for highly-qualified management and scientific personnel from other companies, academic institutions,
government entities and other organizations. It may not be able to successfully attract and retain such personnel. The Group has agreements 
with a number of its key scientific and management personnel for periods of one year or less. The loss of such personnel, or the inability to attract
and retain the additional, highly-skilled employees required for its activities could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business.

Treasury policies and organization
The Group’s principal treasury operations are co-ordinated by its corporate treasury function, which is based in the UK. All treasury operations are
conducted within a framework of policies and procedures approved annually by the Board. As a matter of policy, the Group does not undertake
speculative transactions that would increase its currency or interest rate exposure.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and on foreign exchange swaps on which interest is at floating
rate. This exposure is primarily to US dollar and Euro interest rates. As the Group maintains all of its investments and foreign exchange swaps on a
short-term basis for liquidity purposes, this risk is not actively managed. In the year to December 31, 2008 the average interest rate received on cash
and liquid investments was approximately 3% per annum. The largest proportion of investments was in US dollar money market and liquidity funds.

At December 31, 2008 the Group had debt totaling $1,145.6 million outstanding, comprising Shire plc’s $1,100 million in principal amount of 2.75%
Convertible Bonds, due 2014 which were issued in May 2007 and $45.6 million of building financing obligations. The Group incurs interest at a fixed
rate on both the Convertible Bonds and on the building financing obligation. 

No derivative instruments have been entered into to manage interest rate exposure by February 20, 2009.

The Group continues to review its interest rate risk and the policies in place to manage the risk. 

Foreign exchange risk
The Group trades in numerous countries and as a consequence has transactional and translational foreign exchange exposure.

Transactional exposure arises where transactions occur in currencies different to the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary. The main trading
currencies of the Group are the US dollar, the Canadian dollar, Pound sterling and the Euro. It is the Group’s policy that these exposures are
minimized to the extent practicable by denominating transactions in the subsidiary’s functional currency. 

Translational foreign exchange exposure arises on the translation into US dollars of the balance sheet and income statement of non-US dollar
functional subsidiaries. These foreign exchange exposures are generally managed through natural hedging via the currency denomination of foreign
currency assets and liabilities. The consolidated financial statements of foreign entities are translated using the accounting policies described in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

At December 31, 2008, the Group had swap and forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding to manage the currency risk associated with inter-
company loans. At December 31, 2008 the fair value of these contracts was a liability of $44.2 million. Further details are included below.
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Foreign exchange risk sensitivity
The table below provides information about the Group’s swap and forward foreign exchange contracts by currency pair. The table presents the net
principal amounts and weighted average exchange rates of all outstanding contracts. All contracts have a maturity date of less than three months.

Principal
value of Weighted
amount average Fair

receivable exchange value
December 31, 2008 $’M Rate $’M

Swap foreign exchange contracts
Receive USD/Pay EUR 795.7 1.31 (45.6)
Receive USD/Pay GBP 38.3 1.49 1.4
Receive USD/Pay SEK 2.2 8.13 —

Market risk of investments
As at December 31, 2008 the Group has $42.9 million of investments comprising equity investment funds ($17.5 million), private companies
($19.3 million) and publicly quoted equities ($6.1 million). The investment in public quoted companies and equity investment funds are exposed 
to market risk. No financial instruments or derivatives have been employed to hedge this risk.

Credit risk 
Cash is invested in short-term money market instruments, including money market and liquidity funds and bank term deposits. The money market
and liquidity funds in which Shire invests are all triple A rated by both Standard and Poor’s and by Moody’s credit rating agencies and the US onshore
funds participate in the US Treasury Department’s Temporary Guarantee Program.

The Group is exposed to the credit risk of the counterparties with which it enters into derivative contracts. The Group limits this exposure through 
a system of internal credit limits which require counterparties to have a long-term credit rating of A+/A1 or better from the major rating agencies. 
The internal credit limits are approved by the Board and exposure against these limits is monitored by the corporate treasury function. The
counterparties to the derivative contracts are major international financial institutions. 

The Group has entered into many agreements with third-parties for the provision of services to enable it to operate its business. If the third-party can
no longer provide the service on the agreed basis, the Group may not be able to continue the development or commercialization of its products as
planned or on a commercial basis. Additionally, it may not be able to establish or maintain good relationships with the suppliers.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
There are no off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the Group’s financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.

Inflation
Although at reduced levels in recent years, inflation continues to apply upward pressure on the cost of goods and services which are used in the
business. However, the Group believes that the net effect of inflation on its operations has been minimal during the past three years.

Dividend policy
A first interim dividend for the first half of 2008 of 2.15 US¢ (1.08 pence) per Ordinary Share, equivalent to 6.44 US¢ per ADS, was paid in October
2008. The Board has resolved to pay a second interim dividend of 7.76 US¢ (5.47 pence) per Ordinary Share equivalent to 23.28 US¢ per ADS for the
six months to December 31, 2008. 

A first interim dividend for the first half of 2007 of 2.15 US¢ (1.05 pence) per Ordinary Share, equivalent to 6.44 US¢ per ADS and 6.72 Canadian cents
per Exchangeable Share, was paid in October 2007. A second interim dividend for the second half of 2007 of 6.47 US¢ (3.33 pence) per Ordinary
Share equivalent to 19.41 US¢ per ADS was paid in April 2008.

This is consistent with Shire’s stated policy of paying a dividend semi-annually, set in US¢ per Ordinary Share. It is intended that the first interim
payment each year should be constant in US dollar terms. Dividend growth for the full year will be reviewed by the Board when the second interim
dividend is determined. Any dividend growth will come through increasing the second interim dividend in a financial year. 

Graham Hetherington
Chief Financial Officer
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1
Matthew Emmens (57)
Chairman
Mr Emmens succeeded Dr Cavanaugh as Non-
Executive Chairman on June 18, 2008 and has
been a member of the Board since March 12,
2003. He is also a member of the Company’s
Nomination Committee. He was Chief Executive
Officer from March 2003 to June 2008. Mr
Emmens also serves as a Non-Executive Director
and President of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc. 
and will become Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in May 2009. He is a former board
member of Incyte Corporation. Mr Emmens
began his career in international pharmaceuticals
with Merck & Co, Inc. in 1974, where he held a
wide range of sales, marketing and administrative
positions. In 1992, he helped to establish Astra
Merck, a joint venture between Merck and Astra
AB of Sweden, becoming President and Chief
Executive Officer. In 1999, he joined Merck 
KGaA and established EMD Pharmaceuticals, 
the company’s US prescription pharmaceutical
business. He was later based in Germany 
as President of Merck KGaA’s US prescription
pharmaceutical business and was a Board
member. Mr Emmens holds a degree in Business
Management from Fairleigh Dickinson University. 

2
Angus Russell (53)
Chief Executive Officer
Mr Russell succeeded Mr Emmens as Chief
Executive Officer on June 18, 2008 and has 
been a member of the Board since December 13,
1999. He was the Company’s Chief Financial
Officer from December 1999 to June 2008. He is
also the Chairman of the Company’s Leadership
Team. Mr Russell also serves as a Non-Executive
Director of the City of London Investment Trust
plc. Between 1980 and 1999, he held a number 
of positions of increasing responsibility at ICI,
Zeneca and AstraZeneca PLC, including Vice
President, Corporate Finance at AstraZeneca 
and Group Treasurer at Zeneca. Mr Russell 
is a Chartered Accountant, having qualified 
with Coopers & Lybrand, and is a Fellow of the
Association of Corporate Treasurers.

3
Graham Hetherington (50)
Chief Financial Officer
Mr Hetherington has been the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer and a member of the Board 
since July 1, 2008. He is also a member of the
Company’s Leadership Team. Mr Hetherington
most recently held positions as the Chief 
Financial Officer of Bacardi in 2007 and Allied
Domecq plc from 1999–2005. Mr Hetherington
is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

4
David Kappler (61)
Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director
Mr Kappler has been a member of the
Company’s Board since April 5, 2004. He is
Chairman of the Company’s Nomination
Committee and Audit, Compliance & Risk
Committee. Mr Kappler also serves as the Non-
Executive Chairman of Premier Foods plc and 
as a Non-Executive Director of Intercontinental
Hotels Group plc. Mr Kappler was a Director of
Camelot Group plc from 1996–2002 and of HMV
Group plc from 2002–2006. Mr Kappler retired
from Cadbury Schweppes plc in April 2004 
after serving as Chief Financial Officer since 1995.
He worked for the Cadbury Schweppes group
between 1965 and 1984 and rejoined the
company in 1989 following its acquisition of
Trebor Group, where he was Financial Director.
Mr Kappler is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants.

5
Patrick Langlois (63)
Non-Executive Director
Mr Langlois has been a member of the
Company’s Board since November 11, 2005. 
He is also a member of the Company’s 
Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Mr Langlois 
is a Non-Executive Director of Scynexis Inc.,
Nanobiotix S.A., and Exonhit S.A. Mr Langlois
previously served as Vice Chairman 
of the Management Board of Aventis S.A.,
Strasbourg, having been Group Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer for several
years. He also spent many years in senior
financial roles with the Rhône-Poulenc Group,
including three years as a member of the
Executive Committee and Chief Financial Officer. 
Mr Langlois holds a PhD in Economics and a
diploma in banking studies.
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6
Dr Jeffrey Leiden (53)
Non-Executive Director
Dr Leiden has been a member of the Company’s
Board since January 1, 2007. He is a member 
of the Company’s Remuneration Committee 
and Nomination Committee and Chairman of the
Company’s Science & Technology Committee. 
Dr Leiden served as President and Chief
Operating Officer, Pharmaceutical Products
Group and Chief Scientific Officer at Abbott
Laboratories from 2001–2006; during this time 
he was also a member of the Boards of Directors
of Abbott and TAP Pharmaceutical Products, Inc.
Prior to joining Abbott, Dr Leiden served as the
Elkan R. Blout Professor of Biological Sciences,
Harvard School of Public Health and Professor 
of Medicine, Harvard Medical School. Previously,
he was the Frederick H. Rawson Professor of
Medicine and Pathology and Chief of the Section
of Cardiology at the University of Chicago. His
extensive business and consulting experience
includes both the pharmaceutical and medical
device areas. Dr Leiden was a founder of
Cardiogene, Inc., a biotechnology company
specializing in cardiovascular gene therapy. 
Dr Leiden earned a bachelor’s degree in
biological sciences, a doctorate in virology and 
a medical degree, all from the University of
Chicago. He is a Fellow of the American
Academy of Arts and Sciences and an elected
member of the Institute of Medicine of the
National Academy of Sciences. Dr Leiden 
is currently a Managing Director at Clarus
Ventures LLC.

7
David Mott (43)
Non-Executive Director
Mr Mott has been a member of the Company’s
Board since October 31, 2007. He is also a
member of the Company’s Audit, Compliance &
Risk Committee. Mr Mott joined venture capital
firm New Enterprise Associates (‘NEA’) in
September 2008 as a General Partner focused 
on biopharmaceutical investments. Prior to joining
NEA, Mr Mott was President and Chief Executive
Officer of MedImmune Inc., a subsidiary of
AstraZeneca PLC, and Executive Vice President 
of AstraZeneca. He joined MedImmune in 1992
and served in roles of increasing responsibility
including Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, President and Chief Executive Officer. 
Prior to joining MedImmune, Mr Mott was a Vice
President in the healthcare Investment Banking
Group at Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co. Inc.
Mr Mott is a member of the board of Rib-x
Pharmaceuticals and of the St. Albans School. 
He is a former board member of Ambit
Biosciences, Conceptis Technologies, and
MedImmune, Inc. and has served on numerous
industry trade group and not-for-profit boards. 
Mr Mott holds a bachelor’s degree in economics
and government from Dartmouth College.

8
Kate Nealon (55)
Non-Executive Director
Ms Nealon has been a member of the Company’s
Board since July 27, 2006. She is Chair of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and 
also a member of the Audit, Compliance & Risk
Committee. Ms Nealon is a Non-Executive
Director Cable & Wireless plc and a former Non-
Executive Director of HBOS plc. She is also a
Senior Associate at the Judge Business School 
at Cambridge University. Ms Nealon was
previously Group Head of Legal & Compliance 
at Standard Chartered plc until 2004. She is 
a US qualified lawyer and spent several years 
in her early career practising law in New York.

9
Dr Barry Price (65)
Non-Executive Director
Dr Price has been a member of the Company’s
Board since January 16, 1996. He is a member 
of the Company’s Nomination Committee and
Science & Technology Committee. He also 
serves as Chairman of Antisoma plc and Summit
Corporation plc. Dr Price worked for Glaxo for 
28 years, where he held positions of increasing
responsibility with the company’s research group.

10
Dr Michael Rosenblatt (61)
Non-Executive Director
Dr Rosenblatt has been a member of the
Company’s Board since April 24, 2008 and is a
member of the Company’s Science & Technology
Committee. Dr Rosenblatt is the Dean of 
Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston,
Massachusetts. He was previously Professor 
of Medicine at Harvard Medical School and has
served in senior research positions at the Beth
Israel Deaconess Medical Center in Boston. He
was the founding director of the Carl J. Shapiro
Institute for Education and Research at Harvard
Medical School and Beth Israel Deaconess
Medical Center. In addition, Dr Rosenblatt has
served as Director of the Harvard-MIT Division 
of Heath Sciences and Technology and as Senior
Vice President for Research at Merck Research
Laboratories where he headed a worldwide
development team as well as directing drug
discovery efforts in the United States, Japan and
Italy. In Japan, he was responsible for Merck’s
clinical research and development; he also
headed Merck Research’s worldwide University
and Industry Relations Department. He is a
graduate of Columbia University and gained his
medical qualification at Harvard Medical School.
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The Directors present their report on the affairs of the Group together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2008.

Incorporation of Shire plc
Shire plc (formerly Shire Limited) (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the ‘Group’ or ‘Shire’) is a leading specialty
biopharmaceutical company that focuses on meeting the needs of the specialist physician.

Shire plc was incorporated under the laws of Jersey, (Channel Islands), on January 28, 2008 and is a public limited company. Following the
implementation of a court sanctioned Scheme of Arrangement, on May 23, 2008 the Company replaced the former Shire plc, a public limited
company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales, as the holding company for the Group. 

Change of name
As a result of an amendment to the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 permitting a public company to use ‘plc’ in its name, Shire Limited changed its
name to Shire plc with effect from October 1, 2008.

Results and dividends
The income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest and equity in earnings of equity method investees for the year to
December 31, 2008 was $265.6 million (2007: loss $1,398.1 million). The net assets of Shire at December 31, 2008 were $1,298.2 million (December
31, 2007: $1,227.0 million).

In respect of the six months to December 31, 2008 the Board resolved to pay a second interim dividend of 7.76 US¢ (2007: 6.47 US¢) per Ordinary
Share. Together with the first interim payment of 2.15 US¢ (2007: 2.15 US¢) per Ordinary Share, this represents total dividends for 2008 of 9.91 US¢
(2007: 8.62 US¢) per Ordinary Share.

ExcellerateHRO (Guernsey) Limited, trustee of the Shire Employee Benefit Trust (the ‘Trust’), has waived its entitlement to any dividends, which
become due and payable in respect of shares or other securities, which are registered in the name of the trustee or its nominee(s), from time to time,
except the right to receive 0.0001 pence per share.

Principal activity 
Shire focuses its business on attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder, human genetic therapies and gastrointestinal diseases. 

The subsidiaries and associated undertakings principally affecting the profits or net assets of Shire in the year are listed in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, including their country of incorporation (principal trading area).

Business review
Shire is required to set out in this report a fair review of the business of the Group during the financial year to December 31, 2008 the position of the
Group at the end of that financial year and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group (known as the ‘Enhanced Business
Review’). The information that fulfils the requirements of the Business Review can be found in the Chairman’s review on pages 2 and 3, the Chief
Executive Officer’s review on pages 4 to 6, the Financial review on pages 7 to 35 and the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 44 to 49 which
are incorporated in this report by reference. The Financial review and Note 23 also provide a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group as well as risk management objectives and policies.

Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are contained in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

There are no material differences between market and balance sheet values of land, the accounting policy of which is set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity, cash flow and going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the Chairman’s
review, Chief Executive Officer’s review and Financial review on pages 2 to 35. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and
borrowing facilities are described in the Liquidity and capital resources section of the Financial review. The Financial review also includes information in
respect of the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its hedging activity; and
its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in Note 23 of the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s robust balance sheet contains $218 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008. The Group generated $800 million of
cash from operating activities during the year. Shire has no debt or facilities maturing in the next three years and substantially all of the Group’s debt
relates to its $1.1 billion 2.75% Convertible Bonds which mature in 2014, although these include a put option which could require repayment in 2012.
In addition, Shire has a committed facility until 2012 of $1.2 billion, which is currently undrawn.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to manage its business risks successfully
despite the current uncertain economic climate, and to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the Directors continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.

Corporate governance
The Directors are committed to business integrity and professionalism and as an essential part of this commitment the Board supports high standards
of corporate governance. Details relating to corporate governance and Shire’s compliance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance
published by the UK Financial Reporting Council in 2006 (the ‘Combined Code’) for the 2008 financial year are given on pages 44 to 49 and in the
remuneration policy contained in the Directors’ remuneration report which is detailed on pages 52 to 65. The Directors’ remuneration report contains
details of Directors’ service contracts, whilst the Corporate Governance Statement includes further details on the appointment of Directors and the
responsibilities of the Board. 

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 38



39
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008

Directors’ report

Share capital 
At December 31, 2008 the Company’s issued share capital comprised 560,153,863 Ordinary Shares and 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares. Further details
of the authorized and called-up share capital of the Company as at December 31, 2008 and the changes during the year are set out in Note 25 to the
financial statements.

The Company was given authority at the 2008 Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) to make market purchases of up to 55,991,697 of its own Ordinary
Shares of 5 pence each at a maximum price per share of 105% of the middle-market price.

The Directors were given authority at the 2008 AGM to allot relevant securities within the limits of the authorized share capital up to a nominal amount
of £9,331,949, being the equivalent of 33.33% of the total issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company on the latest practicable date before
publication of the notice of the 2008 AGM.

The Directors were also given authority at the 2008 AGM to allot equity securities of the Company for cash by way of rights issue free of the statutory
pre-emption provisions up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £1,399,792, being the equivalent of 5% of the issued Ordinary Share capital
of the Company on the latest practicable date before publication of the notice of the 2008 AGM.

ExcellerateHRO (Guernsey) Limited as trustee of the Shire Trust, operating under an irrevocable, non-discretionary program, purchased a number of
Ordinary Shares of the Company and American Depositary Shares (each equivalent to three Ordinary Shares) (‘ADSs’) for the benefit of the Trust during
the year. As at December 31, 2008 the Trust held 7,368,415 Ordinary Shares and 4,454,689 ADSs. 

Rights and obligations attaching to shares
Subject to applicable statutes and subject to and without prejudice to any rights attached to existing shares, shares may be issued with such rights and
restrictions as the Company may by special resolution decide or, if no such resolution has been passed or so far as it does not make specific provision,
as the Board may decide. Subject to the Company’s Articles of Association (‘Articles’), the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended (‘Companies
Laws’) and other shareholders’ rights, unissued shares are at the disposal of the Board.

Holders of the 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares are not entitled to receive dividends or distributions in respect of such shares. On a winding up, the
holders of the 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares are entitled only to the nominal value of each Subscriber Ordinary Share after the holders of all other
classes of share have received the nominal value of those shares.

Dividends and other distributions
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Laws, the Company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends not exceeding the
amount recommended by the Board. Subject to the Companies Laws, the Board may pay interim dividends, and also any fixed rate dividend,
whenever the financial position of the Company, in the opinion of the Board, justifies its payment. If the Board acts in good faith, it is not liable to the
holders of any shares for any loss they may suffer in consequence of the payment of an interim or fixed dividend on any other class of shares ranking
pari passu with or after those shares.

The Board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the shares from a person with a 0.25%
interest (as defined in the Articles) if such person has been served with a Restriction Notice containing such a restriction under the Articles after failure
to provide the Company with information concerning interests in those shares required to be provided under the Articles.

Shire has put in place income access share arrangements and shareholders can elect to receive their dividends this way (and a shareholder who
holds 25,000 or fewer shares at the first dividend record date after he first becomes a shareholder will be deemed to have so elected unless he
notifies the Company in writing to the contrary). Pursuant to the Articles, where any dividends paid on the income access share issued by Shire
Biopharmaceuticals Holdings to the IAS Trustee (as defined in the Articles) are received by the IAS Trustee and are paid on by the IAS Trustee 
to shareholders who have made or are deemed to have made an IAS Election (as defined in the Articles), the entitlements of such shareholders 
to be paid any amount in respect of a dividend declared by the Company shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount paid to them and 
to the extent dividends are not paid to such shareholders by the IAS Trustee then the shortfall will be made up out of dividends on shares of the
Company. The income access share arrangements may be suspended or terminated at any time and for any reason by the Company, without
financial recompense.

Holders of the 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares are not entitled to receive dividends or distributions in respect of such shares. On a winding up, the
holders of the 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares are entitled only to the nominal value of each Subscriber Ordinary Share after the holders of all other
classes of share have received the nominal value of those shares.

Restrictions on voting
Subject to any rights or restrictions attaching to any class of shares in the Company, every member present in person at a general or class meeting has
one vote upon a show of hands. On a poll, every member present has one vote for every share of which he is the holder. Votes on a show of hands or 
a poll may be exercised in person or by proxy. A member that is a corporation may appoint an individual to act on its behalf as a corporate representative.
In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of 
the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members 
in respect of the joint holding. It is the Company’s practice to hold a poll on every resolution at Annual and Extraordinary shareholder meetings.

Where shareholders choose to appoint proxies to vote on their behalf at shareholder meetings (or any adjournment thereof), such appointments must,
under the Articles of Association, be received (whether sent by post or by electronic means) at such office or address as may be specified by the
Company not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting.

No member shall, unless the Board otherwise decides, be entitled to attend or vote at any general or class meeting in respect of any shares 
if any call or other sum payable remains unpaid. Also, a member may not be entitled to attend or vote if served with a Restriction Notice under 
the Articles of Association.
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The Company is not aware of any agreements between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on voting rights.

The holders of the 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares have no right to receive notice of or attend or vote at any general meeting of the Company, unless 
a resolution is proposed to wind up the Company or to vary the rights attaching to those Subscriber Ordinary Shares.

The Company maintains an ADR programme in the US. Each ADR is the equivalent of three Ordinary Shares and each ADR holder is entitled to the
financial rights attaching to such shares although the ADR depositary is the registered holder of the shares.

Variation of rights
Subject to the Companies Laws and to any rights attached to existing shares, all or any rights attached to any existing class of shares may be varied
either with written consent of the holders of not less than two-thirds in nominal value of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a
special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of those shares. At each such separate general meeting, except an adjourned
meeting, the quorum shall be two persons holding or representing by proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of that class.

Transfer of shares
The Board may, in its absolute discretion, decline to register any transfer of any certificated share which is not a fully paid share or shares held in
certificated form by a member who has been issued a Restriction Notice containing such a restriction unless such a transfer is pursuant to an arm’s
length sale. Registration of a transfer of a share in uncertificated form may be refused in the circumstances set out in the Uncertificated Securities
Order, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to be transferred exceeds
four. The Board may also decline to register a transfer of a certificated share unless the transfer instrument: (i) is accompanied by the relevant 
share certificate and such other evidence of the right of transfer as the Board may reasonably require; (ii) is in respect of only one class of share; 
and (iii) in the case of a transfer to joint transferees is in favor of no more than four such transferees.

The Board may decline to register any transfer of a Subscriber Ordinary Share to any person of whom the Board does not approve.

Articles of Association
The Articles may be amended by special resolution of the members of the Company.

Directors 
Biographical details of Directors currently serving on the Board are stated on pages 36 and 37.

Dr James Cavanaugh, Chairman of the Board, retired from the Board on June 18, 2008 and was succeeded by Mr Matthew Emmens. Mr Angus
Russell succeeded Mr Emmens as Chief Executive Officer on June 18, 2008 and continued to act as Chief Financial Officer until July 1, 2008 when
Mr Graham Hetherington joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer. Dr Michael Rosenblatt, a Non-Executive Director, was appointed to the
Board on April 24, 2008.

Mr Robin Buchanan, a Non-Executive Director, resigned from the Board on July 29, 2008.

Powers of the Directors 
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Laws, the Articles and directions given by special resolution, the business of the Company is managed 
by the Board which may exercise all the powers of the Company whether relating to the management of the business of the Company or not.
In particular, the Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge all or any part of the undertaking,
property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital of the Company and, subject to the Companies Laws, to issue debentures and other
securities, whether outright or as collateral security, for a debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of a third-party.

Directors’ interests in shares
Details of the current Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company, together with details of the share options granted to Executive Directors,
are disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 52 to 65.

Appointment and replacement of Directors
Directors may be appointed by the Company by ordinary resolution or by the Board. Non-Executive Directors are appointed ordinarily for a term of
two years, subject to shareholder approval. Non-Executive Directors who have served on the Board for nine years or more are appointed for one year
terms. Re-appointment of Non-Executive Directors following the expiry of their term of appointment is subject to Board approval. The Board may
from time to time appoint one or more Directors to hold any employment or executive office for such period and on such terms as it may determine
and may also revoke to terminate any such appointment.

At every AGM of the Company any Director who has been appointed by the Board since the last AGM, or who held office at the time of the two
preceding AGMs and who did not retire at either of them, or who has held office with the Company, other than employment or executive office, 
for a continuous period of nine years or more at the date of the meeting, shall retire from office and may offer himself for re-appointment by the
members. The Company may by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of his period of office. The office of a Director shall be
vacated if: (i) he resigns or offers to resign and the Board resolve to accept such offer; (ii) his resignation is requested by all of the other Directors and
all of the other Directors are not less than three in number; (iii) he is or has been suffering from mental ill health or becomes a patient for the purpose
of any statute relating to mental health and the Board resolves that his office is vacated; (iv) he is absent without the permission of the Board from
meetings of the Board (whether or not an alternate Director appointed by him attends) for six consecutive months and the Board resolves that his
office is vacated; (v) he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally; (vi) he is prohibited or disqualified by law from being a Director; 
or (vii) he ceases to be a director by virtue of the Companies Laws or is removed from office pursuant to the Articles.
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Directors’ service contracts and interest in material contracts
In the event of termination of employment within twelve months of a change in control, the amount payable to Mr Russell and Mr Hetherington is one
year’s salary and the cash equivalent of one year’s pension, car and other contractual benefits. Any annual bonus payable is at the discretion of the
Committee and is capped at the contractual maximum level. 

Other than the related party transactions and insurance/indemnity provisions disclosed below, none of the Directors had a material interest in any
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings was a party during the period under review.

Related party transactions
Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals Inc.
In October 2005 the Group sub-leased its office premises in Newport to Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals Inc. Dr James Cavanaugh, the Non-Executive
Chairman of the Group up to June 18, 2008, was the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals, Inc. up to February 9, 2007.
As a result of the transaction the Group will receive $7.8 million (net of inducements) in lease income over the sub-lease period from Xanodyne
Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Directors’ liability insurance and indemnification
In the year under review, the Group maintained an insurance policy for its Directors and Officers in respect of liabilities arising out of any act, error
or omission whilst acting in their capacity as Directors or Officers. Qualifying third-party indemnity provisions were also in place during the year under
review for the benefit of Directors in relation to certain losses and liabilities which they may potentially incur to third-parties in the course of their duties. 

Research and development
Shire continues an active research and development program and as a result has incurred research and development costs of $526.6 million 
in the financial year to December 31, 2008 (2007: $576.4 million). These costs have been charged to the consolidated statements of operations 
in accordance with Shire’s accounting policy.

Substantial shareholdings
As at February 18, 2009 the Company had been notified of the following interests amounting to 3% or more of the voting rights in the issued 
Ordinary Share capital of the Company:
— Fidelity International Limited has a holding of 4.99%;
— Legal and General Group plc has a holding of 4.28%; and
— ExcellerateHRO Share Plan Services (Guernsey) Limited has a holding of 3.02%(i)

(i) Shares held on behalf of the Shire Employee Benefit Trust

Political donations 
Shire did not make any donations to EU political parties during the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007: $nil). In 2006, Shire set up a Political
Action Committee (‘PAC’) in the United States. The PAC is registered with the Federal Election Committee and attracts voluntary donations 
from US citizen employees and certain US suppliers and vendors. The PAC is run by a committee of employees which determines the political 
campaigns or political candidates the PAC will support. Contributions are held by the PAC in a separate and segregated fund and Shire does not
contribute financially to this fund.

Charitable contributions
During the year, charitable contributions amounting to $1.5 million (2007: $0.5 million) were made. The contributions were made to a range of charities
in line with the Shire charity and community policy and included matching of funds raised by employees. For further information, please refer to the
Company’s Corporate Responsibility website at www.shirecr.com.

Employee involvement
At December 31, 2008 Shire employed 3,769 personnel, of which 72% are based in the United States, 12% in the UK and 16% in the rest of the world.
Shire places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and constantly seeks to develop employee involvement throughout the Group. To
further this aim, pursuant to Shire’s Employee Internal Communication Charter, employees are kept informed of strategy, current business performance,
product developments, changes in Group policy and processes, employee benefits (including pensions) and health and safety arrangements. In addition,
the CEO established a Leadership Team Advisory Group in 2008, which acts as a conduit between all employees and the Leadership Team.

Shire communicates with employees via regular internal publications (Shire Dynamics and Shire Xpress), email, the Group intranet, regular all-
employee meetings, functional and departmental meetings, focus and consultation groups on specific topics, employee surveys and notice boards.
Shire also encourages involvement of employees in the Group’s performance through an annual individual objective setting process linked to Shire’s
corporate objectives, and through the operation of various employee share schemes, details of which are set out in the Directors’ remuneration report
on pages 52 to 65 and in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Shire’s employment polices are developed to reflect local legal, cultural and employment requirements and to maintain high standards wherever 
Shire operates. Employees at all levels within the Group are encouraged to make the best possible contribution to Shire’s overall success.

Equal opportunities
Shire operates an equal opportunities policy that aims to treat individuals fairly and not to discriminate on the basis of sex, race, ethnic origin, disability
or on any other prohibited basis. Applications for employment are fully considered on their merits, and employees are given appropriate training and
equal opportunities for career development and promotion. 
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Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always given full and fair consideration, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant
concerned relative to the requirements of the position being applied for. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made 
to ensure that their employment with Shire continues and that appropriate training or accommodation is arranged. It is Shire’s policy that the training,
career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees and that reasonable
accommodation is made wherever possible.

Health, safety and welfare
The Directors are committed to ensuring the health, safety and welfare of Shire’s employees at work. Accordingly, it is Shire’s policy to manage 
its activities so as to avoid causing any unnecessary or unacceptable risk to employees and those who may be affected by the Group’s business. 
In addition, Shire takes its corporate responsibilities seriously, and maintains an active Corporate Responsibility Committee as well as a global
environmental health and safety team devoted to promoting employee safety at and outside of work.

Payment of creditors
It is Shire’s policy to agree payment terms with its suppliers, making sure the supplier is aware of those terms, and to abide by them. As at December
31, 2008 the trade creditors’ days outstanding were:

2008 2007
Days Days

Group 22 19

The Company has no trade creditors.

Financial instruments
Details of Shire’s use of financial instruments can be found in the Financial review on pages 7 to 35 and in Note 23.

Significant agreements
The following significant agreements contain provisions entitling the counterparties to exercise the following rights in the event of a change of control
of the Company:
— under the $1,100 million 2.75% Convertible Bonds (due 2014) issued by the Company pursuant to a trust deed dated May 9, 2007 and a

supplemental trust deed dated April 15, 2008 upon a change of control Bond-holders will, for 60 days thereafter, be able to exercise their right 
to convert their bonds into Ordinary Shares in the Company at a more advantageous price than normal, as specified in the terms and conditions
of the bonds, unless the change of control is effected by a scheme of arrangement which results in the interposition of a new holding company
between the Company’s shareholders and the Company, and certain other conditions are met (an ‘Exempt Scheme’). With respect to an offer 
or a scheme to acquire all or most of the Ordinary Shares in the Company, further requirements are also imposed on the Company, including 
a requirement to notify Bond-holders of the offer or scheme and to use reasonable endevors to procure the making of an equivalent offer 
to Bond-holders, unless the scheme is an Exempt Scheme. For these purposes, a change of control is defined as the acquisition, pursuant 
to an offer or a scheme, by a party of the ability to control more than half the votes at a general meeting of the Company; and

— under the $1,200 million credit facility agreement dated February 20, 2007 as amended and re-stated on July 19, 2007 and April 15, 2008
between, amongst others, the Company and a number of its subsidiaries, Barclays Bank plc (as the facility agent) and the banks and financial
institutions named therein as lenders, upon a change of control any lender may, following not less than 30 days’ notice, cancel its commitments
and require prepayment of its participation in any outstanding loans. For these purposes, a change of control occurs if any person or group 
of persons acting in concert gains the ability to control more than half the votes at a general meeting of the Company or holds more than half 
the equity share capital of the Company. A waiver of the mandatory prepayment provision would require the consent of each lender under the
agreement. As at February 18, 2009, no loans are outstanding under the credit facility agreement.

Auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:
— so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware; and
— the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit

information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

A resolution proposing the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as auditors to the Group will be put to the Annual General Meeting. The Audit Committee
reviews both the level of the audit fee and the level and nature of non-audit fees as part of its review of the adequacy and objectivity of the audit process. 

By order of the Board

Tatjana May
Company Secretary
February 27, 2009
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The members of the Nomination Committee as at December 31, 2008 were Mr David Kappler (Chairman), Mr Matthew Emmens, Dr Barry Price
and Dr Jeffrey Leiden. Dr James Cavanaugh was Chairman of the Committee until his retirement from the Board and the Nomination Committee
on June 18, 2008. Mr Matthew Emmens became a member of the Committee on June 18, 2008. A majority of the Nomination Committee has
been determined by Shire’s Board to be Independent Non-Executive Directors for the purposes of the Combined Code. 

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and nominating, for the approval of the Board, candidates for the Board. The Terms 
of Reference of the Nomination Committee require it, before any appointment is made, to evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board and, in light of this evaluation, to identify the capabilities required for a particular appointment. The Committee utilises, as it considers
necessary, the services of professional search agencies specializing in the recruitment of high calibre candidates. The Nomination Committee 
is required to consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds, on merit and against objective criteria. It is also required to ensure that
candidates have sufficient time to devote to the position. The Nomination Committee also has regard to succession planning for the Board and
oversees succession planning for senior management.

During 2008, the Nomination Committee made recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Independent Non-Executive Director, 
Dr Michael Rosenblatt and Chief Financial Officer, Mr Graham Hetherington.

As detailed in the Company’s 2007 Annual Report on June 18, 2008 Dr James Cavanaugh the Company’s Non-Executive Chairman retired and
was succeeded by Mr Matthew Emmens. Also on June 18, 2008 Mr David Kappler became Deputy Chairman and Mr Angus Russell succeeded
Mr Emmens as Chief Executive Officer. Mr Robin Buchanan stepped down from the Board on July 29, 2008.

New Non-Executive Directors receive a customized induction program taking account of their particular experience and backgrounds. This program
includes meetings with senior management.

The Nomination Committee met four times during 2008. Mr Kappler, Dr Leiden and Dr Price attended all meetings and the Mr Emmens attended
all meetings held since his appointment to the Nomination Committee. Dr Cavanaugh attended all meetings prior to his retirement form the
Nomination Committee.

At the invitation of the Nomination Committee, Mr Angus Russell attended all meetings since becoming Chief Executive Officer.

Mr David Kappler
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
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The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance and supports the provisions and principles set out in the Combined Code.

Statement of compliance with the Combined Code
Throughout the year to December 31, 2008 the Company has, in the Directors’ opinion, complied with the provisions set out in Section 1 of the
Combined Code.

The Board
The Board comprises the Chairman, two Executive and seven Non-Executive Directors and meets at least five times a year. The Non-Executive
Directors bring judgment which is independent of management to Board deliberations. The Executive Directors have responsibility for day-to-day
business operations.

The Board has overall responsibility for managing Shire and its strategic direction and seeks to provide effective leadership and the control required
for a listed company. It discharges those responsibilities through regularly scheduled meetings and ad hoc meetings as may be required. The Board
has formally reserved specific matters to itself for determination and approval which include strategic issues, budgeting, changes in share capital,
approval of the Group’s financial statements and approval of material contracts. In addition, it reviews the Group’s internal controls and risk
management policies and approves its Code of Ethics. It also monitors and evaluates the performance of the Group as a whole, through engaging
with the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and members of the Leadership Team, as appropriate. Matters not formally reserved to the
Board are delegated to the Leadership Team and to various other Board Committees whose functions are described below.

Board members receive detailed information from Executive Directors, the Company Secretary, members of the Leadership Team and other senior
managers to enable them to discharge their responsibilities effectively. All Directors have access to the advice and guidance of the Company
Secretary and are encouraged to seek independent advice at the Group’s expense, where they feel it is appropriate. The Board is of the opinion 
that each of its members has the knowledge, aptitude and experience to perform the functions required of a Director of a listed company.

Biographical details of the members of the Board are shown on pages 36 and 37.

Independence of Directors 
The Board considers Dr Barry Price, Mr David Kappler, Mr Patrick Langlois, Dr Jeffrey Leiden, Ms Kate Nealon, Mr David Mott and Dr Michael
Rosenblatt to be Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board views each of these Non-Executive Directors to be independent of management,
independent in judgment and character and free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment.

The Board, when making its determination on the independence of Dr Price, gave particular consideration to the fact that Dr Price has been a serving
member of the Board for 13 years, that the Combined Code suggests that length of service of nine years or more is relevant to a determination
of independence and that re-appointment should be subject to rigorous review. The Board noted that there have been substantial changes to the
Board membership in 2008, which included the retirement of Dr James Cavanaugh and Mr Robin Buchanan and the appointment of Mr Graham
Hetherington and Dr Michael Rosenblatt. The Board concluded that in its opinion Dr Price remains independent in judgment and character, his
commitment to the Group is undiminished and his performance continues to be effective. In accordance with the Combined Code, Dr Price’s re-
appointment to the Board is for a one year term. 

Throughout 2008 and up to the date of publication of this report, at least half the Board, excluding the Chairman, comprised Non-Executive Directors
determined by the Board to be independent.

Board and Committee changes
On June 18, 2008 Dr James Cavanaugh retired from the Board and was succeeded as Chairman by Mr Matthew Emmens who upon appointment
was elected a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr Angus Russell succeeded Mr Matthew Emmens as Chief Executive Officer on June 18,
2008. Mr David Kappler became Deputy Chairman and Chairman of the Nomination Committee on June 18, 2008. Full disclosure of the process
followed in relation to the appointments of Mr Emmens as Chairman, Mr Russell as CEO and Mr Kappler as Deputy Chairman and the reasons for such
appointments were disclosed in Shire’s 2007 Annual Report and Accounts.

Dr Michael Rosenblatt joined the Board on April 24, 2008. On July 1, 2008 Mr Graham Hetherington was appointed Chief Financial Officer. Mr Robin
Buchanan stepped down from the Board on July 29, 2008.

In September 2008 the Board established the Science & Technology Committee and elected Dr Jeffrey Leiden as Chairman and Dr Michael Rosenblatt
and Dr Barry Price as members of the Committee.

Roles and responsibilities of Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The offices of Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held separately. The Chairman is responsible for the conduct of the Board
and ensures that Board discussions are conducted in such a way that all views are taken into account and so that no individual Director or small group
of Directors dominates proceedings. The Deputy Chairman’s role is to provide support and guidance to the Chairman and to deputize for the Chairman
as required. The Chief Executive Officer has the overall responsibility for running the business on a day-to-day basis and chairs the Leadership Team.

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman, Deputy Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined, separate and have been approved
by the Board. More details of these can be found on the Company’s website www.shire.com. 

Senior Independent Director
Mr David Kappler is the Senior Independent Director and during the year has chaired meetings of the Non-Executive Directors without the Chairman
and the Executive Directors being present. Mr Kappler is available, as required, for consultation with shareholders on any matter of concern.
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The Chairman
Shire’s Chairman, Mr Emmens, recently informed the Shire Board that he had been approached about the possibility of becoming the CEO and
Chairman of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc. The Shire Board then discussed this possibility at a Board meeting chaired by its Deputy Chairman and
without Mr Emmens. The discussion included consideration of the impact of this new position on the discharge of Mr Emmens’ responsibilities at Shire
and whether Mr Emmens would have the time to fulfil both roles. The Board noted that Vertex is a US drug discovery and development company and
there are no core competing technologies, therapeutic areas or products. The Board noted that there had been discussions between Mr Kappler and
the current Chairman of Vertex in which the latter had confirmed that the Vertex Board is fully aware of Mr Emmens’ significant commitment to Shire
and the Vertex Board acknowledged that Mr Emmens would be able to spend the time required to fulfil his responsibilities to Shire. The Board of 
Shire agreed that Mr Emmens had been an outstanding Chairman of Shire since he assumed that role in June 2008. The Shire Board also noted that
Mr Emmens communications with the Shire Board and Leadership Team, who are based in many locations in multiple countries, has been facilitated 
by Mr Emmens’ in-depth knowledge of the Shire business from his five-year tenure as CEO and his good working relationship with both members of
the Board and the Leadership Team. The Board considered the practicalities of the situation including how it would operate if Mr Emmens were unable
to participate in an urgent Shire matter due to a possible Vertex commitment. In this regard the Board noted that as Shire is tax resident in Ireland it 
is obligated to hold all its Board meetings outside the UK, and as such there will always be an element of travel time before it can hold an urgent ad hoc
Board meeting. As Mr Emmens is US-based this should allow some time for Mr Emmens to reschedule other commitments. The Board also noted
that if Mr Emmens is unable to participate in a Shire Board meeting the Company’s Articles specify that the Deputy Chairman shall act as the Chairman
of any meeting at which the Chairman is unable to participate. The Board reaffirmed its view that Mr Emmens’ international experience of the specialty
biopharmaceutical industry, his expertise in responding to a dynamic and rapidly changing pharmaceutical environment and his experience of M&A 
in the international specialty biopharmaceutical area are all key attributes for the Shire Chairman to have. The Board unanimously agreed to permit 
Mr Emmens to take up this new role at Vertex if it is offered to him. The Board further agreed that if Mr Emmens assumes this new position that the
Shire Board would keep under regular review at each Board meeting how things are working. The Vertex Board announced on February 5, 2009 that 
it had appointed Mr Emmens as President of Vertex with immediate effect and as Chief Executive Officer and as Chairman with effect from May 2009.
Mr Emmens stepped down from his role as non-executive director of Incyte Pharmaceuticals at the same time. Mr Emmens now has no Board
commitments other than Shire and Vertex and will not take up any other positions whilst he remains Chairman of Shire.

Board and Committee meetings(i)

The attendance of Directors at meetings of the Board and Committees of which they are members was as follows:

Audit,
Compliance

Board Board & Risk Remuneration Nomination
Directors (scheduled) (ad hoc) Committee Committee Committee

Dr James Cavanaugh(ii) 2/2 2/2 n/a n/a 2/2
Matthew Emmens 6/6 3/3 n/a n/a 2/2
Angus Russell 6/6 3/3 n/a n/a n/a
Graham Hetherington(ii) 4/4 1/1 n/a n/a n/a
Dr Barry Price 6/6 0/3 n/a n/a 4/4
David Kappler 6/6 3/3 5/5 n/a 4/4
Robin Buchanan(ii) 2/2 0/3 n/a 2/5 n/a
Patrick Langlois 6/6 3/3 5/5 7/7 n/a
Dr Jeffrey Leiden 6/6 3/3 n/a 7/7 4/4
David Mott 6/6 2/3 4/5 n/a n/a
Kate Nealon 5/6 3/3 3/5 7/7 n/a
Dr Michael Rosenblatt(ii) 5/5 2/2 n/a n/a n/a

(i) X/y where ‘x’ is the number of meetings attended and ‘y’ is the number of meetings that could be attended. For example 2/4 indicates two
meetings attended out of a possible four.

(ii) Meetings attended prior to retirement or since appointment.

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors met five times during the year without the Executive Directors being present.

Supply of information
The Executive Directors and the Company Secretary are responsible for ensuring that detailed information is provided to Board members in advance
of any scheduled or ad hoc Board meeting. Before decisions are made, consideration is given to the adequacy of information available to the Board
and, if necessary, decisions are deferred if further information is required. 

Appointment and re-election of Directors
The Board has authority to appoint any person to be a Director. Any Director so appointed must retire and submit himself for election at the next AGM.

Non-Executive Directors are appointed ordinarily for a term of two years, subject to shareholder approval. Non-Executive Directors who have served
on the Board for nine years or more are appointed for one year terms and, in accordance with the Combined Code, are subject to annual re-election
by shareholders. Re-appointment of Non-Executive Directors following the expiry of their term of appointment is subject to Board approval.

No Director serves for more than three years without being subject to re-election. 

The terms of appointment of each of the Non-Executive Directors and the service contracts of the Executive Directors are made available for inspection
at the Company’s AGM.
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Board performance evaluation 
The Company conducted evaluations of the performance of the Board, its Committees and its Directors in 2008. The 2008 evaluations were
undertaken by way of a formal review chaired, respectively, by the Chairman of the Board and the Chair of each Board Committee. Mr Emmens 
met with each Board member to discuss their views on a broad range of topics relating to the operation and effectiveness of the Board. The output
of those meetings was discussed with the Board in plenary session. The evaluation of the Remuneration Committee was facilitated by external
consultants. Members of the Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee completed performance evaluation questionnaires before that Committee’s review
meeting. The non-attributable aggregated responses from these questionnaires formed the basis of the review. The evaluation of the Nomination
Committee was by way of discussion. All the reviews covered a wide range of matters including adequacy of the composition of the Board and 
its Committees, performance of Directors and the adequacy of information provided. The Board and its Committees noted that the improvement 
to operating procedures identified in the previous year had been implemented. Following discussions in 2008, further improvements were identified
for implementation in 2009. 

Committees of the Board
The Board has established the Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Science 
& Technology Committee. Each Committee has written terms of reference which have been approved by the Board. The Terms of Reference of the
Committees are available on the Company’s website www.shire.com. Details of each Committee are set out below: 

1 Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee
The Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee has been established for the purpose of overseeing the accounting and financial reporting processes of
the Group, the audit of its financial statements and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control framework. It meets at least
five times a year. The members of the Committee are all Independent Non-Executive Directors. For further information about the Audit, Compliance 
& Risk Committee, its membership and activities for the year ended December 31, 2008, please refer to the Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee
report on pages 50 and 51.

2 Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee determines on behalf of the Board the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors and other senior executives and
the fixing of the terms of employment of the Executive Directors. The remuneration of the Executive Directors and the Chairman is determined by the
Remuneration Committee. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Chairman and the Executive Directors. The
remuneration of the members of the Leadership Team, other than the Executive Directors, is determined by the Chief Executive Officer following
discussion with the Remuneration Committee. The members of the Remuneration Committee are all Independent Non-Executive Directors. 

The Remuneration Committee met on seven occasions in 2008. For further information about the Remuneration Committee, its membership and
activities for the year ended December 31, 2008, please refer to the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 52 to 65.

3 Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and nominating, for the approval of the Board, candidates for the Board. The Nomination
Committee also ensures adequate succession planning for the Board and senior management. The Nomination Committee met four times in 2008.
Each Committee member attended all Committee meetings which he was eligible to attend in the year.

The Nomination Committee retains the services of executive search consultants to assist it in the discharge of its responsibilities, as it considers
necessary.

For further information about the Nomination Committee, its membership and activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 please refer to the
Nomination Committee report on page 43.

4 Science & Technology Committee
The Science & Technology Committee is responsible for periodically reviewing and advising the Board on the Company’s strategic direction and
investment in research, development and technology. Since it was established in September 2008, the Committee met on one occasion.

Leadership Team
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management of the Company to the Leadership Team, which operates within clear and formal parameters.
The Leadership Team reports to and seeks guidance from the Board on a regular basis and normally meets once a month to deliberate on major
business issues. It also considers those matters that are of a size and significance as to require referral to the Board before such matters are referred 
to the Board for final consideration and decision.

During 2008 the Leadership Team met twelve times. Mr Matthew Emmens chaired the Leadership Team until Mr Angus Russell succeeded him 
as Chief Executive Officer on June 18, 2008. At December 31, 2008 the Leadership Team comprised Mr Angus Russell (Chief Executive Officer), 
Mr Graham Hetherington (Chief Financial Officer), Mr Mike Cola (President of Specialty Pharmaceuticals), Ms Sylvie Grégoire (President of Human
Genetic Therapies), Ms Barbara Deptula (Chief Corporate Development Officer), Mrs Anita Graham (Chief Administrative Officer), Ms Tatjana May
(General Counsel) and Mr Joseph Rus (Executive Vice President of Alliance Management & New Market Development). 
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Directors’ remuneration
The Group’s remuneration policy is described in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 52 to 65. The report details the level of remuneration 
for Directors and the basis upon which executive remuneration is determined.

Relations with shareholders
The Group is committed to maintaining constructive relationships with shareholders. 

The Group announces its financial results quarterly. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer give presentations on the results each
quarter by teleconference for institutional investors, analysts and the media. As the Company has securities listed on NASDAQ in the US, the 
Company also files quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and an Annual Report on Form 10-K with the US Securities and Exchange Commission (‘SEC’).

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, supported by other senior executives, also arrange individual and group meetings with 
major shareholders throughout the year to discuss the Group’s strategy and performance and to understand the views of major shareholders, which
are then communicated to the Board as a whole. The Chairman and the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director are available also to meet with
major shareholders.

The Company’s website at www.shire.com provides information about the Group and its business and is regularly updated. The Group’s Investor
Relations department acts as a contact point for investors throughout the year.

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting shareholders are given the opportunity to ask questions of the Directors. The Directors also make
themselves available informally after the meeting to answer questions from shareholders.

Corporate Responsibility
The Group recognizes the impact that its business may have on patients, employees, the community in which it operates and the environment. 
The Group therefore attaches great importance to social and environmental issues and to ethical business practices. Accordingly, ultimate responsibility
for them is taken at the highest levels. The Board reviews the Group’s general approach to corporate responsibility. The Board also reviews the specific
business risks related to corporate responsibility matters, as part of the overall risk management review process. 

The Corporate Responsibility Committee, which is chaired by the General Counsel, meets at least three times a year and is responsible for setting 
the policies and procedures that manage corporate responsibility issues, risks and opportunities. Corporate responsibility risks are managed within 
the overall framework of risk management, explained below under the heading ‘internal control’. 

Further information, including 2008 highlights, can be obtained from the Company’s Corporate Responsibility website at www.shirecr.com.

Code of Ethics
The Group is committed to the maintenance of high ethical standards in its dealings with all persons with whom it is involved. The Group’s Code 
of Ethics applies to all Directors and employees and is available for review on the Company’s website.

Donations to Political Organizations and EU Political Expenditure
The Group made no donations to EU Political Organizations during 2008. In 2006 Shire set up a Political Action Committee (‘PAC’) in the United 
States. The PAC is registered with the Federal Election Committee and attracts voluntary donations from US citizen employees and certain US
suppliers and vendors. The PAC is run by a committee of employees which determines the political campaigns or political candidates the PAC will
support. Contributions are held by the PAC in a separate and segregated fund and Shire does not contribute financially to this fund.

Financial reporting and disclosure, internal control and the role of the auditors
The Board has, through the Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee (‘ACR Committee’), established formal and transparent arrangements for financial
reporting, the review of the internal control environment including compliance issues and external auditing. The Committee’s terms of reference extend
to the Group’s compliance and risk management activities as a whole and not just the financial aspects of internal control. 

The ACR Committee has independent access to the Group’s internal and external auditors throughout the year in addition to presentations from both
on a quarterly basis. Any significant findings or identified risks are closely examined and are reported to the Board with recommendations for action.

All employees can, via an independently managed Global Compliance Helpline, raise any concerns in any of these areas and any other area,
anonymously if they wish, to the Chief Compliance and Risk Officer in the strictest confidence without fear of discrimination or reprisal. The Chief
Compliance and Risk Officer reports regularly to the ACR Committee on any issues that may arise through the Helpline and other sources.

1 Financial reporting and disclosure 
The Board, with the assistance of the ACR Committee, has ultimate responsibility for the preparation of accounts and for the monitoring of systems 
of internal control. The Board strives to present a balanced assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects and it endevors to present 
all financial, scientific and other information so as to be comprehensible to investors. The Group publishes quarterly financial reports so that its
shareholders can monitor the Group’s financial position regularly.

In addition the Group has established a Disclosure Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer. Its membership includes executives 
and senior managers from the Specialty Pharmaceuticals and HGT businesses and from the legal, finance, compliance and risk functions. 
Its responsibilities include ensuring that all material information is disclosed to investors in the Group’s periodic financial reports and that such
information is recorded, summarised and reported accurately. 
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Following the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002 in the United States, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are required
to complete formal certifications, which confirm, inter alia, that:
— the Annual Report on Form 10-K in the United States does not contain any material misstatements or omissions;
— financial information reported in Form 10-K fairly presents the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Group;
— the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are responsible for determining and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures for 

the purposes of financial reporting in the United States;
— the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of those disclosure controls and procedures;
— the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have indicated in Form 10-K whether there were any significant changes in the Group’s

internal control over financial reporting; and
— based on the evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the

design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to affect adversely the Group’s ability to record, process
and report financial information included in Form 10-K have been disclosed to the Group’s auditors. 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have completed these certifications and they have been filed with the SEC in the United
States as part of the Group’s Annual Report as at December 31, 2008 on Form 10-K.

2 Risk management, compliance and internal control 
The Board, in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance on internal control, recognizes its overall responsibility to maintain a sound system of internal
control to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and to regularly review its effectiveness. Whilst the Board acknowledges its
responsibility for the system of internal control, such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate all risk. Accordingly even the most effective
system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In 2008, the Board reviewed both the key risks faced by the Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. Aside from these
reviews, the Board delegates responsibility to the ACR Committee for more regular review of both key risks and internal controls and for monitoring the
activities of the internal audit function. The ACR Committee has kept these areas under regular review during 2008.

The Group has risk management, compliance and internal audit functions. The Chief Compliance and Risk Officer and the Vice President of Internal 
Audit report to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, but each has direct access to the Chairman of the Group, the
Chairman of the ACR Committee and the other members of that Committee. They also both attend and regularly present at ACR Committee meetings.

The Group’s risk management, compliance and internal audit strategy is based on a risk and control framework containing the following key elements:
— an effective control environment;
— an effective process to identify, assess and manage risks;
— effective internal control procedures; and
— effective internal audit.

Effective control environment
The key elements of the Group’s control environment are as follows: 
— the Board has overall responsibility to maintain the internal control system and has delegated certain responsibilities to the Leadership Team and/or

the ACR Committee;
— a framework of Corporate Values and a Code of Ethics which sets appropriate standards of ethical behavior are operational throughout the Group;
— the internal structure of the organization is well documented with clear reporting lines and clear limits of authority for different matters;
— a range of corporate policies, procedures and training have been implemented; 
— the internal audit department, overseen by the Vice President of Internal Audit, carries out regular reviews of internal controls and reports findings 

to management and the ACR Committee; and
— the ACR Committee considers the major findings of any internal investigations and management’s response to them. The ACR Committee reports

annually to the Board on the effectiveness of the Group’s control environment. 

Effective identification, assessment and management of risks 
Management of business risk is essential for ensuring that the Group creates and preserves shareholder value. Accordingly, the Group has an ongoing
process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks that it faces. This process has been in operation throughout the period under
review and up to the date of the signing of the accounts. Material risks are recorded twice a year on a corporate risk schedule which allocates specific
mitigation or management responsibility to members of the senior staff of the Group. During 2008 this schedule was reviewed by the Risk Council
which is comprised of a cross-functional group of senior executives chaired by the Chief Compliance and Risk Officer, the Leadership Team, and higher
risk items reviewed with the ACR Committee and the full Board.

Effective internal control procedures
The Group has a system of internal control procedures. Compliance with these procedures is monitored through a system of internal review and
regular reports received from the Vice President of Internal Audit and the Group’s external auditors. Any significant issues arising are reported to the
ACR Committee. 
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Effective internal audit
The internal review of the Group’s control procedures and compliance thereof is mostly undertaken through internal audit. The ACR Committee
monitors and reviews the internal audit program, considers the findings of internal audit reviews and management’s response to them, and ensures
efficient co-ordination between the Group’s internal and external auditors. The Group’s internal audit function, comprising a mixture of internal and out-
sourced resource, was operational throughout 2008. The ACR Committee, which is responsible for monitoring the activity of the internal audit function,
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function during 2008.

3 External auditing 
The ACR Committee has the primary responsibility for making a recommendation on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor as well as for determining the remuneration of and overseeing the work of any accounting firm engaged to conduct the external audit. The
Committee assesses at least annually the objectivity and independence of the external auditor taking into account relevant regulatory requirements.
The Committee reviews and approves the annual external audit plan each year and ensures it is consistent with the scope of the auditors’
engagement. In order to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the external auditor is maintained, the Committee applies a formal policy 
for the provision of non-audit services. Such services are categorized as follows:
— services for which the external auditors are explicitly excluded; 
— services for which the external auditors can be engaged without prior referral to the Committee; and 
— services for which pre-approval of the Committee is required. 

The Committee also considers the fees paid to the external auditors and whether the fee levels for non-audit services, individually and in aggregate,
relative to the audit fee are appropriate so as not to undermine their independence.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting
The Group’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13(a) 
to 15(f) or 15(d)–15(f) promulgated under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Because of inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, material misstatements due to error may not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness for future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Group’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over financial reporting for the purposes of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K as at December 31, 2008, which was filed with the US Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009. 
In making this assessment, the Group’s management used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (‘COSO’) of the Treadway Commission. 

Based on its assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2008 the Group’s internal control over financial reporting is effective. 

Deloitte LLP, the Group’s external auditor, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report on the design and
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over its Form 10-K US GAAP financial reporting. The Auditor’s Report appears on page F-3 of the
Group’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting
During the year ended December 31, 2008 there were no changes in Shire’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Shire’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Membership
The members of the Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee (‘ACR Committee’) as at December 31, 2008 were David Kappler (Chairman), Patrick
Langlois, Kate Nealon and David Mott. 

The members of the ACR Committee are chosen from amongst the Non-Executive Directors of the Group and are selected on the basis of their
knowledge and experience of financial matters, financial reporting, risk management and internal control. Each of the members of the ACR Committee
has been determined by the Board to be an Independent Non-Executive Director for the purposes of the Combined Code. Each member also satisfies
the NASDAQ rules regarding the independence of members of the ACR Committee. ACR Committee members hold office for an initial period of two
years, subject to continuing as a Director of the Group. Thereafter they may hold office for such duration as determined by the Board. Details of the
fees paid to members of the ACR Committee are set out in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 52 to 65.

Mr Kappler chairs the ACR Committee. The Board is satisfied that Mr Kappler, in his capacity as Chairman of the ACR Committee, has recent and
relevant financial experience. The Board has determined that Mr Kappler is the ACR Committee’s financial expert for the purposes of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act 2002. Mr Kappler was Chief Financial Officer of Cadbury Schweppes group from 1995 until his retirement in April 2004. He is currently
Non-Executive Chairman of Premier Foods plc and a Non-Executive Director of Intercontinental Hotels Group where he is also chairman of the Audit
Committee. Mr Kappler is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants.

Role of the ACR Committee
The ACR Committee’s Terms of Reference include all matters indicated by Disclosure and Transparency Rule 7.1 and the Combined Code. The
Terms of Reference of the ACR Committee were reviewed and approved by the Board in 2008 and are available on Shire’s website. The key
functions of the ACR Committee under its Terms of Reference are to:
— monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Group, including its annual and quarterly reports, preliminary results announcements and any

other corporate announcement relating to the Group’s financial performance;
— ensure clarity of disclosure in financial reporting and the presentation of a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial position;
— have the primary responsibility for making a recommendation (to be put to shareholders for approval at the Annual General Meeting) in relation 

to the appointment, re-appointment, removal and remuneration of the external auditor and to assess, at least annually, the objectivity and
independence of the external auditor;

— review and discuss issues and recommendations arising from the external audit and any matters the external auditor may wish to discuss;
— set and apply a formal policy in relation to the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor with a view to preserving the external auditor’s

independence and objectivity;
— review, approve and monitor the annual internal audit program, consider the findings of internal audit reviews and management’s response to them;
— review at least annually the design and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems;
— review the Group’s strategy for the management of the key corporate and financial risks of the Group including treasury, taxation and insurance;
— review procedures for the receipt and treatment of complaints received by the Group regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing

matters;
— review with the Chief Compliance and Risk Officer arrangements for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of concerns regarding

matters which could have a material impact on the Group, and to ensure these arrangements allow proportionate and independent investigation 
of such matters and appropriate follow up action;

— review the findings of major internal investigations and management’s response to material inquiries received from regulators or governmental
agencies; and

— review the Company’s procedures for detecting fraud and to review the investigation and remediation of any alleged or suspected fraud.

The ACR Committee reports any matters to the Board which it considers that action is required or about which the Board should be briefed and
makes recommendations for steps to be taken. The Terms of Reference of the ACR Committee give it authority to investigate any activity within its
Terms of Reference and to be responsible for the resolution of disagreements between management and the auditor regarding the Group’s financial
reporting. The ACR Committee is also authorized to seek any information it requires from any employee of the Group in order to perform its duties
and to call any employee to be questioned at a meeting of the ACR Committee.

The ACR Committee met on five occasions in 2008. David Kappler, Patrick Langlois and David Mott attended all meetings and Kate Nealon attended
four meetings. At the invitation of the Chairman of the ACR Committee, the Chief Financial Officer, the Group Financial Controller, the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Compliance and Risk Officer, the Vice President of Internal Audit and the Group’s external auditors and the Chairman of the Board
attended meetings.

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the ACR Committee held a number of separate private meetings with the Group’s external auditors, the
Vice President of Internal Audit and the Chief Compliance and Risk Officer during the course of the year without any executive member of the Board
in attendance or other member of management present. The purpose of these meetings was to facilitate open discussions between the ACR
Committee members and separately the Vice President of Internal Audit, the Chief Risk Compliance and Officer and the Group’s external audits.
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Approval of audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditor
The ACR Committee has adopted formal policies and procedures in relation to the provision of audit and non-audit services by the external auditor.
The principal purpose of these policies and procedures is to ensure that the independence of the external auditor is not impaired. 

The policies, which are in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002, prohibit the provision of certain non-audit services to the Group by the
external auditor, including:
— bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting records or financial statements of the Group;
— design and implementation of financial information systems;
— appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions or contribution-in-kind reports; and
— actuarial or internal audit outsourcing services.

Other types of audit and non-audit services may be performed by the external auditor if the work is either specifically pre-approved by the ACR
Committee or the work falls within a schedule of services pre-approved by the ACR Committee in accordance with the pre-approval policy. The ACR
Committee’s pre-approval policy covers four categories of work—audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other non-audit related
services. If the proposed services to be provided by the external auditor fall within a category of pre-approved services and additionally the fee for
those services is below pre-approved annual and transactional limits, such services may be provided without being specifically approved by the ACR
Committee, provided that management does not need to exercise any discretion in determining whether a proposed service falls within one of the
pre-approved categories. In all cases, the ACR Committee is notified of any pre-approved service that is provided by the auditor. 

Any non-prohibited service proposed to be provided by the auditor which is either not a pre-approved service, or is a pre-approved service for which
fees are above the annual or transactional limits, must be approved in advance by the ACR Chairman, who will consider whether the independence,
skills and experience of the auditor make it a suitable supplier of the proposed service.

ACR Committee activities
During 2008, the business reviewed by the ACR Committee included the following:

1 Financial statements
— The financial disclosures contained in the Group’s full year and quarterly results announcements.
— Various accounting matters, including the application of the Group’s critical accounting policies and accounting standards in the context of the

financial disclosures, the accounting treatment for the replacement through the court-sanctioned Scheme of Arrangement of the Group’s holding
company, charges recognized on the discontinuation of DYNEPO, the other-than-temporary impairment of the Group’s investment in Renovo
Group plc and the acquisition of Jerini AG.

— Review of questions raised by the SEC concerning the Company’s 2007 10-K filing and approval of the Company’s responses. The SEC was
satisfied with the Company’s responses.

— Quarterly reports from the external auditors were received by the ACR Committee and discussed. The reports addressed the following key areas:
— auditor responsibility and independence;
— significant accounting estimates and judgments made by management; and
— significant accounting policies and one-off transactions.

2 Internal financial control and risk management systems
— Consideration of the key risks faced by the Group and review of the Group’s plan to mitigate such risks.
— Review of the Group’s annual internal audit plan, compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002 and the effectiveness of the

Group’s system of internal controls over financial reporting.
— Review of the policy for treasury management and of any proposed changes to that policy which are being recommended to the Board.
— Quarterly reports on treasury investments, foreign exchange hedging. 
— Annual review of the Group’s tax strategy and assessment of fiscal risk.
— Quarterly reports on the results of the Group’s internal audit program.
— Semi-annual review of the Group’s corporate risk schedule.
— Review of the insurance renewal program for 2008/9.
— Monitoring of the Group’s whistle-blowing policy. 

3 External auditor
The ACR Committee reviewed the performance of the external auditor following the completion of the 2007 audit process, which resulted in the 
ACR Committee resolving to recommend that the Group submit a resolution to the 2008 Annual General Meeting to re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the
Group’s external auditor. At meetings in 2009, the ACR Committee will conduct a formal review of the performance of the external auditor and the
effectiveness of the audit process in connection with the 2008 financial year audit.

Throughout the year, the ACR Committee has kept the objectivity and independence of the external auditor under review and has obtained reports
from the Group’s external auditor describing all relationships between the auditor and the Group. The ACR Committee has remained satisfied that
neither the level of non-audit services nor the nature of the work performed by the external auditors has in any way impaired their objectivity and
independence. Details of the fees paid to the external auditors are disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Mr David Kappler
Chairman of the Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee
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Introduction
This report meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes how the Board has applied the
principles relating to Directors’ remuneration in the Combined Code.

Unaudited information
Dear Shareholder
The year 2008 was an active one for Shire’s Remuneration Committee due to the change in leadership in the Group. The retirement of James
Cavanaugh as Chairman and the succession of Matthew Emmens to that role resulted in a series of changes. These included the promotion of
Angus Russell to CEO, and the appointment of Graham Hetherington as CFO. 

Shareholders overwhelmingly supported the appointment of each executive to his new position and the Remuneration Committee was responsible 
for ensuring each individual was paid competitively in his new role. 

The Remuneration Committee reviewed competitive remuneration levels for the aforementioned executive directors, as well as below-board executive
vice presidents, and confirmed that Shire’s approach to the remuneration package is well-positioned relative to its competitive market. In addition, the
Committee is satisfied that awards are commensurate with corporate and individual performance. 

Upon assuming the leadership of the Group, Angus Russell began a review of Group strategy and vision. When the strategy was approved by the
Board, the Remuneration Committee ensured that the goals set forth in the strategy were closely aligned with the metrics of the short-term incentive
plan and the competitive peer group used in assessing long-term performance. The Committee will continue this work in 2009, as a comprehensive
review of total rewards strategy and remuneration programs will be undertaken.

The Remuneration Committee remains committed to a continuing dialogue with shareholders and we take account of your views. We hope that this
report provides helpful context and explanation of the policies and practical considerations that influence our decisions.

Sincerely,

Kate Nealon
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Pound sterling denominated amounts are converted to US dollar amounts at the average exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2008 
of £1: $1.8542 (2007: £1: $2.0010) unless otherwise stated.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) is responsible for developing, reviewing and overseeing the implementation of the Group’s
compensation and benefits policy. The Committee is responsible for all elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration, and reviews and approves
broad policy for the remuneration of senior management and the employee population.

The constitution of the Committee complies with the Combined Code. During 2008 the Committee reviewed and updated its Terms of Reference 
to ensure that these effectively reflect its responsibilities.

The Group considers all members of the Committee to be independent. The members during 2008 were:
— Kate Nealon, an Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Committee;
— Patrick Langlois, an Independent Non-Executive Director;
— Dr Jeffrey Leiden, an Independent Non-Executive Director; and
— Robin Buchanan, an Independent Non-Executive Director, who served on the Committee through July 28, 2008. His tenure on the Committee

ended concurrent with the end of his Board membership. The Committee extends its gratitude to Mr Buchanan for his contribution during his
years of service.

The Chairman and the CEO attend meetings of the Committee at its invitation, but neither is involved in any decisions relating to his own remuneration.

The Committee was materially assisted in 2008 by Anita Graham, EVP, Chief Administrative Officer. The following external advisors were appointed 
by and materially assisted the Committee:
— PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP served as the independent advisor to the Committee beginning in March 2008. In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers

LLP also provided a broad range of consultancy services to Shire in accounting and related areas in 2008;
— Deloitte LLP (who also provided audit and some tax services to the Group), served as the independent advisors to the Committee through February

2008 and provided data and advice on general issues around the operation of the Group’s incentive schemes; and
— Slaughter and May (who also provided general legal advice to the Group) provided legal advice on Directors’ service contracts and the Group’s

incentive plans.

Key Committee activities for 2008
The Committee met seven times in 2008 and completed the following key activities:
— approved remuneration arrangements for Matthew Emmens in his new role as Chairman and Angus Russell in his new role as CEO, both effective

June 18, 2008. The Committee also approved remuneration for Graham Hetherington, who joined the Group as CFO effective July 1, 2008;
— conducted benchmarking studies for below-board executive vice president positions and approved a blended US/UK pay approach for

benchmarking for their base salaries and total compensation; and
— conducted a review of reward program effectiveness. Outcomes from this study will be used in a comprehensive review of reward strategy in 2009.

In addition, the Committee discussed, among other items, the following standing agenda items:
— review of Executive Directors’ performance and all components of remuneration;
— review of Group performance for 2007 against the previously agreed corporate objectives for 2007 and determination of the corporate component

of the Group’s annual incentive plan;
— remuneration for members of senior management;
— performance measures for the 2008 Annual Incentive Plans;
— long-term incentive grants for current employees and new hires throughout 2008; and
— employee Stock Purchase Plan and Sharesave scheme offerings.

Executive remuneration policy
The Committee considers that an effective remuneration policy, aligned to the Group’s business needs, is important to the Group’s success. It directly
impacts the Group’s ability to recruit, retain and motivate executives of the highest calibre who will be able to deliver sustained value to shareholders,
even in the most challenging times. The Committee also recognizes shareholders’ focus on the delivery of results and the creation of long-term value
and as such, the remuneration policy reflects a pay-for-performance philosophy and alignment to shareholder interests. 

The Group’s compensation and benefits policy for Executive Directors achieves the above goals through a balanced remuneration program based 
on the following principles:
— base pay is market and performance driven, with reference to a blended US/UK market comparison group. It is targeted at or around the median

relative to the comparison group, and varies based on individual performance;
— the Executive Annual Incentive Plan is performance-based and is linked to the achievement of an appropriate mix of corporate and individual

performance targets. The Executive Annual Incentive Plan allows the Group to measure and reward progress against its strategic goals and is
closely tied to delivery of sustained shareholder value;

— share-based compensation is a key element of the Group’s remuneration policy as it aligns the interests of the Group’s executives with the interests
of its shareholders. This element of compensation also utilises a blended US/UK market comparison to determine the face value of awards to
Executive Directors;

— benefits programs are locally competitive and provide for the welfare and well-being of the Group’s employees and their families;
— the Committee currently aims for variable compensation to represent over two-thirds of total remuneration; and
— the Committee believes that Executive Directors should be encouraged to own shares in the Company in order to ensure the alignment of their

interests with those of the Company’s shareholders. Share ownership guidelines have been in effect since 2006.
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In its assessment of corporate and Executive Director performance, the Committee utilizes a Balanced Scorecard (‘Scorecard’) set of objectives which
consider both financial and non-financial measures. Financial measures include revenue growth, net sales and contribution, as well as management 
of expense ratios. Among the non-financial measures are customer care and satisfaction, operational excellence, and the development of people and
organizational capabilities. 

The Committee regularly monitors the effectiveness of the remuneration policy and reviews this policy based on independent analysis and advice, 
an understanding of the business drivers and competitive environment in which the Group operates, and ongoing dialogue with shareholders. 
In 2008, the Committee maintained the above principles for Executive Directors and, in addition, agreed to adopt the blended US/UK benchmarking
approach for base pay, total cash and total compensation for the below-board executive vice presidents of the Group. This approach will be used 
for benchmarking remuneration with effect from 2009.

The remuneration package
The main elements of the remuneration package for Executive Directors and senior management are:

1 Salary
2 Executive Annual Incentive Plan

(a) Cash Component
(b) Share Component

3 Long-term incentives
(a) Portfolio Share Plan

4 Pension and other benefits

While each element of remuneration is reviewed and determined separately, the Committee also considers a total compensation approach when
establishing each executive’s remuneration package.

An appropriate balance is maintained between fixed and performance-related remuneration and between elements linked to short-term financial
performance and long-term shareholder value creation. The Executive Annual Incentive Plan and long-term incentive plans are considered
performance-related elements, while base salary is essentially ‘fixed’, although performance is considered when determining annual increases.
Assuming on-target performance, the CEO’s remuneration is 25% fixed and 75% variable, and the CFO’s remuneration is 34% fixed and 66% variable.
The aforementioned fixed percentages exclude pension and other benefits. 

1 Salary
The Committee reviews salaries annually and utilizes a comparator group that is a blend of US and UK companies with sector, size, complexity, 
and international characteristics similar to those of the Group. The Committee’s policy is for salary to be targeted at or around the median of the blend
of US/UK comparators. This approach positions pay comparably to those companies with whom the Group competes for business and talent. 

As part of its normal annual salary review process, the Committee reviews competitive market data provided by independent external consultants
and US and UK market conditions. Base salary levels and salary increase decisions for senior management take into account the competitive market
data, the Group’s budget for performance-related pay increases, and the skills, performance and results achieved by each individual. Salaries may 
be positioned below median for employees who are new to their role or under-performing, while salaries for consistently strong performers may be
positioned at median or higher.

Based on a review of competitive market data, and on corporate and individual performance results, the following salaries for the CEO and CFO were
determined in 2008: 
— Angus Russell received a salary increase to £602,000 ($1,116,228) concurrent with his promotion to CEO effective June 18, 2008. This pay level 

is below median for comparable roles within the peer group. Effective January 1, 2009, Mr Russell received a salary increase to £682,000
($1,264,564), which will place him in the bottom quartile for his position. This increase is a step toward moving his salary to the median over the
course of two years, dependent upon continued satisfactory performance.

— Graham Hetherington’s salary was set at £400,000 ($741,680) when he joined the Group on July 1, 2008. Effective January 1, 2009 he received 
a salary increase to £416,000 ($771,347), which reflects overall solid performance and an excellent transition into his role.

25% Fixed
21% Performance-related annual bonus
54% Performance-related long-term incentives

34% Fixed
24% Performance-related annual bonus
42% Performance-related long-term incentives

CEO CFO
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2 Executive Annual Incentive Plan
Executive Directors and senior management participate in an Executive Annual Incentive Plan (‘EAIP’ or ‘Plan’), which rewards Group performance
based on achievement of pre-defined, Committee-approved corporate objectives. The EAIP is delivered in a combination of cash, which is delivered
shortly after the close of the fiscal year, and restricted shares, which are payable in three years. The Plan design is meant to provide a strong
performance/shareholder value orientation and reward executives for the creation of shareholder value. Both the cash and share-based components 
of the award are determined based on the achievement of corporate, business and individual objectives.

Corporate objectives are organized in a Scorecard format, which focuses on all areas that drive the success of the business: financial, customer,
people and capabilities, and operational excellence. These objectives include a description of the objective and key performance indicators (‘KPIs’),
including targets and deadlines.

The extent of the awards under the Plan is determined by the Committee only when exacting levels of performance specified by the KPI have been
achieved. Objectives measured by the Group’s financial performance are assessed on the Group’s results, as reported in the Group’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K under US GAAP.

2008 individual objectives for Executive Directors were approved by the Committee. The detailed objectives and performance standards contain
commercially sensitive information and therefore are not detailed here. However, some of the objectives are summarised below according to the
four Scorecard areas for 2008. Weightings for each of the four Scorecard areas are also provided:

1 Financial targets (40% of Weighting)
— on year revenue growth
— net sales and contribution of each Business
— management of expense ratios

2 Customers (15% of Weighting)
— improve customer care and customer service levels across the entire business

3 People and capabilities (15% of Weighting)
— employee retention
— programs to support leadership and career development for high-potential talent

4 Operational effectiveness (30% of Weighting)
— successful product filings, approvals and launches
— determination of strategies for therapeutic areas
— strategies for investment in Group infrastructure

The Committee assesses performance against annual objectives in the first quarter of the following year. The target incentive is paid where Executive
Directors have fully achieved their individual objectives and the corporate objectives have been met. The maximum incentive is paid when the Committee
determines that individual and/or corporate performance has been exceptional. Maximum incentive payments for 2008 were capped at 115% of salary 
in cash and 65% of salary in restricted shares for the CEO and 100% of salary in cash and 55% of salary in restricted shares for the CFO.

For 2008, the Committee made award determinations for Matthew Emmens, pro-rated for his tenure as CEO through June 17, 2008, for Angus
Russell, taking into account his performance as CFO until June 17, 2008 and his subsequent transition to CEO and for Graham Hetherington who
joined the Group as CFO on July 1, 2008. In alignment with the rules of the Executive Annual Incentive Plan, Mr Russell received the CEO incentive
target for the full year. The table below outlines the incentive opportunities for each:

Weighting of target incentive objectives
Target incentive Maximum incentive
(as a % of salary) (as a % of salary) Corporate Individual

Mr Matthew Emmens 65% cash 115% cash 100% Will be taken into account
CEO 20% restricted shares 65% restricted shares in determining final award
(January 1—June 17, 2008)

Mr Angus Russell 65% cash 115% cash 100% Will be taken into account
CFO 20% restricted shares 65% restricted shares in determining final award
(January 1—June 17, 2008)

CEO 
(June 18—December 31, 2008)

Mr Graham Hetherington 55% cash 100% cash 70% 30%
CFO 15% restricted shares 55% restricted shares 
(July 1—December 31, 2008)
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In 2008, Shire’s performance was very strong in a very challenging market. The incentive payments awarded to each Executive Director for 2008 reflect
that strong corporate performance and individual achievements: 
— Mr Emmens was granted a cash award of 90% of base salary and a share award of 51% of base salary to recognize his performance in 2008. 

This award was, in accordance with his employment contract, pro-rated to June 17, 2008 and was based on year-to-date Group performance at the
time of Mr Emmens stepping down as CEO.

— Mr Russell was awarded a cash award of 95% of base salary and a share award of 54% of base salary based on his performance as CFO and CEO.
— Mr Hetherington was awarded a cash award of 69% of base salary and a share award of 39% of base salary based on his performance as CFO

from July 1 to December 31 2008. His incentive award is pro-rated based on his tenure with the Group.

These incentive awards are consistent with the overall performance of the Group in 2008, which included:
— total revenue growth of 24%;
— net sales and contribution of each business exceeding its targets;
— approval and launch of VYVANSE for Adult ADHD;
— successful M&A activities designed to expand both the marketed and pipeline product set (including the acquisition of Jerini);
— geographical expansion for marketed products into Mexico, Argentina, Brazil, Australia, and Russia; and 
— the highly-successful implementation of other Scorecard objectives focused on the continuing growth of the Group.

Employees below senior management participate in a cash-based annual incentive plan that applies the same Scorecard format used for senior
management. Personal objectives were developed for each employee based on 2008 corporate objectives and individual awards are determined
based on achievement of individual and corporate objectives. 

3 Long-term incentives
Long-term incentives in 2008 were granted under the Portfolio Share Plan. Details are also provided below on legacy incentive plans. No awards were
granted to Executive Directors or any other employee under these legacy plans in 2008; however, awards from grants in previous years continue to vest.

(a) The Portfolio Share Plan
The purpose of the Portfolio Share Plan (the ‘Plan’) is to enable the Group to motivate and reward selected employees by reference to share price
performance, and to align the interests of these employees with long-term value creation for shareholders. Participation in the Plan is discretionary. 

Under the Plan, awards granted to Executive Directors will be subject to a performance target, which must, in normal circumstances, be met before
the award vests. Performance targets will normally be measured over a period of not less than three years. Special rules apply if the participant’s
employment terminates early or on a change in control of the Group.

The Plan is comprised of two parts, which can be operated separately:

Part A
— A Stock Appreciation Right (‘SAR’) Award is the right to receive shares or American Depositary Shares (‘ADSs’) in Shire plc linked to the

increase in value of a specified number of shares over a period between three and five years from the date of grant and, in the case of Executive
Directors, subject to the satisfaction of performance targets. SAR Awards will normally vest three years after the date of grant, subject to 
the satisfaction of performance targets in the case of Executive Directors, and can be exercised up to the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

Part B
— A Performance Share (‘PSA’) Award is the right to receive a specified number of shares or ADSs three years from the date of grant. In the case

of Executive Directors, performance targets must be satisfied before a PSA Award vests. Upon vesting of the PSA Award, shares will be released
to the participant automatically without any action on the part of the participant.

The Plan contains individual grant limits set at a face value of six times base salary for SAR awards in any one year and four times base salary for PSA
awards in any one year. It is the Group’s intention for awards granted under the Plan to Executive Directors to comprise either or both a SAR Award
and a PSA Award. Ordinarily, it is the Group’s intention to provide annual grants to the CEO and CFO with face values (calculated by reference to the
average share price over the prior twelve month calendar period) as follows:
— for the CEO, equivalent to approximately four times base salary in SARs and three times base salary in PSAs; and
— for the CFO, equivalent to approximately 2.2 times base salary in SARs and 1.65 times base salary in PSAs. 
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Performance criteria 
Awards under the Plan normally vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant. In the case of Executive Directors, awards will only vest if the
Committee determines that the performance conditions have been satisfied and that, in the opinion of the Committee, the underlying performance 
of the Group is sufficient to justify the vesting of the award.

Performance criteria are based on relative Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) measured against two comparator groups. Vesting of one-third of 
an Award will depend upon the Group’s performance relative to the TSR performance of FTSE 100 constituents, excluding financial institutions. 
The vesting of the remaining two-thirds of an Award will depend upon the Group’s performance relative to the TSR performance of a group of
international companies from the pharmaceutical sector (see below). Vesting will be as follows:

Percent vesting Performance level achieved

0% Vesting Performance below the median versus the comparator companies and the FTSE 100
33% Vesting Performance at median versus the comparator companies and the FTSE 100
100% Vesting Performance at or above upper quartile performance versus the comparator companies and the FTSE 100

Performance between median and upper quartile versus the comparator companies and the FTSE 100 is calculated from 33% to 100% on a
straight-line basis.

For 2008, the comparator group of international companies from the pharmaceutical sector comprised the following companies:
Allergan, Inc. (‘Allergan’), Altana Aktiengesellschaft (‘Altana’), Biovail Corporation (‘Biovail’), Cephalon Inc. (‘Cephalon’), Forest Laboratories Inc. 
(‘Forest Labs’), King Pharmaceuticals Inc. (‘King’), Kos Pharmaceuticals Inc. (‘Kos’), H. Lundbeck A/S (‘Lundbeck’), Medicis Pharmaceutical
Corporation (‘Medicis’), Novo Nordisk A/S (‘Novo Nordisk’), Schering AG, Sepracor Inc. (‘Sepracor’), Merck Serono S.A. (‘Merck Serono’), 
UCB S.A. (‘UCB’), Valeant Pharmaceuticals International (‘Valeant’), and Watson Pharmaceuticals Inc. (‘Watson’).

The Committee has the discretion to amend this group of companies to ensure that the group stays both relevant and representative; however, 
the change must not have the effect of making the performance criteria either materially easier or materially more difficult to achieve, in the opinion
of the Committee, than they were immediately before the circumstance in question.

For the 2009 award, the Committee has decided that the comparator group will comprise the following international companies from the
pharmaceutical sector. These companies are aligned with competitors identified in the Group’s definition of the strategy in 2008 referred to in the
Financial review section of this Annual Report:
Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd, Amgen Inc., Biogen Idec Inc., BioMarin, Biovail, Celgene Corporation, Cephalon, Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc.,
Forest Labs, Genzyme, Gilead, Ipsen Ltd, King, Lundbeck, Novo Nordisk, UCB.

TSR performance will be measured using an averaging period of three months. In addition, the Committee will have regard to the same calculation
using an averaging period of six months as part of a fairness review to ensure that vesting properly reflects underlying performance.

If the performance conditions are not met, awards will lapse.

Awards made to Executive Directors under the Plan in 2008 are set out in the audited information below.

(b) Legacy long-term incentive plans
The three legacy long-term incentive plans in which some members of senior management participate include the Shire Pharmaceuticals Executive
Share Option Scheme, Shire 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme and the Long Term Incentive Plan. No awards have been granted under these
plans in 2008; however, awards from grants in previous years continue to vest.

Shire Pharmaceuticals Executive Share Option Scheme (‘Executive Scheme’)
The last options were granted under the Executive Scheme in 2000. The Executive Scheme was replaced by the Shire 2000 Executive Share Option
Scheme. 

Shire 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme (‘2000 Executive Scheme’) 
The last options were granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme in 2005. All options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme have vested, 
with the exception of those granted in 2000. The 2000 Executive Scheme was replaced by the Portfolio Share Plan in 2005.

Details of the performance conditions attached to options granted under the above schemes are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’)
The LTIP was adopted in 1998 and amended in 2000. The last awards were granted under this plan in 2005.

Performance tied to the vesting of the 2005 LTIP grants resulted in a vesting percentage of 88.54%. Awards will be satisfied by the transfer of shares
in May 2009. The awards for each of the Executive Directors are as follows:
— Matthew Emmens will receive 86,298 shares.
— Angus Russell will receive 55,972 shares.

Details of the performance condition attached to awards made under the LTIP are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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4 Share ownership guidelines
The Committee believes that Executive Directors and certain other members of senior management should be encouraged to own shares in Shire plc
in order to ensure the alignment of their interests with those of Shire plc’s shareholders. 

The Executive Share Ownership Guidelines are administered by the Committee and are based on the following principles:
— the Committee believes that share ownership is an important element of an executive’s role in leading the Group and represents both a commitment

by the executive as well as an alignment of the executive’s interests with those of shareholders;
— the Committee believes that share ownership by executives should be strongly encouraged, but not mandated;
— the Committee understands that, depending on personal and other circumstances, an executive may not be able to achieve the desired level 

of share ownership;
— the Committee believes that executives should understand the importance of share ownership in the stewardship of the Group, and both

appropriate time and latitude will be provided to executives to achieve desired share ownership levels, where possible; and
— share ownership levels will be reviewed annually for each executive.

Executives are encouraged, within a five-year period following the later of either the initiation of these guidelines, or their appointment or election, 
to attain and hold an investment position no less than the multiples of base salary set forth below.

The following are the guideline share ownership levels for the Executive Directors:
— CEO: 2 x base salary.
— CFO: 1.5 x base salary.

All shares beneficially owned by an executive (excluding unexercised vested Stock Options or SARs) count towards achieving these guidelines.

The Committee reviews share ownership levels for each executive on an annual basis. The Committee will discuss with each Executive Director their plans
for share ownership on a regular basis; the CEO will discuss with each of the remaining executives their plans for share ownership on a regular basis. 

5 Pension and other benefits
The Group’s policy is to ensure that pension benefits are competitive in the markets in which Shire operates. 

For Mr Emmens, who was based in the US, Shire contributed 30% of his annual salary to a Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (‘SERP’) and
401(k) Plan in the US. The SERP is an unfunded defined contribution scheme; the benefits are payable to certain senior US employees as lump
sums on leaving the Group’s employment or earlier due to death, disability or termination. The amount of benefit is based on the value of notional
contributions adjusted for ‘earned’ investment returns as if they were invested in investments of the employees’ choice.

In the UK, Shire operates a defined contribution scheme. The Group contributed 25% of salary towards pension benefits for Mr Russell during his
time as CFO and 30% during his time as CEO. The Group contributed 25% of salary towards pension benefits for Mr Hetherington for his time as
CFO. In addition to pension benefits, the Executive Directors receive certain benefits in kind, principally a car or car allowance, life insurance, private
medical insurance and dental cover. These benefits are not pensionable.

Service contracts
The Committee believes that Executive Directors’ service contracts should be for a rolling term and, for UK contracts, incorporate notice periods of
twelve months. The Committee also believes that the Group should retain the right to make a payment in lieu of notice to a Director. The contracts
contain obligations on the Executive Directors in respect of intellectual property, together with post-termination restrictions. The Committee’s view is
that, in the event of early termination, Executive Directors should be treated fairly but paid no more than is necessary. Moreover, there should be no
element of reward for failure. 

Mr Emmens was Chief Executive Officer of Shire until June 18, 2008 and then became Non-Executive Chairman. His terms of appointment are set
out in a letter dated June 11, 2008. Mr Emmens was entitled to receive his base salary and annual bonus for the period up to the date on which he
became Non-Executive Chairman but not other payments. As Chairman he is not entitled to bonus or to be granted further awards under Shire share
schemes. He continues to participate in the Group medical plan. 

Mr Russell’s contract is dated July 2, 2008. His previous contract was revised to reflect his new role as CEO and incorporated contract provisions
reflecting current best practice for Executive Directors’ contracts. Mr Hetherington’s contract is dated July 2, 2008. Mr Russell’s and Mr Hetherington’s
contracts require them to give Shire twelve months’ notice. Shire is required to give Mr Russell and Mr Hetherington twelve months’ notice of
termination, other than if termination is for cause.
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The contracts contain phased payment provisions which would entitle Shire to terminate an Executive Director’s employment and make a severance
payment not as a lump sum but in monthly instalments over the length of the notice period. These provisions allow the payments to be reduced, 
or eliminated entirely, by income obtained by the director from a new post.

In the event of termination of employment within twelve months of a change in control, the amount payable to Mr Russell and Mr Hetherington is one
year’s salary and the cash equivalent of one year’s pension, car and other contractual benefits. Any annual bonus payable is at the discretion of the
Committee and is capped at the contractual maximum level. 

The amount of annual bonus payable upon termination of employment in any other circumstances, other than for cause, is at the discretion of the
Committee and is capped at the contractual target level. 

Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman
Each Non-Executive Director is paid a fee for serving as a Director and additional fees are paid for membership or chairmanship of the Audit, Risk 
& Compliance, Remuneration, Nomination and Science & Technology Committees. The Chairman of the Group receives an inclusive fee. Fees 
are determined by the Executive Directors and the Chairman, with the exception of the Chairman’s fee which is determined by the Committee and
confirmed by the Board. Fees are benchmarked against Chairman and Non-Executive Director fees of comparable companies. The fees paid to
the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are not performance-related. Details of fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors in 2008
are set out in the table below.

The Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to join the Group’s pension scheme. Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any of the Group
share schemes or other employee benefit schemes and no options have been granted to Non-Executive Directors in their capacity as Non-Executive
Directors of Shire plc. 

Non-Executive Directors are appointed ordinarily for a term of two years, subject to shareholder approval. Non-Executive Directors who have served
on the Board for nine years or more are appointed for one-year terms and, in accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance, are
subject to annual re-election by shareholders. Re-appointment of Non-Executive Directors following the expiry of their term of appointment is subject
to Board approval. Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to compensation for loss of office.

Details of the unexpired terms of the letters of appointment and notice periods are as follows:

Date of Date of Notice
Director appointment term expiry period

Matthew Emmens 06.18.08 06.17.10 3 months
Dr Barry Price 01.25.09 01.24.10 3 months
David Kappler 04.05.08 04.04.10 3 months
Patrick Langlois 11.11.07 11.10.09 3 months
Kate Nealon 07.27.08 07.26.10 3 months
Dr Jeffrey Leiden 01.01.09 12.31.10 3 months
David Mott 10.31.07 10.30.09 3 months
Dr Michael Rosenblatt 04.24.08 04.23.10 3 months

The fee policy structure for Non-Executive Directors (‘NED’), effective January 1, 2008 and January 1, 2009 is presented in the table below:

2008 2009
Annual fees $ $

Board membership
Chairman of the Board (inclusive of all Committees) 546,989 630,428
Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (inclusive of NED fee) 120,523 152,972
Non-Executive Director 97,346 129,794

Committee membership
Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee Chair 37,084 37,084
Remuneration Committee Chair 23,178 23,178
Nomination Committee Chair 23,178 23,178
Science & Technology Committee Chair 23,178 23,178
Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee member 18,542 18,542
Remuneration Committee member 13,907 13,907
Nomination Committee member 9,271 9,271
Science & Technology Committee member 13,907 13,907

The fee policy structure was updated for 2009 to reflect a blended US/UK approach to benchmarking, consistent with that applied to the Executive
Directors. Base fees for Non-Executive Directors were increased to $129,794 and the fee for the Chairman of the Board was increased to $630,428;
Committee chair and membership fees remain unchanged. In addition, to recognize the travel required for Directors to attend meetings in Ireland or
the US, a $9,271 travel allowance was instituted for travel exceeding four hours. 
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Related party transactions 
Details of transactions relating to Dr James Cavanaugh are given in the Director’s report on page 41.

Performance graph
The graphs below set out the TSR for the three and five years ending December 31, 2008. The graphs compare the performance of a hypothetical
£100 holding of Shire plc’s shares with that of a holding of shares in the FTSE 100 index (excluding financial institutions) and with a holding in a 
group comprised of the following pharmaceutical companies: Allergan, Altana, Biovail, Cephalon, Forest Labs, King, Kos, Lundbeck, Medicis, Novo
Nordisk, Schering AG, Sepracor, Merck Serono, UCB, Valeant, Watson. This comparator group is a blend of US and UK companies with sector, 
size, complexity and international characteristics similar to those of the Group. The Group is a member of the FTSE 100 Index and consequently, 
for the purpose of the graphs which are set out below, we have selected the FTSE 100 Index (excluding financial institutions) as the appropriate index.
These comparisons will also be used to determine achievement of performance conditions relating to the Portfolio Share Plan.

Other remuneration 
The Group believes there are benefits to Executive Directors’ participation at the Board level at other companies, including cross-industry and cross-
company exposure and the added perspective of outside views. It is therefore the Group’s policy to allow Executive Directors to take up Non-Executive
positions at other companies and retain associated earnings, as long as such appointments are expressly permitted by the Board of Directors. 

Mr Emmens served as a Non-Executive Director of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Incyte Corporation during 2008. In this capacity he was paid
$68,298 and $32,500 respectively in 2008, which he retained. 

Mr Russell is a Non-Executive Director of The City of London Investment Trust plc (and its associated companies, The City of London European Trust
Limited, The City of London Investments Limited and The City of London Finance Company Limited). In this capacity, he was paid £23,000 ($42,647
equivalent) in 2008, which he retained.

Mr Hetherington was appointed as a Supervisory Board member of Jerini AG in 2008. Mr Hetherington has assigned all rights to fees due to Shire.

Audited information
Aggregate Directors’ remuneration 
The total amounts for Directors’ remuneration were as follows:

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Emoluments 6,609 6,846
Money purchase pension contributions 696 542
Gains on exercise of share options 304 4,442
Gains on maturity of LTIP Awards 2,530 — 

10,139 11,830
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Executive Directors’ emoluments
Pension 

Salary Incentive Cash benefits Benefits in kind Total contributions

Cash Deferred 
element share element

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Matthew Emmens(i)(ii)(iv) 625 1,156 583 1,334 330 750 137 421 — — 1,675 3,661 187 347

Angus Russell(iii)(v) 971 781 1,061 620 599 396 29 28 20 8 2,680 1,833 414 195

Graham Hetherington(iii)(v) 371 — 257 — 143 — 11 — 2 — 784 — 95 — 

(i) Paid in US dollars. 

(ii) Mr Emmens was paid a pro-rated bonus under his contract as CEO, which was based on his 2008 performance whilst CEO and represented
his final bonus as CEO prior to him standing down and becoming Chairman on June 18, 2008. 

(iii) Pound sterling salary and cash benefits translated into US dollars. 

(iv)Pension contributions were made to a SERP and 401(k) Plan in the US up to the date Mr Emmens stepped down as CEO.

(v) Pension contributions were made by the Group into defined contribution schemes.

Mr Emmens’ cash benefits include holiday pay, car allowance, executive financial planning and tax return preparation. Mr Russell’s and Mr Hetherington’s
cash benefits comprise car allowances. Benefits in kind consist of private medical insurance and tax return preparation.

Details of the exercise of share options are disclosed below.

Non-Executive Directors emoluments*
Fees

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

Dr James Cavanaugh(i)(ii) 265 530
Matthew Emmens(i)(iii) 292 — 
Dr Barry Price(ii) 107 136
Robin Buchanan(i)(iv) 65 109
David Kappler(ii) 167 165
Patrick Langlois(i) 130 129
Dr Jeffrey Leiden(i) 121 104
Kate Nealon(i) 139 125
David Mott(i) 117 16
Dr Michael Rosenblatt(i)(v) 67 — 
The Hon. James Grant(i)(vi) — 38

*Non-Executive Directors’ fees are to/from the date of retirement/appointment.

(i) Pound sterling fees and translated into US dollars.

(ii) Dr Cavanaugh retired on June 18, 2008.

(iii) Mr Emmens was appointed Chairman on June 18, 2008.

(iv) Mr Buchanan stepped down from the Board on July 29, 2008

(v) Dr Michael Rosenblatt was appointed a Non-Executive Director on April 24, 2008.

(vi) The Hon. James Grant stepped down from the Board on May 10, 2007. 
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Directors’ shareholdings
Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company are as follows (all interests are beneficial):

At December 31, At January 1, At December 31, At January 1,
2008: Number of 2007: Number of 2008: Number 2007: Number

Name of Director Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares of ADSs of ADSs

Matthew Emmens 39,434 2,212 5,670 5,670
Angus Russell 17,219 17,219 2,000 —
Graham Hetherington 4,000 — — —
Dr Barry Price 31,350 31,350 — —
David Kappler 10,000 10,000 — —
Patrick Langlois — — — —
Dr Jeffrey Leiden — — — —
Kate Nealon 2,251 2,251 — —
David Mott — — 20,000 —
Dr Michael Rosenblatt — — 385 —

Since December 31, 2008 Mr Mott acquired an additional 5,000 ADSs increasing his interest to 25,000 ADSs. There were no further changes 
to the Directors’ interests since December 31, 2008 and the date of this report.

Directors’ share options
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire Ordinary Shares in the Company granted
to or held by the Directors.

Directors have been granted options over Ordinary Shares under the Shire Pharmaceuticals Executive Share Option Scheme (Parts A and B)
(Executive Scheme), the Shire 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme (Parts A and B) (2000 Executive Scheme), the Shire Sharesave Scheme
(Sharesave Scheme) and the Shire Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Stock Purchase Plan).

Details of options over Ordinary Shares exercised during the year are as follows:
Exercise Market price Gains on

Number of price at exercise exercise
Director Scheme options £ date 2008

Matthew Emmens 2000 Executive Scheme B 17,279 3.683 9.01 171
10,432 5.26 9.01 73
9,511 5.585 9.01 60

Details of the options of Directors who served during the year are as follows:

Number of ADSs* Exercise dates

At At Exercise
January December price

Director Scheme 1, 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31, 2008 $ Earliest Latest

Matthew Emmens Stock Purchase Plan(iv)

166 — — 166 — 62.58 11.01.08 11.01.08

*One ADS is equal to three Ordinary Shares.
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Number of Ordinary Shares Exercise dates

At At Exercise
January December price

Director Scheme 1, 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31, 2008 £ Earliest Latest

Matthew Emmens 2000 Executive Scheme B(iii) 945,010 — 17,279 — 927,731 3.68 03.18.06 03.17.13
315,777 — 10,432 — 305,345 5.26 03.25.07 03.24.14
295,000 — 9,511 — 285,489 5.585 05.11.08 05.10.15

Stock Purchase Plan(iv) 713 — — 713 — 7.48 11.21.08 11.21.08

1,556,500 — 37,222 713 1,518,565

Angus Russell Executive Scheme A(i) 4,181 — — — 4,181 7.175 12.13.02 12.12.09

2000 Executive Scheme B(iii) 69,213 — — — 69,213 12.57 06.05.04 06.04.11
284,024 — — — 284,024 3.38 03.04.06 03.03.13
195,000 — — — 195,000 5.585 05.11.08 05.10.15

Sharesave(ii) 2,342 — — — 2,342 6.99 12.01.11 05.31.12

554,760 — — — 554,760

Graham
Hetherington Sharesave(ii) — 1,240 — — 1,240 7.74 12.01.11 05.31.12

(i) Options granted under this scheme are subject to performance criteria and cannot be exercised in full, unless Shire’s Ordinary Share price increases
at a compound rate of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period. If Shire’s share price increases at a compound
rate of 14.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period, 60% of the options may be exercised. If these conditions are not met
after the initial three years, they are thereafter tested quarterly by reference to share price growth over the extended period. If the share price does
not meet these conditions at any time, none of the options granted become exercisable. 

(ii) Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme are granted with an exercise price equal to 80% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations
are issued to employees. Employees may enter into three or five-year savings contracts. 

(iii) Options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme are exercisable subject to certain performance criteria. In respect of any option granted 
prior to August 2002, if Shire’s Ordinary Share price increases at a compound rate of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year
measurement period, the option becomes exercisable in full. If it increases by at least 14.5% per annum over the same three-year period, 60% 
of the options granted become exercisable. If these conditions are not met after the initial three-year measurement period, they will thereafter 
be tested quarterly by reference to compound annual share price growth over an extended period.

The performance criteria were reviewed in 2002 to ensure the criteria reflected the market in which Shire operates. Given Shire’s development, 
it was considered appropriate that an earnings per share-based measure should be adopted in place of share price growth targets. The
performance criteria are based on real growth in the diluted earnings per share reported in the Group’s Form 10-K under US GAAP, adjusted to
ensure a consistent basis of measurement, as approved by the Remuneration Committee, including the add-back of significant one-time items
(option EPS). Therefore, the performance criteria were amended so that an option would become exercisable in full if Shire plc’s option EPS 
growth over a three-year period from the date of award exceed the UK Retail Prices Index (RPI) for the following tranches of grants:

Options with a grant value of up to 100% of salary RPI plus 9% (Directors, RPI plus 15%)
Between 101% and 200% of salary RPI plus 15%
Between 201% and 300% of salary RPI plus 21%
Over 301% of salary RPI plus 27%

The RPI-based earnings per share performance criteria applied to options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme from August 2002. 
After consultation with certain institutional shareholders, the Group decided that, for options granted under the scheme from 2004 onwards, 
the performance condition will be retested once only, at five years after the grant, if Shire’s option EPS growth falls short of the minimum annual
average percentage increase over the three-year period from grant. Hence the level of option EPS growth in the next two years needs to be
consequentially higher to meet the test.

In December 2006 the Committee exercised its powers to amend the performance conditions for options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme
which had not vested. The RPI-based growth rate was replaced with an equivalent fixed growth rate based on historical and forecast inflation.

Under Part B of the scheme, six weeks prior to the expiration date, any options that have not become exercisable at an earlier date, automatically
vest without reference to the performance criteria.

(iv)Under the Stock Purchase Plan, options are granted with an exercise price equal to 85% of the fair market value of a share on the enrolment 
date (the first day of the offering period) or the exercise date (the last day of the offering period), whichever is the lower. Following approval by
shareholders at the AGM held on June 20, 2007 the 2007 Shire Employee Stock Purchase Plan was adopted on similar terms to the predecessor
plan save that participants agree to save for a period up to 27 months, rather than a fixed 27 months, as set by the Committee. The offering
period set for plan grants in 2008 was twelve months.
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Directors’ share awards
Details of the SARs granted under Part A and PSAs granted under Part B of the Portfolio Share Plan of Directors who served during the year are
as follows:

Number of ADSs* Exercise dates

Market price
At At at the date

January December of the award
Director Scheme 1, 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31, 2008 $ Earliest Latest

Matthew Emmens PSP part A 126,831 — — — 126,831 49.36 08.17.09 08.16.11
PSP part B 92,671 — — — 92,671 49.36 08.17.09 09.16.09
PSP part A 93,840 — — — 93,840 64.10 02.27.10 02.26.12
PSP part B 70,380 — — — 70,380 64.10 02.27.10 03.29.10
PSP part A 35,126 — — 35,126 58.51 03.28.11 03.27.13
PSP part B 26,345 — — 26,345 58.51 03.28.11 04.27.11

383,722 61,471 — — 445,193

*One ADS is equal to three Ordinary Shares.
Number of Ordinary Shares Exercise dates

Market price
At At at the date

January December of the award
Director Scheme 1, 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31, 2008 $ Earliest Latest

Angus Russell PSP part A 128,542 — — — 128,542 8.65 08.17.09 08.16.11
PSP part B 96,406 — — — 96,406 8.65 08.17.09 09.16.09
PSP part A 117,495 — — — 117,495 10.99 02.27.10 02.26.12
PSP part B 80,000 — — — 80,000 10.99 02.27.10 03.29.10
PSP part A 85,000 — — 85,000 9.97 02.22.11 02.21.13
PSP part B 60,000 — — 60,000 9.97 02.22.11 03.24.11
PSP part A 123,547 — — 123,547 8.13 06.18.11 06.17.13
PSP part B 96,410 — — 96,410 8.13 06.18.11 07.18.11

422,443 364,957 — — 787,400

Graham
Hetherington PSP part A 100,000 — — 100,000 8.675 08.01.11 07.31.13

PSP part B 75,000 — — 75,000 8.675 08.01.11 08.31.11

175,000 — — 175,000

Details of the Portfolio Share Plan and vesting criteria are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The market price of the Ordinary Shares at December 31, 2008 was £10.12 and the range during the year was £7.20 to £11.80. The market price 
of the ADSs at December 31, 2008 was $44.78 and the range during the year was $32.88 to $69.35.

Executive Annual Incentive Plan
Under the Executive Annual Incentive Plan, part of the executive’s annual incentive is delivered in the form of deferred Ordinary Shares or ADSs. The
deferred Ordinary Shares/ADSs are released on the third anniversary of the day on which the payment of the corresponding cash award was made. 

Details of deferred Ordinary Shares/ADSs of Directors who served during the year are as follows: 

Number of ADSs*
Number of ADSs

At conditionally Market price at At 
January awarded date of award December

Director 1, 2008 Date of award during 2008 $ 31, 2008

Matthew Emmens 11,534 — — — 11,534
— April 1, 2008 12,881 58.3524 12,881
— July 31, 2008 6,471(i) 50.9298 6,471

11,534 19,352 30,886

*One ADS is equal to three Ordinary Shares.

(i) Share-based element of Mr Emmens’ 2008 pro-rated bonus which was based on his 2008 performance whilst Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. The value of the ADS award is also disclosed in the Executive Directors’ Emoluments table above. 
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Directors’ remuneration report

Number of Ordinary Shares
Number of

Ordinary Shares
At awarded Market price at At

January conditionally date of award December
Director 1, 2008 Date of award during 2008 £ 31, 2008

Angus Russell 18,140 — — — 18,140
01.04.08 20,068 9.93 20,068

18,140 20,068 38,208

Long Term Incentive Plan(i)

Details of current and outstanding awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan of Directors who served during the year are as follows: 

Number of Number of Earliest date
At Ordinary Ordinary Value of award At on which an 

January Shares vested Shares lapsed at grant date December award can be
Director 1, 2008 Date of award during 2008 during 2008 $’000 31, 2008 transferred

Matthew Emmens 105,259 25.03.04 (75,408) (29,851) 1,032 — —
97,468 11.05.05 — — 1,025 97,468 05.11.09

202,727 (75,408) (29,851) 2,057 97,468

Angus Russell 65,059 25.03.04 (46,634) (18,425) 638 — —
63,217 11.05.05 — — 664 63,217 05.11.09

128,276 (46,634) (18,425) 1,302 63,217

(i) The performance criteria attaching to awards made under the Long Term Incentive Plan are detailed above.

Details of awards which vested during the year are as follows:

Number of Market price at Value at date
Ordinary Market price at date of release of release

Director Date of award shares vested date of award £ $’000(i)

Matthew Emmens 25.03.04 75,408 5.26 10.36 1,563
Angus Russell 25.03.04 46,634 5.26 10.36 967

(i) The Pound sterling value of the award has been translated into US dollars using the exchange rate of £1:$ 2.0012, being the exchange rate at the
close of business on the date of release.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on February 17, 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Kate Nealon
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

The Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. The Directors are also required to:
— properly select and apply accounting policies; and
— present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company. The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. 
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shire plc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Shire plc and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, comprehensive income/(loss), cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008 and the related Notes 1 to 37 (together, the ‘Financial Statements’). These Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ remuneration
report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Shire plc for the year ended December 31, 2008.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the Financial Statements are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance with relevant
legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (United Kingdom and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Shire plc and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of its operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the United Kingdom Companies Act 1985. We also report to 
you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Financial Statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information that would be specified by United Kingdom law were the Company incorporated in the United
Kingdom regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined Code
that would be specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority were the Company incorporated in the United Kingdom,
and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited Financial Statements. The other information comprises only the unaudited part of the Directors’ remuneration report, the Chairman’s review,
the Chief Executive Officer’s review, the Financial review and the Corporate Governance Statement We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Financial Statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (United Kingdom and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements and the part
of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors
in the preparation of the Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shire plc
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion: 
— the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Shire plc and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007,

and the results of its operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America;

— the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the United Kingdom Companies Act
1985; and

— the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Financial Statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
London, United Kingdom
February 27, 2009
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Consolidated balance sheets in millions of US dollars, except share data

December December
31, 2008 31, 2007

Notes $’M $’M 

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 218.2 762.5
Restricted cash 29.2 39.5
Accounts receivable, net 9 395.0 441.5
Inventories 10 154.5 174.1
Assets held-for-sale 11 16.6 10.6
Deferred tax asset 31 89.5 143.3
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12 141.4 125.3

Total current assets 1,044.4 1,696.8

Non-current assets:
Investments 13 42.9 110.2
Property, plant and equipment, net 14 534.2 368.6
Goodwill 15 350.8 219.4
Other intangible assets, net 16 1,824.9 1,764.5
Deferred tax asset 31 118.1 143.7
Other non-current assets 17 18.4 26.9

Total assets 3,933.7 4,330.1

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 18 708.6 674.2
Deferred tax liability 31 10.9 11.3
Liability to dissenting shareholders 24 — 480.2
Other current liabilities 19 104.3 96.5

Total current liabilities 823.8 1,262.2

Non-current liabilities:
Convertible Bonds 20 1,100.0 1,100.0
Other long-term debt 21 43.1 32.9
Deferred tax liability 31 377.0 332.4
Other non-current liabilities 22 291.3 375.6

Total liabilities 2,635.2 3,103.1

Commitments and contingencies 24

Minority interest 0.3 —

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock of 5 pence par value; 1,000.0 million shares authorized; 

and 560.2 million shares issued and outstanding (2007: 750.0 million 
shares authorized; and 556.8 million shares issued and outstanding) 25 55.5 55.2

Exchangeable shares: nil shares issued and outstanding (2007: 0.7 million) — 33.6
Treasury stock: 20.7 million shares (2007: 14.0 million shares) 25 (397.2) (280.8)
Additional paid-in capital 2,594.6 2,503.4
Accumulated other comprehensive income 97.0 55.7
Accumulated deficit (1,051.7) (1,140.1)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,298.2 1,227.0

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 3,933.7 4,330.1

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Graham Hetherington
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated statements of operations in millions of US dollars, except share and per share data

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, Notes $’M $’M $’M

Revenues:
Product sales 2,754.2 2,170.2 1,535.8
Royalties 245.5 247.2 242.9
Other revenues 22.5 18.9 17.8

Total revenues 3,022.2 2,436.3 1,796.5

Costs and expenses:
Cost of product sales(i) 2(w) 408.0 320.3 258.7
Research and development 2(w) 526.6 576.4 385.4
Selling, general and administrative(i) 2(w) 1,422.9 1,178.8 926.6
In-Process R&D charge 5 263.1 1,866.4 — 
Gain on sale of product rights 6 (20.7) (127.8) (63.0)
Integration costs 7 10.3 1.3 5.6

Total operating expenses 2,610.2 3,815.4 1,513.3

Operating income/(loss) 412.0 (1,379.1) 283.2
Interest income 25.5 50.6 50.5
Interest expense 28 (139.0) (70.8) (26.4)
Other (expense)/income, net 29 (32.9) 1.2 9.5

Total other (expense)/income, net (146.4) (19.0) 33.6

Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes,
minority interest and equity in earnings of equity method investees 265.6 (1,398.1) 316.8

Income taxes 31 (98.0) (55.5) (84.9)
Minority interest 3.6 — —
Equity in earnings of equity method investees, net of taxes 32 2.4 1.8 5.7

Income/(loss) from continuing operations 173.6 (1,451.8) 237.6
(Loss)/gain from discontinued operations (net of income tax 

expense of $nil, $nil and $nil respectively) 5,8 (17.6) — 40.6

Net income/(loss) 156.0 (1,451.8) 278.2

(i) Cost of product sales includes amortization of intangible assets relating to favorable manufacturing contracts of $1.7 million for the year to December
31, 2008 (2007: $1.2 million; 2006: $nil) and Selling, general and administrative (‘SG&A’) costs includes amortization of intangible assets relating to
intellectual property rights acquired of $223.3 million for the year to December 31, 2008 including impairments of intangible assets of $97.1 million
(2007: $95.0 million including impairments of intangible assets of $0.4 million; 2006: $57.4 million including impairments of intangible assets of $1.1
million).

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, Notes $’M $’M $’M

Earnings per share—basic 26
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 32.1¢ (268.7¢) 47.2¢
(Loss)/gain from discontinued operations (3.3¢) — 8.1¢

Earnings/(loss) per share—basic 28.8¢ (268.7¢) 55.3¢

Earnings per share—diluted 26
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 31.8¢ (268.7¢) 46.6¢
(Loss)/gain from discontinued operations (3.2¢) — 8.0¢

Earnings/(loss) per share—diluted 28.6¢ (268.7¢) 54.6¢

Weighted average number of shares (millions):
Basic 541.6 540.3 503.4
Diluted 545.4 540.3 509.3

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 69



70
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008
Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity in millions of US dollars except share data

Common Exchangeable Accumulated
stock shares Additional other Total 

Common number of Exchangeable number of Treasury paid-in comprehensive Retained shareholders’
stock shares shares shares stock capital income earnings equity

$’M M’s $’M M’s $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

As at December 31, 2005 42.7 495.7 101.2 2.2 (2.8) 1,327.5 71.5 107.2 1,647.3
Effect of Scheme of 

Arrangement (cancelation)(i) (42.7) — — — — (1,327.5) — — (1,370.2)
Effect of Scheme of 

Arrangement (issue)(i) 49.1 — — — — 1,321.1 — — 1,370.2

As at December 31, 2005
(re-stated) 49.1 495.7 101.2 2.2 (2.8) 1,321.1 71.5 107.2 1,647.3

Net income — — — — — — — 278.2 278.2
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — 18.1 — 18.1
Exchange of 

exchangeable shares 0.3 2.7 (41.8) (0.9) — 41.5 — — —
Options exercised 0.8 8.3 — — — 81.1 — — 81.9
Share-based compensation — — — — — 43.0 — — 43.0
Shares purchased by the 

Employee Share Ownership 
Trust (‘ESOT’) — — — — (92.0) — — — (92.0)

Unrealized holding loss on 
available-for-sale securities, 
net of taxes — — — — — — (2.1) — (2.1)

Other-than-temporary
impairment of available-
for-sale securities, 
net of taxes — — — — — — 0.3 — 0.3

Dividends — — — — — — — (32.4) (32.4)

As at December 31, 2006 50.2 506.7 59.4 1.3 (94.8) 1,486.7 87.8 353.0 1,942.3

(i) Net increase to common stock of $6.4 million as a result of court sanctioned Scheme of Arrangement, see Note 4 for further details.

Dividends per share
During the year to December 31, 2006 the Company paid dividends totaling 6.35 US¢ per Ordinary Share, equivalent to 19.06 US¢ per American
Depositary Share (‘ADS’), and 21.81 Canadian ¢ per exchangeable share. 

Common Exchangeable Accumulated
stock shares Additional other Total 

Common number of Exchangeable number of Treasury paid-in comprehensive (Accumulated shareholders’
stock shares shares shares stock capital income deficit) equity

$’M M’s $’M M’s $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

As at December 31, 2006 50.2 506.7 59.4 1.3 (94.8) 1,486.7 87.8 353.0 1,942.3
Net loss — — — — — — — (1,451.8) (1,451.8)
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — (15.5) — (15.5)
Shares issued, net of 

issue costs 4.3 42.8 — — — 873.0 — — 877.3
Exchange of 

exchangeable shares 0.1 1.7 (25.8) (0.6) — 25.7 — — —
Warrants exercise 0.2 1.3 — — — 12.8 — — 13.0
Options exercised 0.4 4.3 — — — 30.0 — — 30.4
Share-based compensation — — — — — 75.2 — — 75.2
Shares purchased by ESOT — — — — (186.0) — — — (186.0)
Unrealized holding loss on 

available-for-sale securities, 
net of taxes — — — — — — (19.5) — (19.5)

Realized gain on available-
for-sale securities, net of taxes — — — — — — (0.1) — (0.1)

Other-than-temporary impairment 
of available-for-sale securities, 
net of taxes — — — — — — 3.0 — 3.0

Dividends — — — — — — — (41.3) (41.3)

As at December 31, 2007 55.2 556.8 33.6 0.7 (280.8) 2,503.4 55.7 (1,140.1) 1,227.0

Dividends per share
During the year to December 31, 2007 the Group paid dividends totaling 7.39 US¢ per Ordinary Share, equivalent to 22.18 US¢ per ADS, and 
25.32 Canadian ¢ per exchangeable share. 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity (continued) in millions of US dollars except share data

Common Exchangeable Accumulated Retained
stock shares Additional other earnings/ Total 

Common number of Exchangeable number of Treasury paid-in comprehensive (Accumulated shareholders’
stock shares shares shares stock capital income deficit) equity

$’M M’s $’M M’s $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

As at December 31, 2007 55.2 556.8 33.6 0.7 (280.8) 2,503.4 55.7 (1,140.1) 1,227.0
Net income for the period — — — — — — — 156.0 156.0
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — 36.6 — 36.6
Exchange of 

exchangeable shares 0.2 2.3 (33.6) (0.7) — 33.4 — — —
Costs associated with 

shares issued through 
Scheme of Arrangement — — — — — (5.6) — — (5.6)
Options exercised 0.1 1.1 — — — 2.0 — — 2.1
Share-based compensation — — — — — 65.2 — — 65.2
Tax deficit associated with 

exercise of stock options — — — — — (3.8) — — (3.8)
Shares purchased by the ESOT — — — — (146.6) — — — (146.6)
Shares released by ESOT to 

satisfy exercise of stock options — — — — 30.2 — — (20.8) 9.4
Unrealized holding loss on 

available-for-sale securities, 
net of taxes — — — — — — (47.9) — (47.9)

Realized gain on available-
for-sale securities, net of taxes — — — — — — (5.4) — (5.4)

Other-than-temporary impairment 
of available-for-sale securities, 
net of taxes — — — — — — 58.0 — 58.0

Dividends — — — — — — — (46.8) (46.8)

As at December 31, 2008 55.5 560.2 — — (397.2) 2,594.6 97.0 (1,051.7) 1,298.2

Dividends per share
During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group paid dividends of 8.62 US¢ per Ordinary Share (equivalent to 25.85 US¢ per ADS), totaling $46.8 million. 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) in millions of US dollars

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Net income/(loss) 156.0 (1,451.8) 278.2
Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 36.6 (15.5) 18.1
Unrealized holding loss on available-for-sale securities, 

net of taxes of $nil (2007: $5.2 million; 2006: $nil) (47.9) (19.5) (2.1)
Other-than-temporary impairment of available-for-sale securities,

net of taxes of $nil (2007: $nil; 2006: $nil) 58.0 3.0 0.3
Realized gain on available-for-sale securities, 

net of taxes of $4.0 million (2007: $nil; 2006: $nil) (5.4) (0.1) —

Comprehensive income/(loss) 197.3 (1,483.9) 294.5

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:
December December

31, 2008 31, 2007
$’M $’M

Foreign currency translation adjustments 101.5 64.9
Unrealized holding loss on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes (4.5) (9.2)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 97.0 55.7

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of cash flows in millions of US dollars

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income/(loss) 156.0 (1,451.8) 278.2

Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Loss/(gain) from discontinued operations 17.6 — (40.6)
Depreciation and amortization 202.9 158.3 102.8
Amortization of deferred financing charges 5.0 11.9 —
Interest on building financing obligation 3.3 0.5 —
Share-based compensation 65.2 75.2 43.0
In-Process R&D charge 128.1 1,866.4 —
Impairment of intangible assets 97.1 0.4 1.1
Impairment of available-for-sale securities 58.0 3.0 0.3
Impairment of long-lived assets 2.2 1.8 3.5
Gain on sale of product rights (20.7) (127.8) (63.0)
(Gain)/loss on sale of long-lived assets (10.1) 0.3 (0.3)
Movement in deferred taxes 74.0 (25.4) (142.4)
Equity in earnings of equity method investees (2.4) (1.8) (5.7)
Minority interest (3.6) — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable 9.4 (120.7) 27.6
Increase in sales deduction accrual 84.3 24.1 24.8
Decrease/(increase) in inventory 36.4 (45.9) 7.2
Increase in prepayments and other current assets (9.6) (10.3) (6.2)
Decrease in other assets 3.6 1.2 0.7
(Decrease)/increase in accounts and notes payable and other liabilities (108.0) 103.5 297.0
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue 9.0 5.0 (1.9)
Returns on investments from joint ventures 7.1 6.8 5.8
Cash flows used in discontinued operations (4.7) — —

Net cash provided by operating activities(a) 800.1 474.7 531.9

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Movement in short-term investments — 55.8 6.9
Movements in restricted cash 10.3 (9.7) 0.7
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking, net of cash acquired (499.4) (2,519.6) (0.8)
Payment on settlement of TKT appraisal rights litigation (419.9) — —
Purchase of long-term investments (2.2) (63.2) (9.8)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (236.0) (110.4) (100.3)
Purchase of intangible assets (25.0) (59.0) (58.8)
Proceeds from sale of long-term investments 10.3 0.5 —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.8 0.8 0.9
Proceeds/deposits received from sale of product rights 5.0 234.4 63.4
Proceeds from loan repaid by ID Biomedical Corporation (‘IDB’) — — 70.6
Returns of equity investments 0.6 2.3 0.3

Net cash used in investing activities(b) (1,154.5) (2,468.1) (26.9)
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Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued) in millions of US dollars

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from drawings under bank facilities 190.0 1,300.0 —
Repayment of drawings under bank facilities (190.0) (1,300.0) —
Proceeds from issue of Shire plc 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 — 1,100.0 —
Redemption of 2% convertible loan notes due 2011 — — (0.1)
Redemption of New River 3.5% convertible note due 2013 — (279.4) —
Proceeds from exercise of New River purchased call option — 141.8 —
Payment of debt arrangement and issue costs — (32.8) —
Proceeds from building finance obligation 11.3 — —
Payment under building finance obligation (1.8) — —
Proceeds from exercise of options 11.4 30.4 81.9
(Costs)/proceeds from issue of common stock, net (5.6) 877.3 —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants — 13.0 —
Payments to acquire shares by ESOT (146.6) (186.0) (92.0)
Payment of dividend (46.8) (41.3) (32.4)

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities(c) (178.1) 1,623.0 (42.6)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents(d) (11.8) 6.0 8.0

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents(a)(b)(c)(d) (544.3) (364.4) 470.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 762.5 1,126.9 656.5

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 218.2 762.5 1,126.9

Supplemental information associated with continuing operations:
2008 2007 2006

Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Interest paid 191.3 25.8 1.8
Income taxes paid 117.0 33.5 5.6

Non-cash activities:
Building financing obligation — 32.3 —

Proceeds from product out licensing:
Equity in Avexa Limited (‘Avexa’). 5.0 2.9 —

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS

Shire plc (formerly Shire Limited) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as either ‘Shire’ or the ‘Group’) is a leading specialty biopharmaceutical
company that focuses on meeting the needs of the specialist physician. 

Historically, the Group has grown through acquisition, completing nine major mergers or acquisitions in a 14-year period from 1994 to 2008.
Divestments of non-core assets over the past four years have streamlined the Group’s operations. The Group will continue to evaluate companies,
products and project opportunities that offer a good strategic fit and enhance shareholder value in the future.

Shire focuses its business on attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (‘ADHD’), human genetic therapies (‘HGT’), and gastrointestinal (‘GI’)
diseases as well as opportunities in other therapeutic areas to the extent they arise through acquisitions. Shire’s in-licensing, merger and acquisition
efforts are focused on products in specialist markets with strong intellectual property protection and global rights. Shire believes that a carefully
selected and balanced portfolio of products with strategically aligned and relatively small-scale sales forces will deliver strong results.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Shire plc, all of its subsidiary undertakings and the Income Access
Share trust, after elimination of inter-company accounts and transactions. Minority interests in the net assets and earnings or losses of a consolidated
subsidiary are reflected in ‘Minority interest’ in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations. Minority interest adjusts the
Group’s consolidated results of operations to reflect only the Group’s share of the earnings or losses of the consolidated subsidiary.

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principles (‘US GAAP’).

The Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. See the Liquidity, cash flow and going
concern section of the Directors report for further details.

(b) Use of estimates in consolidated financial statements
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are
primarily made in relation to the valuation of intangible assets, the valuation of equity investments, sales deductions, income taxes and provisions
for litigation.

(c) Revenue recognition
The Group recognizes revenue when:
(i) there is persuasive evidence of an agreement or arrangement;
(ii) delivery of products has occurred or services have been rendered;
(iii) the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and
(iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

Where applicable, all revenues are stated net of value added tax and similar taxes, and trade discounts. 

No revenue is recognized for consideration, the value or receipt of which is dependent on future events or future performance.

The Group’s principal revenue streams and their respective accounting treatments are discussed below:

Product sales
Revenue for the sales of products is recognized upon shipment to customers or at the time of delivery to the customer depending on the terms of
sale. Provisions for rebates, product returns and discounts to customers are provided for as reductions to revenue in the same period as the related
sales are recorded. The Group monitors and tracks the amount of sales deductions based on historical experience to estimate the amount of
reduction to revenue.

Royalty income
Royalty income relating to licensed technology is recognized when the licensee sells the underlying product. The Group receives sales information
from the licensee on a monthly basis. For any period that the information is not available, the Group estimates sales amounts based on the historical
product information.

Licensing and development fees
Licensing and development fees represent revenues derived from product out-licensing agreements and from contract research and development
agreements.

Initial license fees received in connection with product out-licensing agreements, even where such fees are non-refundable and not creditable against
future royalty payments, are deferred and recognized over the period of the license term, or the period of the associated collaborative assistance 
if that period is reasonably estimable. In circumstances where initial license fees are not for a defined period, revenues are deferred until the period 
of associated collaborative assistance is either reasonably estimable or any performance obligations are inconsequential: thereafter revenues are
deferred and recognized over the period to the expiration of the relevant patent to which the license relates.

Revenue from contract research and development agreements is recognized as the services are performed.
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Milestones
During the term of certain research and development agreements and licensing agreements, the Group receives non-refundable milestones as certain
technical and regulatory targets are achieved. Revenues are recognized either on achievement of such milestones or over the relevant performance
period if the Group has substantive performance obligations.

The Group also receives non-refundable clinical milestones when certain targets are achieved during the clinical phases of development, such as the
submission of clinical data to a regulatory authority. These clinical milestones are either recognized when receivable (i.e. on completion of the relevant
phase) or over the relevant performance period if the Group has substantive performance obligations. If milestone payments are creditable against
future royalty payments, the milestones are deferred and released over the period in which the royalties are anticipated to be paid.

(d) Sales deductions 
(i) Rebates
Rebates primarily consist of statutory rebates to state Medicaid agencies and contractual rebates with health-maintenance organizations. These
rebates are based on price differentials between a base price and the selling price. As a result, rebates generally increase as a percentage of the
selling price over the life of the product (as prices increase). Provisions for rebates are recorded as reductions to revenue in the same period as the
related sales are recorded, with estimates of future utilization derived from historical trends.

(ii) Returns
The Group estimates the proportion of recorded revenue that will result in a return, based on historical trends and when applicable, specific factors
affecting certain products at the balance sheet date. The accrual is recorded as a reduction to revenue in the same period as the related sales are
recorded. 

(iii) Coupons 
The Group uses coupons as a form of sales incentive. An accrual is established based on the Group’s expectation of the level of coupon redemption,
using historical trends. The accrual is recorded as a reduction to revenue in the same period as the related sales are recorded.

(iv) Discounts
The Group offers cash discounts to customers for the early payment of receivables. Those discounts are recorded as reductions to revenue and
accounts receivable in the same period that the related sale is recorded.

(v) Wholesaler chargebacks
The Group has contractual agreements whereby it supplies certain products to third-parties at predetermined prices. Wholesalers acting as
intermediaries in these transactions are re-imbursed by the Group if the predetermined prices are less than the prices paid by the wholesaler to the
Group. Accruals for wholesaler chargebacks, which are based on historical trends, are recorded as reductions to revenue in the same period as the
related sales are recorded.

(e) Cost of product sales
Cost of product sales includes the cost of purchasing finished product for sale, the cost of raw materials and manufacturing for those products that 
are manufactured by the Group, shipping and handling costs, depreciation and amortization of intangible assets in respect of favorable manufacturing
contracts. Royalties that are payable on those products that the Group does not own the rights to are also included in Cost of product sales.

(f) Leased assets
The costs of operating leases are charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term, even if rental payments are not made on such a basis.

Assets acquired under capital leases are included in the balance sheet as property, plant and equipment and are depreciated over the shorter of the
period of the lease or their useful lives. The capital elements of future lease payments are recorded as liabilities, while the interest element is charged 
to operations over the period of the lease to produce a level yield on the balance of the capital lease obligation.

(g) Advertising expense
The Group expenses the cost of advertising as incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $134.5 million, $92.3 million, and $91.6 million for the years 
to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 respectively and were included within Selling, general and administrative expenses.

(h) Research and Development (‘R&D’) expense
R&D costs are expensed as incurred. Upfront and milestone payments made to third-parties for products that have not yet received marketing
approval and for which no alternative future use has been identified are also expensed as incurred.

Milestone payments made to third-parties subsequent to regulatory approval are capitalized as intangible assets, and amortized over the remaining
useful life of the related product.
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(i) Valuation and impairment of long-lived assets other than goodwill and investments
The Group evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets other than goodwill and investments for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable. When such a determination is made, management’s estimate
of undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the use and ultimate disposition of these assets is compared to the carrying value of the assets to
determine whether an impairment is indicated. If an impairment loss is indicated, the amount of the impairment recognized in the consolidated financial
statements is determined by estimating the fair value of the assets and recording a loss for the amount that the carrying value exceeds the estimated
fair value. This fair value is usually determined based on estimated discounted cash flows.

(j) Finance costs of debt
Finance costs of debt are recorded as a deferred cost and amortized to the statement of operations over the period to the earliest redemption date 
of the debt, using the effective interest rate method. On extinguishment of the related debt, any unamortized deferred financing costs are written-off
and charged to interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

(k) Foreign currency
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction. Transaction gains and losses, other than those related to current and deferred tax assets and liabilities, are recognized in arriving 
at income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interests, equity in earnings of equity method investees and discontinued
operations. Transaction gains and losses arising on foreign currency denominated current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are included within
income taxes in the statement of operations.

The results of operations for affiliates, whose functional currency is not the US dollar, are translated into the US dollar at the average rates of exchange
during the period, with the balance sheets translated at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The cumulative effect of exchange rate movements 
is included in a separate component of other comprehensive income.

Foreign currency exchange transaction gains and losses included in consolidated net income/(loss) in the years to December 31, 2008, 2007, and
2006, amounted to a $4.6 million gain, $4.4 million gain and $3.2 million gain, respectively.

(l) Income taxes
The Group provides for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘SFAS’) No.109, ‘Accounting for Income 
Taxes’ (‘SFAS No. 109’) and Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘FASB’) Interpretation No. 48, ‘Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—
an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109’ (‘FIN 48’).

Uncertain tax positions are recognized in the consolidated financial statements for positions which are considered more likely than not of being
sustained based on the technical merits of the position on audit by the tax authorities. The measurement of the tax benefit recognized in the
consolidated financial statements is based upon the largest amount of tax benefit that, in management’s judgment, is greater than 50% likely 
of being realized based on a cumulative probability assessment of the possible outcomes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in future taxable or deductible amounts. The deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using the enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. 

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all 
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Group recognizes interest relating to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties within income taxes.

(m) Earnings per share
Earnings per share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, ‘Earnings per Share’ (‘SFAS No. 128’). Basic earnings per share is based upon
net income/(loss) available to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share is based upon net income/(loss) available to ordinary shareholders (adjusted for the impact of interest expense on
convertible debt on an ‘if-converted’ basis) divided by the weighted average number of Ordinary Share equivalents outstanding during the period,
adjusted for the effect of all dilutive potential Ordinary Shares that were outstanding during the year. Such potentially dilutive shares are excluded
when the effect would be to increase earnings per share or reduce a loss per share. 
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(n) Share-based compensation
Share-based compensation represents the cost of share-based awards granted to employees. The Group measures share-based compensation cost
for awards classified as equity at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award, and recognizes the cost as an expense on a straight-
line basis (net of estimated forfeitures) over the employee requisite service period. The Group estimates the fair value of share-based awards without
market-based performance conditions using a Black-Scholes valuation model and awards with market-based performance conditions are valued using
a binomial valuation model. The following assumptions were used to value share-based awards:
— Risk-free interest rate—for awards granted over ADSs, the US Federal Reserve treasury constant maturities rate with a term consistent with 

the expected life of the award is used. For awards granted over Ordinary Shares, the yield on UK government bonds with a term consistent with
the expected life of the award is used;

— Expected dividend yield—measured as the average annualised dividend estimated to be paid by the Group over the expected life of the award 
as a percentage of the share price at the grant date;

— Expected life—the average of the vesting period and the expiration period from the date of issue of the award; and
— Weighted average expected volatility—measured using historical daily price changes of the Group’s share price over the respective expected life 

of the share-based awards at the date of the award.

The forfeiture rate is estimated using historical trends of the number of awards forfeited prior to vesting.

The expense is recorded in Cost of product sales; R&D; and SG&A in the statement of operations based on the employees’ respective functions.

The Group records deferred tax assets for awards that result in deductions on the Group’s income tax returns, based on the amount of compensation
cost recognized and the Group’s statutory tax rate in the jurisdiction in which it will receive a deduction. Differences between the deferred tax assets
recognized for financial reporting purposes and the actual tax deduction reported on the Group’s income tax return are recorded in additional paid-in
capital (if the tax deduction exceeds the deferred tax asset) or in the statement of operations (if the deferred tax asset exceeds the tax deduction and
no additional paid-in capital exists from previous awards).

At December 31, 2008 the Group had seven share-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 33.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less. 

(p) Financial instruments—derivatives 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange risk associated with third-party and inter-company loan
transactions. These instruments consist of swap and forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group has not elected to apply hedge accounting for
these instruments and accordingly the movements in the fair values of these instruments are recognized in the statement of operations. The fair values
of these instruments are included on the balance sheet in current assets/liabilities and the cash flows relating to these instruments are presented within
Net cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(q) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (including manufacturing overheads, where appropriate) or market. Cost incurred in bringing each product 
to its present location and condition is based on purchase costs calculated on a first-in, first-out basis, including transportation costs. 

Inventories include costs relating to both marketed products and certain products prior to regulatory approval. Inventories are capitalized prior to
regulatory approval if the Group considers that it is probable that the FDA or another regulatory body will grant commercial and manufacturing approval
for the relevant product, and it is probable that the value of capitalized inventories will be recovered through commercial sale.

Inventories are written-down for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and
estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those
anticipated, inventory adjustments may be required. 

(r) Assets held-for-sale
An asset is classified as held-for-sale when, amongst other things, the Group has committed to a plan of disposition, the asset is available for
immediate sale, and the plan is not expected to change significantly. Assets held-for-sale are carried at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value
less cost to sell.

Assets acquired in a business combination that will be sold rather than held and used are classified as held-for sale at the date of acquisition when it is
probable that the Group will dispose of the assets within one year. Newly acquired assets held-for-sale are carried at their fair value less cost to sell at
the acquisition date. The Group does not record depreciation or amortization on assets classified as held-for-sale.
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(s) Investments
The Group has certain investments in pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

Investments are accounted for using the equity method of accounting if the investment gives the Group the ability to exercise significant influence, but 
not control over, the investee. Significant influence is generally deemed to exist if the Group has an ownership interest in the voting stock of the investee
between 20% and 50%, although other factors, such as representation on the investee’s Board of Directors and the nature of commercial arrangements,
are considered in determining whether the equity method of accounting is appropriate. Under the equity method of accounting, the Group records its
investments in equity-method investees in the consolidated balance sheet under Investments and its share of the investees’ earnings or losses together
with other-than-temporary impairments in value under Equity in earnings of equity method investees in the consolidated statement of operations.

All other equity investments, which consist of investments for which the Group does not have the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted
for under the cost method or at fair value. Investments in private companies are carried at cost, less provisions for other-than-temporary impairment in
value. For public companies that have readily determinable fair values, the Group classifies its equity investments as available-for-sale and, accordingly,
records these investments at their fair values with unrealized holding gains and losses included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income/(loss), net of any related tax effect. Realized gains and losses and declines in value of available-for-sale securities judged to be other-than-
temporary are included in Other (expense)/income, net (see Note 29). The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest
and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included as interest income.

(t) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is shown at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of significant assets includes
capitalized interest incurred during the construction period. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to write-off the cost less
estimated residual value of each asset over its estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings 15 to 50 years
Office furniture, fittings and equipment 3 to 10 years
Warehouse, laboratory and manufacturing equipment 3 to 10 years

The cost of land is not depreciated. Assets under the course of construction are not depreciated until the relevant assets are available and ready 
for their intended use.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the statement of operations as incurred. The costs of major renewals and improvements
are capitalized. At the time property, plant and equipment is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated
from the asset and accumulated depreciation accounts. The profit or loss on such disposition is reflected in operating income/(loss).

(u) Goodwill and other intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
In a business combination, goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities acquired. An excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of acquisition is, in accordance with SFAS No.
141, ‘Accounting for Business Combinations’ (‘SFAS No. 141’) allocated as a pro-rata reduction of amounts that would otherwise have been ascribed 
to identifiable intangible assets and In-Process R&D (‘IPR&D’), (such IPR&D being immediately charged to expense, having no alternative future use).

Goodwill is not amortized to operations, but instead is reviewed for impairment, at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Some factors the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment review include
the following: (i) significant under-performance of a reporting unit relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; (ii) significant
changes in the manner of the Group’s use of acquired assets or the strategy for the overall business; and (iii) significant negative industry trends.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142 ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’ (‘SFAS No. 142’), goodwill is reviewed for impairment by comparing the
carrying value of each reporting unit’s net assets (including allocated goodwill) to the fair value of those net assets. If the reporting unit’s carrying
amount is greater than its fair value, then a second step is performed whereby the portion of the fair value that relates to the reporting unit’s goodwill
is compared to the carrying value of that goodwill. The Group recognizes a goodwill impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying value of
goodwill exceeds the fair value. The Group has determined that there are no impairment losses in respect of goodwill for any of the reporting periods
covered by these consolidated financial statements.
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(ii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, which principally comprise intellectual property including trademarks for products with a defined revenue stream, are recorded
at cost and amortized over the estimated useful life of the related product, which ranges from 5 to 35 years (weighted average 18 years). Intellectual
property with no defined revenue stream, where the related product has not yet completed the necessary approval process and has no alternative
future use, is written-off to the statement of operations on acquisition.

The following factors are considered in estimating the useful lives of other intangible assets:
— expected use of the asset;
— regulatory, legal or contractual provisions, including the regulatory approval and review process, patent issues and actions by government agencies;
— the effects of obsolescence, changes in demand, competing products and other economic factors, including the stability of the market, known

technological advances, development of competing drugs that are more effective clinically or economically; and
— actions of competitors, suppliers, regulatory agencies or others that may eliminate current competitive advantages.

When a number of factors apply to an intangible asset, these factors are considered in combination when determining useful life.

(v) Non-monetary transactions 
The Group enters into certain non-monetary transactions that involve either the granting of a license over the Group’s patents or the disposal of an
asset or group of assets in exchange for a non-monetary asset, usually equity. The Group accounts for these transactions at fair value if the Group 
is able to determine the fair value within reasonable limits. To the extent that the Group concludes that it is unable to determine the fair value of a
transaction, that transaction is accounted for at the recorded amounts of the assets exchanged. Management is required to exercise its judgment 
in determining whether or not the fair value of the asset received or that given up can be determined.

(w) Re-classifications
For the year to December 31, 2007 depreciation of $17.2 million was re-classified from SG&A costs to Cost of product sales ($7.4 million) and R&D
($9.8 million). For the year to December 31, 2006 depreciation of $9.5 million was re-classified from SG&A costs to Cost of product sale ($4.6 million)
and R&D costs ($4.9 million).

(x) New accounting pronouncements
Adopted during the period
SFAS No. 162
In May 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, ‘The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles’ (‘SFAS No. 162’). SFAS No. 162 identifies
the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements under US
GAAP. SFAS No. 162 became effective 60 days following the SEC’s approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to
AU Section 411, ‘The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles’ on September 16, 2008. The adoption
of SFAS No. 162 did not have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 157
On January 1, 2008 the Group adopted SFAS No. 157, ‘Fair Value Measurements’ (‘SFAS No. 157’) for financial assets and liabilities, which provides a
single definition of fair value, establishes a framework for the measurement of fair value and expands disclosure about the use of fair value to measure
assets and liabilities. The adoption of SFAS No. 157 for financial assets and liabilities did not have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as at January 1, 2008.

SFAS No. 159
On January 1, 2008 the Group adopted SFAS No. 159, ‘The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment
of FASB Statement No. 115’ (‘SFAS No. 159’). This standard permits an entity to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. The unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be reported in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. The fair value option: (a) may be applied instrument by instrument, with a few exceptions, such as investments otherwise
accounted for by the equity method; (b) is irrevocable (unless a new election date occurs); and (c) is applied only to entire instruments and not to
portions of instruments. The Group did not elect to fair value any items on adoption, therefore the adoption of SFAS No. 159 did not have an impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

EITF 07-3
In June 2007 the Emerging Issues Task Force (‘EITF’) reached a consensus regarding EITF 07-3, ‘Accounting for Non-refundable Advance Payments
for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities’ (‘EITF 07-3’). The scope of this Issue is limited to non-refundable
advance payments for goods and services to be used or rendered in future research and development activities. The EITF concluded that non-
refundable advance payments for future research and development activities should be deferred and capitalized on the balance sheet. Such amounts
should be recognized as an expense as the related goods are delivered or the related services are performed. Entities should continue to evaluate
whether they expect the goods to be delivered or services to be rendered. If an entity does not expect the goods to be delivered or services to be
rendered, the capitalized advance payment should be charged to expense. On January 1, 2008 the Group adopted EITF 07-3. The adoption of EITF
07-3 had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at January 1, 2008.
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To be adopted in future periods
EITF 07-5
In June 2008 the FASB issued EITF 07-5 ‘Determining whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) is indexed to an Entity’s Own Stock’ (‘EITF No.
07-5’). EITF 07-5 is effective for consolidated financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. Early application is not permitted. Paragraph 11(a) of SFAS No. 133 ‘Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities’ (‘SFAS 133’)
specifies that a contract that would otherwise meet the definition of a derivative but is both (a) indexed to the Group’s own stock and (b) classified in
stockholders’ equity in the statement of financial position would not be considered a derivative financial instrument. EITF 07-5 provides a new two-step
model to be applied in determining whether a financial instrument or an embedded feature is indexed to an issuer’s own stock and thus able to qualify
for the SFAS No. 133 paragraph 11(a) scope exception. The Group does not expect the adoption of EITF 07-5 to have an impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

FASB Staff Position (‘FSP’) No. APB 14-1
In May 2008 the FASB issued FSP No. APB 14-1, ‘Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion
(Including Partial Cash Settlement)’ (‘FSP No. APB 14-1’). This FSP clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon
conversion (including partial cash settlement) do not fall within the scope of paragraph twelve of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 14,
‘Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants’ (‘APB 14’). It requires issuers of such instruments to separately
account for the liability and equity components of those instruments by allocating the proceeds from issuance of the instrument between the liability
component and the embedded conversion option (i.e., the equity component). FSP No. APB 14-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008 and for interim periods within those fiscal years. It is required to be applied retrospectively to convertible debt instruments that
are within the scope of the guidance and were outstanding during any period presented in the financial statements. A cumulative effect adjustment
must be recognized as of the beginning of the first period presented. Early adoption of the guidance is not permitted. The Group does not expect 
the adoption of FSP No. APB 14-1 to have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

FSP No. FAS 142-3
In April 2008 the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3, ‘Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets’ (‘FSP No. FAS 142-3’). This FSP amends 
the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible
asset under FASB Statement No. 142, ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’ (‘SFAS No. 142’). The intent of FSP No. FAS 142-3 is to improve the
consistency between the useful life of an intangible asset determined under SFAS No. 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to measure
the fair value of the asset under FASB Statement No. 141, ‘Business Combinations’, (‘SFAS No. 141’). FSP No. FAS 142-3 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is prohibited. 
The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of FSP No. FAS 142-3.

SFAS No. 161
In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, ‘Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—an amendment of FASB 
No. 133’ (‘SFAS No. 161’). SFAS No. 161 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities and thereby improves 
the transparency of financial reporting. SFAS No. 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning 
after November 15, 2008 with early application encouraged. This Statement encourages, but does not require, comparative disclosures for earlier
periods at initial adoption. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 161.

FSP No. FAS 157-2
In February 2008 the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 157-2, ‘Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157’ (‘FSP No. FAS 157-2’). This FSP delays the
effective date of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value 
in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). SFAS No. 157 will therefore be applicable to non-financial assets and liabilities 
for the Group’s fiscal year commencing January 1, 2009. The Group does not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have an impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

EITF 07-1
In December 2007 the EITF reached a consensus regarding EITF 07-1, ‘Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements’ (‘EITF 07-1’). The objective of 
this EITF 07-1 is to define collaborative arrangements and to establish reporting requirements for transactions between participants in a collaborative
arrangement and between participants in the arrangement and third-parties. EITF 07-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. EITF 07-1 shall be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented
for all collaborative arrangements existing as of the effective date. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of EITF 07-1.

SFAS No. 160
In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, ‘Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—An Amendment of ARB No. 51’
(‘SFAS No. 160’). SFAS No. 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for the 
de-consolidation of a subsidiary. Specifically, this statement requires the recognition of a non-controlling interest (minority interest) as equity in the
consolidated financial statements, separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the non-controlling interest will be
included in consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. SFAS No. 160 also includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding
the interests of the parent and its non-controlling interest. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2008. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 160.
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SFAS No. 141(R)
In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (Revised 2007), ‘Business Combinations’ (‘SFAS No. 141(R)’). SFAS No. 141(R) will significantly
change the accounting for business combinations. Under SFAS No. 141(R), an acquiring entity will be required to recognize all the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions. It also amends the accounting treatment for certain
specific items including acquisition costs and non-controlling minority interests and includes a substantial number of new disclosure requirements.
SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after December 15, 2008. The Group is
currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 141(R).

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in conformity with US GAAP and SEC regulations, requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Estimates and assumptions are primarily made in relation to the valuation of intangible assets, the valuation of equity investments, sales
deductions, income taxes and provisions for litigation.

(i) Valuation of intangible assets
(a) General
The Group has acquired and continues to acquire significant intangible assets, recorded at acquisition cost. At December 31, 2008, the carrying value
of such intangibles was $1,824.9 million, which primarily related to the Group’s DAYTRANA ($130.1 million), FIRAZYR ($280.4 million), FOSRENOL
($22.9 million), PENTASA ($71.8 million), REMINYL ($13.9 million), REPLAGAL ($298.9 million), VYVANSE ($988.5 million) and XAGRID ($10.5 million)
products. Those assets which do not yet have a defined revenue stream and for which there is no alternative future use are expensed upon acquisition,
and those that do have a defined revenue stream (namely commercial products or rights to products awaiting final regulatory approval) are capitalized
and amortized over their estimated useful life.

Whenever events or circumstances suggest that the carrying value of intangible assets may not be recoverable, the Group reviews the intangible asset
for impairment using an undiscounted net cash flow approach. If the undiscounted cash flows resulting from the use and ultimate disposition of the
intangible asset is less than its carrying value, the intangible asset is written-down to its fair value, based on estimated discounted cash flows. When
cash flows cannot be identified for an individual asset, the impairment review is applied at the lowest level for which cash flows are identifiable.

The events or circumstances that may suggest that its intangible assets may not be recoverable, and which would lead to the Group evaluating 
its intangible assets for impairment, include the following:
— any change to the commercialization strategy in respect of a product;
— the loss of patent protection or challenge or circumvention by competitors of the Group’s patents;
— the development and marketing of competitive products, including generic entrants into the marketplace;
— any changes to the product labels, or other regulatory intervention;
— sustained government pressure on prices and, specifically, competitive pricing; 
— the occurrence of significant adverse events in respect to the Group’s products; and
— a significant deterioration in a product’s operating performance compared to expectations.

The occurrence of any such events, combined with changes in interest rates, could adversely affect Shire’s valuation of the estimated future net cash
flows generated by its long-lived assets. Following the identification of such events and the resultant impairment review, the Group recognized impairment
charges of $97.1 million in respect to its intangible assets in the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: $0.4 million, 2006: $1.1 million), of which $94.6 million
related to DYNEPO which the Group has decided to stop commercializing. Dependent on the occurrence of future events or circumstances, the Group’s
operating results could be materially and adversely affected by impairment charges related to the recoverability of its long-lived assets.

Management’s estimate of the useful life of its intangible assets considers, inter alia, the following factors: the expected use of the asset by the Group;
any legal, regulatory, or contractual provisions that may limit the useful life and the effects of demand; competition, including the launch of generic
products; and other economic factors (such as the stability of the industry, known technological advances, legislative action that results in an uncertain
or changing regulatory environment, and expected changes in distribution channels).

The Group reviews the useful life of its intangible assets subject to amortization at each reporting period, and revises its estimate of useful life if events
or circumstances warrant. In the year to December 31, 2005 the Group decreased the estimated life of a product, which resulted in an additional
amortization charge of $5.9 million in each of the years to December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. Any future changes to the useful life of the Group’s
intangible assets could result in additional or lesser amortization expense in future periods which could materially affect operating results.

(b) Intangible assets acquired through business combinations
The fair values of all of the identifiable intangible assets acquired through business combinations, (primarily the acquisitions of TKT in 2005, New River 
in 2007 and the acquisition of more than a 98% interest in Jerini in 2008) have been determined using an income approach on a project-by-project
basis using the multi-period excess earnings method. This method starts with a forecast of all of the expected future net cash flows either generated 
or saved as a result of ownership of the intellectual property, the customer relationships and the other intangible assets. These cash flows are then
adjusted to present value by applying an appropriate discount rate that reflects the risk factors associated with the cash flow streams (to the extent the
underlying cash flows have not similarly been risk adjusted).
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The forecast of future cash flows requires various assumptions to be made, including:
— revenue that is reasonably likely to result from the sale of products including the estimated number of units to be sold, estimated selling prices,

estimated market penetration and estimated market share and year-over-year growth rates over the product life cycles;
— royalty or license fees saved by owning the intellectual property associated with the products;
— cost of sales for the products using historical data, industry data or other sources of market data;
— sales and marketing expense using historical data, industry data or other sources of market data;
— general and administrative expenses;
— research and development expenses;
— the estimated life of the products; and
— the tax amortization benefit available to a market participant purchasing the assets piecemeal.

The valuations are based on information at the time of the acquisition and the expectations and assumptions that (i) have been deemed reasonable 
by the Group’s management and (ii) are based on information, expectations and assumptions that would be available to and made by a market
participant. No assurance can be given, however, that the underlying assumptions or events associated with such assets will occur as projected. 
For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecasts of future cash flows.

(c) Valuation of IPR&D acquired through business combinations
IPR&D is defined by FIN 4 as being a development project that has been initiated and achieved material progress but (i) has not yet reached
technological feasibility or has not yet reached the appropriate regulatory approval, (ii) has no alternative future use, and (iii) the fair value is estimable
with reasonable certainty. 

As required by FIN 4, the portion of the purchase price ascribed to IPR&D has been immediately expensed to the Statement of Operations in the
year of the acquisition. The Group has expensed as IPR&D the following amounts in respect of its significant business combinations: $128.1 million
on acquisition of a majority voting interest in Jerini in 2008; $1,866 million on acquisition of New River in 2007; and $815 million on acquisition 
of TKT in 2005. Significant IPR&D projects expensed to income include FIRAZYR for the treatment of acute HAE in the US and the rest of the world
(excluding the US and EU) for the Jerini acquisition; VYVANSE indicated for ADHD in non-pediatric patients in the US and VYVANSE indicated for
ADHD in the rest of the world on acquisition of New River. In the year to December 31, 2008 the Group also expensed IPR&D totaling $135 million 
for the acquisition of METAZYM from Zymenex.

In the identification of intangible assets, consideration is given to whether any technology that is identified is developed or in-process. In making this
determination the Group considers the factors in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid ‘Assets Acquired in a Business
Combination to Be Used in Research and Development Activities: A Focus on Software, Electronic Devices and Pharmaceutical Industries’, which
gives guidance on the factors that should be considered when identifying IPR&D.

The fair value of IPR&D acquired through business combinations is determined using the income approach on a project-by-project basis using the
multi-period excess earnings method. The fair value of the acquired IPR&D assets has been based on the present value of probability adjusted
incremental cash flows expected to be generated by the IPR&D projects after the deduction of contributory asset charges for other assets employed
in these projects. This method includes risk factors, which include applying an appropriate discount rate that reflects the project’s stage of
completion, the nature of the product, the scientific data associated with the technology, the current patent situation and market competition. 

The forecast of future cash flows required the following assumptions to be made:
— revenue that is likely to result from specific IPR&D projects, including the likelihood of approval of the product, estimated number of units to be sold,

estimated selling prices, estimated market penetration, estimated market share and year-over-year growth rates over the product life cycles;
— cost of sales related to the potential products using historical data, industry data or other sources of market data;
— sales and marketing expense using historical data, industry data or other market data;
— general and administrative expenses;
— R&D expenses to complete the development of the acquired products; and
— the tax amortization benefit available to a market participant purchasing the assets piecemeal.

The valuation process for IPR&D involves a number of inter-relating assumptions, such that the Group does not consider it meaningful to quantify the
sensitivity to change for any individual assumption. The major risks and uncertainties associated with the timely completion of the acquired IPR&D
projects consist of the ability to confirm the safety and efficacy of the technology based on the data from ongoing clinical trials and obtaining the
necessary regulatory approvals. The valuations have been based on information at the time of the acquisition and expectations and assumptions that
(i) have been deemed reasonable by Shire’s management, and (ii) are based on information, expectations and assumptions that would be available to
and made by a market participant. However, no assurance can be given that the underlying assumptions or events associated with such assets will
occur as projected. For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecast future cash flows.
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(ii) Valuation of equity investments 
The Group has investments in certain public and private pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. The carrying values of these investments 
are periodically reviewed for other-than-temporary impairments whenever certain events or circumstances suggest that the cost of an investment
exceeds the fair market value of the investment. Indicators of other-than-temporary impairment considered by the Group, include, inter alia:
— the market value of a quoted investment being below the cost of the investment;
— adverse news on a company’s progress in scientific technology/development of compounds; and
— recent stock issuances at a price below the investment price.

If the fair value appears to be below the cost of an investment the Group considers all available evidence in assessing whether there is an other-than-
temporary impairment. This evidence would include:
— the length of time and/or the extent to which the market value of the investee is less than the cost of the investment;
— the level of progress in the investee’s scientific technology/development of compound;
— ongoing activity in collaborations with the investee;
— whether or not other substantial investee-specific adverse events have occurred which may cause a decline in value;
— analysis and valuation of comparable companies; and
— the overall financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee.

In instances when this review indicates that there is an other-than-temporary impairment, for private companies the Group writes down the investment
to the fair value of the investment. For investments in public companies accounted for as available-for-sale securities any unrealized holding loss is 
re-classified from other comprehensive income by recording an other-than-temporary impairment charge in the consolidated statements of operations. 

The determination of the fair value of private company investments and the determination of whether an unrealized loss on a publicly quoted
investment is other-than-temporary requires significant judgment and can have a material impact on the reported results. During 2008, Shire
recorded impairments on long-term investments in private companies of $nil (2007: $nil, 2006: $1.8 million) and an other-than-temporary impairment
charge of $58.0 million (2007: $3.0 million, 2006: $0.3 million) for its available-for-sale securities, including $44.3 million for its investment in Renovo
Group plc. During the third quarter of 2008, the Group considered the following factors in its determination of whether its impairment in Renovo
Group plc was temporary or other-than-temporary: the severity of the decline from historical cost (87% decline) and its duration (eleven months);
market analysts’ targets of Renovo Group plc’s share price for the next 18–24 months; and the revised expected filing date for JUVISTA due to the
adoption of a sequential rather than parallel Phase 3 development plan. These factors, together with the significant decline in global equity markets
during the third quarter of 2008 meant that the Group was unable to reasonably estimate the period over which a full recovery in the value of its
investment in Renovo Group plc could occur. As such, at the end of the third quarter of 2008 the Group concluded that the decline in value was
other-than-temporary. During the fourth quarter of 2008, the value of the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc further declined to $3.6 million 
by December 31, 2008: the Group has recognized this decline of $2.2 million as a temporary impairment within Other Comprehensive Income 
during the fourth quarter of 2008. 

(iii) Sales deductions 
Sales deductions consist of statutory rebates to state Medicaid and other government agencies, contractual rebates with health-maintenance
organizations (‘HMOs’), product returns, sales discounts (including trade discounts and distribution service fees), wholesaler chargebacks, and
allowances for coupon sampling programs. These deductions are recorded as reductions to revenue in the same period as the related sales with
estimates of future utilization derived from historical experience adjusted to reflect known changes in the factors that impact such reserves.

The Group accounts for these sales deductions in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 01-9, ‘Accounting for Consideration 
Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products)’, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘SFAS’) No. 48,
‘Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists’, as applicable. 

The Group has the following significant categories of sales deductions, all of which involve estimates and judgments which the Group considers 
to be critical accounting estimates, and require the Group to use information from external sources:

Medicaid and HMO rebates
Statutory rebates to state Medicaid agencies and contractual rebates to HMOs under managed care programs are based on statutory or negotiated
discounts to the selling price. Medicaid rebates generally increase as a percentage of the selling price over the life of the product (if prices increase
faster than inflation).

As it can take up to six months for information to reach the Group on actual usage of the Group’s products in managed care and Medicaid programs
and on the total discounts to be re-imbursed, the Group maintains reserves for amounts payable under these programs relating to sold products.

The amount of the reserve is based on historical experience of rebates, the timing of payments, the level of re-imbursement claims, changes in prices (both
normal selling prices and statutory or negotiated prices), changes in prescription demand patterns, and the levels of inventory in the distribution channel. 

Shire’s estimates of the level of inventory in the distribution channel are based on product-by-product inventory data provided by wholesalers; results 
of independently commissioned retail inventory surveys and third-party prescription data (such as IMS Health National Prescription Audit data).

Revisions or clarification of guidelines from CMS related to state Medicaid and other government program re-imbursement practices with retro-active
application can result in changes to management’s estimates of the rebates reported in prior periods. However, since the prices of the Group’s
products are fixed at the time of sale and the quantum of rebates is therefore reasonably determinable at the outset of each transaction, these factors
would not impact the recording of revenues in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
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The accrual estimation process for Medicaid and HMO rebates involves in each case a number of interrelating assumptions, which vary for each
combination of product and Medicaid agency or HMO. Accordingly, it would not be meaningful to quantify the sensitivity to change for any individual
assumption or uncertainty. However, Shire does not believe that the effect of uncertainties, as a whole, significantly impacts the Group’s financial
condition or results of operations.

At the balance sheet date, accruals for Medicaid and HMO rebates were $222.5 million in 2008, $146.6 million in 2007 and $126.4 million in 2006, 
or 8%, 7%, and 8%, respectively, of net product sales. Historically, actual returns have not varied significantly from the reserves provided.

Product returns
The Group typically accepts customer product returns in the following circumstances: a) expiration of shelf life; b) product damaged while in the
possession of Shire; or c) under sales terms that allow for unconditional return (guaranteed sales).

Shire estimates the proportion of recorded revenue that will result in a return by considering relevant factors, including:
— past product returns activity;
— the duration of time taken for products to be returned;
— the estimated level of inventory in the distribution channel;
— product recalls and discontinuances;
— the shelf life of products;
— the launch of new drugs or new formulations; and
— the loss of patent protection or new competition.

Shire’s estimate of the level of inventory in the distribution channel is based on product-by-product inventory data provided by wholesalers, third-party
prescription data and, for some product return provisions, market research of retail pharmacies.

Returns for new products are more difficult for the Group to estimate than for established products. For shipments made to support the commercial
launch of a new product (which are typically guaranteed sales), as the Group cannot determine customer acceptance of the new product, the Group’s
policy is therefore to defer recognition of the sales revenue until there is evidence of end-patient acceptance (primarily third-party prescription data), in
accordance with SAB No. 104, Revenue Recognition. For shipments after launch under standard terms (ie not guaranteed sales), the Group’s initial
estimates of sales return accruals are primarily based on the historical sales returns experience of similar products shortly after launch. Once sufficient
historical data on actual returns of the product are available, the returns provision is based on this data and any other relevant factors as noted above.

The accrual estimation process for product returns involves in each case a number of inter-relating assumptions, which vary for each combination 
of product and customer. Accordingly, it would not be meaningful to quantify the sensitivity to change for any individual assumption or uncertainty.
However, Shire does not believe that the effect of uncertainties, as a whole, significantly impacts the Group’s financial condition or results of operations.

At the balance sheet date, provisions for product returns were $47.1 million in 2008, $39.5 million in 2007 and $36.5 million in 2006, or 2%, 2% 
and 2%, respectively, of net product sales. Historically, actual rebates have not varied significantly from the reserves provided.

Sales coupon accrual
For certain products, primarily VYVANSE, LIALDA, and DAYTRANA, the Group uses coupons as a form of sales incentive. These coupons re-imburse
part or all of the cost of the first prescription. Each coupon can only be used once and coupons typically expire three to 15 months after the date of
issuance. The Group’s management calculates an accrual for the estimated value of coupons that will be redeemed against sold products, based on
the rebate value per coupon, the timing and volume of coupon distributions, the estimated level of inventory in the distribution channel and expected
coupon redemption rates, using historical trends and experience.

Shire’s estimate of the level of inventory in the distribution channel is based on product-by-product inventory data provided by wholesalers and third-
party prescription data.

Shire believes that historical redemption rates, adjusted for known changes in coupon programs (such as length of coupon life and redemption
conditions) are an appropriate basis for predicting future redemption rates. For coupon programs open at December 31, 2008 the redemption rates
assumed by Shire range between 22% and 43% of coupons distributed (depending on the life of the coupons). A one percentage point increase in
estimated coupon redemption rates would increase the provision at December 31, 2008 by $0.1 million.

At December 31, 2008 the accrual for coupon redemptions was $4.0 million (2007: $9.0 million, 2006: $13.0 million). The accrual levels at December 31
and within each financial year fluctuate according to the timing and volume of coupon distributions, in addition to changes in estimated redemption rates.

For rebates, returns and sales coupons the actual experience and the level of these deductions to revenue may deviate from the estimate. Shire
reviews its estimates every quarter and may be required to adjust the estimate in a subsequent period. Historically, actual payments have not varied
significantly from the reserves provided.
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(iv) Income taxes
In the application of FIN 48, ‘Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109’ (‘FIN 48’) management is
required to develop estimates as to whether a tax benefit should be recognized in the consolidated financial statements, based on whether it is more
likely than not that the technical merits of the position will be sustained based on audit by the tax authorities. The measurement of the tax benefit
recognized in the consolidated financial statements is based upon the largest amount of tax benefit that, in management’s judgment, is greater than
50% likely to be realized based on a cumulative probability assessment of the possible outcomes. In applying FIN 48, management is required to
make judgments in the determination of the unit of account, the evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information in respect of the tax position
taken, together with the estimates of amounts that the Group may be required to pay in ultimate settlement with the tax authority.

Shire operates in numerous countries where its income tax returns are subject to audit and adjustment by local tax authorities. Because Shire
operates globally, the nature of the uncertain tax positions is often very complex and subject to change and the amounts at issue can be substantial.
Shire develops its cumulative probability assessment of the measurement of uncertain tax positions using internal expertise, experience, judgment
and assistance from professional advisors. Estimates are refined as additional information becomes known. Any outcome upon settlement that differs
from Shire’s best estimate may result in additional or lower tax expense in future periods.

At December 31, 2008 the Group recognized a liability of $228.7 million for total unrecognized tax benefits (2007: $292.2 million) and had accrued
$76.2 million (2007: $63.7 million) for the payment of interest and penalties.

The Group has significant deferred tax assets due to net operating losses (‘NOLs’) in the United States, the UK, Ireland, Germany and other
countries. The realization of these assets is not assured and is dependent on the generation of sufficient taxable income in future periods.
Management is required to exercise judgment in determining whether it is more likely than not that it would realize these losses, based upon the
availability of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies and estimates of future taxable income in the various jurisdictions in which these NOLs
exist. Where there is an expectation that on the balance of probabilities there will not be sufficient taxable profits to utilize these NOLs a valuation
allowance is held against these deferred tax assets. If actual events differ from management’s estimates, or to the extent that these estimates are
adjusted in the future, any changes to the valuation allowance could materially impact the Group’s financial position and results.

At December 31, 2008, the Group had deferred tax liabilities of $533 million and gross deferred tax assets of $472 million, against which the Group 
had recorded valuation allowances of $119 million.

At December 31, 2007, the Group had deferred tax liabilities of $539 million and gross deferred tax assets of $587 million, against which the Group 
had recorded valuation allowances of $105 million.

At December 31, 2006, the Group had deferred tax liabilities of $197 million and gross deferred tax assets of $568 million, against which the Group 
had recorded valuation allowances of $110 million.

(v) Litigation
The Group has a number of lawsuits pending that relate to product liability and intellectual property infringement claims, see Note 24 for further details.
Shire accounts for litigation losses in accordance with SFAS No. 5, ‘Accounting for Contingencies’ (‘SFAS No 5’). Under SFAS No. 5, loss contingency
provisions are recorded for probable losses when management is able to reasonably estimate the loss. Where the estimated loss lies within a range and
no particular amount within that range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum amount is recorded. In other cases management’s best
estimate of the loss is recorded. These estimates are developed substantially earlier than the ultimate loss is known, and the estimates are refined each
accounting period, as additional information becomes known. Best estimates are reviewed quarterly and estimates are changed when expectations are
revised. Any outcome upon settlement that deviates from Shire’s best estimate may result in an additional or lesser expense in a future accounting period. 

On November 5, 2008 the Group announced that it had successfully settled all aspects of the TKT appraisal rights litigation with all parties. Shire paid
the same price of $37 per share originally offered to all TKT shareholders at the time of the July 2005 merger, plus interest. The settlement represents 
a total payment of $567.5 million, representing consideration at $37 per share of $419.9 million and an interest cost of $147.6 million. Prior to reaching
this settlement, the Group accrued interest based on a reasonable estimate of the amount that may be awarded by the Court to those former TKT
shareholders who requested appraisal. This estimate of interest was based on Shire’s cost of borrowing. Between the close of the merger and November
5, 2008 the Group applied this interest rate on a quarterly compounding basis to the $419.9 million of consideration to calculate its provision for interest.

Upon reaching agreement in principle with all the dissenting shareholders, the Group determined that settlement had become the probable manner
through which the appraisal rights litigation would be resolved. Under current law, (although not applicable in this case because the merger was entered
into before the relevant amendment to the law became effective) the court presumptively awards interest in appraisal rights cases at a statutory rate
that is 5 percentage points above the Federal Reserve discount rate (as it varies over the duration of the case). In connection with the settlement, the
Group agreed to an interest rate that approximates to this statutory rate. Based on the settlement, the Group amended the method of determining 
its interest provision to reflect this revised manner of resolution, and recorded additional interest expense of $73.0 million in its consolidated financial
statements for the year to December 31, 2008 on reaching settlement with the dissenting shareholders. For further details on the settlement of this
litigation, see Note 24(d).
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Shire Limited (now known as Shire plc) was incorporated under the laws of Jersey (Channel Islands) on January 28, 2008 and is a public company
limited by shares and tax resident in the Republic of Ireland. On May 23, 2008 Shire Limited became the holding company of Shire plc (the former
holding company of the Shire Group) (‘Old Shire’), a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales, pursuant to a scheme of arrangement
under Sections 895 to 899 of the UK Companies Act 2006 that was approved by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales and the shareholders
of Old Shire (the ‘Scheme of Arrangement’). Prior to May 23, 2008 Shire Limited had not commenced trading or made any profits or trading losses. 
On October 1, 2008 Shire Limited (herein referred as Shire plc) changed its name to Shire plc following the approval of the change of name by
shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, Ordinary Shares, each having a nominal value of £0.05, of Old Shire (‘Shire Ordinary Shares’) were
exchanged for Ordinary Shares, each having a nominal value of £0.05, of Shire plc (‘Shire plc Ordinary Shares’), on a one-for-one basis. As a result 
of the Scheme of Arrangement, Old Shire became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shire plc. The Shire plc Ordinary Shares carry substantially the same
rights as did the Shire Ordinary Shares. The Scheme of Arrangement did not involve any payment for the Shire plc Ordinary Shares. 

Shire plc immediately after the effectiveness of the Scheme of Arrangement had the same Board of Directors, management and corporate governance
arrangements as Old Shire had immediately prior thereto. The consolidated assets and liabilities of Shire plc immediately after the effective time of the
Scheme of Arrangement were substantially the same as the consolidated assets and liabilities of Old Shire immediately prior thereto. 

The Shire Ordinary Shares underlying the Shire American Depositary Shares (the ‘Shire ADSs’), each representing three Shire Ordinary Shares,
participated in the Scheme of Arrangement like all other Shire Ordinary Shares. Upon the Scheme of Arrangement becoming effective, the Shire
ADSs remained outstanding but became Shire plc ADS’s, each representing three Shire plc Ordinary Shares. The Scheme of Arrangement did 
not involve any payment for the Shire plc ADSs.

In accordance with SFAS No. 141, the corporate restructuring has been accounted for as a re-organization of entities under common control.
Accordingly, the historical consolidated financial statements prior to the re-organization are labeled as those of Shire plc, but continue to represent
the operations of Old Shire. 

Earnings per share were unaffected by the re-organization.

All Old Shire stock options granted to Directors and employees under stock option plans that were in existence immediately prior to the Scheme 
of Arrangement were exchangeable for stock options in Shire plc on a one-for-one basis with no change in any terms or conditions, other than the
acceleration of the vesting date of certain awards granted under the Shire plc 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme (‘2000 Executive Scheme’) 
to the date of the Scheme of Arrangement, May 23, 2008. The number of stock options for which this exchange did not take place was not material. 

For presented periods prior to the 2008 corporate restructuring, the equity of Shire plc represents the historical equity of Old Shire, re-stated to
reflect the change in the nominal value of common stock as expressed in US dollars resulting from the corporate restructuring. The $6.4 million
increase in the value of common stock at January 1, 2006 (being the earliest period presented) to $49.1 million on restatement is due to differences
between the historic exchange rates used to convert Shire’s sterling denominated nominal share capital into US dollars, and the exchange rate at the
time of the corporate restructuring. The offset is recorded in additional paid in capital.

5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Jerini AG acquisition
On July 3, 2008 the Group announced that it was launching a voluntary public takeover offer for all outstanding shares in Jerini AG (‘Jerini’), a German
corporation, at a price of 6.25 Euros per share. During the second half of 2008 Shire, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Shire Deutschland
Investments GmbH, acquired a 98.6% voting interest in Jerini. The acquisition added Jerini’s hereditary angiodema (‘HAE’) product FIRAZYR
(icatibant), to Shire’s portfolio.

By August 6, 2008 the Group had acquired 80.1% of the voting interests in Jerini for a cash consideration of $456.3 million, by (i) subscribing for new
Jerini shares; (ii) acquiring voting interests through the completion of sale and purchase agreements entered into with institutional shareholders and
certain members of Jerini’s Management and Supervisory Boards; and (iii) acquiring voting interests through market purchases.

Between acquiring this controlling voting interest in early August 2008 and December 31, 2008 the Group acquired additional voting interests totaling
18.5% of Jerini’s issued share capital, for a cash consideration of $100.2 million obtained by shares tendered during the Offer process, and on and 
off market purchases. These additional voting interests have been accounted for as step-acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting. 
By December 31, 2008 Shire had acquired a 98.6% voting interest in Jerini for a total consideration of $556.5 million, represented by Jerini shares,
($539.8 million), the cash cost of cancelling Jerini stock options ($9.4 million) and direct costs of acquisition ($7.3 million).
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The acquisition of Jerini has been accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with SFAS No. 141. Under the purchase method
of accounting, the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed from Jerini are recorded at the date of acquisition at their fair value. Consolidated financial
statements and reported results of operations of Shire issued after the acquisition of this majority holding will reflect these values, with the results 
of Jerini included from August 1, 2008, for convenience purposes, in the consolidated statement of operations. The purchase price has been allocated 
on a preliminary basis to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The final fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be
determined as soon as possible and, in any event, no later than one year from the acquisition date if such fair values can be measured in this period. 
To the extent that estimates need to be adjusted, Shire will do so in future periods in accordance with SFAS No. 141. 

The following table presents the Group’s preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair values
based on the Group’s 80.1% voting interest acquired by August 6, 2008:

Fair value
$’M

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 56.7
Restricted cash 0.4
Inventories, net 1.9
Assets held-for-sale 24.4
Other current assets 4.9

Total current assets 88.3

Property, plant and equipment 3.6
Goodwill 121.0
Other intangible assets
— currently marketed product 257.6
— In-Process R&D 104.1
Deferred tax asset 0.5

Total assets 575.1

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities: 31.3
Deferred tax liability 76.3
Other long-term liabilities 0.8

Total liabilities 108.4

Estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 466.7
Minority interests (10.4)

Cost of 80.1% voting interest acquired 456.3

In respect of the step acquisitions made subsequent to the acquisition of the 80.1% majority voting interest the Group has recognized additional
goodwill of $27.0 million, intangible assets in respect of the currently marketed product of $58.1 million and IPR&D of $24.0 million.

(a) Other intangible assets, currently marketed product
Other intangible assets includes $315.7 million (being $257.6 million acquired as of August 6, 2008 and $58.1 million in the subsequent 
step acquisitions) relating to intellectual property rights in respect of Jerini’s currently marketed product, FIRAZYR, which received marketing
authorization from the European Commission in July 2008 for the treatment of acute HAE in the EU. These intellectual property rights include the
right to develop, use, market, sell and/or offer for sale the technical processes, intellectual property and institutional understanding (including the
way in which FIRAZYR reacts in body, an understanding of the mechanisms of action which allow FIRAZYR to work and the knowledge related 
to the associated clinical and marketing studies performed to obtain approval of FIRAZYR). The fair value of FIRAZYR in the EU has been
determined using an income approach applying the multi-period excess earnings method, based on the present value of incremental after tax 
cash flows attributable to the asset after the deduction of contributory asset charges for the assets employed (including working capital, the
assembled workforce and other fixed assets). 

This intangible asset has an estimated useful life of 17 years, will be amortized on a straight-line basis, and has been allocated to the HGT 
reporting segment.
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(b) Other intangible assets, IPR&D
IPR&D is defined by FASB Interpretation No. 4, ‘Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase
Method’ (‘FIN 4’), as being a development project that has been initiated and has achieved material progress but (i) has not yet reached technological
feasibility or has not yet received the appropriate regulatory approval, (ii) has no alternative future use, and (iii) the fair value is estimable with reasonable
certainty. A project-by-project valuation using the guidance in SFAS No. 141 and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid
‘Assets Acquired in a Business Combination to Be Used In Research and Development Activities: A Focus on Software, Electronic Devices and
Pharmaceutical Industries’ (the ‘AICPA Practice Aid’) has been performed to determine the fair value of research and development projects of Jerini
which were in-process, but not yet completed as of the acquisition date.

The IPR&D assets of $128.1 million (being $104.1 million acquired as of August 6, 2008 and $24.0 million in the subsequent step acquisitions) relate 
to FIRAZYR for the treatment of acute HAE in the US ($64.1 million), and the rest of the world excluding the US and EU (‘ROW’), ($64.0 million). 
These IPR&D assets have not yet received approval from the relevant regulatory authorities at the acquisition date. In the US FIRAZYR received 
a non-approvable letter from the US Food and Drug Administration in April 2008. The Group considers that these IPR&D assets have no alternative
future use outside of their current development projects and the fair value of these IPR&D assets has therefore been charged to the consolidated
statement of operations as of the acquisition date in accordance with FIN 4.

The fair value of the FIRAZYR IPR&D assets was determined using the income approach applying the multi-period excess earnings method. The fair
value of the IPR&D assets has been based on the incremental cash flows expected to be generated by the development projects after the deduction 
of contributory asset charges in respect of other assets employed in these research projects (including working capital, the assembled workforce and
other fixed assets). These estimated future cash flows were then probability adjusted to take into account the stage of completion and the remaining
risks and uncertainties surrounding the future development and commercialization of FIRAZYR. These estimated probability adjusted, after tax cash
flows were then discounted at 17–18% to determine a present, or fair, value.

The major risks and uncertainties associated with the timely completion of the acquired IPR&D projects consist of the ability to confirm the efficacy 
of the technology based on data from the clinical trials, and obtaining the relevant regulatory approvals. The valuations have been based on information
at the time of the acquisition and expectations and assumptions that (i) have been deemed reasonable by the Group’s management, and (ii) are based
on information, expectations and assumptions that would be available to and be made by a market participant. However, no assurance can be given
that the underlying assumptions or events associated with such assets will occur as projected. For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows
may vary from forecast future cash flows.

(c) Assets held-for-sale
On acquisition of Jerini the Group and Jerini commenced a strategic review of the acquired assets to identify which of the assets were non-strategic 
to the newly combined business. In October 2008 Jerini announced that its Supervisory and Management Boards had concluded that it was in the
best interests of Jerini to divest Jerini Ophthalmic, Inc, (‘JOI’), Jerini Peptide Technologies Gmbh (‘JPT’) and Jerini’s pre-clinical projects. Consistent 
with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets (‘SFAS No. 144’) the Group has presented the fair value less costs
to sell of those businesses that met the SFAS No. 144 criteria, being JOI and JPT, as assets held-for-sale at the acquisition date. These held-for-sale
assets are recorded at their aggregate fair value less costs to sell of $27.8 million (for the Group’s 98.6% voting interest) within the purchase price
allocation, the carrying value being primarily represented by the fair value of IPR&D. These held-for-sale assets are reported in ‘All Other’ in the Group’s
segmental analysis, see Note 27.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144 the Group has presented JOI and JPT as discontinued operations, recording a loss of $17.6 million from these
businesses in the year to December 31, 2008, (2007: $nil; 2006: $nil). Revenues and the pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the year to
December 31, 2008 totaled $3.6 million and $17.6 million respectively. The loss from discontinued operations in the year to December 31, 2008 also
includes a charge of $12.9 million arising on the re-measurement of assets held for sale to their fair value less costs to sell at December 31, 2008.

(d) Goodwill
Goodwill of $148.0 million resulting from the acquisition of 98.6% of the voting interests in Jerini has been wholly allocated to the HGT reporting
segment and is not deductible for tax purposes.

METAZYM acquisition
On June 4, 2008 Shire completed the acquisition of the global rights to METAZYM, a clinical candidate arylsulfatase-A, from Zymenex for $135.0 million
in cash. Upon completion Shire recognized an IPR&D charge of $135.0 million in respect of the acquired development project.

New River acquisition 
On April 19, 2007 Shire completed its acquisition of New River by way of a short-form merger, in an all-cash transaction. The acquisition was effected
by merging Shuttle Corporation, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Shire, with and into New River, with New River continuing as the surviving
corporation. As consideration, Shire paid to New River’s shareholders $64 in cash for each share of New River common stock outstanding at the time
of the acquisition.

The acquisition of New River allowed Shire to capture the full economic value of VYVANSE, and gain control of the future development and
commercialization of this product. 

VYVANSE for ADHD in pediatric populations was approved by the FDA on February 23, 2007 and the Group received notification from the DEA 
of the final Schedule II classification for VYVANSE on May 3, 2007. 

The acquisition of New River was accounted for using the purchase method in accordance with SFAS No. 141. Under the purchase method of
accounting, the assets and liabilities of New River were recorded at their fair values at the acquisition date. The consolidated financial statements 
and reported results of operations of Shire issued after the completion of the acquisition reflect these fair values, with the results of New River being
included within the consolidated statement of operations from April 19, 2007. 
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Total consideration, including amounts payable in respect of stock options, share appreciation rights (‘SARs’), warrants over New River’s common
stock and costs directly attributable to the business combination was approximately $2.6 billion at the price of $64 per share of New River’s common
stock, as analyzed below:

$’M

Cash consideration for 37.1 million outstanding shares of New River common stock at $64 per share
(net of 1.5 million of common stock repurchased through a prepaid forward purchase contract(i)) 2,276.0

Cash cost of settling New River’s stock options and SARs 124.5
Cash cost for settling sold warrants over 4.0 million shares of New River’s common stock 133.0
Direct acquisition costs 61.0

2,594.5

(i) New River entered into this prepaid forward purchase contract with Merrill Lynch in July 2006.

Accounting for the effective settlement of the New River Collaboration Agreement
Prior to the acquisition of New River, on January 31, 2005 Shire entered into a collaboration agreement with New River which governed the
development, manufacture and commercialization of VYVANSE for the treatment of ADHD in the US and ROW territories. In March 2005, this
collaboration agreement was split into two separate agreements, the US Collaboration Agreement and the ROW Territory Licence Agreement
(together the ‘New River Collaboration Agreements’).

Under the terms of the New River Collaboration Agreements, the parties were required to collaborate on the development, manufacturing, marketing
and sales of VYVANSE in the US. Profits from the collaboration arising in the US were to be divided according to a predetermined formula, based 
on the scheduling of VYVANSE by the DEA. Post-approval milestones were due under the New River Collaboration Agreements if the product received
favorable scheduling (schedule III, IV or V or unscheduled) and on the achievement of certain sales milestones.

Through the New River Collaboration Agreements Shire also acquired the license in the ROW territory to develop and commercialize VYVANSE, 
in consideration of a low double-digit royalty.

Shire paid an initial sum of $50 million to New River in January 2005 on signing the original collaboration agreement and a further $50 million was 
paid by Shire to New River following acceptance of the filing of a NDA by the FDA in January 2006.

As Shire had a pre-existing relationship with New River, Shire applied EITF 04-1, ‘Accounting for Pre-existing Relationships between the Parties 
to a Business Combination’ (‘EITF 04-1’), in accounting for the effective settlement of the New River Collaboration Agreements.

In accordance with EITF 04-1, Shire measured the effective settlement of the New River Collaboration Agreements resulting from its pre-existing
relationship with New River and determined that, in respect of the US Collaboration Agreement, it was less favorable to the Group when compared 
with pricing for current market transactions for similar items. The ROW Territory License Agreement was determined to be at current market rates. 
The valuation of the New River Collaboration Agreements and their current market comparators was based upon information available at the time 
of the acquisition and using the expectations and assumptions that were deemed reasonable by the Group’s management.

Although the US Collaboration Agreement was deemed less favorable to the Group at the time of the acquisition when compared with pricing 
for current market transactions for similar items, the Group did not record a loss on the effective settlement of the pre-existing relationship in the
consolidated statement of operations, nor did the Group adjust its purchase price for New River to reflect any such loss resulting from this effective
settlement, as settlement provisions in the US Collaboration Agreement available to the Group enabled effective settlement of the New River
Collaboration Agreements at no cost to the Group.

(a) Purchase price allocation
Shire’s cost of acquiring New River of approximately $2.6 billion has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed according to their
estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. Based on this allocation, and at the end of the allocation period, an excess of the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of acquisition totaling $122.2 million has arisen which management, in accordance with SFAS No. 141,
allocated as a pro-rata reduction of amounts that would otherwise have been ascribed to identifiable intangible assets and IPR&D, (such IPR&D being
immediately charged to expense, having no alternative future use). The value of other intangible assets and IPR&D below are presented after this pro-
rata allocation. 

During the second half of 2008, after the end of the allocation period, the Group reduced the values ascribed to other intangible assets by $24.1 million
from amounts previously assigned to these assets in the purchase price allocation. The change to the values ascribed arose from changes to estimates
of deferred taxes: accordingly the excess of the fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of the acquisition increased by
$24.1 million. In accordance with SFAS 141 this excess was allocated to intangible assets.
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The following table presents the Group’s allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including the post-allocation
period adjustment as outlined above based on their fair values.

$’M

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 74.9
Short-term investments 55.8
Accounts receivable, net 0.3
Inventories 11.4
Purchased call option 141.8
Deferred tax asset 68.1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 0.2

Total current assets 352.5

Property, plant and equipment, net 0.8
Other intangible assets, net
— Intellectual property—developed technology 1,064.5
— Favorable manufacturing contracts 8.7
— In-Process R&D 1,866.4

Total assets 3,292.9

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 33.3
Convertible loan notes 279.4

312.7

Non-current liabilities:
Deferred tax liability 385.7

Total liabilities 698.4

Net assets acquired 2,594.5

(b) IPR&D
A project-by-project valuation using the guidance in SFAS No. 141 and the AICPA Practice Aid was performed to determine the fair values of research
and development projects of New River which were in-process, but not completed as at the completion of the acquisition.

IPR&D assets totaling $1,866.4 million were identified relating to VYVANSE indicated for ADHD in non-pediatric patients in the US ($1,786.8 million) and
VYVANSE indicated for ADHD in ROW, ($79.6 million). Both of these IPR&D assets had not received approval, (either from the FDA or from the relevant
regulators in the ROW) at the acquisition date. The Group considered that these IPR&D assets have no alternative future use outside their current
development projects, as outlined in the AICPA Practice Aid, and these assets were therefore charged to expense in the consolidated statement of
operations as of the acquisition date in accordance with FIN 4.

The fair value of the VYVANSE IPR&D assets was determined through the income approach using the multi-period excess earnings method. The fair
value of the acquired IPR&D assets was based on the present value of the probability adjusted incremental cash flows expected to be generated 
by the research and development projects, after the deduction of contributory asset charges for other assets employed in these projects (such other
assets include working capital, the assembled workforce, and the favorable manufacturing contract identified below). The valuation assumed that,
consistent with EITF 04-1, the effective settlement of the pre-existing New River Collaboration Agreements had occurred and Shire had purchased
100% of the forecast future cash flows. 

Estimated future cash flows were probability adjusted to take into account the stage of completion and the risks surrounding the successful
development and commercialization of the acquired projects. The estimated after tax cash flows were discounted to present value using risk adjusted
discount rates between 10% and 12%.
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The forecast of future cash flows required various assumptions to be made including:
— revenue that is likely to result from sales of VYVANSE for non-pediatric patients in the US and sales of VYVANSE in ROW, including estimated

number of units to be sold, estimated selling prices, estimated market penetration, estimated ADHD market share and year-over-year growth rates
over VYVANSE’s life cycle;

— cost of sales for VYVANSE using historical data from similar products, industry data or other sources of market data;
— sales and marketing expenses using historical data, industry data or other market data;
— general and administrative expenses;
— future research and development expenses to complete the development of VYVANSE in the US and ROW; and
— the tax amortization benefit which would be available to a market participant purchasing the assets piecemeal.

In addition Shire considered:
— the stage of completion of VYVANSE development in the US and ROW;
— the costs incurred to date;
— the projected costs to complete;
— the contribution, if any, of the acquired identifiable intangible assets, including the favorable manufacturing contract (see below); 
— the projected launch date of VYVANSE; and
— the estimated life of VYVANSE.

The major risks and uncertainties associated with the timely completion of the acquired IPR&D projects consist of the ability to confirm the safety and
efficacy of the technology based on the data from ongoing clinical trials and obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals. The valuations were based
on information at the time of the acquisition and expectations and assumptions that (i) were deemed reasonable by Shire’s management, and (ii) were
based on information, expectations and assumptions that would have been available to and made by a market participant. However, no assurance can
be given that the underlying assumptions or events associated with such assets will occur as projected. For these reasons, among others, the actual
cash flows may vary from forecast future cash flows.

(c) Identifiable intangible assets
Fair value Asset life

The acquired identifiable intangible assets were attributable to the following categories: $’M Years

Intellectual property—developed technology(i) 1,064.5 20(iii)

Other (finite-lived assets)(ii) 8.7 5

1,073.2

(i) Relates to VYVANSE approved for the treatment of ADHD in pediatric patients.

(ii) Relates to a favorable manufacturing contract for VYVANSE.

(iii) The asset life of 20 years represents the period over which management believe the asset will contribute to the future cash flows of Shire, being the
expected commercial lifespan of VYVANSE (VYVANSE has patent protection in the US until September 2023 and until September 2024 in Europe).

Acquired identifiable intangible assets primarily represent the value ascribed to developed technology, represented by VYVANSE for the treatment 
of ADHD in pediatric populations in the US. These rights include the rights to develop, use, market, sell and/or offer for sale the technical processes,
intellectual property and institutional understanding (including the way in which VYVANSE reacts in body, an understanding of the mechanisms of
action which allow VYVANSE to work and the knowledge related to the associated clinical and marketing studies performed for VYVANSE).

The fair value of this intellectual property in respect of VYVANSE for the treatment of ADHD in pediatric populations was determined through the
income approach using the multi-period excess earnings method. The valuation assumes that, consistent with EITF 04-1, the effective settlement of the
pre-existing New River Collaboration Agreements has occurred and Shire has purchased 100% of the cash flows of VYVANSE for the treatment of
ADHD in pediatric populations in the US. Using the multi-period excess earnings method, the fair value of intellectual property in respect of VYVANSE
for the treatment of ADHD in pediatric populations in the US was based on the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows attributable to 
the asset, after the deduction of contributory asset charges for other assets employed (including working capital, the assembled workforce, and the
favorable manufacturing contract).

The forecast of future cash flows in respect of the VYVANSE intellectual property requires various assumptions to be made, including:
— revenue that is likely to result from sales of VYVANSE for the treatment of ADHD in pediatric populations, including the estimated number of units

to be sold, estimated selling prices, estimated ADHD market penetration, estimated ADHD market share and year-over-year growth rates over
VYVANSE’s life cycle;

— cost of sales for the products using historical data, industry data or other sources of market data;
— sales and marketing expenses using historical data, industry data or other market data;
— general and administrative expenses;
— research and development expenses; and
— the tax amortization benefit which would be available to a market participant purchasing the assets piecemeal.
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The fair value of the favorable manufacturing contract represents the cost savings over market rates negotiated by New River under a five year 
contract for supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredient used in the manufacture of VYVANSE.

The valuations were based on information available at the time of the acquisition and the expectations and assumptions that (i) were deemed
reasonable by Shire’s management, and (ii) were based on information, expectations and assumptions that would have been available to and made
by a market participant. However, no assurance can be given that the underlying assumptions or events associated with such assets will occur as
projected. For these reasons, among others, the actual cash flows may vary from forecast future cash flows.

(d) Convertible notes
In July 2006, New River issued $137.8 million of 3.5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the ‘Notes’). On conversion of the Notes New River
was obligated to pay the principal amount of the Notes to the Note holders in cash, with any excess of the fair value over their principal amount (the
‘Excess Conversion Value’) being payable either in cash, shares of New River common stock or a combination of shares of New River common stock
and cash at the election of New River.

On April 3, 2007 New River announced that it had elected to settle any Excess Conversion Value in cash. Following the change of control of New River
as a result of the business combination, Note holders were entitled to a make-whole premium in the form of an increase in the conversion rate if they
tendered their Notes for conversion prior to May 17, 2007.

In accordance with SFAS No. 141 and EITF Issue No. 98-1, ‘Valuation of Debt Assumed in a Purchase Business Combination’, the Notes were valued
at their fair value, being the present value of the estimated future cash flows in respect of the Notes as at the date of acquisition.

All the outstanding Notes were tendered for conversion in the period between the acquisition and May 17, 2007 and were therefore settled in cash
during the second quarter of 2007 at a value of $279.4 million which equates to the fair value of the Notes at the acquisition date including the make-
whole premium.

(e) Purchased call option
Concurrent with the issue of the Notes, New River also entered into a purchased call option with Merrill Lynch at a cost to New River of $43.5 million,
being a convertible note hedge transaction for the Excess Conversion Value of the Notes. The purchased call options covered, subject to customary
anti-dilution adjustments, 4,005,811 shares of New River common stock at strike prices which correspond to the conversion price of the Notes. 
New River had recorded the cost of acquiring the purchased call option to additional paid in capital.

As a result of New River’s election on April 3, 2007 to settle the Excess Conversion Value in cash, Merrill Lynch was obligated to settle the purchased
call option in cash. The fair value of the purchased call option represents the Excess Conversion Value of the Notes, including the make-whole
premium. This fair value of $141.8 million was recorded by the Group as an asset within the purchase price allocation.

(f) Deferred taxes 
A net current deferred tax asset of $68.1 million and a net non-current deferred tax liability of $385.7 million were recognized in the purchase price
allocation, as analyzed below:

$’M

Deferred tax asset on New River net operating loss carry-forwards 59.5
Other deferred tax assets—current 8.6

Net deferred tax asset—current 68.1

Deferred tax liabilities on intangible assets—non-current(i) 386.1
Other deferred tax liabilities 2.8

Deferred tax liability—non-current 388.9
Other deferred tax assets—non-current (3.2)

Net deferred tax liability—non-current 385.7

(i) Principally relating to temporary differences arising in respect of the acquired intangible asset for developed technology (representing VYVANSE
for the treatment of ADHD in pediatric populations in the US) which is not deductible for tax purposes. The deferred tax liability will be credited 
to the statement of operations in line with the amortization of the intangible asset.

(g) Deferred revenue
In accordance with the requirements of EITF Issue No. 01-3, ‘Accounting in a Business Combination for Deferred Revenue of an Acquiree’, deferred
revenue of $3.1 million previously included within New River’s other current liabilities and $59.5 million included within other non-current liabilities relating
to the New River Collaboration Agreements were eliminated from the acquisition balance sheet through the purchase price allocation exercise, as the
enlarged Shire group had no external performance obligations in respect of this deferred revenue following the acquisition.

(h) Restructuring costs 
An estimate of restructuring costs of $3.6 million accounted for in accordance with EITF Issue No. 95-3 ‘Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with
Purchase Business Combinations’, was recognized as a liability assumed in the purchase business combination within Accounts payable and accrued
expenses. These costs primarily relate to employee severance costs and the cost of exiting New River’s Virginia facilities. These costs were paid in 2007.
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Supplemental disclosure of pro-forma information
The following unaudited pro-forma financial information for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 assumes the Jerini acquisition occurred
on January 1, 2008, for the year ended December 31, 2007 assumes the Jerini acquisition occurred on January 1, 2007, and for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 assumes the New River acquisition occurred on January 1, 2006. The unaudited pro-forma financial information
which includes Jerini is based upon Shire’s ownership interest of 98.6% of Jerini at December 31, 2008. The unaudited pro-forma financial information
is not necessarily indicative of what the consolidated results of operations actually would have been had the acquisition been completed at the dates
indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro-forma financial information does not purport to project the future results of operations of the combined Group.

2008 2007 2006
$’M $’M $’M

Revenues 3,031.6 2,461.7 1,796.5
Net income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles 114.7 204.6 105.1
Net income from continuing operations 114.7 204.6 104.4
Net income 97.1 204.6 145.0

Per share amounts:
Net income from continuing operations per share—basic 21.2¢ 37.0¢ 19.2¢
Net income per Ordinary Share—basic 18.0¢ 37.0¢ 26.5¢
Net income from continuing operations per share—diluted 21.0¢ 36.4¢ 19.0¢
Net income per Ordinary Share—diluted 17.8¢ 36.4¢ 26.3¢

The unaudited pro-forma financial information above reflects the following pro-forma adjustments applied using the principles of SFAS No. 141:

Jerini
(i) an adjustment to decrease interest income by $9.1 million and $29.0 million in the years to December 31, 2008 and 2007 respectively, to reflect 

the interest foregone on the Group’s cash resources used to fund the acquisition of a majority voting interest in Jerini; and 

(ii) an adjustment to increase amortization expense by approximately $12.1 million and $18.2 million for the year to December 31, 2008 and 2007
respectively, to reflect amortization of intangible assets relating to the currently marketed product, over the estimated useful life of 17 years.

New River
(iii) an adjustment to eliminate revenues recognized by New River of $3.0 million and $34.3 million for the years to December 31, 2007 and 2006

respectively and expenses incurred by Shire of $50.0 million for the year to December 31, 2006 in connection with the New River Collaboration
Agreements;

(iv) an adjustment to increase interest expense by $25.3 million and $67.2 million for the years to December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively, 
to reflect the interest expense and amortization of deferred issue costs associated with the $1,300 million drawn down under the Facilities
Agreement (as defined in Note 20), which was entered into by Shire on February 21, 2007 for the purpose of financing the acquisition 
of New River;

(v) an adjustment to decrease interest income by $6.5 million and $18.6 million in the years to December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively, to reflect 
the interest foregone on the Group’s cash resources used to part fund the acquisition of New River;

(vi) an adjustment to increase amortization expense based on the estimated fair value of identifiable intangible assets from the purchase price allocation,
which are being amortized over their estimated useful lives over a range of 5 to 20 years, of approximately $28.1 million and $56.2 million for the
years to December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively; and

(vii)an adjustment to the weighted average number of shares used in the pro-forma EPS calculation to reflect the private placement of 42.9 million new
Ordinary Shares of Shire plc on February 20, 2007, the proceeds of which were used to partially fund the acquisition of New River, as if the private
placement took place on January 1, 2006.

The unaudited pro-forma financial information above does not include the New River IPR&D charge of $1,866.4 million and the IPR&D charge 
of $128.1 million in respect of FIRAZYR outside of the EU, both of which formed part of the preliminary purchase price allocations because they are
non-recurring in nature. The unaudited pro-forma financial information includes a charge of $81.8 million for the year to December 31, 2007 in respect
of New River cash settled SARs. Pursuant to SFAS No 123(R), ‘Share-based payments’ (‘SFAS No. 123(R)’), the liability for the cash settled SARs 
was revalued to fair value at each balance sheet date; these cash settled SARs were extinguished as a result of the acquisition.
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6 GAIN ON SALE OF PRODUCT RIGHTS

Disposal of the Beta range
In the year to December 31, 2008 Shire received cash consideration of $5.0 million from the divestment of the Beta range of hormone replacement
products to Meda AB, realizing a gain of $5.0 million.

Disposal of non-core products to Laboratorios Almirall S.A (‘Almirall’)
On December 18, 2007 the Group received cash consideration of $209.6 million, net of costs of $2.2 million arising on the transfer of product licenses,
in respect of the divestment of a portfolio of its non-core products, including SOLARAZE and VANIQA, to Almirall. The Group recognizes gains in
respect of these divested product rights when the relevant regulatory or other consents for the transfer of these product rights are obtained.

Following receipt of the relevant regulatory or other consents the Group recognized gains of $15.7 million and $114.8 million in the year to December
31, 2008 and 2007 respectively on disposal of assets and liabilities with a carrying value of $4.5 million and $62.1 million, including goodwill, intangibles
and inventory.

At December 31, 2008 the Group recorded as a deposit within Other current liabilities $12.5 million (2007: $32.7million) of proceeds from these
products where regulatory or other consents have yet to be obtained. See Note 11 for further information.

Disposal of EQUETRO
In September 2007 Shire sold EQUETRO to Validus Pharmaceuticals Inc. (‘Validus’) for a cash consideration of $7.5 million and transferred to Validus 
all post approval study commitments, resulting in a gain of $7.1 million being recorded in the year to December 31, 2007.

Other disposals
In the year to December 31, 2007 Shire also received cash consideration of $11.2 million in respect of the divestment of other non-core products
resulting in a gain of $5.9 million being recorded. In addition, the Group received cash consideration of $6.1 million for divested non-core products
where regulatory or other consents were yet to be obtained. At December 31, 2007 these proceeds were recorded as a deposit within Other 
accrued liabilities pending transfer of the relevant regulatory authorizations for the products.

Disposal of ADDERALL in the year to December 31, 2006
In September 2006, Shire disposed of its ADDERALL (immediate release mixed amphetamine salts) product to Duramed Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(‘Duramed’) for $63.0 million in cash, resulting in a gain of $63.0 million being recorded.

All assets disposed of during 2008, 2007 and 2006 formed part of the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment.

7 INTEGRATION COSTS

Jerini Integration
Integration costs of $10.3 million, primarily acquisition related advisory fees incurred by Jerini and costs relating to the integration of Jerini into Shire,
have been incurred in the year to December 31, 2008. 

New River Integration
Integration costs of $1.3 million in connection with the Group’s acquisition of New River were incurred in the year to December 31, 2007. At December
31, 2007 the integration of New River was completed and no further integration costs will be incurred.

TKT integration costs
In connection with the Group’s acquisition of TKT in July 2005, the Group’s management approved and initiated plans to restructure the operations 
of the enlarged Group to eliminate duplicate facilities and reduce costs.

Integration costs represent incremental costs incurred by the Group directly related to the absorption of the TKT business into the Group, including
expenditures for consulting and systems integration. The charges have been presented as integration costs in the Statement of Operations and are
accounted for solely within the HGT operating segment. Total costs of $5.6 million were incurred in the year to December 31, 2006 and these related 
to employee severance and retention payments for key TKT employees ($3.0 million), Information technology costs ($1.2 million) and other costs
relating to the integration of TKT ($1.4 million). 

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 95



96
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

8 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND RE-ORGANIZATIONS

Disposition of the vaccines business
On September 9, 2004 the Group completed the disposition of its vaccines business to IDB for a consideration of $120 million. As part of the
transaction, Shire entered into an agreement to provide IDB with a loan facility of up to $100 million, which could be drawn down over the four years
following completion. As at December 31, 2005, IDB had drawn down the entire $100 million loan. 

The transaction gave rise to an overall loss on disposition of the vaccines business of $41.1 million, recorded as a loss on disposition at completion 
in 2004 of $44.2 million and a subsequent provision release of $3.1 million being recognized during the year to December 31, 2005. 

This net loss on disposition of $41.1 million comprised a gain on disposition of net assets of $28.9 million together with a provision for a loss 
of $70 million out of the $100 million loan facility available to IDB. On February 14, 2006 the Group received $78.7 million from IDB, being the full
repayment of the $70.6 million injectable flu development drawings, together with accrued interest of $8.1 million. The repayment followed the
acquisition of IDB by GSK, after which IDB was provided with resources by GSK to fund the early repayment of the injectable flu tranche. 

At the time of the disposal, a provision of $70.0 million was charged to discontinued operations on the basis that there was no certainty of recovery 
of this amount. The $70.0 million provision was allocated against all of the pipeline development tranche ($29.4 million) and against $40.6 million of the
$70.6 million injectable flu development tranche.

Accordingly, the $78.7 million received in 2006 was recorded as follows:
— a gain on disposition of discontinued operations of $40.6 million (being the amount previously provided against the injectable flu development

tranche);
— settlement of the loan receivable balance of $31.6 million (being the unprovided component of the injectable flu development loan, plus recognized

and accrued interest); and
— interest income of $6.5 million (being interest earned in the year of $1.0 million and $5.5 million of interest earned but provided for in previous

periods).

The repayment of the $70.6 million injectable flu tranche had no tax effect.

On March 28, 2008 the Group agreed to a final settlement with IDB of $4.0 million for the outstanding pipeline development tranche and interest. 
The amount received was recorded within interest income for the year to December 31, 2008 in accordance with the method of allocating receipts
between interest and advances in the loan agreement.

9 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2008 of $395.0 million (December 31, 2007: $441.5 million), are stated net of a provision for sales discounts 
and doubtful accounts of $20.2 million (December 31, 2007: $9.8 million).

The movement in the provision for sales discounts and doubtful accounts is as follows:
2008 2007 2006
$’M $’M $’M

As at January 1, 9.8 8.8 9.7
Charged to operations 95.0 60.1 47.1
Utilization (84.6) (59.1) (48.0)

As at December 31, 20.2 9.8 8.8

Revenues are mainly derived in North America (76% of total revenues) from agreements with major pharmaceutical companies and relationships with
pharmaceutical wholesale distributors and retail pharmacy chains. Material customers are disclosed in Note 27.
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10 INVENTORIES

Inventories at December 31, 2008 of $154.5 million (December 31, 2007: $174.1 million) are stated at the lower of cost or market and are analyzed
as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007
$’M $’M

Finished goods 41.4 67.6
Work-in-process 78.7 66.2
Raw materials 34.4 40.3

154.5 174.1

During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group wrote down the value of its DYNEPO inventory to the lower of cost or market, a write-down 
of $48.8 million. Changes in the external environment during the year, including the launch of several competing bio-similars at lower prices has 
made DYNEPO uneconomic for the Group. Accordingly during the year to December 31, 2008 the Group decided to stop commercializing 
DYNEPO. Product sales were wound down over the second half of 2008 as all patients were transferred off DYNEPO by the end of 2008.

At December 31, 2008 inventories included $11.5 million (2007: $nil) of costs related to inventories capitalized prior to the regulatory approval of the
relevant product.

11 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

At December 31, 2008 assets held-for-sale had a carrying value of $16.6 million (December 31, 2007: $10.6 million) principally comprising JOI and 
JPT acquired through the Jerini acquisition which the Group intends to divest ($14.9 million). For further details in respect of these assets, see Note 5.

Other assets held-for-sale of $1.7 million (2007: $10.6 million) primarily represent intangible assets and attributed goodwill for certain products divested
to Almirall in 2007 of $1.7 million (2007: $8.3 million). The recognition of the gains arising on the disposal of these products and the de-recognition of
the related assets have been deferred pending the completion of the transfer of the relevant regulatory and other consents to the acquirer. For further
details see Note 6. These assets form part of the Specialty Pharmaceuticals operating segment.

12 PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Prepaid expenses 47.6 38.1
Income tax receivable 33.2 19.2
Value added taxes receivable 19.3 10.8
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (‘SERP’) investment (see Note 30) 7.2 0.9
Other current assets 34.1 56.3

141.4 125.3

At December 31, 2007 Other current assets included $23.0 million, payable by Shire’s insurance companies as a contribution towards the settlement
of the TKT Class Action Shareholder Suit, see Note 24(d). This amount was paid into escrow by the insurance companies during the year to
December 31, 2008. The settlement was approved by the Court on June 11, 2008.
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13 INVESTMENTS
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Investments in private companies 19.3 23.2
Available-for-sale securities 6.1 62.1
Equity method investments 17.5 24.9

42.9 110.2

The Group recorded impairments of $58.0 million on its investments in private companies and available-for-sale securities during the year to December
31, 2008 (2007: $3.0 million; 2006: $2.1 million). See Note 29.

(i) Investments in private companies 
During the year to December 31, 2008 there were no additions to investments in private companies. During the years to December 31, 2007 and 2006
the Group had additions to investments of $6.2 million and $8.0 million respectively in respect of increased equity interests in ViroChem Pharma Inc.

During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group recorded impairments of $nil million (2007: $nil; 2006: $1.8 million) against its investments in private
companies. The 2006 impairment was based on a decline in the estimates of the fair value of certain private companies that the Group concluded 
were other-than-temporary.

(ii) Available-for-sale securities 
Renovo Group plc
On June 19, 2007 Shire signed a development and license agreement with Renovo Limited (‘Renovo’), an affiliate of Renovo Group plc to develop
and commercialize JUVISTA, Renovo’s novel drug candidate which at the time of entering into the development and license agreement was in late
Phase 2 development, outside the EU. In accordance with this agreement, on August 20, 2007 Shire made an equity investment of $50.0 million 
for 12.4 million Ordinary Shares in Renovo Group plc, which represented 6.5% of the total outstanding shares in Renovo Group plc immediately after
the issue. The Group has accounted for this investment as an available-for-sale security in accordance with SFAS No. 115 ‘Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities’. For further information on the development and license agreement, see Note 24.

Avexa Limited (‘Avexa’)
On January 22, 2007 Shire amended its out-license agreement with Avexa relating to the investigational HIV compound SPD754, to extend Avexa’s
exclusive commercialization rights to include the US and Canadian markets. In return, Shire received an up-front cash payment of $10 million, eight
million additional Avexa shares valued at $2.9 million (taking its shareholding in Avexa to just over 8%) and will receive further milestones and royalty
payments upon approval and commercialization of the product.

In March 2007, Avexa reported positive Phase 2b results for SPD754 and initiated a capital raising program, including a rights issue, to fund Phase 3
trials. Shire has fully participated in the rights issue and accordingly has recognized an additional investment of $3.6 million.

In August 2008, Shire granted Avexa an option for 18 months to amend the license agreement to reduce the sales royalties and to remove future
milestone payments for an aggregate payment of $19.0 million in cash upon exercise of the option. Shire received $5.0 million of additional Avexa
shares for the option grant, (equal to 18.6 million shares) taking its holding in Avexa to just over 11%. 

Other-than-temporary impairment of available-for-sale securities
The Group recorded other-than-temporary impairments of $58.0 million, $3.0 million and $0.3 million against its available-for-sale securities in the 
years to December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively.

During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group recognized impairment charges in respect of its available-for-sale securities totaling $58.0 million, including
$44.3 million for the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc. These amounts represent unrealized holding losses that have been re-classified out of other
comprehensive income into earnings in the period, as management has concluded that the impairment is other-than-temporary. 

The decline in the market value of the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc initially arose from the results of clinical trials for JUVISTA announced
over 2007 and 2008. During the third quarter of 2008, in considering whether the decline in value was temporary or ‘other-than-temporary’ under 
US GAAP the Group considered the following factors: the severity of the decline from historical cost (87%) and its duration (eleven months); market
analysts’ targets of Renovo Group plc’s share price for the next 18–24 months; and the revised expected filing date for JUVISTA due to the adoption 
of a sequential rather than parallel Phase 3 development plan. 

These factors, together with the significant decline in global equity markets during the third quarter of 2008 meant that the Group was unable to
reasonably estimate the period over which a full recovery in the value of its investment in Renovo Group plc could occur. As such, the Group concluded
that for US GAAP purposes the decline in value was ‘other-than-temporary’.

In such circumstances US GAAP requires the full difference between the book value of the investment and the fair (market) value be recognized as an
other-than-temporary impairment. Accordingly the Group recognized an impairment charge of $44.3 million for its investment in Renovo Group plc
through the Statement of Operations in the third quarter of 2008. For purposes of computing the impairment charge fair value was assumed to be 
£0.26 per share, representing the closing price of Renovo Group plc securities on the London Stock Exchange on September 30, 2008. If in the future
JUVISTA’s Phase 3 trials report positively and Renovo Group plc’s other products progress through development, Renovo Group plc’s share price could
react favorably and the Group may recover some or all of this impairment loss. Any future potential increases in the value of Renovo Group plc will be
recognized through other comprehensive income. The closing price of Renovo Group plc securities on the London Stock Exchange on December 31,
2008 was £0.20, and the carrying value of the Group’s investment in Renovo Group plc was $3.6 million. 
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13 INVESTMENTS (continued)

Realized gain on divestment of available-for-sale securities
Other (expense)/income, net includes a gain of $9.4 million from the sale of Shire’s available-for-sale investment in Questcor Pharmaceutical Inc., 
a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on providing prescription drugs for central nervous system (CNS) disorders. Shire received cash
consideration of $10.3 million on the sale of this investment.

During 2007, Shire sold an investment in part of its portfolio of available-for-sale securities, valued at $0.4 million, realizing a gain on the sale of $0.1
million. In 2006, there were no sales of available-for-sale securities. 

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007

Equity method investments $’M $’M

GSK Partnership 5.1 7.6
GeneChem Funds 6.1 10.4
Other 6.3 6.9

17.5 24.9

(a) GSK Partnership
The Group has accounted for its commercialization partnership with GSK (through which the products 3TC and ZEFFIX are marketed in Canada), 
using the equity method of accounting. The Group’s 50% share of the partnership is included within Equity in earnings of equity method investees. 

(b) GeneChem Funds
The GeneChem Technologies Venture Fund and the GeneChem Therapeutics Venture Fund (‘the Funds’) are Canadian limited partnerships investing 
in healthcare research and development companies, in which the Group owns 30% and 11% of the issued shares respectively. At December 31, 2008
the Funds’ net assets totaled approximately $46.8 million (2007: $68.8 million; 2006: $72.0 million). The Group is involved as a limited partner and has
been involved in the Funds since 1997. In August 2008, Shire sold GeneChem Financial Corporation, to its management for CAD$2.4 million, payable
over two years. Accordingly, Shire has ceased to be the general partner of the Funds. The Group’s exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with
the Funds is limited to the carrying value of the investment, $6.1 million at December 31, 2008.

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Land and buildings 267.6 198.0
Office furniture, fittings and equipment 228.2 177.1
Warehouse, laboratory and manufacturing equipment 80.1 54.8
Assets under construction 164.3 94.4

740.2 524.3
Less: Accumulated depreciation (206.0) (155.7)

534.2 368.6

Depreciation expense for the years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $77.2 million, $65.3 million, and $48.1 million respectively. 
The expense included impairment losses of $2.2 million, $1.8 million and $0.5 million in the years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 respectively.
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15 GOODWILL
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Goodwill arising on businesses acquired 350.8 219.4

The changes in the net book value of goodwill for the years to December 31, 2008 and 2007 are shown in the table below:
2008 2007
$’M $’M

As at January 1, 219.4 237.4
Acquisitions 148.0 —
Adjustments relating to prior year acquisitions — (15.0)
Re-classified to assets held-for-sale — (1.0)
Disposals — (5.0)
Foreign currency translation (16.6) 3.0

As at December 31, 350.8 219.4

During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group acquired more than a 98% voting interest in Jerini for cash consideration of $556.5 million which
resulted in goodwill of $148.0 million (see Note 5). This goodwill has been attributed to the HGT reporting segment.

During the year to December 31, 2007 the Group attributed $6.0 million of goodwill to the divested portfolio of non-core product rights sold to Almirall,
of which $0.4 million remains within assets held-for-sale at December 31, 2008, (see Note 11). Goodwill attributed to the divestment arose in the
Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment.

During the year to December 31, 2007 the Group acquired New River for $2.6 billion through a purchase business combination. No goodwill arose 
on the acquisition, as pursuant to SFAS No. 141, the excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of the acquisition
totaling $146.3 million (including those adjustments arising in the second half of the year to December 31, 2008 as outlined in Note 5) has been
allocated pro-rata to reduce the values that would otherwise have been ascribed to acquired intangible assets and IPR&D (see Note 5).

In the year to December 31, 2007 the Group reduced goodwill arising on the acquisition of TKT by $15.0 million. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, 
the Group is required to first reduce goodwill to zero and then to reduce non-current intangible assets arising on acquisition for all changes in estimates
related to tax contingencies and the elimination of valuation allowances established at the time of the acquisition, regardless of the time elapsed since
the date of acquisition. Accordingly the Group reduced the goodwill in respect of the TKT acquisition by $11.0 million due to the elimination of a
valuation allowance established against acquired deferred tax assets and the goodwill was further reduced by $4.0 million due to a change in estimate
in respect of pre-acquisition income tax contingencies.

At December 31, 2008 goodwill of $202.4 million (2007: $203.9 million) is held in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment and $148.4 million (2007:
$15.5 million) in the HGT segment.

16 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Other intangible assets:
Intellectual property rights acquired 2,389.9 2,116.8
Favorable manufacturing contracts 8.7 8.9

2,398.6 2,125.7
Less:
Accumulated amortization (437.0) (321.6)
Impairment charges (136.7) (39.6)

1,824.9 1,764.5

Intellectual property rights relate to currently marketed products. At December 31, 2008 the net book value of these intellectual property rights 
for products with sales recorded in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals operating segment was $1,244.9 million (December 31, 2007: $1,440.6 million) 
and in the HGT operating segment was $579.3 million (December 31, 2007: $322.4 million).
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16 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (continued)

The increase in the net book value of other intangible assets for the year to December 31, 2008 is shown in the table below:
Other

intangible
assets

$’M

As at January 1, 2008 1,764.5
Acquisitions 350.8
Amortization charged (127.9)
Assets transferred to held-for-sale (0.1)
Impairment charges (97.1)
New River purchase price allocation adjustment (24.1)
Foreign currency translation (41.2)

As at December 31, 2008 1,824.9

During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group acquired intangible assets totaling $350.8 million, principally relating to FIRAZYR ($315.7 million) 
for the treatment of acute HAE in the EU (acquired through the Jerini business combination), and DAYTRANA ($25.0 million). The weighted average
amortization period for acquired assets is 17 years. Intangible asset acquisitions exclude $263.1 million of IPR&D acquired through the Jerini acquisition
and the acquisition of METAZYM from Zymenex which was immediately charged to the Consolidated Statement of Operations at the acquisition date
(see Note 5). 

Amortization charged for the three years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $127.9 million, $95.8 million and $56.3 million, respectively.

The Group recorded impairments of $97.1 million, $0.4 million and $1.1 million in the years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 respectively,
recorded within Selling, general and administrative costs. During the year to December 31, 2008 the Group recognized impairment charges of
$97.1 million, of which $94.6 million relates to the write-down of its DYNEPO intangible asset to fair value ($nil). Changes in the external environment,
including the launch of several competing bio-similars at lower prices has made DYNEPO uneconomic for the Group. Accordingly the Group has
decided to stop commercializing DYNEPO. Product sales were wound down over the second half of 2008 as all patients were transferred off
DYNEPO by the end of 2008. The fair value of DYNEPO has been determined using an expected present value technique. The impairment charge
relates to the Specialty Pharmaceuticals operating segment.

Following the resolution of uncertainties during the year to December 31, 2008 principally relating to the tax treatment of certain items incurred by
New River, the Group changed its estimates of deferred taxes from those estimates made in the New River purchase price allocation. In accordance
with EITF 93-7 ‘Uncertainties Related to Income Taxes in a Purchase Business Combination’, the effect of resolving these uncertainties has been
applied to decrease non-current intangible assets by $24.1 million as no goodwill arose on the acquisition of New River, (see Note 5).

The useful economic lives of all intangible assets that continue to be amortized under SFAS No. 142 have been assessed. Management estimates that
the annual amortization charges in respect of intangible assets held at December 31, 2008 will be approximately $137 million for each of the five years
to December 31, 2013. Estimated amortization expense can be affected by various factors including future acquisitions, disposals of product rights,
foreign exchange movements and the technological advancement and regulatory approval of competitor products.

17 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

SERP investment (see Note 30) — 7.0
Deferred financing costs (see Note 20) 11.5 16.6
Other assets 6.9 3.3

18.4 26.9

Further details of the SERP investment are provided in Note 30. The amount shown above is the cash surrender value of life insurance policies, which 
is backed by short-term investments.
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18 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Trade accounts payable 102.4 79.6
Accrued rebates—Medicaid 162.6 114.3
Accrued rebates—Managed care 59.9 32.3
Sales return reserve 47.1 39.5
Accrued bonuses 62.0 59.6
Accrued employee compensation and benefits payable 36.7 35.0
Accrued coupons 4.0 9.0
Research and development accruals 29.3 38.2
Marketing accruals 22.1 19.0
Deferred revenue 9.6 11.1
Accrued settlement costs 2.6 51.5
Other accrued expenses 170.3 185.1

708.6 674.2

At December 31, 2007 Accrued settlement costs included $50.0 million, for the settlement of the TKT Class Action Shareholder Suit, see Note 24(d).
This amount was paid into escrow by Shire ($27.0 million) and Shire’s insurance companies ($23.0 million—see Note 12) during the year to December
31, 2008. The settlement was approved by the Court on June 11, 2008.

19 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Income taxes payable 25.8 47.3
Value added taxes 4.4 6.0
Derivative financial instruments 46.9 2.8
Other accrued liabilities 27.2 40.4

104.3 96.5

20 LONG-TERM DEBT 

Shire 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 
On May 9, 2007 Old Shire issued $1,100 million in principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 and convertible into fully paid Shire Ordinary
Shares of (the ‘Bonds’). The net proceeds of issuing the Bonds, after deducting the commissions and other direct costs of issue, totaled $1,081.7 million. 

The Bonds were issued at 100% of their principal amount, and unless previously purchased and canceled, redeemed or converted, will be redeemed
on May 9, 2014 (the ‘Final Maturity Date’) at their principal amount. 

The Bonds bear interest at 2.75% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on November 9 and May 9. The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Company, and rank pari passu and rateably, without any preference amongst themselves, and
equally with all other existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company.

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Company, (the ‘Call Option’), at their principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest if:
(i) at any time after May 23, 2012 if on no less than 20 dealing days in any period of 30 consecutive dealing days the value of Shire’s Ordinary Shares
underlying each Bond in the principal amount of $100,000 would exceed $130,000; or (ii) at any time conversion rights shall have been exercised,
and/or purchases and corresponding cancelations, and/or redemptions effected in respect of 85% or more in principal amount of Bonds originally
issued. The Bonds may also be redeemed at the option of the Bond-holder at their principal amount including accrued but unpaid interest on May 9,
2012 (the ‘Put Option’), or following the occurrence of change of control. The Bonds are repayable in US dollars, but also contain provisions entitling
the Company to settle redemption amounts in Pounds sterling, or in the case of the Final Maturity Date and following exercise of the Put Option, by
delivery of the underlying Shire Ordinary Shares and a cash top-up amount.

The Bonds are convertible into Shire Ordinary Shares during the conversion period, being the period from June 18, 2007 until the earlier of: (i) the close of business
on the date falling 14 days prior to the Final Maturity Date; (ii) if the Bonds have been called for redemption by the Company, the close of business 14 days before the
date fixed for redemption; (iii) the close of business on the day prior to a Bond-holder giving notice of redemption in accordance with the conditions; and (iv) the giving
of notice by the trustee that the Bonds are accelerated by reason of the occurrence of an event of default.

Upon conversion, the Bond-holder is entitled to receive Shire Ordinary Shares at the initial conversion price of $33.5879 per Shire Ordinary Share,
(subject to adjustment as outlined below), being 2,977.26265 shares per $100,000 denomination. The initial conversion price is subject to adjustment
in respect of (i) any dividend or distribution by the Company, (ii) a change of control and (iii) customary anti-dilution adjustments for, inter alia, share
consolidations, share splits, spin-off events, rights issues, bonus issues and re-organizations. The Shares issued on conversion will be delivered
credited as fully paid, and will rank pari passu in all respects with all fully paid Shares in issue on the relevant conversion date.
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20 LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

On the issuance of the Bonds, the Company evaluated whether: (a) the conversion feature of such the issuance should be bifurcated from the debt
host and separately accounted for as a derivative instrument in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No.133 or (b) the conversion feature meets
the criteria within SFAS No. 133 for exemption from treatment as a derivative instrument. As the conversion feature in the Bonds qualifies for the SFAS
No.133 exemption from treatment as a derivative instrument, the Bonds are accounted for by the Company in accordance with APB 14. In accordance
with APB 14 no portion of the proceeds of the Bonds has been allocated to the conversion feature and the Bonds have been recorded at their principal
amount within non-current liabilities.

In connection with the Scheme of Arrangement Shire entered into:

(i) a supplemental trust deed dated April 15, 2008 between Shire plc, Old Shire and BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee (the
‘Supplemental Trust Deed’) relating to a trust deed dated May 9, 2007 (the ‘Trust Deed’) constituting the US $1,100,000,000 2.75% Convertible
Bonds due 2014 (the ‘Convertible Bonds’) originally issued by Shire; and

(ii) an accession and amendment agreement dated April 15, 2008 between Shire plc, Old Shire, BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee
and The Bank of New York as Paying and Conversion Agent (the ‘Accession and Amendment Agreement’) relating to a paying and conversion
agency agreement dated May 9, 2007 (the ‘Agency Agreement’) between Old Shire, BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee and 
The Bank of New York as Paying and Conversion Agent.

The following is a description of the material amendments to the Trust Deed, effected pursuant to the Supplemental Trust Deed, and to the Agency
Agreement, effected pursuant to the Accession and Amendment Agreement, each of which took effect on May 23, 2008, immediately prior to the
Scheme of Arrangement becoming effective.

Shire plc was substituted in place of Old Shire as principal obligor under, and issuer of, the Convertible Bonds, and Shire plc acceded to, and 
assumed all Old Shire obligations under, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement. Old Shire ceased to be a party to the Trust Deed and the Agency
Agreement. The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds were amended and re-stated in order to,
among other things, provide that the Convertible Bonds will, following the substitution, be convertible into Ordinary Shares of Shire plc.

Direct costs of issue of the Bonds paid in the year to December 31, 2007 totaled $18.3 million. These costs are being amortized to interest expense
using the effective interest method over the five-year period to the Put Option date. At December 31, 2008 $12.6 million was deferred ($3.8 million
within other current assets and $8.8 million within other non-current assets).

Multi-currency Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement
In connection with the acquisition of New River, Shire plc entered into a Multi-currency Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement (the ‘Facilities
Agreement’) with ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Barclays Capital, Citigroup Global Markets Limited and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (the ‘Arrangers’) on
February 20, 2007. The Facilities Agreement comprised three credit facilities: (i) a committed multi-currency five year term loan facility in an aggregate
amount of $1,000 million (‘Term Loan A’), (ii) a committed multi-currency 364 day term (with a further 364 day extension option) loan facility in an
aggregate amount of $300 million (‘Term Loan B’) and (iii) a committed five year revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount of $1,000 million (the
‘RCF’ and, together with Term Loan A and Term Loan B, the ‘Facilities’). Shire plc has agreed to act as guarantor for any of its subsidiaries that borrow
under the Facilities Agreement.

On April 18, 2007 the Group fully utilized Term Loan A of $1,000 million and Term Loan B of $300 million to partially fund the acquisition of New River. 
In May 2007 Shire issued $1,100 million principal amount of the Bonds. The proceeds of the issue were used to repay and cancel $800 million of Term
Loan A and all of Term Loan B in accordance with the terms of the Facilities Agreement. The remaining $200 million drawn down under Term Loan A
was repaid on June 29, 2007. 

On July 19, 2007, the Group entered into a syndication and amendment agreement in relation to the Facilities Agreement dated February 20, 2007
(the ‘Amended Facilities Agreement’), which increased the RCF to an aggregate amount of $1,200 million, amended the covenant relating to the ratio of
Net Debt to EBITDA and syndicated the RCF between the following banks which have the following commitment: ABN Amro Bank N.V., ($200 million);
Barclays Capital, ($200 million); Citigroup Global Markets Limited, ($200 million); The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, ($200 million); Lloyds TSB Bank plc,
($200 million); Bank of America N.A., ($100 million); and Morgan Stanley Bank, ($100 million).

The RCF, which includes a $250 million swingline facility, may be used for general corporate purposes and matures on February 20, 2012. The
availability of loans under the RCF is subject to customary conditions, including the absence of any defaults thereunder and the accuracy (in all
material respects) of Shire’s representations and warranties contained therein.

The interest rate on each loan drawn under the RCF for each interest period, as determined by the Group, is the percentage rate per annum which 
is the aggregate of the applicable margin (ranging from 0.40 to 0.80% per annum, depending on the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA for the preceding
period) and LIBOR for the applicable currency and interest period. Shire also pays a commitment fee on undrawn amounts at 35% per annum of the
applicable margin.

The Amended Facilities Agreement includes requirements that (i) Shire’s ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Amended Facilities Agreement)
does not exceed 3.5 to 1 for either the twelve month period ending December 31 or June 30 unless Shire has exercised its option (which is subject
to certain conditions) to increase it to 4.0 to 1 for two consecutive testing dates; and (ii) that the ratio of EBITDA to Net Interest (as defined in the
Facilities Agreement) must not be less than 4.0 to 1, for either the twelve month period ending December 31 or June 30, and (iii) additional limitations
on the creation of liens, disposal of assets, incurrence of indebtedness, making of loans, giving of guarantees and granting security over assets.
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20 LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Upon a change of control of Shire or upon the occurrence of an event of default and the expiration of any applicable cure period, the total
commitments under the Facilities may be canceled and/or all or part of the loans, (together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued or
outstanding) may become immediately due and payable. Events of default under the Amended Facilities Agreement include: (i) non-payment of any
amounts due under the Facilities; (ii) failure to satisfy any financial covenants; (iii) material misrepresentation in any of the finance documents; (iv) failure
to pay, or certain other defaults under other financial indebtedness; (v) certain insolvency events or proceedings; (vi) material adverse changes in the
business, operations, assets or financial condition of the group; (vii) certain US Employee Retirement Income Security Act breaches which would have
a material adverse effect; (viii) if it becomes illegal for Shire or any of its subsidiaries that are parties to the Amended Facility Agreement to perform their
obligations or (ix) if Shire or any subsidiary of Shire which is party to the Amended Facility Agreement repudiates the Amended Facility Agreement or
any Finance Document (as defined in the Amended Facility Agreement).

In connection with the Scheme of Arrangement, with effect from May 23, 2008, Old Shire entered into an accession and amendment deed dated April
15, 2008 between Shire plc (formerly Shire Limited), Old Shire, certain subsidiaries of Shire plc and Barclays Bank plc as Facility Agent (the ‘Accession
and Amendment Deed’) relating to the Amended Facilities Agreement. The following is a description of the material amendments to the Amended
Facilities Agreement, affected pursuant to the Accession and Amendment Deed, which took effect on May 23, 2008, immediately prior to the Scheme
of Arrangement becoming effective.

Shire plc acceded to the Facility Agreement as a borrower and guarantor, and Shire Holdings UK Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Old Shire,
acceded to the Facility Agreement as a borrower. Old Shire ceased to be a party to the Facility Agreement as a guarantor (although it remains a party
to the Facility Agreement as a borrower). The Amended Facilities Agreement was amended and re-stated in order to take account of the fact that Shire
plc is incorporated in Jersey and tax resident in the Republic of Ireland, to exclude the Scheme of Arrangement between Shire plc and its shareholders
from the mandatory prepayment provisions contained in the Amended Facilities Agreement, and amend the financial covenants contained in the
Amended Facilities Agreement in order to ensure that if any amount of interest awarded in the TKT appraisal rights litigation differs from that provided
for in Shire’s accounts, any excess or shortfall would be treated as if it had been provided for on a pro-rata basis in accounting periods up to the time 
of judgment. This amendment was made to avoid a technical breach of the Amended Facilities Agreement in the accounting period in which the any
judgment occurs.

During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Group paid $14.5 million for the arrangement of the Facilities of which $1.2 million has been amortized 
in the year to December 31, 2008 ($9.4 million amortized in the year to December 31, 2007). The remaining arrangement costs of $3.9 million, which
relate to the RCF, remain deferred at December 31, 2008 and are being amortized over the estimated term of the facility ($1.2 million within other
current assets and $2.7 million within other non-current assets). 

On November 7, 2008 Shire utilized $190.0 million of the facility to part fund the TKT appraisal rights litigation settlement. The loan was repaid in full
prior to December 31, 2008 (see Note 24).

New River 3.5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2013 
During July 2006, New River issued $137.8 million of 3.5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the ‘Notes’). Prior to the acquisition of New River
during April 2007, the Notes were convertible according to their terms following the New River share price having exceeded predetermined levels.
Following Shire’s acquisition of New River, the Notes also became convertible as a result of the change of control of New River, entitling Note holders 
to a make-whole premium in the form of an increase in the conversion rate if the Notes were tendered for conversion prior to May 17, 2007. 

All of the outstanding Notes were tendered for conversion in the period between the acquisition and May 17, 2007 and were settled at their fair value 
of $279.4 million.

21 OTHER LONG-TERM DEBT

On August 17, 2007 Shire entered into a multi-year lease on laboratory and office space in Lexington, Massachusetts for its HGT business unit. 
The lease expires in 2023 although Shire has the option to extend the term of the lease for additional periods up to a total of 15 years.

Pursuant to the requirements of EITF 97-10, ‘The Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction’, as the Group is in substance the owner of the
property during the construction phase, the related asset and corresponding financial obligation have been recorded within Property, plant and
equipment, net and Other long-term debt, as a building financing obligation. The fair value of the building element at inception of the arrangement of
$32.7 million has been included in the balance sheet in Property, plant and equipment, net. In accordance with SFAS No. 13, ‘Accounting for Leases’,
the land element of the lease has been accounted for as an operating lease. 

At the completion of the construction period, the Group will review the building for potential sale-leaseback treatment in accordance with SFAS No. 98,
‘Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback Transactions Involving Real Estate, Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate, Definition of the Lease Term, and Initial
Direct Costs of Direct Financing Leases—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 13, 66, and 91 and a rescission of FASB Statement No. 26 and
Technical Bulletin No. 79-11’. However, based on its preliminary analysis, the Group determined that the building will not qualify for sale-leaseback
treatment. Therefore, the building, improvements and associated liabilities will remain on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet throughout the lease
term. The building and tenant improvements will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Concurrent with entering into the lease, Shire also entered into an agreement which provided Shire, inter alia, with the option to purchase or lease
additional manufacturing, laboratory and office space in Lexington, Massachusetts. During 2008 Shire has purchased and leased additional
manufacturing, laboratory and office space pursuant to this option agreement.
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22 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
$’M $’M

Income taxes payable 220.4 320.8
SERP (see Note 30) 1.8 3.6
Deferred revenue 29.5 13.9
Deferred rent 16.1 16.8
Insurance provisions 18.1 14.7
Other accrued liabilities 5.4 5.8

291.3 375.6

23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
As outlined in Note 2(x), on January 1, 2008 the Group adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157 as they relate to financial assets and financial
liabilities. The following are the major categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis during the year to
December 31, 2008 using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1); significant other observable inputs (Level 2); and significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$’M $’M $’M $’M

Financial assets:
Available-for-sale securities 6.1 6.1 — —
Equity method investments 6.1 — 6.1 —
Derivatives(i) 2.7 — 2.7 —
Financial liabilities:
Derivatives(i) 46.9 — 46.9 —

(i) Derivatives comprise swap and forward foreign exchange contracts.

Certain estimates and judgments were required to develop the fair value amounts. The fair value amounts shown above are not necessarily indicative 
of the amounts that the Group would realize upon disposition, nor do they indicate the Group’s intent or ability to dispose of the financial instrument.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each material class of financial instrument:
— available-for-sale securities—the fair values of available-for-sale investments are estimated based on quoted market prices for those investments; 
— equity method investments—the Group’s equity method investments comprise quoted and unquoted investments. The fair values of quoted

investments within the funds are estimated based on quoted market prices for those investments. For unquoted investments within the fund, the 
fair value is estimated using directly observable inputs other than quoted prices; and

— derivatives—derivative instruments comprise swap and forward foreign exchange contracts. The fair value of the swap and forward foreign
exchange contracts has been determined using an income approach based on current market expectations about the future cash flows.

Fair value of financial instruments
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Group’s financial instruments included cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities, accounts
receivable, investments, accounts payable and accrued expenses, Convertible Bonds, building finance obligations and derivative contracts. The carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short-term
maturity of these amounts. Available-for-sale marketable securities, investments and derivatives are recorded at fair values as indicated in the preceding
disclosures. The estimated fair values of the Group’s other financial instruments as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are summarized below. Certain
estimates and judgments were required to develop the fair value amounts. The fair value amounts shown below are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts that the Group would realize upon disposition, nor do they indicate the Group’s intent or ability to dispose of the financial instrument.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each material class of financial instrument:
— Convertible Bonds—the fair value of the Shire plc’s 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 is estimated by reference to the market price of the

instrument as the Convertible Bonds are publicly traded; and
— building financing obligations—the fair value of building financing obligations are estimated based on the discounted future cash flows using the

Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The carrying amounts and corresponding fair values of financial instruments are as follows:

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value 

$’M $’M $’M $’M

Financial assets:
Option over Avexa shares — — — 0.7
Financial liabilities:
Convertible Bonds 1,100.0 892.9 1,100.0 1,110.1
Building financing obligation 45.6 40.7 32.9 36.4

24 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Operating Leases
Future minimum payments presented below include operating lease payments and other fixed executory fees under operating lease arrangements 
as at December 31, 2008:

Operating
leases

$’M

2009 34.2
2010 26.5
2011 23.4
2012 16.1
2013 14.6
Thereafter 57.6

172.4

(i) Operating leases
The Group leases land, facilities, motor vehicles and certain equipment under operating leases expiring through 2025. Lease and rental expense
amounted to $32.6 million, $28.0 million and $23.7 million for the years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, which is predominately included 
in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of operations. 

(b) Letters of credit
As at December 31, 2008 the Group had the following letters of credit:

(i) an irrevocable standby letter of credit with Barclays Bank plc, in the amount of $4.0 million, providing security on the recoverability certain of
insurance claims. The Group has restricted cash of $4.0 million, as required by this letter of credit; and

(ii) an irrevocable standby letter of credit with Citigroup in the amount of $4.2 million, providing security on the payment of lease obligations. The Group
has restricted cash of $4.2 million, as required by this letter of credit.

(c) Commitments 
(i) Alba Therapeutics Corporation (‘Alba’)
On December 14, 2007 Shire acquired rights to SPD550 (also known as AT-1001) in all markets outside of the US and Japan, from Alba. SPD550 
is Alba’s lead inhibitor of barrier dysfunction in various gastrointestinal disorders that is currently in Phase 2 development for the treatment of Celiac
disease. Shire paid an upfront payment of $25 million (expensed as R&D in 2007) and will pay further development and sales milestones up to a
maximum of $300 million. Shire will also pay tiered royalties on net sales of the product. Tiered royalty rates will be single or double digit dependent
on annual net sales.

Alba and Shire have formed a joint development committee to monitor R&D activities of SPD550. Alba will fund all development until SPD550 has
completed Proof of Concept, which is expected to be in the first half of 2009, after which Shire and Alba will share equally development costs under 
a joint development plan.

(ii) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (‘Amicus’)
On November 7, 2007 Shire licensed from Amicus the rights to three pharmacological chaperone compounds in markets outside of the US: AMIGAL
for Fabry disease (Phase 2), PLICERA for Gaucher disease (Phase 2) and AT2220 for Pompe disease (Phase 2). Shire paid Amicus an upfront license
fee of $50 million (expensed as R&D in 2007), and will pay further development and sales-based milestones to a maximum of $390 million. Shire
will also pay tiered, double digit, royalties on net sales of the products. Shire and Amicus will pursue a joint development program toward market
approval in the US and Europe; expenses for this program will be shared equally.
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24 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(iii) JUVISTA
On June 19, 2007 Shire signed an agreement with Renovo to develop and commercialize JUVISTA, Renovo’s novel drug candidate being investigated
for the reduction of scarring in connection with surgery. Under the terms of the agreement Shire has the exclusive right to commercialize JUVISTA
worldwide, with the exception of EU member states.

Shire has remaining obligations to pay Renovo $25 million on the filing of JUVISTA with the FDA; up to $150 million on FDA approval; royalties on 
net sales of JUVISTA; and up to $525 million on the achievement of very significant sales targets. Shire will bear the cost of clinical trials designed
specifically for obtaining US regulatory approval. Renovo will bear the costs of clinical trials designed specifically for obtaining EU regulatory approval.
Shire and Renovo will share equally the costs of conducting global clinical trials that are designed for obtaining both US and EU regulatory approvals.

(iv) Women’s health products
In August 2006, Shire and Duramed (an affiliate of Barr) entered into an agreement related to SEASONIQUE, a number of products using Duramed’s
transvaginal ring technology and other oral products (the ‘Collaboration Products’). Under this agreement, Shire was required to re-imburse Duramed for
US development expenses incurred in respect of the Collaboration Products up to a maximum of $140 million over eight years from September 2006,
and Shire had the right to commercialize these products in a number of markets outside of North America, including the larger European markets.

US development expenses re-imbursed in the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled $30.0 million, and at December 31, 2008 the maximum future
re-imbursement for Duramed incurred US development expenditures was $95.6 million.

On February 24, 2009, Shire and Duramed amended this agreement and it will terminate on December 31, 2009. Pursuant to this amendment, Shire
agreed to return to Duramed its rights under the agreement effective February 24, 2009. Shire also agreed to re-imburse Duramed for incurred US
development expenditures in 2009 up to a maximum of $30.0 million. In addition, Shire agreed to a one-time payment to Duramed of $10.0 million 
and to forego royalties receivable from Barr and cost of goods otherwise payable by Barr to Shire in 2009 under the License Agreement between the
parties for the supply of the authorized generic of ADDERALL XR up to a maximum of $25.0 million.

(v) Other R&D and sales milestones
In addition to the commitments set out in (i) to (iv), at December 31, 2008 the Group had commitments payable on achievement of specified milestones
and fees payable for products under development in-licensed from third-parties of $1.0 million (2007: $5.3 million).

(vi) Clinical testing
At December 31, 2008 the Group had committed to pay approximately $99.5 million (2007: $77.6 million) to contract vendors for administering and
executing clinical trials. The Group expects to pay $40.7 million in 2009 (2007: $44.4 million in 2008). However, the timing of these payments is
dependent upon actual services performed by the organizations as determined by patient enrollment levels and related activities.

(vii) Contract manufacturing
At December 31, 2008 the Group had committed to pay approximately $67.0 million (2007: $109.7 million) in respect of contract manufacturing. 
The Group expects to pay $66.9 million of these commitments in 2009 (2007: $91.3 million in 2008).

(viii) Purchase and service commitments
At December 31, 2008 the Group had committed to pay approximately $42.6 million (2007: $49.4 million) in respect of commitments for purchases
and services, predominately relating to active pharmaceutical ingredients sourcing and IT outsourcing. The Group expects to pay $42.4 million of these
commitments in 2009 (2007: $31.0 million in 2008).

(ix) Investment commitments
At December 31, 2008 the Group had outstanding commitments to subscribe for interests in companies and partnerships for amounts totaling
$5.7 million (2007: $7.9 million) which may all be payable in 2009, depending on the timing of capital calls. 

(x) Capital commitments
At December 31, 2008, the Group has committed to spend $95.4 million in respect of capital projects, including commitments for the expansion and
improvements to office space at the Basingstoke UK headquarters and improvements to laboratory and office space leased by the HGT business 
at Lexington, Massachusetts which is expected to be all payable in 2009.
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24 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(d) Legal proceedings
General 
The Group accounts for litigation losses and insurance claims and provisions in accordance with SFAS No. 5, ‘Accounting for Contingencies’ (‘SFAS
No. 5’). Under SFAS No. 5, loss contingency provisions are recorded for probable losses when management is able to reasonably estimate the loss.
Where the estimated loss lies within a range and no particular amount within that range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum
amount is recorded. In other cases management’s best estimate of the loss is recorded. These estimates are developed substantially before the
ultimate loss is known and the estimates are refined in each accounting period in light of additional information becoming known. In instances where
the Group is unable to develop a reasonable estimate of loss, no litigation loss is recorded at that time. As information becomes known a loss provision
is set up when a reasonable estimate can be made. The estimates are reviewed quarterly and the estimates are changed when expectations are
revised. Any outcome upon settlement that deviates from the Group’s estimate may result in an additional expense in a future accounting period.

As at December 31, 2008 provisions for litigation losses, insurance claims and other disputes totaled $20.8 million (2007: $66.2 million).

Specific
ADDERALL XR
(i) Sandoz
In December 2006, Shire was notified that Sandoz Inc. (‘Sandoz’) had submitted an Abbreviated New Drug Application (‘ANDA’) under the Hatch-
Waxman Act seeking permission to market its generic versions of the 5mg, 10mg, 15mg, 20mg, 25mg and 30mg strengths of ADDERALL XR prior to
the expiration of US Patent No. 6,322,819 (‘the ‘819 Patent’) and US Patent No. 6,605,300 (‘the ‘300 Patent’), the Shire patents that cover ADDERALL
XR. On January 26, 2007 Shire filed suit in the US District Court for the District of Colorado for infringement of the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents. Pursuant to
the Hatch-Waxman Act, there is a 30-month stay with respect to Sandoz’ proposed generic products. In response to the parties’ summary judgment
motions, the court, in a decision dated September 24, 2008, (a) granted Shire’s motion to strike Sandoz’ affirmative defenses of alleged patent misuse
and sham litigation; (b) denied Sandoz’s motion of non-infringement; and (c) construed certain terms of the patent claims. Sandoz’ motion for
immediate appeal on the issue of whether a patentee who settles an earlier infringement case after a Markman ruling has issued is precluded under the
doctrine of collateral estoppel from relitigating claim-construction issues determined in the prior case (in this instance, the prior case was Shire v Impax
from the Delaware court) was granted by the Colorado court. On February 6, 2009, the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (‘CAFC’) also granted
Sandoz’ petition for appeal as to this question. The Colorado case remains administratively closed until there is a decision from the CAFC.

CARBATROL
(i) Nostrum 
In August 2003, the Group was notified that Nostrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (‘Nostrum’) had submitted an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act
seeking permission to market its generic version of the 300mg strength of CARBATROL (Nostrum’s ANDA product) prior to the expiration date of the
Group’s US patents for CARBATROL, US patent No. 5,912,013 (‘the ‘013 Patent’) and US patent No. 5,326,570 (‘the ‘570 Patent’). On September 18,
2003, Shire filed suit against Nostrum in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey alleging infringement of these two patents by
Nostrum’s ANDA and ANDA product. Pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman Act, there was a 30-month stay with respect to Nostrum’s ANDA product which
expired in February, 2006. Nostrum could be in a position to market its 300mg extended-release carbamazepine product upon FDA final approval of its
ANDA. On January 23, 2004 the Group amended the complaint to drop the allegations with respect to the ‘013 Patent while maintaining the suit with
respect to the ‘570 Patent. On July 17, 2006 the Court entered an order staying discovery.

In May 2008, the Group was notified that Nostrum had submitted an amendment to the above referenced ANDA seeking permission to market its
generic versions of the 100mg and 200mg strengths of CARBATROL prior to the expiration date of the Group’s ‘013 and ‘570 Patents. On July 2, 2008
Shire filed suit against Nostrum in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey alleging infringement of these two patents by Nostrum’s
ANDA and ANDA products. Pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman Act, there is a 30-month stay with respect to Nostrum’s 100mg and 200mg ANDA
products which will expire in November 2010. This case was referenced as related to the earlier filed case on Nostrum’s 300mg product and has been
assigned to the same Judge as the earlier ongoing case. In a December 15, 2008 decision the court decided that the two cases should proceed
separately. No trial date has been set for either case.
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24 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(ii) Corepharma
On March 30, 2006 the Group was notified that Corepharma LLC (‘Corepharma’) had filed an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking permission
to market its generic version of carbamazepine extended release products in 100mg, 200mg and 300mg strengths prior to the expiration date of the
‘013 and the ‘570 Patents. On May 17, 2006 Shire filed suit against Corepharma in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey
alleging infringement of these two patents by Corepharma’s ANDA and ANDA products. Pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman Act, there was a 30-month
stay with respect to Corepharma’s proposed generic products which expired in October 2008. The Court rendered a claim construction ruling on
March 26, 2008. On September 23, 2008 the Court issued a decision denying Corepharma’s summary judgment motion for non-infringement of the
‘570 patent. In an order dated October 31, 2008 the Court granted Corepharma’s motion for summary judgment of non-infringement of the ‘013
Patent. The parties submitted a joint pretrial order directed to the ‘570 Patent on December 5, 2008. A final pretrial conference has been set for March
3, 2009. No trial date has been set.

(iii) Teva 
On March 20, 2007 the Group was notified that Teva USA had filed an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking permission to market its generic
version of carbamazepine extended release products in 100mg, 200mg and 300mg strengths prior to the expiration date of the ‘013 and the ‘570
Patents. On May 2, 2007, Shire filed suit against Teva in the US District Court for the Southern District of New York alleging infringement of the ‘013 and
the ‘570 Patents by Teva’s ANDA and ANDA products. On August 23, 2007 Shire amended the complaint to drop the allegations with respect to the
‘013 Patent while maintaining the suit with respect to the ‘570 Patent. Teva USA raised counterclaims that the ‘570 and ‘013 Patents were not infringed.
Shire has offered Teva USA a covenant not to sue with respect to the ‘013 Patent. The Court held a status conference on October 16, 2007. Teva
withdrew its counterclaim directed to the ‘013 patent. The parties have submitted a discovery schedule to the Court. The Court conducted another
status conference on June 19, 2008. The parties have submitted a revised discovery schedule for the Court’s consideration. Fact and expert discovery
is to be completed by February 27, 2009. No trial date has been set.

(iv) Apotex
In May 2008, Shire was notified that Apotex Inc. had submitted an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking permission to market its generic
version of carbamazepine extended release products in 100mg, 200mg and 300mg prior to the expiration date of the ‘013 and the ‘570 Patents. On
July 2, 2008, Shire filed a lawsuit in the US District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against Apotex Inc., Apotex Corp. and Apotex Pharmaceutical
Holdings Inc. (collectively; ‘Apotex’) alleging infringement of the ‘013 and ‘570 Patents by Apotex ANDA and ANDA products. On July 17, 2008 Apotex
Inc. filed a declaratory judgment complaint against Shire for non-infringement and invalidity of the ‘570 and ‘013 patents in the District of New Jersey. 
In a December 28, 2008 decision the Texas Court transferred the case to New Jersey.

(v) Actavis
Shire has been notified that Actavis South Atlantic LLC has submitted an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking permission to market its generic
version of carbamazepine extended release products in 200mg and 300mg strengths prior to the expiration date of the ‘013 and the ‘570 Patents. 
On July 24, 2008, Shire filed a lawsuit in the US District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against Actavis South Atlantic LLC and Actavis Inc.
(collectively ‘Actavis’) alleging infringement of the ‘013 and ‘570 Patents by the Actavis ANDA and ANDA products. By an Order dated December 30,
2008 the judge in the Texas case sua sponte transferred the case to the District Court of New Jersey. The litigation was settled on February 20, 2009.
No payments to Actavis are involved in the settlement. As required by law, Shire will submit to the US Federal Trade Commission (‘FTC’) and the US
Department of Justice (‘DOJ’) all of the agreements entered into as part of this settlement.

REMINYL
On January 29, 2008 Generics UK Ltd commenced a rectification action in the UK seeking a declaration that the duration of the Supplementary
Protection Certificate (‘SPC’) for EP 236684, the patent that claims the use of galantamine for the treatment of Alzheimer’s disease, is zero (ie the period
of exclusivity conferred by the patent has already expired). This SPC represents the primary patent protection for REMINYL in the EU. The current term
of the SPC extension runs to January 2012. Absent the SPC extension, the patent would have expired in January 2007. REMINYL is entitled to ten
years data exclusivity in the UK, which will not expire until March 2010. A trial was held on December 10, 2008. No decision has been rendered to date.
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FOSRENOL
In February 2009, Shire received three Paragraph IV Notice letters, from Barr, Mylan and NATCO related to ANDA’s for generic versions of 500mg,
750mg and 1,000mg FOSRENOL. Shire is currently reviewing the details of these notice letters and, under the Hatch-Waxman regulations, has 45 days
from the date of each notice letter to determine if it will file a patent infringement suit. If Shire brings suit pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman regulations, 
a 30 month stay of approval, commencing on October 26, 2009, will be imposed on the FDA on each ANDA which is the subject of such a lawsuit.

VYVANSE
On February 24, 2009 Actavis Elizabeth LLC brought a lawsuit against the FDA seeking to overturn the FDA’s decision granting new chemical entity
exclusivity to VYVANSE. Shire believes the FDA’s decision was correct. VYVANSE has new chemical entity exclusivity through February 23, 2012 and
patents listed in the Orange Book which expire on June 29, 2023.

Appraisal rights 
In connection with Shire’s merger with TKT, former holders of approximately 11.7 million shares of TKT common stock submitted written demands 
to the Delaware Court of Chancery for appraisal of those shares and, as a result, elected not to accept the $37 per share merger consideration. 
On October 10, 2005 at the request of one of the holders to tender 365,000 shares at the merger price of $37 per share, TKT filed a motion to dismiss
the holder’s demand. On October 12, 2005 the Delaware Court of Chancery granted this motion, and the holder tendered the shares at the merger
consideration of $37 per share. Therefore, during 2008 former holders of approximately 11.3 million shares of TKT common stock maintained 
written demands for appraisal of these shares and had elected not to accept the $37 merger consideration. In November 2005, the Delaware Court 
of Chancery approved a stipulated consolidation order whereby actions brought by all petitioners were consolidated as one case. 

Such former holders were entitled to receive the fair value of these shares as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery. The determination 
of fair value is made excluding any element of value arising from the transaction, such as cost savings or business synergies. The Delaware Court 
of Chancery can ascribe a valuation to shares that is greater than, less than or equal to the merger price and may award interest on the amount
determined in the appraisal process.

On March 8, 2007 certain of the former TKT shareholders who previously asserted appraisal rights in connection with the Shire/TKT merger filed 
a second suit in the Delaware Chancery Court alleging, among other claims, breaches of fiduciary duty by TKT and certain members of its board 
in connection with the merger with Shire. Shire and TKT have been named as defendants as are four former directors of TKT. The new complaint
asserted a claim that the merger itself was not properly approved by a majority of the outstanding stock of TKT entitled to vote. The complaint sought
rescissory damages with interest, attorneys’ fees and costs. In January 2008 Shire and three of the other defendants (former TKT directors) filed 
a motion for summary judgment in respect of the five counts included in the second suit. In June 2008 the Court granted the motion in full with 
respect to the three other defendants and in part with respect to Shire. The remaining counts of the second suit relate to alleged breaches of fiduciary
duty by Dr Dennis Langer (a former TKT director) and Shire as well as the claim that the merger was not properly approved. 

On November 5, 2008 Shire announced that it had successfully settled all aspects of this litigation with all parties. Shire paid the same price of $37 per
share originally offered to all TKT shareholders at the time of the July 2005 merger, plus interest. The Delaware Chancery Court approved dismissal of
the case and Shire made payment to the dissenting shareholders on November 7, 2008. The settlement represents a total payment of $567.5 million,
representing consideration at $37 per share of $419.9 million and an interest cost of $147.6 million. 

Prior to reaching this settlement, the Group accrued interest based on a reasonable estimate of the amount that may be awarded by the Court 
to those former TKT shareholders who requested appraisal. This estimate of interest was based on Shire’s cost of borrowing. Between the close 
of the merger and November 5, 2008 the Group applied this interest rate on a quarterly compounding basis to the $419.9 million of consideration 
to calculate its provision for interest.

Upon reaching agreement in principle with all the dissenting shareholders, the Group determined that settlement had become the probable manner
through which the appraisal rights litigation would be resolved. Under current law, (although not applicable in this case because the merger was entered
into before the relevant amendment to the law became effective) the court presumptively awards interest in appraisal rights cases at a statutory rate
that is five percentage points above the Federal Reserve discount rate (as it varies over the duration of the case). In connection with the settlement, 
the Group agreed to an interest rate that approximates to this statutory rate. Based on the settlement, the Group amended the method of determining
its interest provision to reflect this revised manner of resolution, and recorded additional interest expense of $73.0 million in its consolidated financial
statements for the year to December 31, 2008 on reaching settlement with the dissenting shareholders. 
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The interest cost of $147.6 million has been recorded as interest expense in the Group’s statement of operations since the time of the merger, including
$87.3 million recorded in the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: $28.0 million; 2006: $24.6 million), inclusive of the additional charge for interest
recorded on reaching settlement with the dissenting shareholders.

Class Action Shareholder Suit
In January and February 2003, various parties filed purported securities fraud class action lawsuits against TKT and Richard Selden, TKT’s former 
Chief Executive Officer, in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts. In April 2003, the Court appointed a Lead Plaintiff and Lead
Counsel and consolidated the various matters under one matter: In re Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc., Securities Litigation, C.A. No. 03-10165-RWZ.

In July 2003, the plaintiffs filed a Consolidated and Amended Class Action Complaint (the ‘Amended Complaint’) against TKT; Dr Selden; Daniel Geffken,
TKT’s former Chief Financial Officer; Walter Gilbert, Jonathan S. Leff, Rodman W. Moorhead, III, and Wayne P. Yetter, then members of TKT’s board of
directors; William R. Miller and James E. Thomas, former members of TKT’s board of directors; and SG Cowen Securities Corporation, Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc., Pacific Growth Equities, Inc. and Leerink Swann & Company, underwriters of TKT’s common stock in prior public offerings.

The Amended Complaint alleged that the defendants made false and misleading statements and failed to disclose material information concerning
the status and progress for obtaining United States marketing approval of REPLAGAL during the period between January 4, 2001 and January 10,
2003. The Amended Complaint asserted claims against Dr Selden and TKT under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule
10b-5 promulgated thereunder; and against Dr Selden under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The Amended Complaint also asserted claims
based on TKT’s public offerings of June 29, 2001, December 18, 2001 and December 26, 2001 against each of the defendants under Section 11 
of the Securities Act of 1933 and against Dr Selden under Section 15 of the Securities Act; and against SG Cowen Securities Corporation, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Pacific Growth Equities, Inc. and Leerink Swann & Company under Section 12(a) (2) of the Securities Act. The plaintiffs sought
equitable and monetary relief, an unspecified amount of damages, with interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

In May 2004, the Court granted in part and denied in part TKT’s motion to dismiss. In particular, the Court dismissed allegations against TKT to the
extent they arose out of certain forward-looking statements protected by the ‘safe harbor’ provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 and dismissed claims based on the public offerings of June 29, 2001 and December 18, 2001. The Court allowed all other allegations to remain.
In July 2004, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed all claims based on the third public offering dated December 26, 2001.

In November 2005, the Court granted the plaintiffs’ motion for class certification. On May 23, 2005, the Court entered judgment on all claims alleged
against SG Cowen Securities Corporation, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Pacific Growth Equities, Inc. and Leerink Swann & Company. On June 5,
2006, the Court entered judgment on all claims alleged against Messrs. Gilbert, Leff, Moorhead, Yetter, Miller, and Thomas. On November 9, 2006, 
Mr Geffken filed an Agreement for Judgment on all claims alleged against him. On September 1, 2007 the SEC filed suit against Dr Selden. The case 
is entitled Securities and Exchange Commission v. Richard F Selden, Civil Action No. 05-11805-NMG (D. Mass.) (‘the SEC Action’). On July 10, 2008
the Court entered a final judgment against Selden which permanently enjoins him from violating the anti-fraud and other provisions of the federal
securities laws, and orders him to pay approximately $1.2 million in penalties. 

In October 2007, the parties reached an agreement in principle to resolve the Class Action Shareholder Suit, subject to Court approval, for $50 million.
In February 2008 the US District Court for the District of Massachusetts granted preliminary approval to the settlement. Shire contributed $27 million
towards the settlement and its insurance companies contributed the remaining $23 million. The settlement was approved by the Court on June 11,
2008. Distribution of funds under the approved settlement is expected to occur in the first quarter of 2009.
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Reduction of capital and distributable reserves
On June 11, 2008 the Jersey Court approved a reduction of Shire plc’s share capital to take effect on June 12, 2008 (see Note 4). The reduction
increased the distributable reserves potentially available to Shire plc at the time of reduction to approximately $3.7 billion by recharacterizing amounts
standing to the credit of Shire plc’s share premium account as a distributable reserve. The purpose of the reduction of capital is to create a distributable
reserve which would be available to be distributed as dividends, at the discretion of the Directors of Shire plc, from time to time or for any other lawful
purpose to which such a reserve may be applied (including share buy backs). The reduction of capital was designed to create in Shire plc a level 
of distributable reserves similar to that previously available in Old Shire, (see Note 4) and to enable Shire plc to continue Shire’s existing dividend policy
in a financially and operationally efficient manner.

Income access share arrangements
Shire has put into place income access share arrangements which enable Shire plc ordinary shareholders, other than Shire plc ADS holders, to elect 
to receive their dividends from a company resident for tax purposes in the Republic of Ireland or receive their dividends under the income access share
arrangements from a Shire Group company resident for tax purposes in the UK. 

Old Shire has issued one income access share which is held by the income access share trustee pursuant to the income access share trust. The
income access share trust is constituted pursuant to a trust deed which provides that (inter alia):

(i) the income access share trustee will hold any dividends paid (not just declared) on the income access share on trust for the Shire plc ordinary
shareholders who have elected (or are deemed to have elected) to receive dividends pursuant to these arrangements;

(ii) the income access share itself will be held on trust for Shire plc; and

(iii) each registered holder of Shire plc Ordinary Shares on a dividend record date who has made (or is deemed to have made) a valid income access
share election (described below) will be entitled to receive from the income access share trustee an amount equal to the dividend it would have
received from Shire, to the extent the income access share trustee has actually received an amount equal to such amount by way of dividend from
Old Shire.

To ensure compliance with technical trust law rules, the period during which the income access share trust may continue will be restricted. However,
the income access share trust should be able to continue for 80 years.

This mechanism is reflected in the Articles of Association of both Shire plc and Old Shire that the mechanics of the arrangements will be as follows:

The Shire plc Articles of Association provide that if (i) a dividend is announced or declared by Shire plc on the Shire plc Ordinary Shares, (ii) an amount 
is paid by Old Shire by way of a dividend on the income access share to the income access share trustee, and (iii) such amount is paid by the income
access share trustee to the Shire plc ordinary shareholders who have elected (or are deemed to have elected) to receive dividends under these
arrangements, the dividend which would otherwise be payable by Shire plc to such Shire plc ordinary shareholders will be reduced by an amount 
equal to the amount paid to such Shire plc ordinary shareholders by the income access share trustee.

If the dividend paid on the income access share and on-paid by the income access share trustee to the Shire plc ordinary shareholders is less than 
the total amount of the dividend announced or declared by Shire plc on the Shire plc Ordinary Shares in respect of which an election has been made
(or is deemed to have been made) to receive dividends under these arrangements, Shire plc will be obliged to pay a dividend on the Shire plc Ordinary
Shares to those Shire plc ordinary shareholders who have so elected (or are deemed to have so elected) of the amount of the shortfall. In such a 
case, any dividend paid on the Shire plc Ordinary Shares will generally be subject to Irish withholding tax at the rate of 20% or such lower rate as may
be applicable under exemptions from withholding tax contained in Irish law.
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A Shire plc ordinary shareholder is entitled to make an income access share election such that he will receive his dividends (which would otherwise 
be payable by Shire plc) under these arrangements from Old Shire.

A Shire plc ordinary shareholder who held 25,000 or fewer Shire plc Ordinary Shares at the time he became a Shire plc ordinary shareholder pursuant
to the Scheme of Arrangement, and who did not make a contrary election, is deemed to have made an election (pursuant to the Shire plc Articles 
of Association) such that he will receive his dividends under these arrangements from Old Shire.

Equally, where a Shire plc ordinary shareholder who first acquires his Shire plc Ordinary Shares after the date of the Scheme of Arrangement, who
holds 25,000 or fewer Shire plc Ordinary Shares on the first dividend record date after he becomes a Shire plc ordinary shareholder, and who does 
not make a contrary election, will be deemed to have made an election (pursuant to the Shire plc Articles of Association) such that he will receive his
dividends under these arrangements from Old Shire. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Shire plc ADS deposit agreement, the Depositary has made an election on behalf of all holders of Shire plc
ADSs such that they will receive dividends from Old Shire under the income access share arrangements. Dividends paid by Old Shire under the income
access share arrangements will not under current legislation be subject to any UK or Irish withholding taxes. If a holder of Shire plc ADSs does not wish
to receive dividends from Old Shire under the income access share arrangements, he must withdraw his Shire plc Ordinary Shares from the Shire ADS
program prior to the dividend record date set by the Depositary and request delivery of the Shire plc Ordinary Shares. This will enable him to receive
dividends from Shire plc (if necessary, by making an election to that effect).

It is the expectation, although there can be no certainty, that dividends will be paid by Old Shire through the income access share trustee to Shire plc
ordinary shareholders who make (or are deemed to make) an income access share election.

It is the expectation, although there can be no certainty, that Old Shire will distribute dividends on the income access share to the income access 
share trustee for the benefit of all Shire plc ordinary shareholders who make (or are deemed to make) an income access share election in an amount
equal to what would have been such Shire plc ordinary shareholders’ entitlement to dividends from Shire plc in the absence of the income access
share election. To the extent that any dividend paid on the income access share to the income access share trustee and on-paid by the income access
share trustee to the Shire plc ordinary shareholders is less than an amount equal to what would have been such Shire plc ordinary shareholders’
entitlement to dividends from Shire plc in the absence of the income access share election, the dividend on the income access share received by the
income access share trustee will be allocated pro-rata to such Shire plc ordinary shareholders and Shire plc will pay the balance by way of dividend. 
In such circumstances, there will be no grossing up by Shire plc in respect of, and Old Shire and Shire plc will not compensate those Shire plc ordinary
shareholders for, any adverse consequences including any Irish withholding tax consequences. 

Shire plc will be able to suspend or terminate these arrangements at any time, in which case the full Shire plc dividend will be paid directly by Shire plc
to those Shire plc ordinary shareholders (including the Depositary) who have made (or are deemed to have made) an income access share election. 
In such circumstances, there will be no grossing up by Shire plc in respect of, and Old Shire and Shire plc will not compensate those Shire plc ordinary
shareholders for, any adverse consequences including any Irish withholding tax consequences.

On October 7, 2008 Old Shire paid dividends totaling $7.2 million on the income access share to the income access share trustee in an amount equal
to the dividend Shire plc ordinary shareholders would have received from Shire plc. 

Exchangeable shares
On February 12, 2008 a subsidiary of Shire exercised a redemption call right and purchased all remaining exchangeable shares of Shire Acquisition Inc.
(‘SAI’) in public ownership. Exchangeable shareholders received either three Ordinary Shares of Shire plc or one Shire ADS representing three Ordinary
Shares of Shire plc for each Exchangeable Share held. Exchangeable Shares were issued to Canadian resident shareholders of Biochem Pharma Inc.
(now Shire Canada, Inc.) in 2001 as consideration for the acquisition by the Shire group of Biochem Pharma Inc. The Exchangeable Shares have now
been de-listed from the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Authorized common stock
The authorized stock of Shire plc at December 31, 2008 was 1,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares and 2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares.

On February 20, 2007 the Group raised $877.3 million, net of associated issue costs, through the private placement of 42.9 million new Ordinary
Shares to certain institutional investors at a price of 1075 pence per share. The newly issued shares represent approximately 8.4% of Shire plc’s issued
Ordinary Share capital prior to the placing.

Treasury stock 
The Group records the purchase of its own shares by the ESOT as a reduction of shareholders’ equity based on the price paid for the shares. 
At December 31, 2008, the ESOT held 7.3 million Ordinary Shares and 4.5 million ADSs. During the period to December 31, 2008 a total 
of 0.2 million (2007: 3.0 million) Ordinary Shares and 2.8 million (2007: 1.8 million) ADSs had been purchased for total consideration of $146.6 million
(2007: $186.0 million), including stamp duty and broker commission.
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The following table reconciles income/(loss) from continuing operations and the weighted average Ordinary Shares outstanding for basic and diluted
earnings/(loss) per share for the periods presented:

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Income/(loss) from continuing operations 173.6 (1,451.8) 237.6
(Loss)/gain from discontinued operations, net of tax (17.6) — 40.6

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share 156.0 (1,451.8) 278.2

2008 2007 2006
Number Number Number 

Year to December 31, of shares of shares of shares
Weighted average number of shares outstanding Millions Millions Millions

Basic(i) 541.6 540.3 503.4
Effect of dilutive shares:
Share options(ii) 3.8 — 5.3
Warrants(ii) — — 0.6

3.8 — 5.9

Diluted 545.4 540.3 509.3

(i) Excludes shares purchased by the ESOT and presented by the Group as treasury stock.

(ii) Calculated using the treasury stock method.

2008 2007 2006

Basic earnings per share:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 32.1¢ (268.7¢) 47.2¢
(Loss)/gain from discontinued operations (3.3¢) — 8.1¢

28.8¢ (268.7¢) 55.3¢

Diluted earnings per share:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 31.8¢ (268.7¢) 46.6¢
(Loss)/gain from discontinued operations (3.2¢) — 8.0¢

28.6¢ (268.7¢) 54.6¢

The share options, warrants and the number of Ordinary Shares underlying the Convertible Bond not included in the calculation of the diluted weighted
average number of shares are shown below:

2008(i)(ii) 2007(i)(iii) 2006(ii)

Number Number Number
of shares of shares of shares

Millions Millions Millions

Stock options in the money — 8.4 —
Stock options out of the money 17.3 2.9 7.7
Warrants — 0.3 —
Convertible Bonds 2.75% due 2014 32.7 21.2 —

(i) In 2008 and 2007 the Convertible Bonds were not included in the calculation of the diluted weighted average number of shares, because their effect
would be anti-dilutive in the period.

(ii) In 2008 and 2006 certain stock options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because their exercise prices exceeded Shire plc’s
average share price during the calculation period.

(iii) In 2007 all share options, warrants and the number of Ordinary Shares underlying the Convertible Bonds were excluded from the calculation of 
the diluted weighted average number of shares, because the Group made a net loss during the calculation period and the effect of their inclusion
would be anti-dilutive.
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SFAS No. 131, ‘Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information’ (‘SFAS No. 131’) establishes standards for reporting information
about operating segments and related disclosures, products and services, geographic areas and major customers. Operating segments are
components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-maker 
to decide how to allocate resources and to assess performance.

Shire’s internal financial reporting is in line with a business unit and management reporting structure based on two segments: Specialty
Pharmaceuticals and HGT. 

The Specialty Pharmaceuticals and HGT operating segments represent the Group’s revenues and costs in respect of currently promoted and sold
products, together with the costs of developing projects for future commercialization. ‘All Other’ has been included in the table below in order to
reconcile the two operating segments to the total consolidated figures.

The Group evaluates performance based on revenue and operating income. The Group does not have inter-segment transactions. Assets that are
directly attributable to the segments have been separately disclosed.

Specialty
Pharmaceuticals HGT All other Total

2008 $’M $’M $’M $’M

Product sales 2,272.5 481.7 — 2,754.2
Royalties 1.5 — 244.0 245.5
Other revenues 8.2 4.0 10.3 22.5

Total revenues 2,282.2 485.7 254.3 3,022.2

Cost of product sales(i)(ii) 329.0 58.9 20.1 408.0
Research and development(i)(ii) 318.9 201.7 6.0 526.6
Selling, general and administrative(i)(ii) 1,087.6 171.3 164.0 1,422.9
IPR&D — 263.1 — 263.1
Gain on sale of product rights (20.7) — — (20.7)
Integration costs — — 10.3 10.3

Total operating expenses 1,714.8 695.0 200.4 2,610.2

Operating income/(loss) 567.4 (209.3) 53.9 412.0

Total assets 2,161.2 1,107.7 664.8 3,933.7
Long-lived assets(iii) 192.2 263.5 82.1 537.8
Capital expenditure on long-lived assets(iii) 54.1 169.5 30.6 254.2

(i) Stock-based compensation of $65.2 million is included in: Cost of product sales ($3.9 million), Research and development ($18.9 million) and 
Selling, general and administrative ($42.4 million).

(ii) Depreciation from manufacturing plants ($16.2 million) and amortization of favorable manufacturing contracts ($1.7 million) is included in Cost of
product sales; depreciation of research and development assets ($12.5 million) is included in Research and development; and all other depreciation,
amortization and intangible asset impairment charges ($271.9 million) are included in Selling, general and administrative.

(iii) Long-lived assets comprise all non-current assets, (excluding goodwill and other intangible assets, deferred tax assets, investments and financial
instruments) based on the geographic location within which the economic benefits arise.
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Specialty

Pharmaceuticals HGT All other Total
2007 $’M $’M $’M $’M

Product sales 1,844.5 325.7 — 2,170.2
Royalties 1.6 — 245.6 247.2
Other revenues 9.5 4.3 5.1 18.9

Total revenues 1,855.6 330.0 250.7 2,436.3

Cost of product sales(i)(ii) 263.3 44.3 12.7 320.3
Research and development(i)(ii) 362.1 214.3 — 576.4
Selling, general and administrative(i)(ii) 864.5 124.2 190.1 1,178.8
IPR&D 1,866.4 — — 1,866.4
Gain on sale of product rights (127.8) — — (127.8)
Integration costs 1.3 — — 1.3

Total operating expenses 3,229.8 382.8 202.8 3,815.4

Operating (loss)/income (1,374.2) (52.8) 47.9 (1,379.1)

Total assets 2,394.5 586.6 1,349.0 4,330.1
Long-lived assets(iii) 174.8 114.6 79.2 368.6
Capital expenditure on long-lived assets(iii) 37.3 77.5 27.9 142.7

(i) Stock-based compensation of $75.2 million is included in: Cost of product sales ($5.5 million), Research and development ($17.0 million) and 
Selling, general and administrative ($52.7 million).

(ii) Depreciation from manufacturing plants ($11.8 million) and amortization of favorable manufacturing contracts ($1.2 million) is included in Cost of
product sales, depreciation of research and development assets ($11.3 million) is included in Research and development, and all other depreciation
and amortization and intangible asset impairment charges ($136.2 million) are included in Selling, general and administrative.

(iii) Long-lived assets comprise all non-current assets, (excluding goodwill and other intangible assets, deferred tax assets, investments and financial
instruments) based on the geographic location within which the economic benefits arise.

Specialty
Pharmaceuticals HGT All other Total

2006 $’M $’M $’M $’M

Product sales 1,394.5 141.3 — 1,535.8
Royalties 2.3 — 240.6 242.9
Other revenues 16.0 1.8 — 17.8

Total revenues 1,412.8 143.1 240.6 1,796.5

Cost of product sales(i)(ii) 180.9 66.6 11.2 258.7
Research and development(i)(ii) 275.8 109.6 — 385.4
Selling, general and administrative(i)(ii) 675.8 113.1 137.7 926.6
Gain on sale of product rights (63.0) — — (63.0)
Integration costs — 5.6 — 5.6

Total operating expenses 1,069.5 294.9 148.9 1,513.3

Operating income/(loss) 343.3 (151.8) 91.7 283.2

Total assets 1,168.9 547.4 1,610.1 3,326.4
Long-lived assets(iii) 160.8 63.9 80.5 305.2
Capital expenditure on long-lived assets(iii) 51.4 21.9 35.0 108.3

(i) Stock-based compensation of $43.0 million is included in: Cost of product sales ($3.2 million), Research and development ($5.4 million) and 
Selling, general and administrative ($34.4 million).

(ii) Depreciation from manufacturing plants ($9.4 million) is included in Cost of product sales, depreciation of research and development assets 
($4.9 million) is included in Research and development, and all other depreciation and amortization and intangible asset impairment charges 
($93.1 million) are included in Selling, general and administrative.

(iii) Long-lived assets comprise all non-current assets, (excluding goodwill and other intangible assets, deferred tax assets, investments and financial
instruments) based on the geographic location within which the economic benefits arise.
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27 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Geographic Information 
Revenues (based on the geographic location from which the sale originated):

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Republic of Ireland 17.8 16.2 13.8
United Kingdom 160.0 177.0 187.5
North America 2,299.6 1,798.2 1,341.0
Rest of World 544.8 444.9 254.2

Total 3,022.2 2,436.3 1,796.5

Long-lived assets comprise all non-current assets, (excluding goodwill and other intangible assets, deferred tax assets, investments and financial
instruments) based on the geographic location within which the economic benefits arise:

2008 2007
Year to December 31, $’M $’M

Republic of Ireland 1.0 1.4
United Kingdom 61.6 68.8
North America 468.6 294.8
Rest of World 6.6 3.6

Total 537.8 368.6

Material customers
In the periods set out below, certain customers, all within the Specialty Pharmaceuticals operating segment, accounted for greater than 10% of the
Group’s total revenues:

2008 2008 2007 2007 2006 2006
Year to December 31, $’M % revenue $’M % revenue $’M % revenue

Cardinal Health Inc. 888.7 29 666.1 27 512.1 29
McKesson Corp. 674.2 22 546.0 22 338.6 19

Amounts outstanding as at December 31, in respect of these material customers were as follows:
2008 2007

Year to December 31, $’M $’M

Cardinal Health Inc. 72.3 102.9
McKesson Corp. 69.6 79.6

Revenues by product
In the periods set out below, revenues by major product were as follows:

2008 2007 2006
$’M $’M $’M

SPECIALTY PHARMACEUTICALS
ADDERALL XR 1,101.7 1,030.9 863.6
CALCICHEW 52.8 54.2 45.5
CARBATROL 75.9 72.3 68.3
DAYTRANA 78.7 64.2 25.1
FOSRENOL 155.4 102.2 44.8
LIALDA/MEZAVANT 140.4 50.5 —
PENTASA 185.5 176.4 137.8
REMINYL/REMINYL XL 34.4 31.2 21.5
VYVANSE 318.9 76.5 —
XAGRID 78.7 66.8 53.3
Other 50.1 119.3 134.6

2,272.5 1,844.5 1,394.5

HUMAN GENETIC THERAPIES
ELAPRASE 305.1 181.8 23.6
FIRAZYR 0.5 — —
REPLAGAL 176.1 143.9 117.7

481.7 325.7 141.3

2,754.2 2,170.2 1,535.8
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28 INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense for the years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $139.0 million, $70.8 million and $26.4 million respectively. Included in the
amount for the year to December 31, 2008 is $87.3 million (2007: $28.0 million and 2006: $24.6 million) in respect to the TKT appraisal rights litigation.
For further details on this litigation see Note 24. 

29 OTHER (EXPENSE)/INCOME, NET
2008 2007 2006

Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Impairment of long-term investments (see Note 13) (58.0) (3.0) (2.1)
GeneChem Funds management fee 1.9 3.6 4.6
Gain on sale of available-for-sale security (see Note 13) 9.4 0.1 —
Foreign exchange 14.1 (0.8) 3.2
Other (0.3) 1.3 3.8

(32.9) 1.2 9.5

30 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Personal defined contribution pension plans
The Group makes contributions to defined contribution retirement plans that together cover substantially all employees. The level of the Group’s
contribution is fixed at a set percentage of employee’s pay. 

Group contributions to personal defined contribution pension plans totaled $26.3 million, $22.3 million and $15.0 million for the years to December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and were charged to operations as they became payable.

Defined benefit pension plans
(i) The Roberts SERP
The Roberts SERP is for some US employees of Roberts Pharmaceutical Corporation (‘Roberts’) who met certain age and service requirements.
Shire acquired Roberts in 1999, and the plan was discontinued in 2000. There were no contributions payable by the Group in respect of 2008, 2007
or 2006. In 1999, the Group paid a lump sum of $18.0 million into the Roberts SERP, which was accounted for as a fair value adjustment, on the
acquisition of Roberts to make good the deficit on this scheme at the time of acquisition. This lump sum payment has led to the Group having 
no future liability under the SERP, which is closed to new members with contributions no longer payable by existing members. Assets are set aside 
to fund these benefits in a ‘Rabbi Trust’. The legal form of the trust is such that the assets held to cover the pension liabilities are available to the
general creditors of the Group on winding up. Accordingly, the assets held by the trust are not plan assets and are recorded on the balance sheet.

In accordance with EITF 97-14, ‘Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a Rabbi Trust and
Invested’ the assets and liabilities of $7.2 million and $1.9 million, respectively, are shown on the balance sheet within the categories ‘Other current
assets’, ‘Other current liabilities’ and ‘Other non-current liabilities’. 

(ii) The Shire SERP
The Shire SERP defined benefit scheme is an unfunded arrangement; the benefits are payable to certain senior US employees as lump sums on
leaving the Group’s employment or earlier due to death, disability or termination. The amount of benefit is based on the value of notional contributions
increased with ‘earned’ investment returns as if they were invested in investments of the employees’ choice. The entire benefit liability has been
recognized on the balance sheet.
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31 INCOME TAXES 

The components of pre tax income/(loss) from continuing operations are as follows:
2008 2007 2006

Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

UK 39.2 94.7 20.5
US 238.7 27.6 (28.3)
Republic of Ireland (83.5) (99.5) (69.0)
IPR&D (263.1) (1,866.4) —
Other jurisdictions 334.3 445.5 393.6

265.6 (1,398.1) 316.8

The provision/(benefit) for income taxes by location of the taxing jurisdiction for the years to December 31, consisted of the following:

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Current income taxes:
UK corporation tax 0.3 20.3 7.0
US federal tax 12.0 84.5 6.1
US state and local taxes 6.4 4.9 3.8
Republic of Ireland — 0.2 (1.8)
Other (10.8) 24.8 211.8

Total current taxes 7.9 134.7 226.9

Deferred taxes:
UK corporation tax 29.8 14.4 (81.0)
US federal tax 75.2 (91.4) (57.8)
US state and local taxes (17.2) (5.2) 0.2
Republic of Ireland (1.3) 9.1 (7.0)
Other 3.6 (6.1) 3.6

Total deferred taxes 90.1 (79.2) (142.0)

Total income taxes attributable to continuing operations 98.0 55.5 84.9

Total income taxes attributable to discontinued operations — — —

Total income taxes(i) 98.0 55.5 84.9

(i) Total income taxes relate solely to continuing operations as there is no tax provision/(benefit) relating to discontinued operations for the years 
to December 31, 2008, 2007 or 2006.
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31 INCOME TAXES (continued)

The reconciliation of income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interests and equity in earnings of equity method
investees and discontinued operations to the provision for income taxes is shown in the table below:

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, 
minority interests and equity in earnings of equity method investees 
and discontinued operations 265.6 (1,398.1) 316.8

Group tax rate(i)(ii) 25.0% 30.0% 30.0%
Adjustments to derive effective rate:
Non-deductible items:
IPR&D 12.1% (40.0%) —
Permanent differences (7.6%) 6.6% (18.8%)
Other items: 
Change in valuation allowance 7.0% 0.3% (30.0%)
Difference in taxation rates 3.1% 1.3% (9.3%)
Change in provisions for uncertain tax positions 1.9% (2.7%) 59.8%
Prior year adjustment (9.2%) 0.8% (6.5%)
Change in tax rates (0.2%) (0.5%) —
Other 4.8% 0.2% 1.6%

Provision for income taxes on continuing operations 36.9% (4.0%) 26.8%

(i) In addition to being subject to the Irish Corporation tax rate of 25% (2007 and 2006: UK Corporation tax rate of 30%), in 2008 the Group is also
subject to income tax in other territories in which the Group operates, including: Canada (19.5%); France (33.3%); Germany (15%); Italy (27.5%);
Malta (35%); The Netherlands (25.5%); Spain (30%); Sweden (28%); Switzerland (8.5%); United Kingdom (28.5%) and the US (35%). The rates
quoted represent the headline federal income tax rates in each territory, and do not include any state taxes or equivalents or surtaxes or other
taxes charged in individual territories, and do not purport to represent the effective tax rate for the Group in each territory.

(ii) During 2008 Shire introduced a new holding company resident in the Republic of Ireland, as a result the reconciliation of income from continuing
operations before income taxes, minority interests and equity in earnings of equity method investees for the year to December 31, 2008 has been
prepared using the Irish non-trading corporation tax rate of 25% which is the rate applicable to Shire plc. In prior reporting periods, the reconciliation
of income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interests and equity in earnings of equity method investees was prepared using
the UK corporation tax rate of 30%.

(iii) The Group prospectively adopted FIN 48 from January 1, 2007. For the year ended December 31, 2006 the measurement and disclosure 
of changes in uncertain tax positions in the rate reconciliation has been determined in accordance with FAS No. 5. The change in provision 
for uncertain tax positions as disclosed in the above rate reconciliation includes interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions.

IPR&D
IPR&D charges arising on the acquisition of Jerini in 2008 ($128.1 million), and New River in 2007 ($1,866.4 million) are not tax deductible, and have
resulted in significant fluctuations in the effective rate of tax for the years to December 31, 2008 and 2007. Tax deductions in respect of IPR&D for
METAZYM acquired from Zymenex ($135.0 million) are available but have not yet been recognized at 31 December 2008, at recognition is dependent
upon projections of future earnings.

Permanent differences
Permanent differences decreased the effective tax rate by 7.6% or $20.2 million in the year to December 31, 2008 (2007 increased by 6.6% or 
$92.4 million; 2006: decreased by 18.8% or $59.6 million). These permanent differences are composed of recurring items such as the tax effect of
Shire’s Convertible Bonds; research and development tax credits; and tax deductible amortization for which the recognition of a deferred tax asset 
is precluded by FAS 109. Other significant permanent differences over the period 2006 to 2008 include: the tax free gain on disposal of certain product
rights in 2007 and non-taxable capital receipts following an internal re-organization in 2005.

Permanent differences have decreased by $72.2 million between 2008 and 2007 primarily due to non-taxable gains related to the sale of certain non-
core product rights of $114.8 million recognized in the fourth quarter of 2007 which were not repeated in 2008, together with the other-than-temporary
impairment charge on available-for-sale securities of $58.0 million during 2008.
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31 INCOME TAXES (continued)

Change in valuation allowances
The net increase in valuation allowances of $14.5 million in 2008 ($4.7 million reduction in 2007) is principally due to an increase in valuation allowance
of $20.3 million in respect of losses and other timing differences in European jurisdictions, as insufficient future taxable income to overcome cumulative
losses led the Group’s management to maintain the position taken in the fourth quarter of 2007 that it was more likely than not that the relevant
deferred tax assets would not be realized. This is partially offset by a reversal of $5.7 million of valuation allowances in place at January 1, 2008 in North
America as a result of several factors including a US State tax law change enacted in the fourth quarter of 2008, which led the Group’s management 
to determine that it was now more likely than not that the relevant tax attributes would be realized. 

The net reduction in valuation allowances of $4.7 million in 2007 is principally due to a reversal of $14.9 million of valuation allowances in place at
January 1, 2007 in a European tax jurisdiction as a result of a law change enacted in the fourth quarter of 2007, which led the Group’s management 
to determine that it was now more likely than not that the relevant tax loss carry-forwards would be realized, and utilization of a valuation allowance 
of $10.9 million in another jurisdiction. This is partially offset by recognition of a valuation allowance totaling $22.0 million in respect of losses in another
European jurisdiction, as insufficient future taxable income to overcome cumulative losses led the Group’s management to determine in the fourth
quarter of 2007 that it was now more likely that than not that the relevant tax loss carry-forwards would not be realized.

The change in valuation allowances in the year to December 31, 2006 included a reversal in the fourth quarter of $120 million of valuation allowances 
in place at January 1, 2006 of which $97 million related to the UK, $8 million to the US and $15 million to certain European affiliates. The Group
recognized the reversal of these valuation allowances primarily following the implementation of tax planning strategies during the fourth quarter of the
year to December 31, 2006 and revisions to projections of future earnings in certain European jurisdictions, which led the Group’s management to
determine that it was now more likely than not that the relevant tax loss carry-forwards would be realizable. The valuation allowances were not reversed
until the fourth quarter of 2006 as the predominant tax planning strategies which triggered the recognition of the reversals were either not in place or
did not provide a prudent and feasible source of taxable income until the fourth quarter. Prior to the reversal of these valuation allowances, the Group
had determined that it was more likely than not that the related deferred tax assets would not be realized, primarily as a result of insufficient future
taxable income being available to overcome cumulative losses.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income to utilize such assets. Although realization of these assets 
is not assured, the Group believes it is more likely than not that the amount recognized will be realized.

Change in provisions for uncertain tax positions
The Group adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. There was no cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings arising as a result of the adoption of FIN 48.

The Group files income tax returns in the UK, the US (both federal and state) and various other jurisdictions (see footnote (i) to the table above for major
jurisdictions). With few exceptions, the Group is no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 1999. Tax authorities in
various jurisdictions are in the process of auditing the Group’s tax returns for fiscal periods from 1999; these tax audits cover a range of issues, including
transfer pricing, potential restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses, potential taxation of overseas dividends and controlled foreign companies
rules.

During the year to December 31, 2008 changes in the Group’s provision for unrecognized tax benefits increased the effective rate by 1.9% or 
$5.1 million (2007: 2.7%, or $38.1 million), which relates to a decrease of $21.0 million in the provision for unrecognized tax benefits offset by an
increase of $26.1 million for interest and penalties (2007: $20.1 million increase in unrecognized tax benefits and $18.0 million increase in interest 
and penalties). 

During the year to December 31, 2007 changes in the Company’s provision for unrecognized tax benefits reduced the effective rate by 2.7%, or 
$38.1 million, which relates to an increase in the provision for unrecognized tax benefits of $20.1 million and an increase in the provision for interest and
penalties of $18.0 million. The increase in the provision for unrecognized tax benefits of $20.1 million was due to additional provisions of $58.4 million
recognized in relation to potential transfer pricing adjustments, the deductibility of expenses and availability of certain tax reliefs, which was partially
offset by a reduction in the provision as a result of expiration of the statute of limitations of $38.3 million.

The Group considers it reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits recorded at December 31, 2008 could decrease 
by approximately $11.6 million (2007: $40.0 million) in the next twelve months. While tax audits remain open, the Group also considers it reasonably
possible that issues may be raised by tax authorities resulting in increases to the balance of unrecognized tax benefits, however, an estimate of such 
an increase cannot be made.
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31 INCOME TAXES (continued)

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
2008 2007
$’M $’M

Balance at January 1, 292.2 234.4
Increases based on tax positions related to the current year 30.5 25.6
Reductions based on tax positions taken in the current year — (12.5)
Increases for tax positions taken in prior years 3.9 51.7
Reductions for tax positions taken in prior years(i) (17.4) (10.4)
Decreases resulting from settlements with the taxing authorities (16.6) —
Reductions as a result of expiration of the statute of limitations (13.8) (38.3)
Foreign currency translation adjustments(ii) (50.1) 41.7

Balance at December 31,(iii) 228.7 292.2

(i) Included within this amount in the year to December 31, 2008 (2007: reduction of $4.0 million) is $3.2 million increase in the provision affecting the
purchase price allocation of New River.

(ii) Recognized within Other Comprehensive Income, with the exception of $4.4 million in 2008 included in the Statement of Operations.

(iii) The full amount of which would affect the effective rate if recognized.

The Group recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits within income taxes. During the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, the Group recognized approximately $26.1 million, $18.0 million and $30.3 million in interest and penalties. The Group 
had approximately $76.2 million, $63.7 million and $41.3 million for the payment of interest and penalties accrued at December 31, 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively.

Additional tax contingencies (under SFAS No. 5)
The increase in current tax liabilities in the year to December 31, 2006 was primarily a result of additional tax contingencies of $187 million recognized
in the fourth quarter of 2006 as a result of the Group’s assessment of the implications of ongoing audits by tax authorities (included in change in
provision for uncertain tax positions above). The tax audits commenced in 2004 and relate to the years 1999 to 2006, covering a range of issues
including transfer pricing, potential restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss carry-forwards (‘NOLs’), potential taxation of overseas dividends
and controlled foreign companies rules.

The Group had recognized a $53 million contingency in respect of these tax audits at December 31, 2005, based on the Group’s management’s
assessment of the probability of additional taxation payments at that time. However, during the fourth quarter of 2006, the tax authorities expanded the
scope of their enquiries and proposed adjustments to certain tax positions previously filed by the Group. At this point, the Group retained third-party
advisors to assess the merits, quantum and implications of the adjustments proposed by the tax authorities, and to assist the Group’s management in
determining whether or not additional tax payments in excess of the existing provision of $53 million were reasonably possible or probable.

Upon completion of the Group’s review of these proposed adjustments in December 2006, including receipt of the expert third-party’s advice, the
Group found it appropriate to recognize the additional tax contingencies of $187 million, which included an estimate of potential interest due in respect
of potential unpaid taxes. Following the recognition of these additional tax contingencies in the fourth quarter of 2006, the provision in respect of 
these ongoing tax audits totaled $240 million. It was the opinion of the Group’s management at December 31, 2006 that while tax audits remain open,
additional tax payments in excess of those already provided which would have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
were not reasonably possible.
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31 INCOME TAXES (continued)

Deferred taxes
The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities and their balance sheet classifications, as at December 31, are as follows:

December 31, December 31, 
2008 2007
$’M $’M

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred revenue 9.1 21.5
Inventory and warranty provisions 26.4 17.3
Losses carried forward (including tax credits) 295.0 357.7
Provisions for product returns and doubtful accounts 54.7 35.2
Restructuring 2.0 34.1
Intangible assets 17.7 34.6
Share-based compensation 38.7 30.4
Excess of tax value over book value of assets 8.7 —
Other 19.4 56.1

Gross deferred tax assets 471.7 586.9
Less: valuation allowance (119.3) (104.9)

352.4 482.0
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (532.7) (533.1)
Excess of book value over tax value of assets — (5.6)

Net deferred tax liabilities (180.3) (56.7)

Balance sheet classifications:
Deferred tax assets—current 89.5 143.3
Deferred tax assets—non-current 118.1 143.7
Deferred tax liabilities—current (10.9) (11.3)
Deferred tax liabilities—non-current (377.0) (332.4)

(180.3) (56.7)

Shire moved to a net deferred tax liability position at December 31, 2007 principally following the recognition of a deferred tax liability on acquisition 
of New River in respect of acquired intangible assets. During the year to December 31, 2008 the net deferred tax liability has increased primarily 
as a result of the utilisation of loss carry-forward deferred tax assets during the year in the US, Netherlands, UK and Canada, but offset by the
creation of deferred tax assets for additional loss carry-forwards in other European affiliates. An additional deferred tax liability of $85 million arose 
on the acquisition of Jerini in 2008 in respect of acquired intangible assets.

At December 31, 2008, the Group had a valuation allowance of $119.3 million (2007: $104.9 million) to reduce its deferred tax assets to estimated
realizable value. These valuation allowances related primarily to operating loss, capital loss and tax-credit carry-forwards in the US (2008: $65.5 million
2007: $67.0 million, 2006: $79.9 million), Canada (2008: $6.6 million, 2007: $11.0 million, 2006: $9.8 million) and other foreign tax jurisdictions
(2008: $47.2 million, 2007: $26.9 million, 2006: $19.9 million).

At December 31, 2008, based upon the profit history of the entities, projections for future taxable income over the periods in which temporary
differences are anticipated to reverse, any restrictions on uses of loss carry-forwards and prudent and feasible tax-planning strategies, management
believes it is more likely than not that the Group will realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the valuation allowances. However, the
amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of taxable income are revised.

Valuation allowances related to the pre-acquisition NOLs are applied first to reduce goodwill and then to reduce non-current intangible assets arising
from the acquisition as the related tax benefits are realized. During 2008 there were no reversals of valuation allowances applied to reduce goodwill
(2007: $11.0 million).
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31 INCOME TAXES (continued)

The approximate NOLs, capital losses and tax credit carry-forwards as at December 31, are as follows:
2008 2007
$’M $’M

US federal tax NOLs — 170.6
US state tax NOLs 94.2 69.9
UK NOLs 114.0 155.1
Republic of Ireland NOLs 238.4 175.8
Foreign tax jurisdictions 88.7 102.0
R&D tax credits 208.1 176.0
Capital losses 27.3 37.8

The NOLs, capital losses and tax credit carry-forwards shown above have the following expiration dates:
December 31,

2008
$’M

Within 1 year 6.9
Within 1 to 2 years 12.9
Within 2 to 3 years 22.7
Within 3 to 4 years 14.5
Within 4 to 5 years 0.6
Within 5 to 6 years 1.3
After 6 years 332.2
Indefinitely 379.6

As at December 31, 2008, the Group had not recorded deferred taxes on approximately $3.7 billion (2007: $2.8 billion) of un-remitted earnings 
of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008, these earnings are expected to be permanently reinvested overseas. It is not practical 
to compute the estimated deferred tax liability on these earnings.

32 EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF EQUITY METHOD INVESTEES

2008 2007 2006
Year to December 31, $’M $’M $’M

GSK (see Note 13) 5.8 6.5 6.3
GeneChem Funds (see Note 13) (3.4) (4.6) (1.3)
Other — (0.1) 0.7

2.4 1.8 5.7

33 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Group applies the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), which establishes accounting for share-based compensation to employees. The Group
measures share-based compensation cost at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and recognizes the expense over the employee
requisite service period. The following table shows the total share-based compensation expense (see below for types of share-based awards)
included in the statements of operations:

2008 2007 2006
$’M $’M $’M

Cost of product sales 3.9 5.5 3.2
Research and development 18.9 17.0 5.4
Selling, general and administrative 42.4 52.7 34.4

Total 65.2 75.2 43.0
Less tax (15.3) (11.7) (6.5)

49.9 63.5 36.5

There were no capitalized share-based compensation costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

At December 31, 2008 $40.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost relating to non-vested awards, is expected to be recognized over 
a weighted average period of 1.9 years. The total fair value of share and share option awards vested during the year was $34.4 million.
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33 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (continued)

Share-based compensation plans
Historically the Group has granted options to Directors and employees over Ordinary Shares under six stock option plans. On November 28, 2005
the ordinary shareholders of Shire approved the adoption of the Shire Portfolio Share Plan (Parts A and B), a new share-based compensation plan,
which provides for stock-settled share appreciation rights and performance share awards to be made to Directors and employees over Ordinary
Shares and Shire ADSs. As of 28 November 2005, all awards were granted using the Portfolio Share Plan. No further awards will be made under 
the previous stock option plans (except for the Sharesave scheme).

The following awards were outstanding as at December 31, 2008:
Number Expiration period 

Compensation type of awards from date of issue Vesting period

Portfolio Share Plan—Part A Stock-settled share 7,264,481 5 years 3 years, subject to
appreciation rights— performance criteria for
Ordinary Shares executive directors only

Portfolio Share Plan—Part A Stock-settled share 18,972,372 5 years 3 years, subject to
appreciation rights—ADSs(i) performance criteria for

executive directors only

Total Portfolio Share Plan—Part A 26,236,853

Portfolio Share Plan—Part B Performance share 933,633 3 years 3 years, subject to
awards—Ordinary Shares performance criteria for

executive directors only

Portfolio Share Plan—Part B Performance share 2,291,562 3 years 3 years, subject to
awards—ADSs(i) performance criteria for

executive directors only

Total Portfolio Share Plan—Part B 3,225,195

Executive Scheme Stock options 65,166 7 to 10 years 3–10 years, subject to
performance criteria

2000 Executive Scheme Stock options 8,043,869 10 years 3 –10 years, subject to 
performance criteria

Sharesave Scheme Stock options 380,774 6 months 3 or 5 years
after vesting

Stock Purchase Plan Stock options 729,243 On vesting date 1 to 5 months

BioChem Plan Stock options 13,642 10 years Immediate on 
acquisition by Shire 

Total stock option awards 9,232,694

(i) For the purposes of this table ADSs have been converted into Ordinary Shares. One ADS is equivalent to three Ordinary Shares. 

(a) Stock-settled share appreciation rights
Portfolio Share Plan—Part A
Stock-settled share appreciation rights granted under the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A are exercisable subject to certain performance criteria. 
In respect of any award made to Executive Directors performance conditions will be based on relative total shareholder return. Vesting will depend 
on relative total shareholder return performance against two comparator groups. For one-third of the award, the comparator group will be the
Financial Times Stock Exchange 100 constituents (excluding financial institutions) and for two-thirds of the award the comparator group will be a
group of international companies from the pharmaceutical sector. In addition, before awards granted to Executive Directors will vest, the Committee
must be satisfied that the underlying performance of the Group is sufficient to justify this. Where median performance is achieved, 331⁄3% of stock-
settled share appreciation rights will vest, rising on a straight-line basis to full vesting at upper quartile performance.

Awards granted to employees below Executive Director level will not be subject to performance conditions. 

Once awards have vested, participants will have until the fifth anniversary of the date of grant to exercise their awards.
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A summary of the status of the Group’s stock-settled share appreciation rights as at December 31, 2008 and of the related transactions during the
periods then ended is presented below:

Weighted average Number of Intrinsic
Year to December 31, 2008 exercise price shares Value
Ordinary Shares £ £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 9.89 5,680,361
Granted 9.59 2,115,297
Exercised 7.70 (132,243)
Forfeited 10.16 (398,934)

Outstanding as at end of period 9.90 7,264,481 4.6

Exercisable as at end of period 8.49 408,097 0.7

2.1 million stock-settled share appreciation rights were granted over Ordinary Shares under the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A. These options were
granted with exercise prices equivalent to the market value on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value of options granted in the year to
December 31, 2008 is £2.43.

A summary of the status of the Group’s stock-settled share appreciation rights as at December 31, 2007 and of the related transactions during the
periods then ended is presented below:

Weighted average Number of Intrinsic
Year to December 31, 2007 exercise price shares Value
Ordinary Shares £ £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 8.54 2,919,223
Granted 9.92 3,297,395
Exercised 8.27 (9,539)
Forfeited 9.18 (526,718)

Outstanding as at end of period 9.89 5,680,361 9.2

Exercisable as at end of period 8.65 79,870 0.1

3.3 million stock-settled share appreciation rights were granted over Ordinary Shares under the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A. These options were
granted with exercise prices equivalent to the market value on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value of options granted in the year to
December 31, 2007 is £2.70.

A summary of the status of the Group’s stock-settled share appreciation rights as at December 31, 2006 and of the related transactions during the
periods then ended is presented below:

Weighted average Number of Intrinsic
Year to December 31, 2006 exercise price shares Value
Ordinary Shares £ £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 7.17 449,490
Granted 8.74 2,561,292
Exercised — —
Forfeited 7.19 (91,559)

Outstanding as at end of period 8.54 2,919,223 6.0

Exercisable as at end of period — — —

2.6 million stock-settled share appreciation rights were granted over Ordinary Shares under the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A. These options were
granted with exercise prices equivalent to the market value on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value of options granted in the year to
December 31, 2006 is £2.58.
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Stock-settled share appreciation rights over Ordinary Shares outstanding as at December 31, 2008 have the following characteristics:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

remaining exercise exercise
contractual price of Number of price of

Number of Exercise term options options options
options prices (Years) outstanding exercisable exercisable
outstanding £ £ £

4,197,809 6.01–10.00 3.4 9.03 322,720 7.84
3,066,672 10.01–11.90 3.2 11.09 85,377 10.96

7,264,481 408,097

Weighted
average Intrinsic

Year to December 31, 2008 exercise Number of value
American Depositary Shares price ADSs $’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 56.29 5,414,024
Granted 55.79 1,538,666
Exercised 43.27 (25,097)
Forfeited 57.82 (603,469)

Outstanding as at end of period 56.09 6,324,124 5.3

Exercisable as at end of period 40.75 819,382 4.8

1.5 million stock-settled share appreciation rights were granted over American Depositary Shares (equivalent to 4.6 million Ordinary Shares) under 
the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A. These options were granted with exercise prices equivalent to the market value on the date of grant. The 6.3 million
stock-settled share appreciation rights over ADSs outstanding at December 31, 2008 are equivalent to 19.0 million Ordinary Shares. The average fair
value of options granted in the year to December 31, 2008 is $14.10.

Weighted
average IntrinsicYear to December 31, 2007 exercise Number of Value

American Depositary Shares price ADSs $’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 46.40 2,965,798
Granted 49.79 2,782,413
Exercised 46.04 (1,156)
Forfeited 49.68 (333,031)

Outstanding as at end of period 56.29 5,414,024 70.8

Exercisable as at end of period 52.83 30,201 —

2.8 million stock-settled share appreciation rights were granted over American Depositary Shares (equivalent to 8.3 million Ordinary Shares) under
the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A. These options were granted with exercise prices equivalent to the market value on the date of grant. The 5.4 million
stock-settled share appreciation rights over ADSs outstanding at December 31, 2007 are equivalent to 16.2 million Ordinary Shares. The average fair
value of options granted in the year to December 31, 2007 is $13.53.

Weighted
average IntrinsicYear to December 31, 2006 exercise Number of Value

American Depositary Shares price ADSs $’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 37.80 937,392
Granted 50.10 2,138,356
Exercised — —
Forfeited 41.71 (109,950)

Outstanding as at end of period 46.40 2,965,798 45.3

Exercisable as at end of period — — —

2.1 million stock-settled share appreciation rights were granted over American Depositary Shares (equivalent to 6.3 million Ordinary Shares) under
the Portfolio Share Plan—Part A. These options were granted with exercise prices equivalent to the market value on the date of grant. The 3.0 million
stock-settled share appreciation rights over ADSs outstanding at December 31, 2006 are equivalent to 9.0 million Ordinary Shares. The average fair
value of options granted in the year to December 31, 2006 is $14.70.
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Stock-settled share appreciation rights over American Depositary Shares outstanding as at December 31, 2008 have the following characteristics:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

remaining exercise exercise
contractual price of Number of price of

Number of Exercise term options options options
options prices (Years) outstanding exercisable exercisable
outstanding $ $ $

2,485,686 35.01–50.00 2.6 45.50 752,687 38.75
3,838,438 50.01–75.00 3.6 62.95 66,695 63.30

6,324,124 819,382

(b) Performance shares
Portfolio Share Plan—Part B
Performance share awards granted under the Portfolio Share Plan—Part B are exercisable subject to certain performance criteria. In respect of any
award made to Executive Directors performance conditions will be based on relative total shareholder return. Vesting will depend on relative total
shareholder return performance against two comparator groups. For one-third of an award, the comparator group will be the Financial Times Stock
Exchange 100 constituents (excluding financial institutions) and for two-thirds of the award the comparator group will be a group of international
companies from the pharmaceutical sector. In addition, before awards granted to Executive Directors will vest, the Committee must be satisfied that
the underlying performance of the Group is sufficient to justify this. Where median performance is achieved, 331⁄3% of performance shares will vest,
rising on a straight-line basis to full vesting at upper quartile performance.

A summary of the status of the Group’s stock-settled share awards as at December 31, 2008 and of the related transactions during the periods then
ended is presented below:

Weighted
Aggregate average

Number of intrinsic remaining
shares value life

Performance share awards—Ordinary Shares £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 240,406
Granted 710,482
Exercised (565)
Forfeited (16,690)

Outstanding as at end of period 933,633 9.4 2.0

Exercisable as at end of period — n/a n/a

The average fair value of options granted in the year to December 31, 2008 is £8.15.
Weighted

Aggregate average
Number of intrinsic remaining

ADSs value life
Performance share awards—American Depositary Shares $’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 299,103
Granted 530,571
Exercised (20,866)
Forfeited (44,954)

Outstanding as at end of period 763,854 34.2 2.2

Exercisable as at end of period — n/a n/a

The average fair value of options granted in the year to December 31, 2008 is $57.27.

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 128



129
Shire plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

33 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (continued)

A summary of the status of the Group’s stock-settled share awards as at December 31, 2007 and of the related transactions during the periods then
ended is presented below:

Weighted
Aggregate average

Number of intrinsic remaining
shares value life

Performance share awards—Ordinary Shares £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 130,406
Granted 110,000

Outstanding as at end of period 240,406 2.8 1.9

Exercisable as at end of period — n/a n/a

Weighted
Aggregate average

Number of intrinsic remaining
ADSs value life

Performance share awards—American Depositary Shares $’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 175,341
Granted 146,316
Forfeited (22,554)

Outstanding as at end of period 299,103 20.6 1.9

Exercisable as at end of period — n/a n/a

(c) Stock option plans
(i) Shire Pharmaceuticals Executive Share Option Scheme—Parts A and B (Executive Scheme)
Options granted under the Executive Scheme are subject to performance criteria and cannot be exercised in full, unless Shire’s Ordinary Share price
increases at a compound rate of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period. If Shire’s Ordinary Share price increases
at a compound rate of 14.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period, 60% of the options may be exercised. If these conditions
are not met after the initial three years, they are thereafter tested quarterly by reference to share price growth over the extended period. If the share
price does not meet these conditions at any time, none of the options will become exercisable.

On February 28, 2000 the Remuneration Committee of the Board exercised its powers to amend the terms of the Executive Share Option Scheme 
so as to include a cliff vesting provision.

(ii) Shire 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme (2000 Executive Scheme)
Options granted under this scheme are exercisable subject to certain performance criteria. In respect of any option granted prior to August 2002, 
if Shire’s Ordinary Share price increases at a compound rate of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period, the 
option becomes exercisable in full. If it increases by at least 14.5% per annum over the same three-year period, 60% of the options granted become
exercisable. If these conditions are not met after the initial three-year measurement period, they will thereafter be tested quarterly by reference 
to compound annual share price growth over an extended period.

The performance criteria were reviewed in 2002 to ensure the criteria reflected the market in which Shire operates. Given Shire’s development, it was
considered appropriate that an earnings per share-based measure should be adopted. The performance criteria are based on real growth in the diluted
earnings per share reported in the Group’s Form 10-K under US GAAP, adjusted to ensure a consistent basis of measurement, as approved by the
Remuneration Committee, including the add back of significant one time items (Option EPS). Therefore, the performance criteria were amended so that
an option would become exercisable in full if Shire’s Option EPS growth over a three-year period from the date of award exceeds the UK Retail Prices
Index (RPI) for the following tranches of grants:

Options with a grant value of up to 100% of salary RPI plus 9% (Directors, RPI plus 15%)
Between 101% and 200% of salary RPI plus 15%
Between 201% and 300% of salary RPI plus 21%
Over 301% of salary RPI plus 27%

The new earnings per share performance criteria apply to options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme from August 2002. After consultation
with certain of its institutional shareholders, the Group has decided that for options granted under the scheme from 2004 onwards, the retest of the
performance condition if Shire’s option EPS growth has fallen short of the minimum annual average percentage increase over the three-year period
from grant, should be changed. The revised performance condition will be retested once only, at five years after the grant. Hence the level of option
EPS growth in the next two years needs to be consequentially higher to meet the test.
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Under Part B of the scheme, six weeks prior to the expiration date, any options that have not become exercisable at an earlier date, automatically 
vest without reference to the performance criteria.

In December 2006, the Remuneration Committee exercised its powers to amend the performance criteria for options granted under the 2000
Executive Scheme which had not vested. The RPI based growth rate was replaced with an equivalent fixed growth rate based on historical and
forecast inflation. The fair values of the awards were unaffected by this change and no additional employee compensation cost was recorded 
as a result of the modification. 

(iii) Shire Sharesave Scheme (Sharesave Scheme)
Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme are granted with an exercise price equal to 80% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations
are issued to employees. Employees may enter into three or five-year savings contracts. No performance conditions apply.

(iv) Shire Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Stock Purchase Plan)
Under the Stock Purchase Plan, options are granted with an exercise price equal to 85% of the fair market value of a share on the enrolment date 
(the first day of the offering period) or the exercise date (the last day of the offering period), whichever is the lower. Following approval by shareholders
at the AGM held on June 20, 2007, the 2007 Shire Employee Stock Purchase Plan was adopted on similar terms to the predecessor plan, save that
participants agree to save for a period up to 27 months, rather than a fixed 27 months, as set by the Committee. The offering period set for plan grants
in 2008 was twelve months. No performance conditions apply.

(v) BioChem Stock Option Plan (BioChem Plan)
Following the acquisition of BioChem Pharma Inc. on May 11, 2001, the BioChem Stock Option Plan was amended such that options over BioChem
Pharma Inc.’s common stock became options over Ordinary Shares of Shire. All BioChem Pharma Inc. options, which were not already exercisable,
vested and became exercisable as a result of the acquisition. It is intended that no further options will be granted under the BioChem Stock Option Plan.

(vi) Long Term Incentive Plan
The Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was adopted by Shire at the Group’s 1998 Annual General Meeting and amended in 2000. Under the LTIP, the
Remuneration Committee has discretion to make awards to senior executives of shares subject to a maximum of 100% of salary a year. The last
awards were granted under the LTIP in 2005.

Performance tied to the vesting of the 2005 LTIP grants, as detailed below, resulted in a vesting percentage of 88.54%. Awards will be satisfied 
by the transfer of shares in May 2009.

The performance condition attached to the vesting of the share awards made under the LTIP is Shire’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) relative 
to the FTSE 100 Index over a three-year period. The Committee considers that this measure is a reliable and appropriate measure of the Group’s
performance and that the FTSE 100 is an appropriate benchmark given that the Group is a member of the Index. 

Under the LTIP:
— all shares vest if Shire’s TSR is in the top 10% of the FTSE 100;
— 20% of the shares vest if Shire’s TSR is at the median of the FTSE 100, with vesting between these points on a linear basis; and
— no shares vest if Shire’s TSR is below the median of the FTSE 100.

The Remuneration Committee determines whether and to what extent the performance condition has been met on the basis of data provided by 
an independent third-party. Whilst the performance period is measured over three years, an award is normally transferred after the fourth anniversary
of grant, to the extent the performance condition has been met.

A summary of the status of the Group’s stock option plans as at December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 and of the related transactions during the
periods then ended is presented below:

Weighted
average Aggregate
exercise intrinsic

price Number of value
Year to December 31, 2008 £ shares £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 6.09 13,113,255
Granted 7.12 879,049
Exercised 7.01 (4,440,123)
Forfeited 9.44 (319,487)

Outstanding as at end of period 6.14 9,232,694 38.7

Exercisable as at end of period 5.98 8,098,635 35.5

0.2 million options were granted under the Sharesave Scheme at a price of £7.74. These options were granted with an exercise price equal to 80% 
of the mid-market price on the day before invitations were issued to employees. The weighted average fair value of options granted was £3.43.
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0.7 million options were granted under the Stock Purchase Plan at prices of £6.96, £6.87 and £7.26. These options were granted with an exercise
price equal to 15%, 20% and 25% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations were issued to employees. The weighted average fair value
of options granted was £2.06. 

Weighted
average Aggregate
exercise intrinsic

price Number of value
Year to December 31, 2007 £ shares £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 5.90 19,559,873
Granted 9.93 287,762
Exercised 5.78 (5,947,857)
Forfeited 7.58 (786,523)

Outstanding as at end of period 6.09 13,113,255 71.9

Exercisable as at end of period 6.02 5,132,646 29.1

0.1 million options were granted under the Sharesave Scheme at a price of £9.77. These options were granted with an exercise price equal to
80% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations were issued to employees. The weighted average fair value of options granted was £3.96.

0.2 million options were granted under the Stock Purchase Plan at a prices of £10.12 and £8.92. These options were granted with an exercise price
equal to 15% and 20% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations were issued to employees. The weighted average fair value of options
granted was £2.72.

Weighted
average Aggregate
exercise intrinsic

price Number of value
Year to December 31, 2006 £ shares £’M

Outstanding as at beginning of period 5.85 28,470,739
Granted 7.33 386,159
Exercised 5.21 (8,312,174)
Forfeited 8.83 (984,851)

Outstanding as at end of period 5.90 19,559,873 92.1

Exercisable as at end of period 6.77 5,742,106 24.2

0.1 million options were granted under the Sharesave Scheme at a price of £6.99. These options were granted with an exercise price equal to
80% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations were issued to employees. The weighted average fair value of options granted was £3.21.

0.3 million options were granted under the Stock Purchase Plan at a price of £7.48. These options were granted with an exercise price equal to
85% of the mid-market price on the day before invitations were issued to employees. The weighted average fair value of options granted was £3.71. 

Options outstanding as at December 31, 2008 have the following characteristics:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

remaining exercise exercise
contractual price of Number of price of

Number of Exercise term options options options
options prices (Years) outstanding exercisable exercisable
outstanding £ £ £

1,785,273 0.01–4.00 4.1 3.54 1,757,709 3.54
4,284,635 4.01–6.00 5.8 5.44 4,269,262 5.44
2,298,210 6.01–10.00 4.3 7.11 1,262,647 6.97
864,576 10.01–13.00 2.3 12.46 809,017 12.56

9,232,694 8,098,635

Exercises of employee share-based awards
The total intrinsic values of share-based awards exercised for the years to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $23.8 million, $67.9 million and
$65.5 million, respectively. The total cash received from employees as a result of employee share option exercises for the period to December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006 was approximately $11.4 million, $30.4 million and $82.0 million, respectively. In connection with these exercises, the tax deficit
charged to additional paid-in capital for the period to December 31, 2008 was $3.8 million (2007: $nil, 2006: $nil).

The Group will settle future employee share award exercises with either newly listed common shares or with shares held in an ESOT. The number 
of shares to be purchased by the ESOT during 2009 will be dependent on the number of employee share awards granted and exercised during the
year and Shire plc’s share price. At December 31, 2008 the ESOT held 7.3 million Ordinary Shares and 4.5 million ADSs.
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Valuation methodologies
The Group estimates the fair value of share-based awards without market-based performance conditions using a Black-Scholes valuation model and
awards with market-based performance conditions are valued using a binomial valuation. This is consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) and
SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. Key input assumptions used to estimate the fair value of share–based awards include the grant price of the award,
the expected stock-based award term, volatility of the Group’s share, the risk-free rate and the Group’s dividend yield. The Group believes that the
valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying assumptions are appropriate in estimating the fair values of Shire’s stock-based
awards. Estimates of fair value are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by employees who receive equity awards,
and subsequent events are not indicative of the reasonableness of the original estimates of fair value made by the Group under SFAS No. 123(R).

The fair value of share awards granted was estimated using the following assumptions:

Year ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate(i) 1.3–5.3% 3.4–5.35% 4.7–5.0%
Expected dividend yield 0–0.5% 0–0.5% 0.5%
Expected life(ii) 4 years 4 years 4 years
Weighted average volatility 29% 27% 30%
Forfeiture rate 5% 5% 5%

(i) Risk free interest rate is for UK and US grants.

(ii) Stock awards made in the year to December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 expire five years from the date of issue.

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

All subsidiary undertakings (with the exception of the Jerini subsidiaries which are held at 98.6%) of Shire plc are 100% beneficially owned (directly 
or indirectly) and are all included in the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of incorporation

3829359 Canada Inc. Canada
BioChem Vaccines B.V. Netherlands
GlaxoSmithKline Shire Canada Inc. Canada
Instant Companies Limited United Kingdom
Monmouth Pharmaceuticals Limited United Kingdom
Orpharm S.A. Argentina
Pharma International Insurance Limited Ireland
Rybar Laboratories Limited United Kingdom
Shire 2005 Investments Limited Cayman Islands
Shire Acquisition Inc. Canada
Shire Australia Pty Limited Australia
Shire Belgium BVBA Belgium
Shire Biopharmaceuticals Holdings United Kingdom
Shire Biopharmaceuticals Ireland Limited Ireland
Shire Biopharmaceuticals Ireland No.2 Limited Ireland
Shire Canada Inc. Canada
Shire Deutschland GmbH Germany
Shire Deutschland Investments GmbH Germany
Shire Development Inc. United States
Shire Europe Finance United Kingdom
Shire Europe Limited United Kingdom
Shire Executive Services LLC United States
Shire Finance Limited Cayman Islands
Shire France S.A. France
Shire Global Finance United Kingdom
Shire Holdings AG Switzerland
Shire Holdings Europe B.V. Netherlands
Shire Holdings Europe Limited United Kingdom
Shire Holdings Europe No.2 S.ar.l Luxembourg
Shire Holdings Ireland Limited Ireland
Shire Holdings Ireland No.2 Limited Ireland
Shire Holdings Limited Bermuda
Shire Holdings UK Canada Limited United Kingdom
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Subsidiary Jurisdiction of incorporation

Shire Holdings UK Limited United Kingdom
Shire Holdings US AG United States
Shire Human Genetic Therapies (Canada) Inc. Canada
Shire Human Genetic Therapies AB Sweden
Shire Human Genetic Therapies Inc. United States
Shire Human Genetic Therapies Limited United Kingdom
Shire Human Genetic Therapies Ltda Brazil
Shire Human Genetic Therapies Securities Corporation United States
Shire Human Genetic Therapies UK Limited United Kingdom
Shire Incorporated United States
Shire Intellectual Property 2 SRL Barbados
Shire Intellectual Property SRL Barbados
Shire International Licensing B.V. Netherlands
Shire Investments & Finance (U.K.) Company United Kingdom
Shire IP Services Corporation Canada
Shire Italia S.p.A. Italy
Shire Jersey Limited Jersey
Shire LLC United States
Shire Luxembourg S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Shire Pharmaceutical Contracts Limited United Kingdom
Shire Pharmaceutical Development Inc. United States
Shire Pharmaceutical Development Limited United Kingdom
Shire Pharmaceutical Holdings Ireland Limited Ireland
Shire Pharmaceutical Investment Holdings Limited Malta
Shire Pharmaceutical Investment Limited Malta
Shire Pharmaceutical Investment Trading Ireland Ireland
Shire Pharmaceutical Investments 2008 Ireland
Shire Pharmaceuticals Group United Kingdom
Shire Pharmaceuticals Iberica S.L. Spain
Shire Pharmaceuticals Inc. United States
Shire Pharmaceuticals Investments (British Virgin Islands) Limited British Virgin Islands
Shire Pharmaceuticals Investments 2007 Limited Ireland
Shire Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited Ireland
Shire Pharmaceuticals Limited United Kingdom
Shire Pharmaceuticals Mexico SA de CV Mexico
Shire Pharmaceuticals Services Limited United Kingdom
Shire plc Jersey
Shire Properties US United States
Shire Regulatory Inc. United States
Shire Supplies U.S. LLC United States
Shire UK Investments Limited United Kingdom
Shire US Holdings Inc. United States
Shire US Inc. United States
Shire US Investments United Kingdom
Shire US Manufacturing Inc. United States
Sparkleflame Limited United Kingdom
SPG Insurance Company Limited Guernsey
Tanaud International B.V. Netherlands
Tanaud Ireland Inc. Ireland
The Endocrine Centre Limited United Kingdom
TKT Argentina srl Argentina
Jerini AG Germany
Jerini US, Inc. United States
JPT Peptide Technologies GmbH Germany
JPT Peptide Technologies, Inc. United States
Jerini Ophthalmic Holding GmbH Germany
Jerini Ophthalmic, Inc. United States
Jerini Beteiligungen GmbH Germany
Jerini Holding Ltd Malta
Jerini Trading Ltd Malta
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In October 2005 the Group sub-leased its office premises in Newport to Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals Inc. Dr James Cavanaugh, the Non-Executive
Chairman of the Group up to June 18, 2008, was the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals, Inc. up to February 9, 2007.
As a result of the transaction the Group will receive $7.8 million (net of inducements) in lease income over the sub-lease period from Xanodyne
Pharmaceuticals Inc.

36 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

The ACR Committee reviews the scope and results of the audit and non-audit services, including tax advisory and compliance services, provided 
by the Group’s auditors, Deloitte LLP, the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the auditor. In recognition of the importance 
of maintaining the independence of Deloitte LLP, a process for pre-approval has been in place since July 1, 2002 and has continued through to the
end of the period covered by this Report.

The following table provides an analysis of the amount paid to the Group’s auditors, Deloitte LLP, all fees having been pre-approved by the 
ACR Committee. 

2008 2007
Year to December 31, $’000 $’000

Audit fees(i) 4,512 3,625
Audit-related fees(ii) 435 1,432
Tax fees(iii) 544 1,142
All other fees(iv) 140 346

Total fees 5,631 6,545

(i) Audit fees consisted of audit work only the Group’s auditors can reasonably be expected to perform, such as statutory audits.

(ii) Audit related fees consist of work generally only the Group’s auditors can reasonably be expected to perform, such as procedures relating 
to regulatory filings.

(iii) Tax fees consisted principally of assistance with matters related to compliance, planning and advice in various tax jurisdictions.

(iv)All other fees relate to assisting the remuneration committee and corporate responsibility.

37 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Agreement to Acquire EQUASYM IR and XL
On February 20, 2009 the Company announced that it had signed an agreement with UCB to acquire the worldwide rights (excluding the USA,
Canada and Barbados) to the currently marketed products EQUASYM IR and XL (methylphenidate hydrochloride) used for the treatment of ADHD. 
The acquisition is subject to standard closing conditions.

On completion of the transaction approximately 20 sales and sales management personnel will transfer to the Company, providing an established 
sales force for EQUASYM and other potential ADHD products. Shire will make a cash payment to UCB of ?55 million for the acquisition of these 
rights on completion of the transaction. In addition, small milestone payments may become due in 2009 and 2010 if certain net sales targets are met.

Agreement to Terminate Development of Women’s Health Products
In August 2006, Shire and Duramed (an affiliate of Barr) entered into an agreement related to SEASONIQUE, a number of products using Duramed’s
transvaginal ring technology and other oral products (the ‘Collaboration Products’). Under this agreement, Shire was required to re-imburse Duramed for
US development expenses incurred in respect of the Collaboration Products up to a maximum of $140 million over eight years from September 2006,
and Shire had the right to commercialize these products in a number of markets outside of North America, including the larger European markets. 

US development expenses re-imbursed in the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled $30.0 million, and at December 31, 2008 the maximum future
re-imbursement for Duramed incurred US development expenditures was $95.6 million.

On February 24, 2009, Shire and Duramed amended this agreement and it will terminate on December 31, 2009. Pursuant to this amendment, Shire
agreed to return to Duramed its rights under the agreement effective February 24, 2009. Shire also agreed to re-imburse Duramed for incurred US
development expenditures in 2009 up to a maximum of $30.0 million. In addition, Shire agreed to a one-time payment to Duramed of $10.0 million 
and to forego royalties receivable from Barr and cost of goods otherwise payable by Barr to Shire in 2009 under the License Agreement between the
parties for the supply of the authorized generic of ADDERALL XR up to a maximum of $25.0 million.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents summarized unaudited quarterly results for the years to December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2008 $’M $’M $’M $’M

Total revenues 702.2 775.6 778.6 765.8
Operating income/(loss) 163.0 (67.3) 122.9 193.4
Net income/(loss) 128.6 (79.0) (34.9) 141.3
Earnings per share—basic 23.6¢ (14.6¢) (6.5¢) 26.2¢

Earnings per share—diluted 22.7¢ (14.6¢) (6.5¢) 26.0¢

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2007 $’M $’M $’M $’M

Total revenues 528.2 574.9 608.7 724.5
Operating income/(loss) 141.2 (1,775.1) 22.6 232.2
Net income/(loss) 112.7 (1,811.3) 34.7 212.1
Earnings per share—basic 21.6¢ (331.0¢) 6.4¢ 38.9¢

Earnings per share—diluted 21.3¢ (331.0¢) 6.3¢ 36.9¢

RECONCILIATION OF US GAAP TO NON-GAAP NET INCOME/LOSS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER ADS

2008 2008 2007 2007 2006 2006
$’M ¢/ADS $’M ¢/ADS $’M ¢/ADS

GAAP Net income/(loss) and
diluted earnings per ADS 156.0 85.8¢ (1,451.8) (806.1¢) 278.2 163.8¢

IPR&D charge (Jerini/Zymenex/New River) 263.1 1,866.4 —
Gain on sale of product rights (20.7) (127.8) (63.0)
Up front and milestone in-license payments — 155.9 80.5
Costs associated with new holding company 14.8 — —
Exit costs associated with DYNEPO 149.9 — —
Integration and transaction related costs 10.3 1.3 5.6
Legal settlement — 17.0 —
Intangible asset amortization 126.2 94.6 56.3
Intangible asset impairment (excluding DYNEPO) 2.5 0.4 1.1
FAS 123R catch up charge — 29.2 —
Cost of product sales fair value adjustment — — 47.0

Operating Income—Non-GAAP adjustments 546.1 2,037.0 127.5

Gain on disposal of minority equity investment (9.4) — —
Write down of investments 58.0 — —
Deferred finance costs write-off — 7.9 —
Interest on TKT appraisal rights settlement 73.0 — —
Discontinued operations 17.6 — (40.6)
Taxes on above adjustments (112.4) (61.8) (34.2)

Non-GAAP Net income and
diluted earnings per ADS 728.9 385.8¢ 531.3 284.1¢ 330.9 195.0¢

The Non-GAAP measures are presented in this Annual Report as the Group’s management believe that they will provide investors with a means 
of evaluating, and an understanding of how Shire’s management evaluates, the Group’s performance and results on a comparable basis that is not
otherwise apparent on a US GAAP basis, since many one-time, infrequent or non-cash items that the Group’s management believe are not indicative
of the core performance of the business may not be excluded when preparing financial measures under US GAAP. 

The following items are excluded from net income/(loss) from continuing operations in calculating Non-GAAP diluted earnings per ADS: intangible asset
amortization and impairment charges; gains and losses on the sale of non-core assets; upfront payments and milestones in respect of in-licensed and
acquired products; termination costs; costs associated with the introduction of the new holding company; costs associated with the acquisition and
integration of companies, and acquired in-process research and development charges; other-than-temporary impairment of investments; incremental interest
charges in 2008 of $73 million arising on the settlement of litigation with the former dissenting shareholders of TKT; and taxes associated with these items.
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Dividends
Shareholders are able to choose how they 
receive their dividends:
—directly into their bank account* or 
—by cheque.

*Shire preferred option:
The quickest and most efficient way to receive
your dividends is to have them paid directly 
into your bank account. Those selecting this
payment method receive a tax voucher with 
each payment. To change how you receive your
dividends, either log on to www.shareview.co.uk
or contact Equiniti.

Income Access Share (IAS) arrangements
Shareholders who elect, or are deemed to have
elected, to receive their dividends via the IAS
arrangements will receive their dividends from 
a UK source (rather than directly from the
Company which is an Irish tax resident company)
for UK tax purposes. 

Shareholders who hold 25,000 or fewer shares 
(i) on the date of admission of the Company 
to the London Stock Exchange, being May 23,
2008, and (ii) in the case of shareholders who did
not own shares at that time, on the first dividend
record date after they became shareholders 
in the Company, unless they elect otherwise, 
will be deemed to have elected to receive their
dividends under the IAS arrangements.

Shareholders who hold more than 25,000 shares
and who wish to receive their dividends from a UK
source must make an IAS election. All elections
remain in force indefinitely unless revoked.

Unless shareholders have made an IAS election,
or are deemed to have made an IAS election,
dividends will be received from an Irish source 
and will be taxed accordingly. 
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Electronic communication
Shire will communicate with those shareholders
who have elected or who are deemed to have
elected to receive documents electronically 
by publishing documents on its website and 
will write to shareholders to inform them 
of the availability of these documents on the
Company’s website.

Alternatively, shareholders can elect to 
receive electronic notification of Company
communications. Instead of a letter, an email 
will be sent to the shareholder’s email address
with a link to the documents on the Company’s
website. To effect this, you must register free 
of charge at www.shareview.co.uk by following 
the online instructions.

The advantages of electronic communication are:
—receiving shareholder information speedily 

and efficiently;
—reducing the demand on natural resources;

and
—helping your Company reduce its costs.

Shareholders who do not elect to receive
documents or notifications electronically will
receive paper copies of materials.

Shareholder security
Over the last year, many companies 
have become aware that their shareholders 
have received unsolicited phone calls or
correspondence concerning investment 
matters. These are typically from overseas 
based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders,
offering to sell them what often turn out 
to be worthless or high risk shares in US or 
UK investments.

Shareholders are advised to be very wary 
of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares 
at a discount or offers of free company reports. 
If you receive any unsolicited investment advice:
—make sure you get the name of the person 

and organization; 
—check that they are properly authorized 

by the FSA before getting involved 
by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/Pages/register; and

—report the matter to the FSA either 
by calling 0845 606 1234 or visiting
www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk. 

If you deal with an unauthorized firm, you will 
not be eligible to receive payment under the
Financial Services Compensation Scheme. 
The FSA can be contacted by completing an
online form at www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/doing/
regulated/law/alerts/overseas.shtml.

Details of any share dealing facilities that 
the Company endorses will be included in
Company mailings.

More detailed information on this or similar 
activity can be found on the FSA website
www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk.

This warning has been issued by the Financial
Services Authority and endorsed by the ICSA. 

Financial calendar

Second interim dividend payment
April 2009

Annual General Meeting
April 2009

First quarter results’ announcement
April 2009

Second quarter results’ announcement
August 2009

First interim dividend payment
September/October 2009

Third quarter results’ announcement
October 2009

Annual results’ announcement
February 2010

Second interim dividend payment
April 2010
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ShareGift
Shareholders with a small number of shares, 
the value of which makes it uneconomical to sell,
may wish to consider donating them to the 
charity ShareGift (registered charity no. 1052686).
Donated shares are aggregated and sold by
ShareGift, the proceeds being passed on to a
wide range of charities. Find out more about
ShareGift at www.sharegift.org or by telephoning
ShareGift on +44 (0)20 7930 3737.

US Shareholders
(i) ADSs
The Company’s American Depositary Shares
(ADSs), each representing three Ordinary 
Shares, are listed on NASDAQ under the symbol
‘SHPGY’. The Company files reports and other
documents with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) that are available for
inspection and copying at the SEC’s public
reference facilities or can be obtained by writing
to the Company Secretary.

(ii) ADS Depositary
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is the depositary
for Shire ADSs. All enquiries concerning ADS
records, certificates or transfer of Ordinary 
Shares into ADSs should be addressed to:

JPMorgan Chase & Co.
P.O. Box 64504 
St Paul
MN 55164-0504
USA

General enquiries:
Toll free in US:
Tel: +1 800 990 1135

From outside the US:
Tel: +1 651 453 2128

Email: jpmorgan.adr@wellsfargo.com

Registered Office
22 Grenville Street
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PX

Registered in Jersey
No. 99854

Corporate Headquarters
5 Riverwalk
Citywest Business Campus
Dublin 24
Ireland

UK Headquarters
Hampshire International Business Park
Chineham
Basingstoke
Hampshire RG24 8EP
United Kingdom

Website
www.shire.com

Investor relations
ROW: Clea Rosenfeld
Tel: +44 (0)1256 894160
Email: investorrelations@shire.com

North America: Eric Rojas
Tel: +1 617 551 9715
Email: erojas@shire.com

Registrars
All administrative enquiries relating to 
shareholders should be addressed to Equiniti,
clearly stating the registered shareholder’s 
name and address.

Equiniti
Shire Shareholder Services
Equiniti (Jersey) Limited
PO Box 63
11–12 Esplanade
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PH

Shareholder helpline
From overseas:
Tel: +44 (0)121 415 7047 

In the UK:
Tel: 0871 384 2553*

*Calls to this number are charged at 8p per 
minute from a BT landline. Other telephony
providers’ charges may vary. 
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Ireland
Corporate Headquarters
5 Riverwalk
Citywest Business Campus
Dublin 24
Ireland
Tel +353 1 429 7700
Fax +353 1 429 7701

UK
Headquarters
Hampshire International Business Park
Chineham
Basingstoke
Hampshire RG24 8EP
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 1256 894000
Fax +44 (0) 1256 894708

US Specialty Pharmaceuticals
Headquarters
725 Chesterbrook Blvd.
Wayne, Philadelphia
19087–5637
USA
Tel +1 484 595 8800
Fax +1 484 595 8200

Human Genetic Therapies
700 Main Street
Cambridge
Massachusetts 02139
USA
Tel +1 617 349 0200
Fax +1 617 613 4004

Human Genetic Therapies
300 Patriot Way
Lexington
Massachusetts 02420
USA
Tel +1 617 349 0200
Fax +1 617 613 4004

Germany
Sieburger Straße 229b
50679 Köln
Germany
Tel +49 (0) 221/8 02 50—0
Fax +49 (0) 221/8 02 50—100

France
86–90, rue du Dôme
92100 Boulogne-Billancourt
France
Tel +33 (1) 46 10 90 00
Fax +33 (1) 46 08 21 49

Italy
Corso Italia, 29
50123 Firenze
Italy
Tel +39 055 288 860
Fax +39 055 296 931

Brazil
Av. Pres. Juscelino Kubitscheck
1726—16o andar—Conj. 161/163
São Paulo, SP
CEP–4543–000
Brazil
Tel +55 11 3014 7300
Fax +55 11 3079 6284

Spain
Paseo Pinto Rosales num. 44
Bajo
28008 Madrid
Spain
Tel +34 9 1550 0691
Fax +34 9 1549 3695

Canada
2250 Alfred-Nobel Blvd., Suite 500
Ville Saint-Laurent, Québec H4S 2C9
Canada
Tel +1 514 787 2300
Fax +1 514 787 2427

Belgium
Lambroekstraat 5a
1831 Diegem
Belgium
Tel +32 (0)719 04 25
Fax +32 (0)719 00 10

Sweden
Svärdvägen 11D
182 33 Danderyd
Sweden
Tel +46 8 544 964 00
Fax +46 8 544 964 09

The Netherlands
Strawinskylaan 847
Amsterdam
The Netherlands
1077XX
Tel +31 20 407 8425
Fax +31 20 407 6209

Australia
L9 Avaya House
123 Epping Road
North Ryde
Sydney
NSW 2113
Australia
Tel +61 2 8875 7729
Fax +61 2 8875 7977

Argentina
Erezcano 3350 (1437)
Ciudad autonoma de Buenos Aires
Argentina
Tel +5411 4323 2100
Fax +5411 4323 2199

Mexico
Paseo De Los Tamarindos #90. Acros II
Torre 1. 7th Floor
Colonia Bosques De Las Lomas
Mexico, DF. CP 05120
Tel +52 55 3300 5029
Fax +52 55 3300 5010
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Cautionary statements and Glossary of terms

Statements included herein that are not historical
facts are forward-looking statements. Such
forward-looking statements involve a number 
of risks and uncertainties and are subject 
to change at any time. In the event such risks 
or uncertainties materialize, Shire’s (Shire plc 
and its subsidiaries) results could be materially
adversely affected. The risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, risks associated
with: the inherent uncertainty of research,
development, approval, re-imbursement,
manufacturing and commercialization of Shire’s
Specialty Pharmaceuticals and Human Genetic
Therapies products, as well as the ability to

secure and integrate new products for
commercialization and/or development;
government regulation of Shire’s products; 
Shire’s ability to manufacture its products in
sufficient quantities to meet demand; the impact
of competitive therapies on Shire’s products;
Shire’s ability to register, maintain and enforce
patents and other intellectual property rights
relating to its products; Shire’s ability to obtain
and maintain government and other third-party 
re-imbursement for its products; and other 
risks and uncertainties detailed from time to
time in Shire’s filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

CarrierWave process
A drug technology platform acquired as part 
of the New River Pharmaceuticals acquisition.

Pharmacological chaperone technology
Small molecule drugs called pharmacological
chaperones are used to selectively bind to a
target protein and increase its stability. The
binding of the chaperone molecule helps the
protein fold into its correct three-dimensional
shape. This allows the protein to be trafficked
from the endoplasmic reticulum to the
appropriate location in the cell, thereby 
increasing protein activity and cellular function
and reducing stress on cells. This approach 
was developed to address human genetic
diseases resulting from misfolded proteins.

Enzyme replacement therapy
A medical treatment replacing an enzyme 
in patients whom that particular enzyme 
is deficient or absent. Usually this is done by 
giving the patient an intravenous (IV) infusion
containing the enzyme.

FDA
US Food and Drug Administration

Oral-5 ASA
5-ASA (5-aminosalicylic acid) also known
as Mesalazine or Mesalamine, is an anti-
inflammatory drug used to treat inflammation 
of the digestive tract ulcerative colitis and mild 
to moderate Crohn’s disease. Mesalazine is 
a bowel-specific aminosalicylate drug that acts
locally in the gut and has its predominant actions
there, thereby having few systemic side-effects.

Phase 1
Oral therapies usually conducted in healthy 
human volunteers to determine if a drug
candidate is safe for more extensive testing.

Phase 2
Clinical trials conducted in patients with relevant
disease to assess the safety and efficacy of the
drug candidate.

Phase 3
Clinical trials conducted in the target patient
population to comprehensively assess the
safety and efficacy of the drug candidate.

Pivotal study
A major clinical trial that has a significant impact
on the labeling (approved usage) of a drug.

Pre-clinical study
Studies of compounds conducted in the
laboratory, in isolated tissues, or in living animals.

Symptomatic diseases
A disease is symptomatic when it is at a stage
when the patient is experiencing symptoms. 
It is generally used in counter distinction of
asymptomatic (when the disease is inapparent).
Symptomatic treatment is the practice of treating 
a patient’s symptom, rather than the disease 
or injury itself.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008.

The Company was incorporated and registered in Jersey as MDFJ2039773 Limited on January 28, 2008. On April 1, 2008 the Company changed 
its name to Shire Limited and re-registered as a public company. On October 1, 2008 the Company changed its name to Shire plc. The principal
legislation under which the Company operates is Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and regulations made thereunder.

The Ordinary Shares of the Company are listed on the London Stock Exchange, and American Depositary Shares (‘ADS’) representing three Ordinary
Shares of the Company, (evidenced by an American Depositary Receipt issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.) are listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Principal activity and Business review
Shire plc is the parent company of the Shire Group (the ‘Group’ or ‘Shire’), the principal activity of which is the research, development and marketing 
of prescription medicines. Shire’s strategic goal is to become the leading specialty biopharmaceutical company that focuses on meeting the needs 
of the specialist physician. Shire focuses its business on attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (‘ADHD’), human genetic therapies (‘HGT’), and
gastrointestinal (‘GI’) diseases as well as opportunities in other therapeutic areas to the extent they arise through acquisitions. Shire’s in-licensing,
merger and acquisition efforts are focused on products in specialist markets with strong intellectual property protection and global rights. Shire believes
that a carefully selected and balanced portfolio of products with strategically aligned and relatively small-scale sales forces will deliver strong results.

Business review 
The Business review of the Group can be found in the consolidated financial statements and Annual Report and Accounts of the Company for the 
year to December 31, 2008, prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Listing Authority requirements, (‘Shire Annual Report’) in the Chairman’s
review on pages 2 and 3; the Chief Executive Officer’s review on pages 4 to 6; and the Financial review on pages 7 to 35. The Financial review also
provides a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company and the Group as well as risk management objectives and policies.

On May 23, 2008 Shire Limited (now known as Shire plc) became the holding company of Shire plc (the former holding company of the Shire Group)
(‘Old Shire’), a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales, pursuant to a scheme of arrangement under Sections 895 to 899 of the
United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 that was approved by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales and the shareholders of Old Shire 
(the ‘Scheme of Arrangement’). Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, Ordinary Shares, each having a nominal value of £0.05, of Old Shire 
(‘Shire Ordinary Shares’) were exchanged for Ordinary Shares, each having a nominal value of £0.05, of Shire Limited (‘Shire Limited Ordinary Shares’), 
on a one-for-one basis. As a result of the Scheme of Arrangement, Old Shire became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shire Limited. The Shire Limited
Ordinary Shares carry substantially the same rights as did the Shire Ordinary Shares. The Scheme of Arrangement did not involve any payment 
for the Shire Limited Ordinary Shares.

The Company is resident for tax purposes in the Republic of Ireland.

Income Access Share arrangements
During the period to December 31, 2008 Shire has put in place Income Access Share (‘IAS’) arrangements enabling shareholders to choose whether
they receive their dividends from a company resident for tax purposes in the Republic of Ireland or from a Company resident for tax purposes in the UK.
Further details in respect of the IAS arrangements can be found in Note 25 of the Shire Annual Report, and in the Scheme Circular issued by the
Company on April 16, 2008 which is available on the Company’s website, www.shire.com.

Results and dividends
A loss on ordinary activities before taxation of $42.7 million was recorded in the period.

Dividends paid
The Company paid dividends amounting to $3.1 million in the period. In accordance with IAS arrangements, the Company directed Old Shire to 
pay dividends totaling $7.2 million to those shareholders who choose to receive their dividends from a company resident for tax purposes in the UK.

Dividend policy
The Company paid and proposed the following dividends during the period:

A first interim dividend for the first half of 2008 of 2.15 US¢ (1.08 pence) per Ordinary Share, equivalent to 6.44 US¢ per ADS, was paid in October
2008. The Board has resolved to pay a second interim dividend of 7.76 US¢ (5.47 pence) per Ordinary Share equivalent to 23.28 US¢ per ADS for
the six months to December 31, 2008.

This is consistent with Shire’s stated policy of paying a dividend semi-annually, set in US¢ per Ordinary Share. It is intended that the first interim
payment each year should be constant in US Dollar terms. Dividend growth for the full year will be reviewed by the Board when the second interim
dividend is determined. Any dividend growth will come through increasing the second interim dividend in a financial year. 

Capital reduction
On June 11, 2008 the Jersey Court approved a reduction of the Company’s share capital, and on June 12, 2008 the Company accordingly reduced 
its capital by $3.7 billion creating distributable reserves. See Note L for further details.

Liquidity, cash flow and going concern
The Company and the Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out
in the Chairman’s review, Chief Executive Officer’s review and Financial review on pages 2 to 35 of the Shire Annual Report. The financial position of 
the Company and the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Liquidity and capital resources section of the
Financial review of the Shire Annual Report. The Financial review also includes information in respect of the Group’s objectives, policies and processes
for managing capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its hedging activity; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of
the Company’s financial instruments are disclosed in Note N of these financial statements.
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The Group’s robust balance sheet contains $218 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008. The Group generated $800 million of
cash from operating activities, during the year. The Group has no debt or facilities maturing in the next three years and substantially all of the Group’s
debt relates to its $1.1 billion 2.75% Convertible Bonds which mature in 2014, although these include a put option which could require repayment 
in 2012. In addition, the Group has a committed facility until 2012 of $1.2 billion, which is currently undrawn.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to manage its business risks
successfully despite the current uncertain economic climate, and to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the report and financial statements.

Directors
The Directors who served during the period and to the date of signing these financial statements are shown below:

MW Emmens (Appointed April 1, 2008)
AC Russell (Appointed April 1, 2008)
GC Hetherington (Appointed July 1, 2008)
DJ Kappler (Appointed April 1, 2008)
PJM Langlois (Appointed April 1, 2008)
JM Leiden (Appointed April 1, 2008)
D Mott (Appointed April 1, 2008)
KA Nealon (Appointed April 1, 2008)
BJ Price (Appointed April 1, 2008)
M Rosenblatt (Appointed April 24, 2008)
JH Cavanaugh (Appointed April 1, 2008, resigned June 18, 2008)
RWT Buchanan (Appointed April 1, 2008, resigned July 29, 2008)

Auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
— so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
— the Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and 

to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

TAH May
Secretary
February 27, 2009
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected 
to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:
— select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
— make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
— state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial

statements; and
— prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shire plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Shire plc for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008 which comprises
the profit and loss account, balance sheet and the related notes A to O. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the consolidated financial statements and Annual Report and Accounts of Shire plc for the year ended December 31,
2008, prepared in accordance with the United Kingdom Listing Authority requirements (the ‘Shire Annual Report’).

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 110 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (United Kingdom and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the Directors’ report is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Shire Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial
statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent
company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (United Kingdom and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion: 
— the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, 

of the state of the Company’s affairs as at December 31, 2008 and of its loss for the period then ended;
— the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991; and
— the information given in the Directors report is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
February 27, 2009 
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Profit and loss account for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008

2008
Note $’M

Administrative expenses (8.6)

Operating loss C (8.6)
Interest receivable and similar income D 3.1
Interest payable and similar charges E (37.2)

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (42.7)
Tax credit on loss on ordinary activities F 1.4

Loss on ordinary activities after taxation (41.3)

All activities relate to continuing operations.

There are no recognized gains and losses other than those stated above. Accordingly, no statement of total recognized gains and losses 
has been presented.
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Balance sheet as at December 31, 2008

2008
Note $’M

Fixed assets
Fixed asset investments H 9,334.3
Current assets
Debtors I 1,425.1
Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year J (54.4)

Net current assets 1,370.7
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year K (983.6)

Net assets 9,721.4

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital L 55.5
Share premium account M 5,938.7
Equity component of Convertible Bonds M 43.2
Other reserve M 27.7
Profit and loss account M 3,656.3

Shareholders’ funds M 9,721.4

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Graham Hetherington
Director
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Notes to the financial statements for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008

A PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Preparation of financial statements
These separate financial statements of the Company are drawn up in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(‘UK GAAP’) as at December 31, 2008 and in accordance with the requirements of Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Consolidated accounts prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (‘US GAAP’), in which 
the financial results and cash flow statement of the Company and its subsidiaries are included, can be found in the Shire Annual Report.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies described below, which have been applied
consistently throughout the period and have been approved by the Board.

B ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at historic cost less any provision for impairment.

Dividends paid and received
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the
shareholders’ right to receive payment is established. This occurs in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders, 
or in the case of an interim dividend, when the dividend is paid.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognized in respect of goods and services received when supplied in accordance with contractual terms. Provision is made when 
an obligation exists for a future liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Foreign currency transactions
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates (the functional currency). These financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentational currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the balance sheet dates are reported at the rate of exchange prevailing at that date.

Share-based compensation
The Company operates equity-settled, share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options has been valued using option pricing models. Options granted without market-based performance conditions are valued using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Options granted with market-based performance conditions are valued using a binomial model. In accordance
with FRS 20 ‘Share-based Payments’, the resulting cost for the Company’s employee is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period of the options. The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of options vesting. The cost for options granted
to the Company’s subsidiaries’ employees represents additional capital contributions by the Company in its subsidiaries. An additional investment in
subsidiaries has been recorded in respect of those options granted to the Company’s subsidiaries’ employees, with a corresponding increase in the
Company’s shareholders’ equity. The additional capital contribution is based on the fair value at the grant date of the options issued, allocated over
the life of the underlying grant’s vesting period.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.
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Notes to the financial statements for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008

B ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation
Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid or recovered using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or
events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing
differences are differences between the Company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements that arise from the inclusion 
of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognized in the financial statements.

A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognized only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded 
as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is not provided on timing differences arising on unremitted earnings of subsidiaries and associates where there is no commitment to remit
these earnings.

Deferred tax is measured at the rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax balances are not discounted.

Related-party transactions
Under the provisions of FRS 8 ‘Related-party disclosures’, as the consolidated financial statements in which the Company’s results are included have
been made available to the public, the Company is not required to separately disclose details of related-party transactions with other Group
undertakings in the financial statements.

Pensions
The Company contributes to personal defined contribution pension plans of employees. Contributions are charged to the profit and loss account as
they become payable. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or
prepayments in the balance sheet.

Convertible Bonds
On issuance of, or substitution from other Shire Group companies, of Convertible Bonds the Company bifurcates these Convertible Bonds into their
debt and equity components. The fair value of the debt component is estimated using the market interest rate for an equivalent non-Convertible Bond.
The amount allocated to the debt component is classified as a liability and subsequently measured on an amortized cost basis until extinguished 
on conversion or redemption of the Bonds. The remainder of the proceeds from the issuance, or the fair value on substitution from other Shire Group
companies, of Convertible Bonds is allocated to the equity component, (which represents the embedded conversion option), and is classified 
in shareholders’ equity, net of any income tax effects. The carrying amount of the equity component is not re-measured in subsequent periods.

C OPERATING LOSS

The operating loss is stated after charging:
2008
$’M

Staff costs
Salaries and wages 1.3
Social security costs 0.2
Pension contributions 0.3
Share-based payments to Directors 0.7
Directors’ fees 0.8

The Company employed an average of two employees during the period.

The auditors’ remuneration in respect of audit and other services is disclosed in Note 36 of the Shire Annual Report. The fee payable to the Company’s
auditor for the audit of the Company financial statements was $12,000.
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D INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME
2008
$’M

Interest receivable on amounts due from Group undertakings 3.1

E INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES
2008
$’M

Interest payable on Convertible Bonds 37.0
Other commitment fees 0.2

37.2

Interest charged on the Convertible Bonds represents the 2.75% coupon and the amortization of issue costs and discount arising on substitution,
see Note K.

F TAX CREDIT ON LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

The tax credit comprises:
2008
$’M

Deferred tax:
Losses 1.2
Share-based payments 0.2

Total tax credit on loss on ordinary activities 1.4

The differences between the total current tax and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of Irish corporation tax to the loss before tax
is as follows:

2008
$’M

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (42.7)

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at standard Irish corporation tax rate of 25% (10.7)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 9.3
Other timing differences 1.4

Current tax charge for the period —

G DIVIDENDS

The Company paid dividends amounting to $3.1 million in the period. In accordance with IAS arrangements, the Company directed Old Shire to 
pay dividends totaling $7.2 million to those shareholders who choose to receive their dividends from a company resident for tax purposes in the UK.

The Company paid and proposed the following dividends during the period:

A first interim dividend for the first half of 2008 of 2.15 US¢ (1.08 pence) per Ordinary Share, equivalent to 6.44 US¢ per ADS, was paid in October
2008. The Board has resolved to pay a second interim dividend of 7.76 US¢ (5.47 pence) per Ordinary Share equivalent to 23.28 US¢ per ADS for
the six months to December 31, 2008.
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H FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
2008
$’M

Investments in Group undertakings
Cost
Additions 14,435.3
Return of capital (5,128.7)
Capital contribution relating to share-based payments 27.7

As at December 31, 2008 9,334.3

Additions
On May 23, 2008 following the Scheme of Arrangement, the Company became the holding company of Old Shire following an issue of 559,725,147
new Ordinary Shares by Old Shire to the Company. The Company recorded its investment in Old Shire at a value of $9,698.5 million, being the market
capitalization of the Shire Group at the time of the Scheme of Arrangement.

On May 15, 2008 the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary, Shire Pharmaceutical Holdings Ireland Limited (‘SPHIL’), a company
incorporated in the Republic of Ireland. 

On June 3, 2008 in consideration for the issue of a loan note totaling $1,253.4 million to another Shire Group company, the Company acquired 100% 
of the Class B preference shares in Shire Holdings Europe SA (‘SHES’), a company incorporated in Luxembourg.

On June 3, 2008 SHES redeemed its class B preference shares (the ‘SHES Redemption’), the consideration received by the Company being a
$1,253.4 million receivable due from another Shire Group company. Following the SHES Redemption on June 3, 2008 the Company contributed the
$1,253.4 million receivable due from another Shire Group company to SPHIL in return for the issue of new Ordinary Shares by SPHIL to the Company
to the value of $1,253.4 million.

On June 18, 2008 the Company contributed a receivable due from another Shire Group company to SPHIL, recording an increase to its investment 
in SPHIL of $1,008.1 million. 

On November 26, 2008 the Company capitalized a loan receivable due from SPHIL in return for the issue of new Ordinary Shares in SPHIL to the value
of $1,221.9 million.

Return of capital
On June 3, 2008 SHES redeemed its class B preference shares in consideration for a receivable due from another Shire Group company totaling
$1,253.4 million. On June 18, 2008 Old Shire returned capital to the Company totaling $3,875.3 million in the form of cash (the ‘Old Shire Return’).

On June 18, 2008, subsequent to the Old Shire Return, the Company sold its investment in Old Shire to SPHIL in return for additional Ordinary Shares
in SPHIL. The Company recorded these additional Ordinary Shares in SPHIL at the carrying value of its investment in Old Shire at the time of the
disposal, being $5,823.2 million.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s direct subsidiaries as at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Country of Principal
incorporation activity Holding 

Shire Pharmaceutical Holdings Ireland Limited Ireland Holding Company 100%

Details of indirect subsidiaries can be found on page 132 of the Shire Annual Report.
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I DEBTORS
2008
$’M

Amounts due from Group undertakings 1,423.5
Other debtors 0.2
Deferred tax 1.4

1,425.1

Amounts due from Group undertakings include an interest free loan receivable of $1,400.0 million, which is denominated in US dollars and repayable
on demand.

J CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
2008
$’M

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 48.4
Other creditors 6.0

54.4

Amounts owed to Group undertakings include an interest-bearing loan payable of $39.4 million, which is denominated in US dollars and repayable
on demand. Interest is charged on this borrowing at 0.5% above the US Fed Funds Rate.

K CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Shire 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 
On May 9, 2007 Old Shire issued $1,100.0 million in principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 and convertible into fully paid Ordinary
Shares of Old Shire of par value £0.05 each (the ‘Bonds’). The net proceeds of issuing the Bonds, after deducting the commissions and other direct
costs of issue, totaled $1,081.7 million.

In May 2008, pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, the Company replaced Old Shire as the holding company of Shire and its subsidiaries.
Immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement becoming effective, the Company was substituted for Old Shire as the principal obligor under the
Bonds, and the terms and conditions of the Bonds accordingly amended. In connection with the Scheme of Arrangement the following documents
were entered into:

(i) a supplemental trust deed dated April 15, 2008 between Shire plc, Old Shire and BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee (the
‘Supplemental Trust Deed’) relating to a trust deed dated May 9, 2007 (the ‘Trust Deed’) constituting the US $1,100,000,000 2.75% Convertible
Bonds due 2014 (the ‘Convertible Bonds’) originally issued by Shire; and

(ii) an accession and amendment agreement dated April 15, 2008 between Shire plc, Old Shire BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee
and The Bank of New York as Paying and Conversion Agent (the ‘Accession and Amendment Agreement’) relating to a paying and conversion
agency agreement dated May 9, 2007 (the ‘Agency Agreement’) between Old Shire, BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited as Trustee and The
Bank of New York as Paying and Conversion Agent.
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K CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR (continued)

The following is a description of the material amendments to the Trust Deed, effected pursuant to the Supplemental Trust Deed, and to the Agency
Agreement, effected pursuant to the Accession and Amendment Agreement, each of which took effect on May 23, 2008, immediately prior to the
Scheme of Arrangement becoming effective.

Shire plc was substituted in place of Old Shire as principal obligor under, and issuer of, the Convertible Bonds, and Shire plc acceded to, and
assumed all Old Shire obligations under, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement. Old Shire ceased to be a party to the Trust Deed and the
Agency Agreement. The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds were amended and re-stated 
in order to, among other things, provide that the Convertible Bonds will, following the substitution, be convertible into Ordinary Shares of Shire plc.

The Bonds were originally issued by Old Shire at 100% of their principal amount, and unless previously purchased and canceled, redeemed or
converted, will be redeemed on May 9, 2014 (the ‘Final Maturity Date’) at their principal amount. The Bonds bear interest at 2.75% per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrears on November 9 and May 9. The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the
Company, and rank pari passu and rateably, without any preference amongst themselves, and equally with all other existing and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Company.

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Company (the ‘Call Option’) at their principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest if: 
(i) at any time after May 23, 2012 if on no less than 20 dealing days in any period of 30 consecutive dealing days the value of Shire plc’s Ordinary
Shares underlying each Bond in the principal amount of $100,000 would exceed $130,000; or (ii) at any time conversion rights shall have been
exercised, and/or purchases and corresponding cancelations, and/or redemptions effected in respect of 85% or more in principal amount of Bonds
originally issued. The Bonds may also be redeemed at the option of the Bond-holder at their principal amount including accrued but unpaid interest
on May 9, 2012 (the ‘Put Option’), or following the occurrence of change of control. The Bonds are repayable in US dollars, but also contain
provisions entitling the Company to settle redemption amounts in Pounds sterling, or in the case of the Final Maturity Date and following exercise 
of the Put Option, by delivery of the underlying Shire plc Ordinary Shares and a cash top-up amount.

The Bonds are convertible into Shire plc Ordinary Shares during the conversion period, being the period from June 18, 2007 until the earlier of: 
(i) the close of business on the date falling 14 days prior to the Final Maturity Date; (ii) if the Bonds have been called for redemption by the Company,
the close of business 14 days before the date fixed for redemption; (iii) the close of business on the day prior to a Bond-holder giving notice of
redemption in accordance with the conditions; and (iv) the giving of notice by the trustee that the Bonds are accelerated by reason of the occurrence
of an event of default.

Upon conversion, the Bond-holder is entitled to receive Shire plc Ordinary Shares at the initial conversion price of $33.5879 per Shire plc Ordinary
Share, (subject to adjustment as outlined below), being 2,977.26265 shares per $100,000 denomination. The initial conversion price is subject to
adjustment in respect of (i) any dividend or distribution by the Company, (ii) a change of control and (iii) customary anti-dilution adjustments for, inter alia,
share consolidations, share splits, spin-off events, rights issues, bonus issues and re-organizations. The Shares issued on conversion will be delivered
credited as fully paid, and will rank pari passu in all respects with all fully paid Shares in issue on the relevant conversion date.

The value of the Bonds as recognized in the balance sheet is as follows:
$’M

Nominal value of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2014 1,100.0

Fair value of the Convertible Bonds on substitution 1,008.1
Equity component at the date of substitution (43.2)

Liability component at the date of substitution 964.9
Interest charged(i) 37.0
Interest paid (14.0)

Liability component at December 31, 2008 987.9

Of which:
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 983.6
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year(ii) 4.3

Liability component at December 31, 2008 987.9

(i) Interest charged represents the accrued coupon and amortization of discount.

(ii) Interest payable represents the coupon of 2.75% on the Bonds.
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L CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL

As at December 31, 2008: $’M

Authorized
1,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 5 pence each 99.1
2 Subscriber Ordinary Shares of £1 each —

99.1

Issued and fully paid
560,153,863 Ordinary Shares of 5 pence each 55.5

Number $’M

As at January 28, 2008 2 —
Issued in Scheme of Arrangement 559,725,147 55.4
Issued on exercise of options 428,714 0.1

As at December 31, 2008 560,153,863 55.5

Scheme of Arrangement
On May 23, 2008 Shire Limited (now known as Shire plc) became the holding company of Shire plc (the former holding company of the Shire 
Group) (‘Old Shire’), a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales, pursuant to a Scheme of Arrangement under Sections 895 to 899
of the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 that was approved by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales and the shareholders of Old 
Shire (the ‘Scheme of Arrangement’). Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, Ordinary Shares, each having a nominal value of £0.05, of Old Shire 
(‘Shire Ordinary Shares’) were exchanged for Ordinary Shares, each having a nominal value of £0.05, of Shire Limited (‘Shire Limited Ordinary
Shares’), on a one-for-one basis and credited as fully paid. As a result of the Scheme of Arrangement, Old Shire became a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Shire Limited. The Shire Limited Ordinary Shares carry substantially the same rights as did the Shire Ordinary Shares.

Capital reduction
On June 11, 2008 the Jersey Court approved a reduction of the Company’s share capital to take effect on June 12, 2008. The reduction increased
the distributable reserves potentially available to the Company at the time of the reduction to approximately $3.7 billion by re-characterizing amounts
standing to the credit of the Company’s share premium account as a distributable reserve. The purpose of the reduction of capital is to create a
distributable reserve which would be available to be distributed as dividends, at the discretion of the Directors of the Company, from time to time 
or for any other lawful purpose to which such a reserve may be applied (including share buy-backs). The reduction of capital was designed to create
in the Company a level of distributable reserves similar to that previously available in Old Shire and to enable the Company to continue Shire’s 
existing dividend policy in a financially and operationally efficient manner.

Income Access Share arrangements
Details of the Shire Income Access Share arrangements are disclosed in Note 25 of the Shire Annual Report.

Share options
Details of options and awards granted over the Ordinary Shares of the Company which are outstanding as at December 31, 2008 are provided in the
Shire Annual Report on page 124 together with the total cost of share-based payment compensation in respect of such schemes.

The charge for the period relating to share-based payment plans in respect of Directors of the Company was $0.7 million, all of which related to
equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Details of options and awards granted to Directors of the Company are contained in the Remuneration report of Shire Annual Report on pages 52 to 65.
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M MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Equity

Called-up Share component of
share premium Convertible Other Profit and

capital account Bonds reserve loss account 2008
$’M $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

As at January 28, 2008 — — — — — —
Shares issued through Scheme of Arrangement 55.4 9,643.1 — — — 9,698.5
Costs associated with shares issued through

Scheme of Arrangement — (5.6) — — — (5.6)
Court approved reduction of capital — (3,700.0) — — 3,700.0 —
Options exercised 0.1 1.2 — — — 1.3
Capital contribution relating to share-based payments — — — 27.7 — 27.7
Share-based-payments charge — — — — 0.7 0.7
Dividends — — — — (3.1) (3.1)
Equity component of Convertible Bonds — — 43.2 — — 43.2
Loss for period — — — — (41.3) (41.3)

As at December 31, 2008 55.5 5,938.7 43.2 27.7 3,656.3 9,721.4

N RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk factors
The Company’s risks are managed as part of the Shire Group’s risk management strategy.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk; liquidity risk; and market risk (including foreign currency exchange risk, price 
risk and interest rate risk).

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects 
on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to economically hedge certain risk exposures.

Financial risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group Treasury) conducted within a framework of policies and procedures
approved annually by the Board of Directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s
operating units. As a matter of policy, the Group does not undertake speculative transactions that would increase currency or interest rate exposure.

For further details of Shire’s risk management policies see the Business review in the Shire Annual Report.

Credit risk
As at December 31, 2008 the Company had no cash or cash equivalents, trade receivables or derivative contracts and is not exposed to any credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities.

The Company finances its activities through cash generated from private and public offerings of equity, debt securities and committed bank facilities
and borrowings and the repayment of loans from Shire Group companies.

The Company anticipates that its funding sources will be sufficient to meet its anticipated future administrative expenses, debt principal and service
costs and dividend obligations as they become due over the next twelve months. The current financial situation which is affecting the banking system
and financial markets, together with the current uncertainty in global economic conditions, have resulted in a tightening in the credit markets and a low
level of liquidity in many financial markets. As a result, the Company may not be able to access new equity or debt finance at the same level or cost as
it has done previously.
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N RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
Less than Between Between Between Between 
3 months 3–6 months 6–12 months 1–3 years 3–5 years Total

At December 31, 2008 $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

Amounts owed to Group undertakings(i) 48.4 — — — — 48.4
Convertible Bonds(ii) — — — — 1,100.0 1,100.0

48.3 — — — 1,100.0 1,148.3

(i) Amounts owed to Group undertakings are short-term unsecured borrowings from Group undertakings and are repayable on demand.

(ii) Shire $1,100 million 2.75% Convertible Bonds are due 2014, although they contain a put option that could require repayment of these Bonds 
in 2012. For further details see Note K.

Market risk
Foreign currency exchange risk
As at December 31, 2008 all of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities were denominated in its functional currency, the US dollar. 
The Company is not exposed to any foreign exchange currency risk.

Price risk
As at December 31, 2008 the Company held no investments other than fixed asset investments in subsidiary undertakings which are held at historic
cost less any provision for impairment. The Company is not exposed to any credit risk.

Interest rate risk
As at December 31, 2008 the Company held no cash or cash equivalents or any debtors or creditors which were interest bearing. The Company 
had a short-term borrowing of $39.4 million from another Shire Group company, which is repayable on demand and is interest bearing at 0.5% above 
the US Fed Funds Rate. Interest on this borrowing in the period amounted to less than $0.1 million and the Directors do not perceive that servicing 
this debt poses any significant risk to the Company given its size in relation to the Company’s net assets. The Company had debt at a carrying value 
of $983.6 million outstanding in respect of the liability component of the Company’s $1,100 million in principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Bonds, 
due 2014 which were issued in May 2007. The Company incurs interest at a fixed rate on the Convertible Bonds.

Market risk sensitivity analysis
FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requires a market risk sensitivity analysis illustrating the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments and
the impact on the Company’s profit and loss account and shareholders’ equity of reasonably possible changes in selected market risks. The Company
has no financial assets or liabilities that expose it to market risk, other than amounts owed to Group undertakings of $39.4 million. The Directors do not
believe that a 1% movement in interest rates will have a material impact on the Company’s profit and loss account or shareholders’ equity.

Financial instruments
The table below sets out the Company’s accounting classification of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities and their fair values at
December 31, 2008.

Designated Available- Loans and Amortized Carrying 
at fair value for-sale receivables cost amount Fair value

At December 31, 2008 $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M $’M

Amounts due from Group undertakings(i) — — 1,423.5 — 1,423.5 1,423.5
Amounts owed to Group undertakings(i) — — — (48.4) (48.4) (48.4)
Convertible Bonds(ii) — — — (983.6) (983.6) (892.9)

— — 1,423.5 (1,032.0) 391.5 482.2

(i) The carrying amount of amounts due from and to Group undertakings approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of the amounts.

(ii) The fair value of the Company’s Convertible Bonds is based on the quoted market price of the Bonds at the balance sheet date—as such the fair
value quoted above represents the composite fair value for both the liability and equity components of the Convertible Bonds, whereas the carrying
amount represents only the liability component.

Capital risk management
The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes borrowings disclosed in Note K, issued capital, reserves and retained earnings
as disclosed in Note M. The Company manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern and to
ensure the Group has sufficient capital available to meet future funding requirements. The Group had net debt, as determined under US GAAP, of
$924.9 million at December 31, 2008 which is low relative to its market capitalization, and positions the Group to take advantage of any opportunities
that might arise to develop the business. Details of funding requirements are explained in the Liquidity and capital resources section of the Financial
review in the Shire Annual Report.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

7598 US GAAP 2008.qxd  19/3/09  15:25  Page 158



159
Shire plc (formerly MDFJ2039773 Limited, formerly Shire Limited)

Report and Financial Statements for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008
Notes to the financial statements for the period from January 28, 2008 to December 31, 2008

O COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments
There are no significant capital commitments relating to the Company.

Guarantees
The Company has guaranteed the external operating lease commitments of a subsidiary, in the amount of $121.6 million.

Multi-currency Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement
In connection with the acquisition of New River, Old Shire entered into a Multi-currency Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement (the ‘Facilities
Agreement’) with ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Barclays Capital, Citigroup Global Markets Limited and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (the ‘Arrangers’) on
February 20, 2007. The Facilities Agreement comprised three credit facilities: (i) a committed multi-currency five-year term loan facility in an aggregate
amount of $1,000 million (‘Term Loan A’), (ii) a committed multi-currency 364 day term (with a further 364 day extension option) loan facility in an
aggregate amount of $300 million (‘Term Loan B’) and (iii) a committed five-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount of $1,000 million (the ‘RCF’
and, together with Term Loan A and Term Loan B, the ‘Facilities’). Old Shire has agreed to act as guarantor for any of its subsidiaries that borrow under
the Facilities Agreement.

On April 18, 2007 the Shire Group fully utilized Term Loan A of $1,000 million and Term Loan B of $300 million to partially fund the acquisition of New
River. In May 2007 Shire issued $1,100 million principal amount of the Bonds. The proceeds of the issue were used to repay and cancel $800 million 
of Term Loan A and all of Term Loan B in accordance with the terms of the Facilities Agreement. The remaining $200 million drawn down under Term
Loan A was repaid on June 29, 2007.

On July 19, 2007, Old Shire entered into a syndication and amendment agreement in relation to the Facilities Agreement (the ‘Amended Facilities
Agreement’), which increased the RCF to an aggregate amount of $1,200 million, amended the covenant relating to the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA
and syndicated the RCF between the following banks which have the following commitment: ABN Amro Bank N.V., ($200 million); Barclays Capital,
($200 million); Citigroup Global Markets Limited, ($200 million); The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, ($200 million); Lloyds TSB Bank plc, ($200 million);
Bank of America N.A., ($100 million); and Morgan Stanley Bank, ($100 million).

The RCF, which includes a $250 million swingline facility, may be used for general corporate purposes and matures on February 20, 2012. The
availability of loans under the RCF is subject to customary conditions, including the absence of any defaults thereunder and the accuracy (in all material
respects) of Shire’s representations and warranties contained therein.

The interest rate on each loan drawn under the RCF for each interest period, as determined by Shire, is the percentage rate per annum which is the
aggregate of the applicable margin (ranging from 0.40 to 0.80% per annum, depending on the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA in the latest compliance
certificate) and LIBOR for the applicable currency and interest period. Shire also pays a commitment fee on undrawn amounts at 35% per annum 
of the applicable margin.

The Amended Facilities Agreement includes requirements that (i) Shire’s ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the Amended Facilities Agreement)
does not exceed 3.5 to 1 for either the twelve month period ending December 31 or June 30 unless Shire has exercised its option (which is subject to
certain conditions) to increase it to 4.0 to 1 for two consecutive testing dates; and (ii) that the ratio of EBITDA to Net Interest (as defined in the Facilities
Agreement) must not be less than 4.0 to 1, for either the twelve month period ending December 31 or June 30, and (iii) additional limitations on the
creation of liens, disposal of assets, incurrence of indebtedness, making of loans, giving of guarantees and granting security over assets.

Upon a change of control of Shire or upon the occurrence of an event of default and the expiration of any applicable cure period, the total
commitments under the Facilities may be canceled and/or all or part of the loans, (together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued or
outstanding) may become immediately due and payable. Events of default under the Amended Facilities Agreement include: (i) non-payment of any
amounts due under the Facilities; (ii) failure to satisfy any financial covenants; (iii) material misrepresentation in any of the finance documents; (iv) failure
to pay, or certain other defaults under other financial indebtedness; (v) certain insolvency events or proceedings; (vi) material adverse changes in the
business, operations, assets or financial condition of the group; (vii) certain US Employee Retirement Income Security Act breaches which would have
a material adverse effect; (viii) if it becomes illegal for Shire or any of its subsidiaries that are parties to the Amended Facility Agreement to perform their
obligations or (ix) if Shire or any subsidiary of Shire which is party to the Amended Facility Agreement repudiates the Amended Facility Agreement or
any Finance Document (as defined in the Amended Facility Agreement).

In connection with the Scheme of Arrangement, with effect from May 23, 2008, Old Shire entered into an accession and amendment deed dated April 15,
2008 between Shire plc, Old Shire, certain subsidiaries of Shire plc and Barclays Bank plc as Facility Agent (the ‘Accession and Amendment Deed’) relating
to the Amended Facilities Agreement. The following is a description of the material amendments to the Amended Facilities Agreement, affected pursuant to
the Accession and Amendment Deed, which took effect on May 23, 2008, immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement becoming effective.

Shire plc acceded to the Facility Agreement as a borrower and guarantor, and Shire Holdings UK Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Old Shire,
acceded to the Facility Agreement as a borrower. Old Shire ceased to be a party to the Facility Agreement as a guarantor (although it remains a party
to the Facility Agreement as a borrower). 

The Amended Facilities Agreement was amended and re-stated in order to take account of the fact that Shire plc is incorporated in Jersey and tax
resident in the Republic of Ireland, to exclude the Scheme of Arrangement between Shire plc and its shareholders from the mandatory prepayment
provisions contained in the Amended Facilities Agreement, and amend the financial covenants contained in the Amended Facilities Agreement in order
to ensure that if any amount of interest awarded in the TKT appraisal rights litigation differs from that provided for in Shire’s accounts, any excess or
shortfall would be treated as if it had been provided for on a pro-rata basis in accounting periods up to the time of judgment. This amendment was
made to avoid a technical breach of the Amended Facilities Agreement in the accounting period in which the any judgment occurs.

Fees for the arrangement of the Facilities and ongoing commitment fees are borne by another Group company. On November 7, 2008 Shire utilized
$190.0 million of the facility. The loan was repaid in full prior to December 31, 2008.
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